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Forward-looking statement

This document contains forward-looking statements with respect to certain of the Bank of Ireland Group plc (the ‘Company’ or ‘BOIG
plc’) and its subsidiaries’ (collectively the ‘Group’ or ‘BOIG plc Group’) plans and its current goals and expectations relating to its future
financial condition and performance, the markets in which it operates and its future capital requirements. These forward-looking
statements often can be identified by the fact that they do not relate only to historical or current facts. Generally, but not always, words
such as ‘may,” ‘could,” ‘should,” ‘will,” ‘expect,” ‘intend,” ‘estimate,” ‘anticipate,’ ‘assume,’ ‘believe,” ‘plan,” ‘seek,” ‘continue,’” ‘target,’
‘goal,” ‘would,” or their negative variations or similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, but their absence does not mean
that a statement is not forward-looking.

Examples of forward-looking statements include, among others: statements regarding the Group’s near term and longer term future
capital requirements and ratios, level of ownership by the Irish Government, loan to deposit ratios, expected impairment charges, the
level of the Group’s assets, the Group’s financial position, future income, business strategy, projected costs, margins, future payment
of dividends, the implementation of changes in respect of certain of the Group’s pension schemes, estimates of capital expenditures,
discussions with Irish, United Kingdom, European and other regulators and plans and objectives for future operations. Such
forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, and hence actual results may differ materially from those
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those as set out in the Risk Management Report. Investors should read
‘Principal Risks and Uncertainties’ in this document beginning on page 43.

Nothing in this document should be considered to be a forecast of future profitability or financial position of the Group and none of the
information in this document is or is intended to be a profit forecast or profit estimate. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as at
the date it is made. The Group does not undertake to release publicly any revision to these forward-looking statements to reflect
events, circumstances or unanticipated events occurring after the date hereof.

For further information please contact:

Andrew Keating Alan Hartley Pat Farrell
Group Chief Financial Officer Director of Group Investor Relations Head of Group Communications
Tel: +353 76 623 5141 Tel: +353 76 623 4850 Tel: +353 76 623 4770
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These are the consolidated results of the BOIG plc Group. See
note 46 on page 203 for details of the Group’s corporate
reorganisation in July 2017.

Following this reorganisation, predecessor accounting has
been applied, such that the consolidated financial statements
of the BOIG plc Group incorporate the assets and liabilities of
the pre-existing group (before 7 July 2017, being the Bank and
its subsidiaries) at their existing consolidated carrying values
as at the date of the scheme of arrangement, and include the
full year's results of the pre-existing group, including
comparatives.

View this report online
This Annual Report and other information relating to Bank of Ireland is available at:

www.bankofireland.com
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Business Review
Key highlights

. mh Underlying profit before tax of €1,078m; increased NIM to 2.29%
PrOfltablhty Tracker charge of €170m classified as non-core

€14.1bn New Irish mortgages: growth of 41% and market share increased to 27%
11% increase vs 2016 Strong commercial discipline maintained

Asset Qualit 8.3% NPEs reduced by €2.9bn to €6.5bn; Impaired loans reduced by 35%
y NPEs reduced by 31% to 8.3% of customer loans Reversals reduced the impairment charge to €15m (2bps)
13.8% Organic capital generation of 140bps
Capital =0 70 . Pension volatility materially reduced
Strong CET 1 ratios e
Modest IFRS 9 transition impact of ¢.20 bps
Dividend 11.5¢c per share Dividends will increase on a prudent and progressive basis
€124m Over time, will build towards a payout ratio of around 50% of sustainable earnings

Performance summary

New Lending

Restated
2017 2016
€m €m
Group performance on an underlying? basis
Net interest income (before ELG fees) 2,248 2,298
Eligible Liabilities Guarantee (ELG) Scheme fees® - (20)
Other income (net) 801 848
Operating income (net of insurance claims) 3,049 3,126
Operating expenses (before Core Banking Platforms Investment
and levies and regulatory charges) (1,789) (1,741)
Core Banking Platforms Investment charge (page 18) (111) (41)
Levies and regulatory charges (99) (109)
Operating profit before impairment charges on financial assets 1,050 1,235
Impairment charges on loans and advances to customers (15) (176)
Impairment charges on available for sale financial assets - 2)
Share of results of associates and joint ventures (after tax) 43 41
Underlying? profit before tax 1,078 1,098
Total non-core items (page 19) (226) (63)
Profit before tax 852 1,035
Group performance
Net interest margin* (%) 2.29% 2.20%
Cost income ratio (excluding levies and regulatory charges) (%) 62% 57%
Gross new lending volumes® (€bn) 14.2 13.2
Impairment charge on loans and advances to customers (bps) 2 21
Return on assets (bps) 56 65

For further information on measures referred to in the key highlights and performance summary see page 283.

Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of: (i) the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations (see note 62 on page 229
for further detail) which on an underlying basis has resulted in an increase of €6 million in 2016 Other income (net) and a €3 million increase in the net charge from non-core items
and (i) the Group’s decision to classify the charges relating to the Central Bank of Ireland’s Tracker Mortgage Examination as non-core which has resulted in an increase of €15
million in 2016 Net interest income (before ELG fees) and a decrease of €6 million in 2016 Operating expenses (before Core Banking Platforms investment and levies and
regulatory charges) with a corresponding increase of €21 million in the 2016 net charge from non-core items. These restatements have resulted in an increase of 1 basis point to
the 2016 Net interest margin, a 1 percentage point reduction in the 2016 Cost income ratio and a 1 basis point increase to the 2016 return on assets.

Underlying excludes non-core items which are those items that the Group believes obscure the underlying performance trends in the business. See page 19 for further
information.

A fee was payable in respect of each liability guaranteed under the Credit Institutions (Eligible Liabilities Guarantee) Scheme 2009 (ELG Scheme) until the maturity of the
guaranteed deposit or term funding. As the Group has had no eligible liabilities for the purpose of the ELG Scheme since October 2016, no ELG fees accrued in the current year.
The net interest margin is stated before ELG fees and after adjusting for International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) income classifications. See page 16 for further details.
Gross new lending volumes represents €14.1 billion (2016: €13.0 billion) of loans and advances to customers drawn down during the period and €0.1 billion (2016: €0.2 billion) of
portfolio acquisitions.
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Performance summary

Restated’
2017 2016
€ cent € cent
Per ordinary share?
Basic earnings per share® 59.1 66.6
Underlying earnings per share® 78.3 72.6
Tangible Net Asset Value per share 752 740
Restated’
2017 2016
Divisional performance* €m €m
Underlying profit before tax
Retail Ireland 712 636
Bank of Ireland Life 106 127
Retail UK 103 133
Retail UK (Stg£ million equivalent) 91 106
Corporate and Treasury 558 531
Group Centre and other (excluding Core Banking Platforms Investment charge) (285) (288)
Core Banking Platforms Investment Charge® (111) (41)
Underlying profit before tax 1,078 1,098
2017 2016
Balance sheet and key metrics €bn €bn
Total assets 123 123
Average interest earning assets 98 102
Ordinary shareholders’ equity 8.9 8.6
Loans and advances to customers (after impairment provisions) 76.1 78.5
Impaired loan volumes® 4.0 6.2
Non-performing exposures® (NPE) 6.5 9.4
Customer deposits 75.9 75.2
Wholesale funding 12.7 14.4
- Wholesale market funding 7.7 11.0
- Drawings from Monetary Authorities 5.0 3.4
Liquidity
Liquidity Coverage ratio” 136% 113%
Net Stable Funding ratio® 127% 122%
Loan to deposit ratio 100% 104%
Capital
Common equity tier 1 ratio - fully loaded 13.8% 12.3%
Common equity tier 1 ratio - regulatory rules 15.8% 14.2%
Total capital ratio - regulatory 20.2% 18.5%
Risk weighted assets (€bn) 45.0 50.7

Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of: (i) the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations (see note 62 on page 229
for further detail) which on an underlying basis has resulted in an increase of €6 million in the 2016 Other income (net) and a €3 million increase in the net charge from non-core
items and (ii) the Group’s decision to classify the charges relating to the Central Bank of Ireland’s Tracker Mortgage Examination as non-core which has resulted in an increase of
€15 million in 2016 Net interest income (before ELG fees) and a decrease of €6 million in 2016 Operating expenses (before Core Banking Platforms investment and levies and
regulatory charges) with a corresponding increase of €21 million in the 2016 net charge from non-core items. These restatements have resulted in a 1 cent increase to the 2016
Basic earnings per share, 2 cent increase to the 2016 Underlying earnings per share and 1 cent increase to the 2016 Tangible Net Asset Value (TNAV).

The earnings per share and TNAV measures for the current and prior year reflect the results after the share consolidation implemented in July 2017 as described in note 46 on
page 203. The par value of an ordinary share following the share consolidation is €1.00 (prior to consolidation the par value of each unit of ordinary stock was €0.05).

For basis of calculation of basic earnings per share see note 19 on page 175. Underlying earnings per share excludes non-core items and related tax impacts.

For more details on the performance of each division see pages 29 to 41.

The Core Banking Platforms Investment charges have been booked in Group Centre for the current and comparative year.

As set out on page 60, the Group has revised its asset quality reporting methodology and (i) now reports non-performing exposures and (i) has modified its definition of impaired
loans. For an analysis of non-performing exposures see page 61.

The Group’s Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) is calculated based on the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/61 which came into force on 1 October 2015.

The Group’s Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) is calculated based on the Group'’s interpretation of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) October 2014 document.
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Chairman’s review

generation’

Archie G Kane, Chairman

Dividend

As anticipated, the Group is re-commencing dividends in respect
of the 2017 financial year; a dividend of 11.5 cents per share has
been proposed. This is a significant milestone for the Group and
reflects the progress we have made in transforming our bank and
our businesses following the financial crisis. The Group expects
that dividends will increase on a prudent and progressive basis
and, over time, will build towards a payout ratio of around 50% of
sustainable earnings. At the same time, the Group has updated
its capital guidance such that we now expect to maintain a CET 1
ratio in excess of 13% on a regulatory basis and on a fully loaded
basis by the end of the O-SII phase-in period.

Economies in Ireland and UK continue to grow

Economic growth in our core markets of Ireland and the UK
remained positive notwithstanding ongoing uncertainties related
to the UK’s decision to leave the European Union. The Irish
economy was once again one of the fastest growing economies
in the euro area, driven by growth in domestic demand, exports,
construction and employment. The UK economy also expanded
in 2017 driven by growth in the manufacturing and the service
sectors which were supported by the weaker pound.

Group’s progress continued in 2017

We are pro-actively supporting economic activity in Ireland and
we have been the largest lender to the Irish economy for each of
the past 4 years. We continue to strengthen and to benefit from
the quality of our franchise positions in our Irish businesses,
providing products, services and funding to all sectors of the
economy including consumers, businesses and corporates. Our
UK business has had a solid 12 months, providing simple, flexible
financial service propositions to UK consumers, both directly and
through our long-term partnerships with the Post Office and the
AA.

The underlying strength of our franchises and the progress of our
businesses is reflected in the strong financial performance of the
Group during 2017. Our strong operating performance and the
accretion of organic capital has further strengthened our capital
position and facilitated the proposed re-commencement of
dividend payments to our shareholders. This performance has
been achieved against the ongoing backdrop of historically low
interest rates and the significant investments we are making in

(] Bank of Ireland & Annual Report - year ended 31 December 2017

‘The Group has continued to deliver on
its strategic priorities during 2017 and
business activity has been robust in both
our Irish and international franchises
resulting in strong organic capital

our people, our infrastructure and our businesses. We also made
significant progress towards achieving our objective of resolving
the Tracker Mortgage Examination and to ensuring all impacted
customers are fairly compensated.

The Group continues to have the capital, liquidity, ambition and
strategic imperative to support our Irish and international
customers.

Our customers, colleagues and communities

Our purpose at Bank of Ireland is to enable our customers,
colleagues and communities to thrive and our progress would not
be possible without their collective support. | would particularly
like to thank our customers for their ongoing loyalty and
confidence. Bank of Ireland continues to place customers at the
heart of its businesses by delivering products and services that
meet their evolving financial requirements. We are a customer
focussed business and we are intent on maintaining and
developing positive, lasting and sustainable relationships with our
customers.

We are continuing to see a transformation in customer
preferences on how they interact with their bank and our
business transformation programme, including the replacement
of our core banking platforms is making progress. The Board has
spent time reviewing and overseeing the delivery of this key
strategic programme and remains confident in the Group’s ability
to successfully and safely implement each element of the
programme over the coming years. This programme will support
our franchises, create opportunities for competitive advantage,
deliver efficiencies and underpin growth in sustainable
shareholder value. Our commitment to putting our customers first
is crucial in supporting the long-term success of our businesses.

| want to thank all of our colleagues, led by a commercially
focussed and cohesive senior management team, for their
unrelenting professionalism and commitment to their businesses,
their customers and the communities they serve. We continue to
see significant numbers of our colleagues invest in enhancing
their competencies and skills to assist in better serving and
meeting evolving customer requirements, which is a source of
great pride and confidence for the Board.



Regulation

The regulatory landscape continues to
evolve and the banking sector is subject
to increasing scrutiny. This requires the
Group to adapt to, and operate within, a
dynamic and challenging environment. We
are a strongly capitalised bank and will
continue to ensure that we are well placed
to meet regulatory capital requirements
and that we maintain professional and
constructive engagement with all of our
regulators.

Following shareholder and High Court
approvals and in line with our regulators’
preferred resolution strategy, the Group
implemented a corporate reorganisation
resulting in Bank of Ireland Group plc
being introduced as the listed holding
company of the Group in July 2017.

Doing business responsibly

As | have noted previously, conducting our
business responsibly is an integral part of
our interactions with those who engage
with the Group. Further enhancing
stakeholder confidence and staff pride
continue to be important objectives for us.
We will soon publish our fourth annual
Responsible Business Report which
underlines the importance we place on
this aspect of our business conduct and
highlights the further progress we have
made in 2017. | am pleased to note that
our approach to responsible business
continues to be recognised externally,
including accreditation by the National
Standards Authority of Ireland.

Board

Mr Richie Boucher stepped down as
Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and
resigned from the board in October 2017. |

would like to thank Richie for his
exemplary personal commitment to the
Group during a period which has seen the
Group transformed from an organisation in
significant difficulty to one which has
returned to profit and which is well
positioned to deliver on its strategic
objectives for customers and
shareholders.

In October 2017 Ms Francesca McDonagh
commenced her position as Group CEO,
having previously held a number of senior
leadership roles in HSBC over a 20 year
period. | would like to welcome Francesca
and the Board very much looks forward to
working with and supporting her over the
coming years as she leads the Group and
its senior management team into the next
phase of its development.

Mr Richard Goulding joined the Board in
July 2017 and he brings significant
international commercial and risk
management experience to the role.
Richard is an independent Non-executive
Director of Citigroup Global Markets
Limited and previously served as Group
Chief Risk Officer and Director at Standard
Chartered Bank where he was a member
of the Group Executive Committee.

Mr Brad Martin, Mr Tom Considine and Mr
Pat Butler retired from the Board during
2017. | would like to thank Brad, Tom and
Pat for their diligence, support and
counsel as Board members during their
tenure.

| have notified the Board of my intention to
step down later this year, as originally
planned, and the Board has a process
underway to identify the next Chairman.

Chairman’s review

Annual General Meeting

| always welcome the opportunities | have
to engage with our shareholders during
the year and | am grateful for their input
and advice. The Annual General Meeting
(AGM) is an important forum for Directors
to meet and hear the views of all
shareholders. Our 2018 AGM is scheduled
to be held on 20 April 2018 and |
encourage shareholders to attend,
participate and, in particular, to exercise
their voting rights.
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Outlook

It has been a privilege to serve as
Chairman of the Board during such a
transformational period in the Group’s
history including the full repayment with
profit to the Irish taxpayer in return for the
Irish State’s support to the Group during
the financial crisis. | would like to thank
my fellow Board members, the senior
management team and all colleagues for
their contribution, support and loyalty. |
remain confident in the Group’s prospects
for 2018 and beyond. We cannot afford to
be complacent and are mindful of the
challenges ahead. However, with its strong
retail and commercial franchises and,
under the stewardship of Francesca and
her commercially focussed senior
management team, the Group is well
positioned to build on the substantive
progress made in recent years and to
continue to deliver sustainable returns for
our shareholders.

Archie G Kane
Chairman
23 February 2018
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Group Chief Executive’s review

Bank of Ireland has a rich history and heritage, and | am
honoured to lead the next phase in the Group’s growth and
development. Our purpose is to enable our customers,
colleagues and communities to thrive. We are transforming the
Bank to build a truly customer focussed organisation which
positively impacts the communities we serve and delivers
attractive sustainable returns to our shareholders. Our ambition is
to be the National Champion Bank in Ireland with UK and
selective international diversification.

In my first set of financial results as Group CEO, | am delighted to
report that the Group had a strong performance in 2017. All
trading divisions are profitable and have contributed to an
underlying profit of €1,078 million for the year. In Ireland, we have
grown our market share in residential mortgages and we have the
largest market share in the business banking sector. We
materially improved our asset quality, reducing our level of
non-performing exposures by a further 31%. Our fully loaded
CET 1 ratio has increased to 13.8% and we are re-commencing
dividend payments to our shareholders for the first time in ten
years.

My Strategic Priorities

Since joining the Group in October 2017, | have engaged
extensively with each of our businesses and met with many of my
colleagues, our customers and wider stakeholders. What has
been very clear to me, from the outset, is the strength of our
customer franchises across the range of markets we operate in
and the commitment, drive and loyalty of our people. Our
businesses are based in growing economies with strong
fundamentals. Our core home market is in Ireland. We are the
largest lender to the Irish economy, with a growing market share

8 Bank of Ireland & Annual Report - year ended 31 December 2017

‘l am honoured to be leading Bank of
Ireland and convinced that we will
deliver on our growth potential and
ambitions by fulfilling our purpose of
enabling our customers, colleagues
and communities to thrive’

Francesca McDonagh
Group Chief Executive

in residential mortgages and the largest market share in business
banking. At the same time, our asset quality continues to improve
with further material reductions in our non-performing exposures.
We are transforming our culture, technology and business models
to ensure we can serve our customers brilliantly and achieve our
growth ambitions.

The most successful companies in the world are typically the
most purposeful. In December 2017, | shared with my colleagues
the purpose and values which | am committed to embedding
across our organisation. Our purpose is to enable our customers,
colleagues and communities to thrive. Serving our customers
brilliantly must be our mantra as these relationships are
fundamental to the future success of each of our businesses. Our
colleagues are a key asset for the Group, a view consistently
articulated to me by the many customers | have met since |
joined the Bank. Our communities include the broad group of
stakeholders that are a critical part of our eco-system as an
organisation. This includes our shareholders, our regulators and
other partners in addition to the political, media and societal
communities in which we operate. Our purpose is underpinned
by four values: customer focussed, one group one team, agile
and accountable.

| am excited about the future potential and growth prospects for
the Group. Our strategic priorities are concentrated on:
Transforming our culture, our technology and our business
models;
Serving our customers brilliantly; and
Growing sustainable profitability and returns for our
shareholders.

We will hold an Investor Day in June 2018 where | will further
expand on these strategic priorities.



Strong financial performance in 2017

The Group generated an underlying profit before tax of €1,078
million in 2017. All trading divisions are profitable. Strong
commercial discipline on lending and deposit pricing,
management of our cost base while investing for the future and
further significant improvements in asset quality contributed to
this positive financial result. Separately, as part of non-core
charges, the Group incurred a charge of €170 million during 2017
primarily in respect of redress and compensation associated with
tracker mortgage customer accounts.

The Group continued to generate strong organic capital. Our fully
loaded CET 1 ratio increased by 150 basis points during 2017
to 13.8%, and our regulatory CET 1 ratio increased by 160 basis
points to 15.8%. The Board’s confidence in our capital position
and outlook is reflected in our decision to propose
re-commencing dividend payments for the first time in 10 years.
The increase in our fully loaded capital ratio primarily reflects
organic capital generation of 140 basis points from profits earned
during the period, partly offset by the investment of 40 basis
points in the replacement of our Core Banking Platforms and the
proposed dividend payment of c.25 basis points. The Group’s
capital ratio also benefitted from the 50 basis points of capital
achieved as part of the credit risk transfer transaction executed in
November 2017, although, as indicated at the time, this benefit,

in part or in full, could be absorbed as part of the TRIM process

in 2018. The Group expects to maintain a CET 1 ratio in excess of
13% on a regulatory basis and on a fully loaded basis by the end
of the O-SII buffer phase-in period. This includes meeting
applicable regulatory capital requirements plus an appropriate
management buffer.

Our businesses benefitted from continued economic growth
in our two key markets last year. In Ireland, increased
consumer spending, construction activity and exports supported
employment growth and the number at work is now nearing its
previous peak. The UK economy also saw employment gains in
2017, leading to a multi-decade low for the unemployment rate.
The uncertainty generated by the UK’s decision to leave the
European Union remains a potentially significant headwind for
both economies but, notwithstanding this, Ireland is expected to
be at the top end of the euro area growth league table for a fifth
year in succession in 2018, with the UK economy also expected
to expand.

Gross new lending volumes of €14.1 billion were €1.1 billion
or 11% higher than 2016 on a constant currency basis, while
redemptions of €15.0 billion included €1.2 billion related to
repayments and redemptions from our impaired loan book and
our non-core Great Britain business banking and corporate book
that is in run-down.

We remain the largest lender to the Irish economy with a
growing market share in residential mortgages and the
largest market share in business banking. We provided €7.1
billion of credit to personal, business and corporate customers in
Ireland in 2017 while maintaining our commercial discipline. Our
customers appreciate and value our mortgage propositions
including the certainty and value that comes from fixed rate
mortgage products. As a consequence, our market share of new
Irish residential mortgages increased to 27% in 2017 compared
to 25% in 2016, with a strong 29% market share in the most
recent quarter.

Group Chief Executive’s review

The average net interest margin (NIM) for the Group was
2.29% for 2017, an increase of 9 basis points from 2016,
primarily reflecting strong commercial discipline on pricing and
further reductions in our cost of funding. NIM in 2018 is expected
to be broadly in line with the December exit NIM of 2.24%.

Fees and other income of €801 million arise from diversified
business activities including bancassurance, foreign exchange
and transactional banking fees. This includes sustainable
business income of €662 million, which increased by ¢.8% from
2016. The Group also benefitted in 2017 from certain valuation
items of €65 million and additional gains of €74 million.

Our asset quality continues to improve. Reflecting the ongoing
improvement in the credit quality of our loan portfolios and our
actions to manage our impaired loan portfolios, we reduced our
impaired loans by €2.2 billion or 35% during 2017 to €4 billion
which is ¢.5% of gross customer loans compared to ¢.8% at the
end of 2016. Impaired loans have reduced by 73% since their
reported peak in June 2013. Non-performing exposures also
reduced over the period by €2.9 billion to €6.5 billion, which is
¢.8% of gross customer loans compared to ¢.11% at the end of
2016. We expect further reductions in 2018 and beyond.

The net customer loan impairment charge for 2017 benefitted
from reversals, particularly on the Irish mortgage portfolio, and
was €15 million (2 basis points) compared to €176 million in
2016. We expect the impairment charge for 2018 to be up to ¢.20
basis points, reflecting the transition to IFRS 9 and a slower pace
of impairment reversals with a consequent trend towards more
normalised levels.

IFRS 9, which addresses impairment, classification, measurement
and hedge accounting, is effective from 1 January 2018. The
estimated quantitative impact on initial adoption of IFRS 9 is
a reduction in shareholders’ equity of c.€120 million after tax,
substantially all of which relates to an increase in impairment loss
allowance on loans and advances to our customers. On a pro
forma basis, this is expected to reduce our fully loaded CET 1
ratio by ¢.20 basis points.

Operating expenses of €1.8 billion in 2017, increased by ¢.3%
compared to 2016. Levies and regulatory charges of €99 million
were also incurred during the year. We have continued to
maintain our focus on cost management while, at the same time,
making appropriate investments in our businesses, infrastructure
and initiatives to further enhance our customer propositions.
However efficiency must improve and we are taking further
actions to address this. We expect operating expenses will
reduce in 2018 as an important step on our ambition to
reduce our cost income ratio to below 50% over the medium
term.

In October 2017, | made it clear that resolving the Tracker
Mortgage Examination and ensuring that all impacted customers
were compensated as quickly as possible, was a personal
priority. The Group incurred a charge of €170 million during
2017 in respect of this review. The Group has now largely
completed the identification process for all of our impacted
customers and all impacted customers have been returned to the
correct tracker rate. Offers of compensation and redress have
been made to 9 out of 10 impacted customers and we are
making great efforts to contact the remaining customers. Our
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Group Chief Executive’s review

independent appeals panels are now fully in place as an integral
part of the Tracker Examination Framework. We expect to
complete all payments to customers, subject to their agreement,
by the end of March 2018.

Transformation of our technology is one of my strategic priorities
and is required for the long term sustainability and
competiveness of our businesses. Our technology strategy
includes our investment programme to replace our Core Banking
Platforms, and we invested €195 million in this programme in
2017. | believe this is the right strategy, the right technology
and | am committed to this programme. We have recently
strengthened the leadership capabilities on the programme and
we expect the build work on the integrated infrastructure to be
completed in the second quarter of 2018. Programmes of this
scale are multi-year and complex. We are challenging ourselves
to ensure we appropriately balance the delivery of our new core
processing systems at the back-end and new enhanced
customer functionality at the front-end. This work is ongoing and
we will provide an update at our Investor Day in June 2018.

Customers

Customers are the core of our businesses, and Bank of Ireland
has valuable, long-established customer franchises across a
broad range of markets. Across all industries, including banking,
customer expectations and requirements are evolving rapidly in
this digital age. Our customer focussed strategy is to deliver a
brilliant experience to all of our customers. We will do this as we
transform our businesses by providing products and services
which meet their financial requirements through easy, simple and
accessible processes which align to their digital expectations.

Our Irish mortgage business has performed strongly over the
period. We provided c.€2 billion of new residential mortgage
lending in Ireland, an increase of 41% from 2016 with an increase
in market share to 27% in 2017 compared to 25% in 2016.
Following the recent regulatory proposals in relation to
intermediary commissions and other payments, we expect to
re-enter the Irish mortgage broker market later in 2018, which will
further support growth in our mortgage business.

We continue to be the number one bank for Irish businesses
and the largest provider of new business lending into the Irish
economy. During 2017, the Group provided over 50% of all new
lending to the agricultural sector in Ireland while also being one of
the main supporters of the Strategic Banking Corporation of
Ireland’s Agricultural Cashflow Support Loan Scheme. The Group
is the only bancassurer in the Irish market and our Bank of
Ireland Life division saw sales volumes increase year on year by
10%, with a new business market share of 19%. We are
determined to increase our support for our business and personal
customers in managing their long-term savings, protection and
retirement needs. In this regard, | have agreed a strategy with the
new leadership team in New Ireland which targets growth in this
part of our business.

Our Retail UK division provides strategic diversification,
primarily through our separately regulated, capitalised and
self-funded subsidiary, Bank of Ireland (UK) plc. With ¢.3 million
customers, our business in Great Britain is largely focussed on
providing banking services in the domestic consumer sector,
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primarily operating via attractive partnerships with two of the
UK’s most trusted brands, the Post Office and the Automobile
Association (AA), and other strategic intermediaries. Our Northern
Ireland business is a full service retail and commercial bank and
is performing in line with our business objectives. During 2017,
we acquired a leasing and fleet management business, Marshall
Leasing, which complements and supports our well established
motor financing business, Northridge Finance. First Rate
Exchange Services, our joint venture with the Post Office,
continued to be the market leader for FX travel money with a
market share of 24%.

Our Corporate and Treasury division provides banking services to
our larger business customers. We continue to be Ireland’s
number one Corporate bank. Our Corporate UK business
continued to grow and overall divisional new lending volumes of
€3.6 billion during 2017 were up 13% on 2016. This included
significant support for housing development in Ireland and
supporting 2 out every 3 FDI projects into Ireland. Our
international Acquisition Finance business, which accounts for
c.10% of Group income, maintained its leading position in the
mid-market sector and had another very successful year.

Colleagues

| have sought feedback from my colleagues since | joined the
Group, holding multiple informal ‘open door’ sessions across all
levels in the organisation and launching an employee
engagement survey to get an insight into how our people feel
and what is important to them. | believe we have a very strong
foundation on which to build our future and the level of pride and
loyalty in the Bank’s history and heritage has been striking.
However there are areas we need to strengthen and | have
prioritised transforming the culture within the Group where
we reinforce the positive behaviours that provide a work
environment where colleagues feel closer to our customers, act in
an agile manner and as one team, take accountability across our
shared transformation objectives and feel supported, included
and engaged.

Fostering an inclusive and diverse workforce is also critical to
enhancing workforce agility and securing a sustainable business.
We will continue to focus on attracting, developing and retaining
talent that enhance our capability to deliver for our customers
and drive the success of our business. We are committed to a
culture which always respects and values diversity of
characteristics and background and which reflects the society we
serve.

During 2017, we continued to invest in and support our staff with
their development. Aligned to our Career and Reward
Framework, we approved c.1,500 applications under the Group
Education Scheme for individuals commencing 3rd level
programmes. Congratulations to all of our colleagues who
completed their programmes and achieved one of the ¢.1,900
qualification awards during the year.

We continue to progress our digital learning capability with
68% of total learning hours now delivered through digital and
mobile. Our focus for 2018 will be to continue to evolve our
overall learning proposition leveraging the opportunities
presented by social, mobile and digital technology.



The capability, determination and commitment of our people
continues to be a key asset in our businesses. | would like to
acknowledge the ongoing skills, dedication and support of all my
colleagues throughout the Group, who enable us to deliver on our
shared objectives for our customers and stakeholders. | am
confident that my colleagues’ professionalism and dedication will
continue to be a key driver of the Group’s success into the future.

Communities

The Group engages with a broad range of communities. We must
deliver attractive sustainable returns to our shareholders within a
dynamic regulatory environment. We must support our customers
in their local communities and enterprises. Further normalisation
of the banking sector is important for economic growth in Ireland
and, as the leading bank in Ireland, we must engage and support
a broad range of stakeholders across political, media and social
platforms.

Our Enterprise and Innovation strategy continues to evolve. Our
Enterprise Town Programme hosted over 130 Enterprise
Town events in 2017, reaching 160 communities and giving in
excess of 5,000 businesses the opportunity to present their
products and services. Our complementary Innovation
Programme hosted over 1,400 businesses across our
Workbenches and Startlabs. As well as enabling stronger local
economic connection and prosperity, these programmes are a
central pillar to repurpose our distribution channels to hubs which
connect, support and power the communities we work and live
in.

Our Corporate Social Responsibility agenda is of significant
importance to all our colleagues across the Group. It enables us
to positively impact and to connect with the people,
organisations and communities in which we live, work and
belong. This includes our support of charitable organisations
through our fundraising matching programme ‘Give Together’ and
our other initiatives and wellbeing programmes including ‘Be At
Your Best’ and ‘Working Together’. These aspects of our
business are described in further detail in the Group’s annual

Group Chief Executive’s review

Responsible Business Report, the fourth edition of which we will
publish in March. The Responsible Business Report provides a
comprehensive account of our business approach and
practice from the perspective of customers, colleagues and
communities. We are proud that our responsible business
programme is externally accredited through the Business
Working Responsibly Mark provided by Business in the
Community Ireland and audited by the National Standards
Authority of Ireland.
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Looking Forward

During 2017, we have delivered against our strategic objectives
and the commitments we have made to our shareholders. Over
the next couple of years the prospects and economic outlook in
Ireland are projected to continue to be at the top end of the table
in the euro area. After a prolonged period of contraction following
the global financial crisis, credit growth in Ireland for both
consumers and businesses is now turning positive. The strength
of our customer franchises and the track record of our
businesses position us strongly to benefit from this growth in
credit demand and economic activity.

In 2018, we expect the loan book to start to grow with our NIM
expected to be modestly lower than in 2017. We expect our
operating expenses to be lower in 2018 and, reflecting the
transition to IFRS 9 and a slower pace of impairment reversals,
our impairment charges to trend towards more normalised levels.

Our strategy and the investments we are making will ensure we
continue to responsibly develop our profitable, long term
franchises and serve our customers brilliantly in a way that
delivers attractive sustainable returns to our shareholders. |
am excited about the future potential for the Group and | am
committed to ensuring we fulfil our purpose of enabling our
customers, colleagues and communities to thrive. | look forward
to our Investor Day in June 2018 where | will expand further on
our strategic priorities and our growth ambitions for the Group.

Francesca McDonagh
Group Chief Executive
23 February 2018
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Basis of presentation

This operating and financial review is
presented on an underlying basis. For an
explanation of underlying see page 19.

Percentages presented throughout this
document are calculated on the absolute

Strategic report

underlying figures and so may differ from
the percentage variances calculated on
the rounded numbers presented, where
the percentages are not measured this is
indicated by n/m.

Operating and financial review

References to ‘the State’ throughout this
document should be taken to refer to the
Republic of Ireland, its Government and,
where and if relevant, Government
departments, agencies and local
Government bodies.

vy
-
2
D
®
o
7]
5]
)
=
o)
=

e Bank of Ireland Group is one of the largest financial services groups in Ireland with total assets of €123 billion at 31 December

2017.

e The Group provides a broad range of banking and other financial services. These services include: current account and
deposit services, overdrafts, term loans, mortgages, business and corporate lending, international asset financing, leasing,
instalment credit, invoice discounting, foreign exchange (FX) facilities, interest and exchange rate hedging instruments, life
assurance, pension and protection products. All of these services are provided by the Group in Ireland with selected services
being offered in the UK and internationally.

e The Group generates the majority of its revenue from traditional lending and deposit taking activities as well as fees for a
range of banking and transaction services.

e The Group operates an extensive distribution network of ¢.250 branches and c.1,600 ATMs in the Republic of Ireland. It has
access to ¢.11,500 branches and c.2,400 ATMs in the UK via the Group’s relationship as financial services partner with the UK
Post Office. The Group also has access to distribution in the UK via its partnership with the AA and through a number of

strategic intermediary relationships.

e The Group is organised into four trading divisions to effectively service its customers as follows: Retail Ireland, Bank of Ireland
Life, Retail UK and Corporate and Treasury.

e The Group’s central functions, through Group Centre, establish and oversee policies and provide and manage certain
processes and delivery platforms for divisions. These Group central functions comprise Group Manufacturing, Group Finance,
Group Risk, Group Governance and Regulatory and Group Human Resources.

e The Group Risk function was restructured in April 2017 to ensure that the Group has an efficient, best in class infrastructure
and framework in place for managing and overseeing risk to meet the current and emerging needs of the Group.

Retail Ireland

Retail Ireland offers a comprehensive
range of banking products and related
financial services to the personal and
business markets including deposits,
mortgages, consumer and business
lending, credit cards, current accounts,
money transmission services, commercial
finance, asset finance and general
insurance. Retail Ireland serves customers
through a distribution network of
branches, central support teams, ATMs
and through Direct Channels (telephone,
mobile and online).

Retail Ireland is managed through a
number of business units namely
Distribution Channels, Consumer Banking
(including Bank of Ireland Mortgage Bank),
Business Banking (including Bank of
Ireland Finance) and Customer and Wealth
Management.

Bank of Ireland Life

Bank of Ireland Life includes the Group’s
wholly owned subsidiary, New Ireland
Assurance Company plc (NIAC). Through
Bank of Ireland Life, the Group offers a
wide range of life assurance, pension,
investment and protection products to the

Irish market through the Group’s branch
network, its financial advisors and
independent brokers.

Retail UK

Retail UK’s focus is on consumer banking
in the UK, where its aim is to provide
simple, flexible, accessible financial
services and products to customers both
directly and through partnerships with
trusted, respected UK brands and
intermediaries. This incorporates the
financial services partnerships with the UK
Post Office and the AA. Our customer
offering includes savings, mortgages, FX,
credit and travel cards, current accounts,
personal loans and ATM services.

Retail UK also has a UK residential
mortgage business: a full service retail and
commercial branch network in Northern
Ireland and a business banking portfolio in
Great Britain (GB) which is being
run-down. In addition, Retail UK has a
motor and asset finance business
operating under the Northridge brand and
provides vehicle leasing and fleet
management services through Marshall
Leasing Limited, which was acquired in
November 2017. The Retail UK division

includes the activities of Bank of Ireland
(UK) plc, the Group’s wholly owned UK
licenced banking subsidiary.

Corporate and Treasury

Corporate and Treasury comprises the
Group’s Corporate Banking and Global
Markets activities across the Republic of
Ireland, UK and selected international
jurisdictions.

In Ireland, Corporate Banking is a market
leading provider of integrated relationship
banking services to Irish and Northern
Irish companies, multi-national
corporations and financial institutions.
Corporate Banking is also a key provider
of funding to the commercial investment
and property development market in
Ireland supporting the ongoing recovery in
the Irish economy. The range of lending
products provided includes, but is not
limited to, overdraft and revolving credit
facilities, term loans and project finance.

In International markets, Corporate
Banking’s strategy is to focus on our
mid-market European and US Acquisition
Finance business where the Group has a
strong track record for more than 20
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Operating and financial review

years. The Acquisition Finance business
operates out of Dublin, London, Frankfurt
and Paris in Europe and Stamford and
Chicago in the US and focuses on lead
arranging and underwriting leveraged
finance transactions for private equity
sponsors. The business generates
attractive margins and fee income within
disciplined risk appetite.

Global Markets transacts in a range of
market instruments on behalf of both its
customers and the Group itself. The
activities include transactions in inter-bank
deposits and loans, FX spot and forward
contracts, options, financial futures,
bonds, swaps, forward rate agreements
and equity tracker products. In addition,
Global Markets manages the Group’s euro
area liquid asset portfolio.

Group Centre

The Group’s central functions are
responsible for delivering services to each
division and include Group Manufacturing,
Group Finance, Group Risk, Group
Governance and Regulatory and Group
Human Resources.

Strategic priorities

The Group is focused on delivering three

key strategic priorities:

e transforming the Group’s culture,
systems and business model;

e serving customers brilliantly; and

e growing sustainable profits and
returns for shareholders.

Transform the Group

Business Transformation, enabled by
technology investments, is required for the
long term sustainability and
competitiveness of the Group’s
businesses. The investment to replace the
Core Banking Platform is a key strategic
priority for the Group.
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Transformation of the Group’s culture has
been prioritised with a focus on constantly
improving on the following behaviour
values: customer focus, one group one
team, agility and accountability. Fostering
an inclusive and diverse workforce is
critical to enhancing workforce agility and
securing a sustainable business.

Serve Customers Birilliantly

The Group aims to be the National
Champion Bank in Ireland while
maintaining selective international
diversification. This involves moving to a
truly customer-centric organisation by
deepening understanding of their needs.

The Group engages and supports a broad
range of communities through its
enterprise and innovation programmes
which are a central pillar to repurposing
the Group’s distribution channels to hubs
which connect, support and power the
local community. The Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) agenda enables
colleagues to positively impact and
connect with local organisations and
communities.

Grow Sustainable Profits

Consistent with the objective of delivering

long-term sustainable returns to

shareholders, the Group will continue to
focus on growing:

e the Irish retail business;

e the UK business, building on the
partnership strategy;

e the Corporate and Treasury segments
with greatest strategic and financial
potential and continue to build on
international diversification; and

® non-interest income businesses
including New Ireland.

Increasing Group efficiency is a priority as
it will enable the Group to achieve a cost
income ratio of less than 50% in the

medium-term. Maintaining margins while
offering value for customers will help
deliver sustainable returns to
shareholders.

The Group expects to maintain a CET 1
ratio in excess of 13% on a regulatory
basis, and on a fully loaded basis by the
end of the O-SII buffer phase-in period.
This includes meeting applicable
regulatory capital requirements plus an
appropriate management buffer.
Sustaining the ongoing reduction of
non-performing and impaired loans is a
key lever to providing sustainable returns
to shareholders.

The strategy and investments the Group is
making will ensure the continuing
development of profitable, long-term
franchises and ensure customers are
served brilliantly which delivers attractive
sustainable returns to shareholders.

Distribution policy

As anticipated, the Group is
re-commencing dividends in respect of
the 2017 financial year; a dividend of 11.5
cents per share has been proposed. The
Group expects that dividends will increase
on a prudent and progressive basis and,
over time, will build towards a payout ratio
of around 50% of sustainable earnings.

The dividend level and the rate of
progression will reflect, amongst other
things, the strength of the Group’s capital
and capital generation, the Board’s
assessment of the growth and investment
opportunities available, any capital the
Group retains to cover uncertainties and
any impact from the evolving regulatory
and accounting environments.



Group income statement

Operating and financial review

Net interest income (before ELG fees)

Eligible Liabilities Guarantee (ELG) fees®

Net other income

Operating income (net of insurance claims)

Operating expenses (before Core Banking
Platforms Investment and levies and
regulatory charges)

Core Banking Platforms Investment charge

Levies and regulatory charges

Operating profit before impairment charges
on financial assets

Impairment charges on loans and advances to
customers

Impairment charges on available for sale
financial assets

Share of results of associates and joint ventures
(after tax)

Underlying’ profit before tax

Non-core items

Profit before tax

Tax charge

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to shareholders
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests
Profit for the year

Key metrics

Net interest margin* (%)

Cost income ratio (excluding levies and
regulatory charges) (%)

Impairment charge on loans and advances to
customers (bps)

R e higher business income® - €47 million
2017 es ;Of 5 G higher than in 2016; and
Table €m €m % e absence of ELG Scheme fees in 2017
(2016: €20 million).
1 2,248 2,298 (2%)
B (20) Wi Operating income has decreased by €77
> 801 848 (6%) million compared to the previous year
3,049 3,126 (2%) primarily due to:
e |ower net interest income of €2,248
million compared to €2,298 million in
3 (1,789) (1,741) (3%) 2016 primarily reflecting lower lending
3 (11) (41) i volumes, the impacts of the ongoing
3 (99) (109) 9% low interest rate environment and the
translation effects of weaker sterling
1,050 1,235 (15%) (c.€50 million), partially offset by lower
funding costs; and
4 (15) (176) 91% e |ower net other income of €801 million
compared to €848 million in 2016, a
B @ Py decrease of €47 million, primarily due
to lower gains on sovereign bonds /
43 41 5% other assets, partially offset by higher
1,078 1,098 (2%) business income during 2017.
5 (226) (63) n/m
852 1,035 (18%) Operating expenses (before Core Banking
(160) (236) 300, Platforms Investment and levies and
692 799 (13%) regulatory charges) of €1,789 million in
2017 were €48 million or 3% higher than
664 799 (17%) 2016, reflecting further investment in our
o8 _ 100% people, compliance with the growing
692 799 (13%) regulatory environment, investment in
technology and business growth, partially
offset by other efficiencies. Our Core
2.09% 2.20% Banking Platforms programme is making
progress and we invested a further €195
62% 57% million in this programme in 2017, with an
income statement charge of €111 million
5 29 (2016: €41 million).

Profit before tax of €852 million in 2017,
was €183 million or 18% lower than 2016.

Underlying profit before tax of €1,078
million in 2017, was €20 million or 2%
lower than 2016 primarily due to:

e lower gains on sale of sovereign
bonds / other assets of €74 million,
compared to €171 million in 2016;

e lower gains on other valuation items of
€68 million compared to €107 million
in 2016;

The Group has incurred levies and
regulatory charges of €99 million in 2017,
a decrease of €10 million compared to the
previous year, primarily due to a lower
charge for the Irish bank levy.

e higher operating expenses (before
Core Banking Platforms Investment
and levies and regulatory charges) of
€1,789 million compared to €1,741
million in 2016; and

e higher investment in our core banking
platforms - €111 million charge in
2017 compared to €41 million in 2016.

partially offset by:

e lower impairment charges - €161
million lower than in 2016;

" Underlying excludes non-core items which are those items that the Group believes obscure the underlying performance trends in the business. See page 19 for further information.

2 Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of: (i) the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations (see note 62 on page 229
for further detail) which on an underlying basis has resulted in an increase of €6 million in 2016 Other income (net) and a €3 million increase in the net charge from non-core items
and (i) the Group’s decision to classify the charges relating to the Central Bank of Ireland’s Tracker Mortgage Examination as non-core which has resulted in an increase of €15
million in 2016 Net interest income (before ELG fees) and a decrease of €6 million in 2016 Operating expenses (before Core Banking Platforms investment and levies and
regulatory charges) with a corresponding increase of €21 million in the 2016 net charge from non-core items. These restatements have resulted in an increase of 1 basis point to
the 2016 Net interest margin and a 1% reduction in the 2016 Cost income ratio.

3 A fee was payable in respect of each liability guaranteed under the Credit Institutions (Eligible Liabilities Guarantee) Scheme 2009 (ELG Scheme) until the maturity of the
guaranteed deposit or term funding. As the Group has had no eligible liabilities for the purpose of the ELG Scheme since October 2016, no ELG fees accrued in the current year.

4 The net interest margin is stated before ELG fees and after adjusting for IFRS income classifications.

5 Business income is net other income after IFRS income classifications before other gains and other valuation items as set out in the table on page 17. This is a measure
monitored by management as part of the review of divisional performance.
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Operating and financial review

Summary consolidated income statement on an underlying basis (continued)

Net impairment charges on loans and
advances to customers of €15 million
were €161 million lower than 2016. This
reduction reflects the strong performance
of the Group’s loan portfolios, the ongoing
reductions in non-performing exposures
and a continued positive economic
environment during the year in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Income from associates and joint
ventures, which primarily relates to the
Group’s FX joint venture with the UK Post
Office, was €43 million in 2017 (2016: €41
million).

Net interest income

Non-core items were a net charge of €226
million in 2017, primarily reflecting charges
relating to the Central Bank of Ireland’s
Tracker Mortgage Examination of €170
million, costs associated with the Group’s
restructuring programme of €48 million
and the Group’s corporate reorganisation
and establishment of a new holding
company of €7 million. There was a net
charge of €63 million for 2016, primarily
relating to restructuring costs and Tracker
Mortgage Examination charges.

The Group continues to closely monitor
any Brexit related impacts from the UK
decision to trigger Article 50 and leave the
EU, including FX rates and interest rates.
The risks and uncertainties arising from
the UK decision to trigger Article 50 are
included in the Principal Risks and
Uncertainties section on page 43.

Principal rates of exchange used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are set out on page 147.

Table: 1
Restated'
2017 2016  Change
Net interest income / net interest margin €m €m %
Net interest income (before ELG fees) 2,248 2,298 (2%)
IFRS income classifications? (3) (45) 93%
Net interest income (before ELG fees) after
IFRS income classifications 2,245 2,253 -
Average interest earning assets (€bn)
Loans and advances to customers 77 81 (5%)
Other interest earning assets 21 21 -
Total average interest earning assets 98 102 (4%)
Net interest margin® 2.29% 2.20%
Gross yield - customer lending* 3.24% 3.34%
Gross yield - liquid assets* 0.60% 0.79%
Average cost of funds - interest bearing
liabilities and current accounts* (0.42%) (0.61%)
ECB base rate (average) 0.00% 0.01%
3 month Euribor rate (average) (0.33%) (0.26%)
Bank of England base rate (average) 0.29% 0.40%
3 month Libor rate (average) 0.36% 0.50%

Net interest income (before ELG fees),
after IFRS income classifications, of
€2,245 million was €8 million lower than
2016, primarily reflecting lower lending
volumes, the impacts of the ongoing low
interest rate environment and the

translation effects of a weaker sterling
(c.€50 million), partially offset by lower
funding costs, reflecting the maturity of
the Convertible Contingent Capital Note
(CCCN) in July 2016 and lower UK deposit
costs.

Notwithstanding increasing competition,
the Group has maintained strong margin
discipline while continuing to make
progress on reducing funding costs.

The Group’s average net interest margin in
2017 has increased by 9 basis points to
2.29%. This primarily reflects strong
commercial discipline on pricing and the
benefit of lower funding costs.

The Group’s average cost of funds was 42
basis points in 2017 (2016: 61 basis
points), primarily reflecting the maturity of
the €1 billion 10% CCCN on 30 July 2016
and progress in reducing UK deposit
costs. The Group’s gross customer
lending yield reduced by 10 basis points
over the same period, primarily reflecting
the impact of the low interest rate
environment on certain portfolios.

The reduction in average interest earning
assets is primarily due to the impact of the
7% weakening of sterling against the euro
(using average rates).

T As outlined on page 4, comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the reclassification of the charges relating to the Central Bank of Ireland’s Tracker

Mortgage Examination as non-core.

2 The year on year changes in ‘net interest income” and ‘net other income’ (see table 2) are affected by certain IFRS income classifications. Under IFRS, certain assets and
liabilities can be designated at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL). Where the Group has designated liabilities at FVTPL, the total fair value movements on these liabilities,
including interest expense, are reported in ‘net other income’. However, the interest income on any assets which are funded by these liabilities is reported in the ‘net interest
income’. In addition, assets are purchased and debt is raised in a variety of currencies and the resulting FX and interest rate risk is economically managed using derivative
instruments - the cost of which is reported in ‘net other income’. To enable a better understanding of underlying business trends, the impact of these IFRS income classifications

is shown in the table above.

3 The net interest margin is stated before ELG fees and after adjusting for IFRS income classifications.
4 Gross yield and Average cost of funds represents the interest income or expense recognised on interest bearing items net of interest on derivatives which are in a hedge
relationship with the relevant asset or liability. See page 278 for further information.
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Table: 2 Restated’

2017 2016  Change
Net other income €m €m %
Net other income 801 848 (6%)
IFRS income classifications? & 45 (93%)
Net other income after IFRS income classifications 804 893 (10%)
Analysed as:
Business income?®
Retail Ireland 317 319 (1%)
Bank of Ireland Life 177 145 22%
Retail UK 1 2 (50%)
Corporate and Treasury 175 157 1%
Group Centre and other (8) 8) -
Total business income 662 615 8%
Other gains
Transfer from available for sale reserve on asset disposal 69 174 (60%)
- Sovereign and Bank bonds 45 63 29%)
- Other financial instruments (incl. VISA share disposal) 24 111 (78%)
Gain / (loss) on disposal and revaluation of investment

properties 2 3) n/m
Gain on disposal of share warrant 3 - 100%
Other valuation items
Financial instrument valuation adjustments (CVA, DVA,

FVA)* and other 37 59 (37%)
Fair value movement on CCCN embedded derivative - 3) 100%
Unit-linked investment variance - Bank of Ireland Life 9 10 (10%)
Interest rate movements - Bank of Ireland Life 22 41 (46%)
Net other income after IFRS income classifications 804 893 (10%)

Net other income after IFRS income °
classifications for 2017 was €804 million,

a decrease of €89 million or 10% on 2016,
primarily reflecting a lower level of other

gains and lower income from other

valuation items compared to the prior o
year, partially offset by higher business

income.

Business income for 2017 has increased
by €47 million or 8% compared to 2016: .
e business income in Retail Ireland of
€317 million, which includes personal
and business current account fees, FX
income, interchange income on credit
and debit cards and insurance income
is broadly in line with 2016;

business income in Bank of Ireland
Life of €177 million was €32 million
higher than 2016, reflecting an
increase in single premium and
pension sale volumes during the year;
business income in Retail UK, which
includes transactional banking fees
and interchange income on credit
cards less commissions payable to
strategic partners was €1 million; and
business income in Corporate and
Treasury of €175 million is €18 million
higher than 2016 supported in part by
equity distributions and derivative
income.

Other gains included in net other income

are as follows:

e again of €69 million in 2017 arising on
asset disposals relating to sovereign
bonds, equity interests received
following the restructure of impaired
loans and the Group’s interest in a UK
card business, Vocalink. The prior year
gain mainly arose on the sale of
sovereign bonds as part of a
rebalancing of the Group’s liquid asset
portfolio and the sale of shares in VISA
Europe;

e again of €2 million relating to the
disposal and revaluation of investment
properties; and

e again of €3 million relating to the
disposal of share warrants received
following the restructure of impaired
loans.

Other valuation items included in net

other income are as follows:

e again of €37 million due to valuation
adjustments on financial instruments
(CVA, DVA, FVA) and other primarily
relates to market movements during
the year;

e a €9 million unit-linked investment
variance in Bank of Ireland Life in 2017
reflecting growth in investment
markets during the year; and

e again of €22 million relating to interest
rate movements in Bank of Ireland
Life, primarily due to the favourable
impact of narrower credit spreads. The
prior year benefited from the impact of
declining interest rates, which was not
repeated in 2017.

T As outlined on page 4, comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations.
2 The year on year changes in ‘net interest income’ and ‘net other income’ are affected by certain IFRS income classifications. See page 16 for further information.
3 Business income is net other income after IFRS income classifications before other gains and other valuation items. This is a measure monitored by management as part of the

review of divisional performance.

4 Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA); Debit Valuation Adjustment (DVA); Funding Valuation Adjustment (FVA).
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Operating and financial review

Operating expenses

Table: 3 Restated'
2017 2016  Change
Operating expenses €m €m %
Staff costs (excluding pension costs) 752 742 1%
Pension costs 148 135 10%
- Retirement benefit costs (defined benefit plans) 125 118 6%
- Retirement benefit costs (defined contribution plans) 23 17 35%
Depreciation and amortisation 165 132 25%
Other costs 724 732 (1%)

Operating expenses (before Core Banking Platforms

Investment and levies and regulatory charges) 1,789 1,741 3%
Core Banking Platforms Investment charge 111 41 n/m
Levies and regulatory charges 99 109 9%
Operating expenses 1,999 1,891 6%
Change
Staff numbers at year end 10,892 11,208 (316)
Average staff numbers during the year 11,196 11,228 (32)

Operating expenses (before Core
Banking Platforms Investment and
levies and regulatory charges) of €1,789
million for 2017 were €48 million or 3%
higher than 2016.

The Group has continued to focus on
controlling its operational costs during the
year, while maintaining its investment in
regulatory compliance, technology and
business growth. Foreign currency
movements provided a €24 million
translation benefit during the year.

Staff costs (excluding pension costs) of
€752 million for 2017 are €10 million
higher than in 2016. On a constant
currency basis, staff costs have increased
€19 million or 2.5%. The Group paid a
salary increase averaging c.2.5% effective

1 January 2017. The average number of
staff employed by the Group has fallen
slightly to 11,196 in 2017 compared to
11,228 in 2016. Staff numbers at 31
December 2017 were 10,892, of which
¢.500 (2016: ¢.400) were on fixed term
contracts.

Pension costs of €148 million for 2017
were €13 million or 10% higher than 2016.
The increase in defined benefit (DB) costs
of €7 million is due to a negative past
service cost recognised in 2016, partially
offset by lower service costs and lower
interest cost. New joiners are added to the
Group’s defined contribution plans. The
cost of defined contribution plans
increased by €6 million.

Depreciation and amortisation of €165
million in 2017 was €33 million or 25%
higher than 2016. The increase is a result
of technology investments made in recent
years.

Other costs including technology,
property, outsourced services and other
non-staff costs were €724 million for 2017,
€8 million lower than in 2016. On a
constant currency basis, other costs have
increased by €5 million or 1%. The Group
continues to generate cost savings and
efficiencies across its businesses, whilst
investing in strategic initiatives,
technology and regulatory compliance.

Core Banking Platforms Investment
charge

Our Core Banking Platforms programme is
making progress and we invested a further
€195 million in this programme in 2017, of
which €91 million was capitalised on the
balance sheet (2016: €64 million) and
€104 million was charged directly to the
income statement. The total income
statement charge of €111 million (2016:
€41 million) also includes €4 million of an
amortisation charge relating to assets
capitalised previously.

Levies and regulatory charges

The Group has incurred levies and
regulatory charges of €99 million in 2017
(2016: €109 million). The lower charge is
primarily due to a reduction in the Irish
bank levy to €29 million in 2017 (2016: €38
million).

' As outlined on page 4, comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the reclassification of the charges relating to the Central Bank of Ireland’s Tracker

Mortgage Examination as non-core.
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Table: 4 with positive macroeconomic and trading s
Impairment charges / (reversals) on 2017 2016  Change Icondltlons. The hlghett impairment charge
loans and advances to customers €m €m % in the UK SME portfolio reflected a small
number of individual case specific events.
Residential mortgages (137) (142) 4%
- Retail Ireland (131) (141) 7% The impairment charge on the Property
- Retail UK 6) (1) n/m and construction loan portfolio was €60
Non-property SME and corporate 84 113 (26%) million in 2017, €153 million or 72% lower
- Republic of Ireland SME 20 44 (55%) than 2016, with significant reductions
- UK SME 24 2 n/m recorded in both the Investment and Land
- Corporate 40 67 (40%) and development elements of the
Property and construction 60 213 (72%) portfolio. The lower impairment charge
- Investment 54 143 (62%) was mainly driven by the recovery in Irish
- Land and development 6 70 (91%) property markets, which enabled the
Consumer ) 6) n/m Group to resolve non-performing
Total 15 176 (91%) exposures at, or within, provision levels.
The net impairment charge for the year
was largely attributable to the UK
Impairment charges on loans and reversal on the Retail Ireland mortgage Investment portfolio due to a small
advances to customers of €15 million for  portfolio was €131 million in 2017 (2016: number of larger cases, where revised
the year ended 31 December 2017 were €141 million), and reflects continued resolution strategies involve shorter term
€161 million or 91% lower than the positive underlying book performance. exits such as asset sales.
previous year. The significant reduction in Retail Ireland mortgage non-performing
impairment charges in 2017 reflects the exposures and impaired loans reduced by The €8 million impairment charge on
strong performance of the Group’s loan 16% and 23% respectively during 2017, Consumer loans remained low in the year
portfolios, ongoing reductions in with reductions achieved in both the ended 31 December 2017, reflecting
non-performing exposures and impaired Owner occupied and Buy to let (BTL) continued positive macroeconomic
loans, and a positive economic market segments. conditions, particularly in Ireland.

environment (including stable or
increasing property collateral values) in the ~ The impairment charge on the

countries in which the Group’s portfolios Non-property SME and corporate loan
are located. portfolio was €84 million in 2017, €29

million or 26% lower than 2016. Overall
The impairment reversal on Residential lower impairment charges reflect the
mortgages was €137 million in 2017 Group’s intensive management and
(2016: €142 million). The impairment appropriate support for business

Non-core items

Table: 5 Restated" Underlying performance excludgs
2017 2016 Change non-core items which are those items that
Non-core items €m i % the Group believes obscure the underlying
performance trends in the business. The
Tracker Mortgage Examination charges (170) (1) n/m Group has treated the following items as
Cost of restructuring programme (48) (35) (87%) non-core:
Gross-up for policyholder tax in the Life business 10 12 (17%)
Cost of corporate reorganisation and establishment Charges relating to the Tracker
of a new holding company @) - (100%) Mortgage Examination
(Charge) / gain arising on the movement in the Group’s The Group continues to progress the work
credit spreads (5) 5 n/m associated with the Tracker Mortgage
Loss on disposal / liquidation of business activities (5) (7) 29% Examination being undertaken by the
Investment return on treasury shares held for policyholders (1) 2 n/m Central Bank of Ireland. Under the
Loss on liability management exercises - (19) n/m examination, the Group has identified
Total non-core items (226) (63) n/m €.6,000 accounts where a right to, or the
option of, a tracker rate was not

As outlined on page 4, comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life Assurance Operations and
the reclassification of the charges relating to the Central Bank of Ireland’s Tracker Mortgage Examination as non-core.
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Operating and financial review

Non-core items (continued)

appropriately provided to the customer.
The Group has also identified a small rate
differential (average 0.15%) on c.3,300
tracker mortgages which was not the
appropriate rate specified in the loan
documentation. As a consequence, the
Group has incurred a charge of €170
million during 2017 (€96 million in net
interest income and €74 million in
operating expenses) primarily in respect of
redress and compensation associated
with these accounts. During 2016, the
Group incurred a charge of €21 million
relating to this examination process (€15
million in net interest income and €6
million in operating expenses).

Cost of restructuring programme

In 2017, the Group recognised a charge of
€48 million in relation to its restructuring
programme, primarily related to changes
in employee numbers (2016: €35 million).

Gross-up for policyholder tax in the Life
business

Accounting standards require that the
income statement be grossed up in
respect of the total tax payable by Bank of
Ireland Life, comprising both policyholder
and shareholder tax. The tax gross-up
relating to policyholder tax is included
within non-core items.

Taxation

The taxation charge for the Group was
€160 million in 2017 with an effective
taxation rate on a statutory basis of 19%
(2016: €236 million and 23%,
respectively).

On an underlying basis, the effective
taxation rate in 2017 was 17% (2016:
21%).

Cost of corporate reorganisation and
establishment of a new holding
company

The Group has implemented a corporate
reorganisation which resulted in BOIG plc
being introduced as the listed holding
company of the Group on 7 July 2017. In
2017, the Group recognised a charge of
€7 million in relation to the reorganisation.
See note 46 on page 203 for further
details.

(Charge) / gain arising on the
movement in the Group’s credit spreads
A charge of €5 million was recognised in
the year ended 31 December 2017
compared to a gain of €5 million for the
previous year. This charge relates to
Group liabilities (consisting of certain
structured senior and covered debt and
tracker deposits) that are accounted for at
‘fair value through profit or loss’. The
charge in 2017 arises primarily due to the
tightening of the Group’s credit spreads
and is partly offset by the ‘pull to par’
effect of cumulative losses reversing over
time on the Group’s structured deposits.
This charge does not impact the Group’s
regulatory capital.

The effective tax rate is influenced by
changes in the geographic mix of profits
and losses and the underlying effective tax
rate for the year ended 31 December 2017
was lower than the previous year, due to
the impact of the re-assessment of the
value of tax losses carried forward and
changes in the tax treatment of certain
2016 gains.

Loss on disposal / liquidation of
business activities

A loss of €5 million was recognised during
the year relating to profit on disposal of
business interests, offset by the recycling
of cumulative unrealised FX gains and
losses through the income statement
following the liquidation of subsidiaries.

Investment return on treasury shares
held for policyholders

Under accounting standards, the Group
income statement excludes the impact of
the change in value of BOIG plc shares
held by Bank of Ireland Life for
policyholders. In 2017, there was a loss of
€1 million (2016: €2 million gain). At 31
December 2017 there were 4 million
shares (2016: 0.9 million units of stock’)
held by Bank of Ireland Life for
policyholders.

Loss on liability management exercises
In 2016, a loss of €19 million on liability
management exercises was recognised,
primarily reflecting the repurchase of €0.6
billion nominal value of the Group’s senior
unsecured debt securities. There was no
such gain or loss in 2017.

As set out in note 18 on page 174, the
deferred tax asset (DTA) has reduced by
€17 million in the year due to the
utilisation of brought forward trading
losses against current year taxable profits
which reduces the amount of tax payable
on those profits.

' The 2016 figure has been restated to reflect the share consolidation implemented in July 2017.
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Group balance sheet

The following tables show the composition of the Group’s balance sheet including the key sources of the Group’s funding and liquidity.
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Summary consolidated balance sheet

Restated’

2017 2016 Change
Summary consolidated balance sheet Table €bn €bn %
Loans and advances to customers (after impairment provisions) 6 76 78 (3%)
Liquid assets 7 24 21 14%
Bank of Ireland Life assets 17 17 -
Other assets 10 6 7 (14%)
Total assets 123 123 -
Customer deposits 8 76 75 1%
Wholesale funding 9 13 14 (7%)
Bank of Ireland Life liabilities 17 17 -
Other liabilities 10 5 6 (17%)
Subordinated liabilities 1 2 1 100%
Total liabilities 113 113 -
Shareholders' equity 12 9 9 -
Non-controlling interests - Other equity instruments 1 1 -
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 123 123 -
Liquidity coverage ratio? 136% 113%
Net stable funding ratio® 127% 122%
Loan to deposit ratio 100% 104%
Common equity tier 1 ratio - fully loaded 13.8% 12.3%
Common equity tier 1 ratio - regulatory 15.8% 14.2%
Total capital ratio - regulatory 20.2% 18.5%

Loans and advances to customers
Table: 6
2017 2016

Loans and advances to customers
Composition €m % €m %
Residential mortgages 46,659 60% 48,207 59%
- Retail Ireland 24,069 31% 24,329 30%
- Retail UK 22,590 29% 23,878 29%
Non-property SME and corporate 18,763 24% 20,000 24%
- Republic of Ireland SME 8,213 11% 8,808 11%
- UK SME 1,703 2% 1,909 2%
- Corporate 8,847 11% 9,283 11%
Property and construction 8,747 1% 10,344 12%
- Investment 8,277 10% 9,321 11%
- Land and development 470 1% 1,023 1%
Consumer 4,318 5% 3,811 5%
Total loans and advances to customers 78,487 100% 82,362 100%
Less impairment provisions on loans and advances to customers (2,359) (3,885)
Net loans and advances to customers 76,128 78,477
Impaired loans* 4,043 6,236
Non-performing exposures* 6,521 9,430

Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations which has resulted in an
increase of €0.46 billion in 2016 Bank of Ireland Life assets and a corresponding increase of €0.46 billion in 2016 Bank of Ireland Life liabilities (see note 62 on page 229 for
further detail).

The Group’s Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) is calculated based on the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/61 which came into force on 1 October 2015.

The Group’s Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) is calculated based on the Group’s interpretation of the BCBS October 2014 document.

As set out on page 60, the Group has revised its asset quality reporting methodology and (i) now reports non-performing exposures and (i) has modified its definition of impaired
loans.
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Operating and financial review

Loans and advances to customers (continued)

The Group’s loans and advances to
customers (after impairment provisions)
of €76.1 billion were €2.4 billion lower than
in 2016, with currency translation
accounting for €1.5 billion of this
movement.

Gross new lending was €14.2 billion in
2017 (2016: €13.2 billion). New lending
(excluding acquisitions) of €14.1 billion
was €1.1 billion or 8% higher than 2016
on a reported basis, and 11% higher on a
constant currency basis.

Redemptions and repayments of €15.0
billion were €0.9 billion higher than in
2016. The Group’s success in reducing
(through resolution or restructure / cure)
impaired assets and redemptions as part
of the run-down of the GB business

Liquid assets

banking / GB corporate banking book
together accounted for €1.2 billion of this
figure (2016: c.€1.6 billion).

The composition of the Group’s loans and
advances to customers by portfolio in
2017 was broadly consistent with 2016.

Our asset quality continues to improve
and our impaired loans of €4.0 billion were
€2.2 billion or 35% lower than 2016, with
reductions across nearly all asset classes.

Non-performing exposures also reduced
over the year by 31% to €6.5 billion.
These reductions reflect the continued
implementation of resolution strategies
that include appropriate and sustainable
support to viable customers who are in
financial difficulty along with the positive

Table: 7
Average
01/01/17 -
2017 2016 31/12/17
Liquid assets €bn €bn €bn
Cash at banks 3 3 3
Cash and balances at central banks 7 5 6
- Bank of England 2 2 2
- Central Bank of Ireland 4 3 4
- US Federal Reserve 1 - -
Government bonds 8 7 6
- Available for sale 8 5 6
- Held to maturity - 2 -
Covered bonds 3 3 3
Senior bank bonds, NAMA senior bonds and other 3 3 4
24 21 22

economic environment with stable or
increasing collateral values. We anticipate
further reductions in impaired loans and
non-performing exposures in 2018, with
the pace of such reductions being
influenced by a range of factors.

The stock of impairment provisions on
loans and advances to customers of €2.4
billion were €1.5 billion lower than 2016.
The impaired loans provision coverage
ratio’ at 31 December 2017 was 49%
(2016: 54%).

Further analysis and commentary on
changes in the loan portfolios, asset
quality and impairment is set out in the
asset quality and impairment section, see
pages 56 to 68 and note 28.

The Group’s portfolio of liquid assets at 31
December 2017 of €23.6 billion has
increased by c.€3 billion since 31
December 2016, primarily reflecting higher
cash balances and in anticipation of the
full phase-in of LCR regulatory
requirements from 1 January 2018. All
outstanding NAMA senior bonds (2016:
€0.5 billion) were redeemed during 2017.

During 2017, the Group changed its
intention to hold the portfolio of Irish
Government bonds to maturity and sold a
portion of the assets. As a result the
Group has reclassified all held to maturity
financial assets as available for sale.

1

The impaired loans provision coverage ratio is calculated as ‘specific impairment provisions’ divided by ‘impaired loans’.

22 Bank of Ireland & Annual Report - year ended 31 December 2017



Customer deposits

Table: 8

2017 2016
Customer deposits €bn €bn
Retail Ireland 44 41
- Deposits 22 22
- Current account credit balances 22 19
Retail UK 22 23
Retail UK (Stg£bn equivalent) 19 20
- UK Post Office 14 15
- Other Retail UK 5 5]
Corporate and Treasury 10 11
Total customer deposits 76 75
Loan to deposit ratio 100% 104%

At 31 December 2017, Group customer
deposits (including current accounts with
credit balances) have increased by €0.7
billion to €75.9 billion since 31 December
2016.

This comprises of an increase in Retail

Ireland Division of €3.1 billion, offset by a
decrease in Corporate and Treasury

Wholesale funding

division of €1.0 billion (of which €0.4 billion
relates to the translation effect of a weaker
dollar) and a decrease in Retail UK
Division of €1.4 billion (of which, €0.8
billion relates to the translation effect of a
weaker sterling). On a constant currency
basis, Group customer deposits increased
by €1.9 billion.

Operating and financial review

In the Retail Ireland Division, customer
deposits of €44.2 billion have increased by
€3.1 billion since 31 December 2016 due
to growth in current account credit
balances, reflecting strong economic
activity.
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In the Retail UK Division, customer
deposits of £19.0 billion have decreased
by £0.5 billion since 31 December 2016,
primarily due to the utilisation of Bank of
England (BoE) cost efficient Term Funding
Scheme (TFS).

In the Corporate and Treasury Division,
customer deposits of €10.3 billion have
decreased by €1.0 billion since 31
December 2016, due to the translation
effect of a weaker dollar, €0.4 billion and
pricing optimisation, including charging
negative interest rates where appropriate.

The Group’s Loan to Deposit Ratio (LDR)
was 100% at 31 December 2017.

Table: 9
2017 2016

Wholesale funding sources €bn % €bn %
Secured funding 1 86% 10 73%
- Monetary Authority 5 39% 3 24%
- Covered bonds 5 38% 6 41%
- Securitisations 1 9% 1 8%
Unsecured funding 2 14% 4 27%
- Senior debt 1 8% 2 15%
- Bank deposits 1 6% 2 12%
Total wholesale funding 13 100% 14 100%
Wholesale market funding <1 year to maturity 2 19% 4 36%
Wholesale market funding >1 year to maturity 6 81% 7 64%
Monetary Authority funding <1 year to maturity 2 @ o =
Monetary Authority funding >1 year to maturity 3 - 3 -
Liquidity metrics

Liquidity Coverage Ratio' 136% 113%
Net Stable Funding Ratio? 127% 122%

The Group’s wholesale funding of €12.7
billion at 31 December 2017 has
decreased by €1.7 billion since 31
December 2016, primarily due to
scheduled senior debt and covered bond
redemptions (c.€2.3 billion) and lower
bank deposits ¢.€0.9 billion, partially offset
by an increase in Monetary Authority
borrowings (c.€1.6 billion) consisting of
drawings from the ECB and BoE of €1
billion and €0.6 billion respectively.

The Group’s funding from Monetary
Authorities of €5.0 billion consists of
€.€3.3 billion of funding drawn under the
ECB’s Targeted Longer Term Refinancing
Operation (TLTRO), €1.3 billion from the
BoE TFS and €0.4 billion from the BoE
Indexed Long-Term Repo (ILTR) operation.

! The Group’s Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) is calculated based on the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/61 which came into force on 1 October 2015.
2 The Group’s Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) is calculated based on the Group'’s interpretation of the BCBS October 2014 document.
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Operating and financial review

Wholesale funding (continued)

At 31 December 2017, €6.2 billion or 81%
of wholesale market funding had a term to
maturity of greater than one year (2016:
€7.0 billion or 64%).

Wholesale market funding with a maturity
of less than one year was €1.5 billion

(2016: €4.0 billion) of which €0.6 billion is
secured.

The Group’s Liquidity Coverage Ratio
(LCR) was 136% in 2017 (2016: 113%).
Based on the Group’s interpretation of the
final Basel standard, the Group’s Net

Other assets and other liabilities

Table: 10

2017 2016
Other assets and other liabilities €bn €bn
Other assets 5.7 6.8
- Derivative financial instruments 2.3 3.7
- Net deferred tax asset 1.2 1.2
- Other assets 2.2 1.9
Other liabilities 5.2 6.2
- Derivative financial instruments 2.0 2.9
- Pension deficit 0.5 0.4
- Notes in circulation 1.2 1.2
- Other liabilities 1.5 1.7

Other assets in 2017 include derivative
financial instruments with a positive fair
value of €2.3 billion (2016: €3.7 billion).
Other liabilities in 2017 include derivative
financial instruments with a negative fair
value of €2.0 billion (2016: €2.9 billion).
The movement in the value of derivative
assets and derivative liabilities is due to
the maturity of transactions during the
year as well as changes in fair values
caused by the impact of the movements in
FX rates (particularly the euro / sterling
exchange rate) and in interest rates during
2017.

Subordinated liabilities

In 2017, the Group’s net deferred tax
asset was substantially unchanged at
€1.2 billion with the utilisation of the DTA
against current year profits being offset by
an increase in the DTA associated with
movements in the pension deficit and the
cash flow hedge reserve. The net DTA of
€1.2 billion in 2017 includes an amount of
€1.2 billion in respect of trading losses
which are available to relieve future profits
from tax. For further details on movements
in the net DTA in the period see note 35 on
page 189.

Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) was 127% in
2017 (2016: 122%).

The IAS 19 DB pension deficit at 31
December 2017 of €0.5 billion, was €30
million higher than 2016. The main drivers
of the increase were:

e areduction in Euro AA Corporate
Bond discount rates, from 2.20% to
2.10%, the net positive impact of
higher interest rates offset by a
decrease in credit spreads used by
the Group to value liabilities;

e anincrease in long term Rol inflation
rate expectations, from 1.55% to
1.65%;

partially offset by:

e anincrease in UK AA Corporate Bond
discount rates, from 2.55% to 2.75%;

e areduction in long term UK inflation
rate expectations, from 3.40% to
3.20%;

e asset returns; and

e deficit reducing employer
contributions of €0.1 billion.

The significant financial assumptions used

in measuring the deficit are set out in note

44 on page 196, together with the

sensitivity of the deficit to changes in

those assumptions on page 199.

Table: 11

Subordinated liabilities

€750 million 4.25% Fixed Rate Notes 2024
US$500 million Fixed Rate Reset Notes 2027
Stg£300 million Fixed Rate Reset Notes 2027
€250 million 10% Fixed Rate Notes 2022
€1,002 million 10% Fixed Rate Notes 2020
Undated loan capital

Other dated capital

Total

2017 2016
€m €m
759 764
406
332 -
264 270
222 229
122 159
2 3
2,107 1,425

In June 2017, the Group completed the
redemption of the remaining €32 million of
the undated 7.40% Guaranteed Step-up
Callable Perpetual Preferred Securities

24 Bank of Ireland & Annual Report - year ended 31 December 2017

issued by Bank of Ireland UK Holdings
plc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

On 19 September 2017, the Group
completed a dual tranche issuance of
Stg£300 million and US$500 million ten
year (callable at the end of year five) Tier 2
capital instruments, issued by the new
holding company, BOIG plc. The sterling
bond has a coupon of 3.125% and the US
dollar bond has a coupon of 4.125%.



Shareholders’ equity

Table: 12 Restated’
2017 2016
Movements in shareholders’ equity €m €m
Shareholders’ equity at beginning of year 8,678 8,383
Movements:
Profit attributable to shareholders 664 799
Dividends on preference equity interests (4) (8)
Distribution on other equity instruments - Additional tier 1
coupon (net of tax) (24) (73)
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit pension liability (113) 167
Available for sale reserve movements 9) (169)
Cash flow hedge reserve movement (115) (4)
Foreign exchange movements (147) (419)
Transfer to non-controlling interests - preference stock (66) -
Other movements (5) 2
Shareholders’ equity at end of year 8,859 8,678

Shareholders’ equity increased from
€8,678 million at 31 December 2016 to
€8,859 million at 31 December 2017.

In 2017, the profit attributable to
shareholders was €664 million (2016:
€799 million).

The Group paid dividends of €2.1 million
and £1.1 million on its other euro and
sterling preference stock respectively, in
February 2017.

In June 2017, the Group paid €27 million
(after tax impact €24 million) relating to the
coupon on its Additional tier 1 (AT1)
securities.

As described in note 46, in July 2017,
the Group undertook a corporate
reorganisation whereby BOIG plc

became the ultimate parent company of
the Group. Instruments issued by The
Governor and Company of the Bank of
Ireland (the ‘Bank’) prior to this
reorganisation, such as the preference
stock and the AT1 securities are no
longer attributable to the owners of the
parent and have been reclassified to
non- controlling interests. Therefore,
preference dividends and coupons paid
since then are reflected in profit
attributable to shareholders and do not
form part of the above movements. For
further details on non-controlling
interests see note 49.

The remeasurement of the net DB
pension liability is primarily driven by
changes in actuarial assumptions,
including the discount rates and inflation
rates, and by asset returns.

Non-controlling interests - Other equity instruments

In June 2015, the Group issued AT1
securities, with a par value of €750 million,
for a net consideration of €740 million. The
securities carry an initial coupon of
7.375% and were classified as other
equity instruments.

As described in note 46, in July 2017, the
Group undertook a corporate
reorganisation whereby BOIG plc became

the ultimate parent company of the Group.

As the AT1 securities were issued by the
Bank, they are no longer attributable to
the owners of the parent and have been
reclassified to non-controlling interests

Operating and financial review

The AFS reserve movement during 2017
is primarily due to transfers from the AFS
reserve on asset disposals which were
partially offset by the gain recognised in
the AFS reserve on the reclassification of
assets from the held to maturity portfolio.
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The cash flow hedge reserve movement
primarily reflects changes in the
mark-to-market value of cash flow hedge
accounted derivatives, driven by market
rates and the amortisation of
de-designated cash flow hedges. Over
time, the reserve will flow through the
income statement in line with the
underlying hedged items.

Foreign exchange movements are driven
by the translation of the Group’s net
investments in foreign operations. The
movement in the year is due primarily to
the strengthening of the euro against
sterling (4%) and the US dollar (14%) in
2017. The movements in 2016 were due to
a 17% strengthening of the euro against
sterling.

The transfer to non-controlling interests
of €66 million in 2017, represents the
preference stock and associated share
premium no longer attributable to the
owners of the parent, being reclassified
from shareholders’ equity.

from other equity instruments.

In addition to the AT1 securities,
preference stock and related stock
premium previously classified as
‘Stockholders’ equity’ have also been
reclassified to non-controlling interests.
For further details on non-controlling
interests see note 49.

' Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations which has resulted in an
increase of €11 million in the 2016 shareholders’ equity at beginning of year, an increase of €6 million in the 2016 profit attributable to shareholders and a corresponding increase
in the 2016 shareholders’ equity at end of year of €17 million. See note 62 on page 229 for further detail.
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35 CRD IV - 2016" CRD IV - 2017
m
Regulatory Fully loaded Regulatory Fully loaded
€m €m €m €m
Capital Base
9,402 9,402 Total equity 9,667 9,667
- - - less proposed dividend? (124) (124)
(750) (750) - less Additional tier 1 capital (750) (750)
Total equity less proposed dividend and equity instruments
8,652 8,652 not qualifying as CET 1 8,793 8,793
(520) (1,458) Regulatory adjustments being phased in / out under CRD IV (614) (1,479)
(243) (1,215) - Deferred tax assets® (345) (1,150)
= (43) - 10% / 15% threshold deduction* = (78)
156 - - Retirement benefit obligations® 95 -
(140) - - Available for sale reserve® (68) -
(20) - - Pension supplementary contributions® (10) -
(273) (200) - Other adjustments” (286) (251)
(915) (975) Other regulatory adjustments (1,057) (1,119)
90) (150) - Expected loss deduction® (247) (309)
(625) (625) - Intangible assets and goodwill (723) (723)
@) @) - Coupon expected on AT 1 instrument @) @)
(156) (156) - Cash flow hedge reserve 41) 41)
12 12 - Own credit spread adjustment (net of tax) 22 22
54) (54) - Securitisation deduction (66) (66)
7,217 6,219 Common equity tier 1 7,122 6,195

Additional tier 1

805 750 AT1 instruments (issued by parent entity®) - -
- - Instruments issued by subsidiaries that are given recognition in AT1 Capital'™® 534 480
(30) - Regulatory adjustments (31) -
[ (30) - - Expected loss deduction® [ (31) -]
7,992 6,969 Total tier 1 capital 7,625 6,675
Tier 2
1,240 1,276 Tier 2 instruments (issued by parent entity®) 785 785
- - Instruments issued by subsidiaries that are given recognition in AT1 Capital™ 799 699
(30) - Regulatory adjustments (31) -
[ (30) - | - Expected loss deduction® [ (31) -]
22 - Standardised incurred but not reported (IBNR) provisions 9 -
150 150 Provisions in excess of expected losses on defaulted assets - -
10 (80) Other adjustments (106) (160)
1,392 1,346 Total tier 2 capital 1,456 1,324
9,384 8,315 Total capital 9,081 7,999
50.7 50.5 Total risk weighted assets (€bn) 45.0 44.8

Capital ratios

14.2% 12.3% Common equity tier 1 15.8% 13.8%
15.7% 13.7% Tier 11° 17.0% 14.9%
18.5% 16.4% Total capital™ 20.2% 17.9%

7.3% 6.4% Leverage ratio™ 7.0.% 6.2%

The comparative figures are as per the Group’s regulatory submission to the ECB. Therefore the December 2016 equity figures have not been restated in respect of the voluntary
change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations as outlined on page 148 and in note 62 on page 229.

The Board has proposed an ordinary dividend of €124m in respect of 2017. This has been deducted as required under Article 2 of EU Regulation No. 241/2014.

Deduction relates to DTA on losses carried forward, net of certain deferred tax liabilities. The deduction is phased at 30% in 2017, increasing annually at a rate of 10% thereafter.
The 10% / 15% threshold deduction is phased in at 80% in 2017 and increasing to 100% in 2018, and is deducted in full from CET 1 under fully-loaded rules.

Regulatory deductions applicable under CRD and phased out under CRD IV relate primarily to national filters. These will be phased out at 20% per annum until 2018 and are not
applicable under fully loaded rules.

CRD |V transitional rules in 2017 require phasing in 80% of unrealised losses and 80% of unrealised gains. In 2018 unrealised losses and gains will be phased in at 100%. The
reserve is recognised in capital under fully loaded CRD IV rules.

Includes technical items such as other national filters and non-qualifying CET 1 items.

Under CRD IV transitional rules, expected loss is phased in at 80% in 2017. Expected loss not deducted from CET 1 is deducted 50:50 from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital. It is
deducted in full from CET 1 under fully loaded rules.

The parent entity for 2016 refers to the Bank and for 2017 refers to BOIG plc. Also includes instruments issued by subsidiaries not subject to restriction on recognition in
consolidated own funds.

0 The calculation of the Group’s Tier 1, Total Capital and related ratios (including Leverage ratio) at December 2017 are stated after a prudent application of the requirements of
Articles 85 and 87 of CRR. Further details are provided on page 28.
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Capital (continued)

Operating and financial review

Risk weighted assets (RWA)'?
CRD IV - 2016 CRD IV - 2017
Regulatory Fully loaded Regulatory Fully loaded
€bn €bn €bn €bn
44.0 43.8 Credit risk® 38.7 38.5
1.4 1.4 Counterparty credit risk 0.7 0.7
0.3 0.3 Securitisation 0.5 @5
0.4 0.4 Market risk 0.5 0.5
4.6 4.6 Operational risk 4.6 4.6
50.7 50.5 Total RWA 45.0 44.8

CRD IV

The Capital Requirements Directive (CRD)
IV legislation commenced implementation
on a phased basis from 1 January 2014.
The CRD IV transition rules resulted in a
number of deductions from Common
equity tier 1 (CET 1) capital being
introduced on a phased basis typically
with a 20% impact in 2014, 40% in 2015
and so on until full implementation by
2018 (with the exception of the DTAs
(dependent on future profitability)
deduction which in the case of the Group
is phased to 2024). The ratios outlined in
this section reflect the Group’s
interpretation of the CRD IV rules as
published on 27 June 2013 and
subsequent clarifications, including ECB
regulation 2016/445 on the exercise of
options and discretions.

CRD IV developments

CRD IV includes requirements for
regulatory and technical standards to be
published by the European Banking
Authority (EBA). CRD IV continues to
evolve through amendments to current
regulations and the adoption of new
technical standards. On 23 November
2016, the European Commission (EC)
published a set of legislative proposals,
including amendments of the existing
CRD and the Capital Requirements
Regulation (CRR), as well as the related
EU Bank Recovery and Resolution
Directive (BRRD) and the Single
Resolution Mechanism (SRM) Regulation.
The proposed changes are expected to
start entering into force in 2019 at the
earliest.

In December 2017, the Basel Committee
announced revisions of the Basel
Framework. The revisions focus on
standardised and internal ratings based

(IRB) approaches to measuring credit risk
and the introduction of an aggregate
output floor to ensure banks’ RWAs
calculated via internal models are no lower
than 72.5% of RWAs calculated under the
standardised approach. The revised
standards will take effect from 1 January
2022, with a phase-in period of five years
for the aggregate output floor. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of these
revisions although any impact will depend
on the implementation at EU level.

The Group actively monitors these
developments and seeks to effectively
comply with the new requirements when
finalised.

IFRS 9 capital impact

The Group has estimated that quantitative
impact from initial adoption of IFRS 9 on 1
January 2018 will reduce the Group’s fully
loaded CET 1 ratio by c.20 basis points.

The Group has elected to apply the
transitional arrangement which, on a
regulatory CET 1 basis, will result in
minimal impact from initial adoption and
partially mitigate future impacts in the
period to 2022. This will involve a capital
addback of a portion of the increase in
impairment loss allowance on transition to
IFRS 9 and also any subsequent increase
in the stage 1 and 2 loss allowances at
future reporting dates. The transition
period is for five years, with a 95% add-
back allowed in 2018, decreasing to 85%,
70%, 50% and 25% in subsequent years.

Capital requirements / buffers

Following the 2017 Supervisory Review
and Evaluation Process (SREP), the Group
is required to maintain a CET 1 ratio of
8.625% on a regulatory basis from 1
January 2018. This includes a Pillar |

requirement of 4.5%, a Pillar Il
requirement (P2R) of 2.25% and a capital
conservation buffer for 2018 of 1.875%
(reflecting a further years phase-in of
0.625%). Pillar Il guidance (P2G) is not
disclosed in accordance with regulatory
preference.

The Central Bank of Ireland (CBI) has
advised that the Group will be required to
maintain an O-SlI buffer, which will be
phased in as follows: 0.5% from July
2019, 1.0% from July 2020 and 1.5% from
July 2021. Both the SREP requirement
and the O-SlI buffer are subject to annual
review by the Single Supervisory
Mechanism (SSM) and the CBI
respectively.

The Financial Policy Committee (FPC) in
the UK increased the countercyclical
buffer (CCyB) to 0.5% from 0%, with
binding effect from 27 June 2018 with a
further increase to 1%, from 28 November
2018. The UK CCyB is expected to result
in an increase in the Group’s capital
requirement of ¢.0.15% from June 2018
and a further ¢.0.15% from November
2018. The CBI has set the CCyBs for
Ireland at 0% from 1 January 2018.

The Group expects to maintain a CET 1
ratio in excess of 13% on a regulatory
basis, and on a fully loaded basis at the
end of the O-SII (Other Systematically
Important Institution) phase-in period. This
includes meeting applicable regulatory
capital requirements plus an appropriate
management buffer.

Capital developments

Capital issuance:

On 19 September 2017, the Group
successfully raised Stg£300 million and
US$500 million of Tier 2 capital with a

" RWA reflect the application of certain Central Bank of Ireland required Balance Sheet Assessment (BSA) adjustments and the updated treatments of expected loss.
2 Further details on RWA as at 31 December 2017 can be found in the Group’s Pillar Ill disclosures for the year ended 31 December 2017, available on the Group’s website.
3 Includes RWA relating to non-credit obligation assets / other assets, settlement risk and RWA arising from the 10% / 15% threshold deductions.
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Capital (continued)

maturity of ten years (callable after five
years). The capital instruments carry an
initial coupon of 3.125% and 4.125%
respectively. See note 45 for further
details.

Credit risk transfer transaction:

The Group announced a credit risk
transfer (CRT) transaction in November
2017 which has increased the Group’s
regulatory CET 1 ratio by c¢.55 basis points
and the Group’s fully loaded CET 1 ratio
by ¢.50 basis points. The transaction has
reduced the Group’s credit risk exposure,
and consequently the risk weighted assets
on the reference portfolio. The transaction
resulted in a reduction in risk weighted
assets of €1.6 billion. The Group also
announced that it was continuing to
engage with the ECB as part of the ECB’s
Targeted Review of Internal Models (TRIM)
on Irish Mortgages. The Group noted that
adjustments arising from this process
could absorb the capital benefits of the
CRT, in part or in full.

Group holding company and capital
impacts

The Group implemented a corporate
reorganisation resulting in Bank of Ireland
Group plc (BOIG plc) being introduced as
the listed holding company of the Group in
July 2017. BOIG plc was established to
facilitate the Single Resolution Board’s
(SRB’s) preferred resolution strategy which
consists of a single point of entry bail-in
strategy. All future issuance of MREL
eligible debt will be issued by BOIG plc
and down-streamed to the Bank.

As a result of the establishment of BOIG
plc, and due to the requirements of
Articles 85 and 87 of the CRR, regulatory
capital instruments issued by subsidiaries
(i.e. The Governor and Company of Bank
of Ireland) cannot be recognised in full in
the prudential consolidation. The
calculation of the Group’s Tier 1,Total
Capital and Leverage ratios are stated
after a prudent application of the
requirements of Articles 85 and 87. The
impact of the restriction on recognition of
subsidiary issued capital has resulted in a
reduction of ¢.50 basis points in the Tier 1
ratio and c.140 basis points in the Total
Capital ratio, on a regulatory basis, at 31
December 2017.

The requirements and guidance in relation
to Articles 85 and 87 are under review by
the ECB. Any clarifications from this
review may change the Group’s
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calculation, noting a prudent application
has been applied by the Group.

Minimum Requirement for Own Funds
and Eligible Liabilities (MREL)

The Group expects to receive an MREL
target and details of transitional
arrangements during the first half of 2018.
The SRB published an updated MREL
Policy in December 2017. The Group does
not expect the policy to result in any
material change in expected requirements
from the previously indicated 27.25%
‘Informative Target’. Based on the current
regulatory total capital ratio of 20.2% and
excluding the impact of the corporate
reorganisation on those ratios (1.4%), a
modest amount of new MREL issuance is
expected.

Risk weighted assets

Risk weighted assets (RWA), on a
regulatory basis, were €45.0 billion at 31
December 2017 (2016: €50.7 billion). The
decrease of €5.7 billion in Credit RWA is
primarily due to the impact of FX
movements (€1.0 billion), changes in book
size and quality (€1.8 billion), changes in
methodology and policy (€1.2 billion), the
execution of a CRT transaction (€1.6
billion) and other movements (€0.1 billion).

Regulatory ratio

The CET 1 ratio was 15.8% at 31
December 2017 (2016: 14.2%). The
increase of ¢.160 basis points is primarily
due to organic capital generation (c.+160
basis points), the impact of the CRT
transaction (c.+55 basis points) and RWA
methodology changes (c.+30 basis
points), partially offset by an increase in
CRD phasing for 2017 (c.-20 basis points),
investment in the Group’s Core Banking
Platforms (c.-40 basis points) and an
accrual for a proposed dividend (c.-25
basis points) in line with regulatory
guidance.

Fully loaded ratio

The Group’s fully loaded CET 1 ratio is
estimated at 13.8% at 31 December 2017
(2016: 12.3%). The increase of ¢.150 basis
points is primarily due to organic capital
generation (c.+140 basis points), the
impact of the CRT transaction (c.+50
basis points) and RWA methodology
changes (c.+25 basis points), partially
offset by investment in the Group’s Core
Banking Platforms (c.-40 basis points),
and an accrual for a proposed dividend
(c.-25 basis points) in line with regulatory
guidance.

Leverage ratio

The leverage ratio at 31 December 2017 is
7.0% on a CRD IV regulatory basis (2016:
7.3%), 6.2% on a pro-forma fully loaded
basis (2016: 6.4%).

The European Commission have proposed
the introduction of a binding leverage
requirement of 3% as part of the revised
CRD proposals. It is anticipated that the
binding leverage requirement will be
applicable from 2019 at the earliest
pending final agreement of the proposals
at EU level. The Group expects to remain
well in excess of this requirement.

Distribution policy

As anticipated, the Group is re-
commencing dividends in respect of the
2017 financial year; a dividend of 11.5
cents per share has been proposed. The
Group expects that dividends will increase
on a prudent and progressive basis and,
over time, will build towards a payout ratio
of around 50% of sustainable earnings.

The dividend level and the rate of
progression will reflect, amongst other
things, the strength of the Group’s capital
and capital generation, the Board’s
assessment of the growth and investment
opportunities available, any capital the
Group retains to cover uncertainties and
any impact from the evolving regulatory
and accounting environments.

Distributable items

In July 2017, following the corporate
reorganisation described in note 46 on
page 203, the High Court approved a
capital reduction and the creation of €5.5
billion in distributable reserves in BOIG
plc. Since that date, the Company has
generated profits attributable to
shareholders of €1.0 billion and therefore,
as at 31 December 2017, the Company
had reserves available for distribution of
€6.5 billion. Further information on the
Company’s equity is provided on page
234.

Individual consolidation

The regulatory CET 1 ratio of the Bank
calculated on an individual consolidated
basis as referred to in Article 9 of the CRR
is 15.3% at 31 December 2017 (2016:
16.2%).
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S Divisional performance is presented on an
e 2017 esZaO:;G Bl underlying basis, which is the measure of
underlying profit before tax Table €m €m % profit or loss used to .m.e.asure the
performance of the divisions and the

Retailllreland 712 636 12% measure of profit or loss disclosed for

Bank of Ireland Life 106 127 (17%) each division under IFRS (see note 3).

Retail UK 103 133 (23%)

Corporate and Treasury 553 531 4%

Group Centre (405) (361) 12%

Other reconciling items? 9 32 (72%)

Underlying profit before tax 1,078 1,098 (2%)

Non-core items 5 (226) (63) n/m

Profit before tax 852 1,035 (18%)

" As outlined on page 4, comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of: (i) the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations

which has resulted in an increase of €3 million in the 2016 underlying profit before tax of Bank of Ireland Life and (i) the Group’s decision to classify the charges relating to the
Central Bank of Ireland’s Tracker Mortgage Examination as non-core which has resulted in an increase of €21 million in the 2016 underlying profit before tax of Retail Ireland with
a corresponding increase of €21 million in the 2016 net charge from non-core items.

Other reconciling items represent inter segment transactions which are eliminated upon consolidation and the application of hedge accounting at Group level.
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Retail Ireland

Restated'
2017 2016  Change
Income statement €m €m %
Net interest income 1,065 1,047 2%
Net other income 317 407 (22%)
Operating income 1,382 1,454 (5%)
Operating expenses (822) (813) 1%
Operating profit before impairment charges on
financial assets 560 641 (13%)
Impairment reversals / (charges) on loans and advances
to customers 148 2) n/m
Share of results of associates and joint ventures (after tax) 4 (3) n/m
Underlying profit before tax 712 636 12%
Loans and advances to customers (net) (€bn)
At 31 December 34.7 35.3
Average in year 34.9 35.6
Customer deposits (€bn)
At 31 December 44.2 411
Average in year 42.5 40.2
Staff numbers at period end 4,011 4,147

Retail Ireland offers a broad range of
financial products and services. Through
the network of branches in over 250
locations across the Republic of Ireland,
Bank of Ireland is one of the largest
providers of financial services in the
country, with ¢.1.8 million consumer
banking customers and ¢.200,000
business banking customers.

Retail Ireland continues to focus on
getting to know customers better as
individuals, supporting them more in their
communities and enterprises, and
improving customer experience.

Knowing customers and demonstrating

this knowledge through actions

e Digital adoption programmes -
Retail Ireland continues to invest to
transform how customers are served.
In 2017, Retail Ireland has continued
to develop digital propositions through
innovative web and robotics
technology and became the first Irish
bank to offer a fully digital account
opening experience, winning a global
award for the ‘Best Customer Facing
Technology’ at the 2017 International
Retail Banking Awards in May 2017.

e New services launched - a number
of new services were launched
including web chat (human and
automated) which was introduced for

personal loans and graduate services.
Retail Ireland has also invested heavily
in SMS technology to offer self-service
and proactive care for customers and
to keep them informed of progress on
their customer journeys.

e Contactless payments - contactless
transactions have increased by more
than 600% in the last year and there
are now, for the first time, more
contactless payments than personal
cheques.

e Meeting customers’ needs - Retail
Ireland’s market leading youth banking
proposition continues to deliver
significant year on year growth. Bank
of Ireland has been the first Irish bank
to use social influencers and engage
via snapchat. Over 10,000 graduate
1:1 conversations, fashion, education
and experience events have occurred
during 2017.

Support for Local Communities

e Encouraging enterprise in local
communities - In 2017, the Enterprise
programme hosted over 130
Enterprise events reaching 160
communities, giving in excess of 5,000
businesses the opportunity to
showcase their products and services.

¢ Innovation programme - Retail
Ireland has hosted over 1,400
businesses across the six

« 720k mobile
customers

* 81% of
customers
active online

workbenches, three Startlabs and five
co-working spaces enabling the Bank
to help start-ups to ‘start-scale-
succeed’ in addition to opening up
avenues for co-creation and
proposition development for the
Group.

Improving customers' experience

e Continuous focus on implementing
digital solutions across all channels
to improve and enhance the customer
journey.

¢ Proactive customer updates via
SMS embedded in more customer
journeys to provide updates
throughout the product cycle.

e Webchat now includes more products
and services such as personal loans
and graduate services.

' As outlined on page 4, comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the reclassification of the charges relating to the Central Bank of Ireland’s Tracker

Mortgage Examination as non-core.
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Retail Ireland (continued)

Financial performance

Retail Ireland reported an underlying
profit before tax of €712 million in 2017,
12% higher than 2016. The increase is
mainly due to an improvement of €150
million in impairment charges and an
increase of €18 million in net interest
income. This is offset by lower net other
income due to the non-recurrence of a
gain of €89 million realised in 2016
following the sale of shares in Visa Europe.

Net interest income of €1,065 million in
2017 is 2% higher than 2016. The year on
year increase in net interest income is
primarily a function of lower funding
costs'. Lending spreads remain stable and
while the lending book has decreased, this
has largely come through either lower
yielding books e.g. tracker mortgages, or
through the reduction in impaired loans.
Deposit pay rates have reduced in line
with the general market trend in deposit
rates.

Net other income of €317 million in 2017
was 22% lower than 2016 primarily due to
the non-recurrence of the gain on sale of
VISA Europe shares. Business income of
€317 million is broadly in line with the
previous year.

Operating expenses of €822 million in
2017 were 1% higher than in 2016.

Impairment reversals on loans and
advances to customers were €148
million in 2017 compared to a charge of
€2 million in 2016. Further analysis and
commentary on changes in the loan
portfolios, asset quality and impairment is
set out in the asset quality and impairment
section on pages 56 to 68, note 28 and
the supplementary asset quality and
forbearance disclosures section on pages
242 to 277.

Loans and advances to customers
(after impairment provisions) of €34.7
billion were €0.6 billion lower than 2016.
This reflects a gross reduction of c.€1
billion in Retail Ireland’s tracker mortgage

Operating and financial review

book and a further reduction in Retail
Ireland’s impaired loans. Mortgage
drawdowns of €2 billion during 2017 have
increased by 41% on the prior year and
the Group continues to retain a strong
share of new mortgage lending, whilst the
asset finance business has performed
strongly with volumes up 16% year on
year.
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Customer deposits of €44.2 billion were
€3.1 billion higher than 2016. Retail Ireland
has a strong customer deposit franchise
with 28% market share. Within deposits,
current account credit balances have
grown by €2.6 billion while other deposits
have increased by €0.5 billion.

Impairment (reversals) / charges on 2017 2016  Change
loans and advances to customers €m €m %
Residential mortgages (131) (141) (7%)
Non-property SME and corporate 20 44 (55%)
Property and construction (27) 113 n/m
Consumer (10) (14) (29%)
Impairment (reversals) / charges on loans and

advances to customers (148) 2 n/m

' During 2017, the Group amended the allocation of funding and liquidity costs across the divisions which resulted in a net increase in net interest income for 2017 in the Retail
Ireland dlivision of €24 million, in the Retail UK division of €1 million, with a corresponding decrease in net interest income in the Corporate and Treasury division of €25 million,
compared to the prior year. The impact of these changes, if applied to the prior year, would be to increase 2016 net interest income by €28 million in Retail Ireland, by €2 million
in Retail UK with a corresponding decrease in Corporate & Treasury of €30 million.
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Bank of Ireland Life

Restated’
2017 2016 Change
Income statement (IFRS performance) €m €m %
Net interest income 12 31 (61%)
Net other income 177 145 22%
Operating income 189 176 7%
Operating expenses (114) (100) (14%)
Operating profit 75 76 (1%)
Unit-linked investment variance 9 10 (10%)
Interest rate movements 22 41 (46%)
Underlying profit before tax 106 127 (17%)
Staff numbers at period end 880 908

The Group, through Bank of Ireland Life, is
a market leading life and pension provider
in the Irish market and distributes across
three core channels made up of the
Bank’s distribution channels, independent
financial brokers and its own tied Financial
Advisor network. It is the only bancassurer
in the Irish market.

Bank of Ireland Life, which includes NIAC,
is focused predominantly on the retail and
SME market. Bank of Ireland Life provides
a range of protection, investment and
pension products offering customers
access to a wide range of investment
markets and fund managers across its
fund platform.

Bank of Ireland Life adopts a low risk
approach to managing its financial risks,
including in relation to capital,
management of assets and liabilities,
liquidity and underwriting.

The growing labour market, changing
demographics and reducing levels of
State and employer-led pension provision
mean that the underlying individual
investment and protection needs of the
working population will continue to grow.
Bank of Ireland Life, with 19% market
share and €16.5 billion in assets under
management, is well positioned to benefit
from the growing investment and pension
market.

Of the €16.5 billion assets under
management, €14.8 billion is in unit linked
funds where investment risk is borne by
policyholders, and where a change in the
value of the underlying asset is
accompanied by a corresponding change
in the liability. The other €1.7 billion covers
technical provisions (other than unit linked
liabilities), the pension scheme deficit,
solvency capital requirement and excess
own funds.

Financial performance

Bank of Ireland Life reported an underlying
profit before tax of €106 million in 2017
(2016: €127 million). The decrease in
profits of €21 million or 17% reflects a
gain the business made in 2016 from
sharply falling interest rates, which was
not repeated in 2017. Annual Premium
Equivalent (APE) new business sales in
2017 consisted of €123 million of new
lump sum business (2016: €115 million)
and €140 million of new regular premium
business (2016: €124 million). New
business levels are 10% higher than 2016,
benefiting from strong pension sales.
Single premium life and protection sales
are flat compared to 2016.

Operating profit of €75 million in 2017
was €1 million or 1% lower than in 2016
as the increase in operating income was
offset by higher operating costs.

Assets under management

€16.5bn

€16.0bn

Dec 2016 Dec 2017
Operating income of €189 million in 2017
was €13 million or 7% higher than 2016
on the back of higher new business
volumes and the benefit of assumption
changes.

On the book of existing policies, mortality
experience was strong and lapse
experience continued to be favourable
and in line with 2016.

Operating expenses of €114 million in
2017 were €14 million higher than in 2016
due to a non-recurring negative past
service pension cost recognised in the
prior year. Increased staff costs arising
from Group-wide salary increases were
offset by a reduction in the number of
staff.

In 2017, the investment funds’
performance was in excess of the unit
growth assumptions leading to a positive
unit-linked investment variance of €9
million (2016: €10 million).

Interest rates have increased in 2017,
however credit spreads have narrowed.
The overall impact of the change in yields,
was positive, resulting in a €22 million gain
in 2017 (2016: €41 million). The prior year
benefited from the impact of falling
interest rates, which was not repeated in
2017.

' As outlined on page 4, comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations.
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Bank of Ireland Life (continued)

Restated’
Bank of Ireland Life: income statement 2017 2016 Change
(Market Consistent Embedded Value performance) €m €m %
New business profits 17 17 -
Existing business profits 70 71 (1%)
- Expected return 50 61 (18%)
- Experience variance 19 20 5%)
- Assumption changes 1 (10) n/m
Intercompany payments 9) 12) (25%)
Interest payments (5) (5) -
Operating profit 73 71 3%
Unit-linked investment variance 21 14 50%
Interest rate movements 22 38 (42%)
Underlying profit before tax 116 123 (6%)

The table above outlines the Market
Consistent Embedded Value (MCEV)
performance using market consistent
assumptions.

The MCEV principles are more closely
aligned to the Solvency Il principles and
are consistent with the approach used for

insurance contracts in the IFRS
performance.

Operating profit for the year ended 31
December 2017 of €73 million was €2

million or 3% higher than the previous

year.

Restated’

2017 2016

€m €m

Net assets 489 477
Value of in Force 644 619
Less Tier 2 subordinated capital / debt (184) (140)
Less pension scheme deficit (94) (96)
Total market consistent embedded value 855 860

Operating and financial review

New business profits of €17 million are in
line with the prior year.
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Existing business profits of €70 million are
broadly the same as the prior year
reflecting the benefit of assumption
changes offset by lower expected return.
The expected return in 2016 included the
impact of a one off pension cost benefit.

The underlying profit before tax, on an
MCEV basis, of €116 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 compares to
€123 million in 2016.

The underlying profit before tax has been
supported by a positive investment
variance arising from investment fund
performance and the narrowing of credit
spreads.

This table summarises the overall balance
sheet of Bank of Ireland Life on an MCEV

basis at 31 December 2017 compared to

the value at 31 December 2016.

The Value of in Force (ViF) asset
represents the after tax value of future
income from the existing book.

The value of net assets reflect the
payment of a dividend of €135 million to
the Group in 2017 (2016 €140 million).

T Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations as outlined in the Group
Accounting Policies on page 148. The impact on the MCEV performance has resulted in an increase to the 2016 Underlying profit before tax by €8 million comprised of an
increase in the Economic assumption changes by €10 million and Investment variance by €4 million partially offset by a decrease in Operating profit by €6 million. The impact to
the overall balance sheet of Bank of Ireland Life on an MCEV basis has resulted in an increase in Net assets of €49 million and a decrease in the Value in Force asset by €47

million.
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Operating and financial review

Retail UK (Sterling)

2017 2016 Change

Income statement £m £m %
Net interest income 507 496 2%
Net other income 8 (7) n/m
Operating income 515 489 5%
Operating expenses (358) (336) (7%)
Operating profit before impairment charges on

financial assets 157 153 3%
Impairment charges on loans and advances to customers (100) (82) (22%)
Share of results of associates and joint ventures (after tax) 34 35 (3%)
Underlying profit before tax 91 106 (14%)
Underlying profit before tax (€Em equivalent) 103 133
Loans and advances to customers (net) (Ebn)
At 31 December 24.8 25.6
Average in year 25.2 25.9
Customer deposits (£bn)
At 31 December 19.0 195
Average in year 19.2 20.9
Staff numbers at period end 1,666 1,802

The Retail UK division incorporates the
financial services partnership and foreign
exchange joint venture with the UK Post
Office, the financial services partnership
with the AA, the UK residential mortgage
business, the Group’s branch network in
Northern Ireland (NI), the Group’s business
banking business in NI and the Northridge
Finance motor and asset finance, vehicle
leasing and fleet management business.
The Group also has a business banking
business in Great Britain (GB) which is
being run-down. The Retail UK division
includes the activities of Bank of Ireland
(UK) plc, the Group’s wholly owned UK
licenced banking subsidiary.

In November 2017, Northridge Finance
acquired Marshall Leasing Limited (MLL).
MLL is a car and commercial vehicle
leasing and fleet management company.

Through our partnerships with the Post
Office, AA and other intermediaries, we
have a substantial UK consumer banking

franchise with ¢.2.9 million customers. Our
longstanding relationship with the Post
Office is an important part of the UK
strategy with shared plans for a
sustainable business that creates long
term value. Our FX joint venture with the
Post Office, which provides retail and
wholesale FX services, remains the largest
provider of retail travel money in the UK.
Through our financial services partnership
with the AA, we have seen good volume
growth via the AA brand across personal
loans and savings products.

One of our key objectives for 2017 was to
continue to develop our mortgage
business while maintaining the progress
we have made in recent years. In 2017, our
new mortgage lending increased to £3.2
billion (2016: £2.8 billion).

Financial performance

Retail UK reported an underlying profit
before tax of £91 million in 2017 (2016:
£106 million). The decrease of £15 million

is primarily driven by increases in
impairment charges of £18 million and
operating expenses of £22 million, partly
offset by an increase in operating income
of £26 million.

Net interest income’ of £507 million in
2017 was £11 million or 2% higher than
2016. This is largely due to progress made
in reducing UK deposit costs, partially
offset by the impact of reduced interest
income on lower net lending volumes.

Net other income in 2017 was a gain of
£8 million (2016: £7 million charge). The
net improvement of £15 million is primarily
due to;

e a £11 million reduction in financial
instruments valuation charges in 2017
compared to 2016; and

e again of £8 million on the disposal of
share warrants (received following the
restructure of impaired loans) and the
Group’s interest in a UK card
business, Vocalink, compared to a
gain of £5 million in 2016 from the sale
of shares in VISA Europe.

Operating expenses of £358 million in
2017 are £22 million higher than 2016.
This reflects further investment in
developing the partnership with the AA
and other product propositions and the
impact of a weaker sterling as compared
to euro when translating certain euro
incurred costs.

The share of results of associates and
joint ventures (after tax) of £34 million in
2017 relates to First Rate Exchange
Services Limited (FRES), the FX joint
venture with the UK Post Office, and is in
line with the 2016 performance.

" During 2017, the Group amended the allocation of funding and liquidity costs across the divisions which resulted in a net increase in net interest income for 2017 in the Retail UK
division of €1 million, in the Retail Ireland division of €24 million, with a corresponding decrease in net interest income in the Corporate and Treasury division of €25 million,
compared to the prior year. The impact of these changes , if applied to the prior year, would be to increase 2016 net interest income by €2 million in Retail UK, by €28 million in
Retail Ireland, with a corresponding decrease in Corporate & Treasury of €30 million.
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Retail UK (Sterling) (continued)

Impairment charges / (reversals) on 2017 2016 Change
loans and advances to customers £m £m %
Residential mortgages (5) - (100%)
Non-property SME and corporate 21 1 n/m
Property and construction 69 77 (10%)
Consumer 15 4 n/m
Impairment charges / (reversals) on loans and

advances to customers 100 82 22%

Impairment charges / (reversals) on
loans and advances to customers of
£100 million in 2017 were £18 million or
22% higher than 2016.

Further analysis and commentary on
changes in the loan portfolios, asset
quality and impairment is set out in the
asset quality and impairment section on
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pages 56 to 68, note 28 and the
supplementary asset quality and
forbearance disclosures section on pages
242 to 277.

Loans and advances to customers
(after impairment provisions) of £24.8
billion at 31 December 2017 were £0.8
billion lower than 2016. This reflects

Operating and financial review

repayments and redemptions in
commercial lending portfolios including
the ongoing reduction in the GB business
banking portfolio, which is being run-
down, and a modest reduction in net
mortgage volumes, partially offset by an
overall increase in consumer lending,
which includes personal loans and the
motor and asset finance business.

Customer deposits of £19.0 billion at 31
December 2017 were £0.5 billion lower
than 2016 volumes. The Group continues
to draw down on the BoE’s TFS facility,
with £1.2 billion being drawn at 31
December 2017, compared to £0.6 billion
at 31 December 2016.
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Operating and financial review

Corporate and Treasury

2017 2016 Change

Income statement €m €m %
Net interest income'? 575 576 -
Net other income’ 231 238 (3%)
Operating income 806 814 (1%)
- Business - net interest and other income 745 705 6%
- Financial Instruments valuation adjustments 39 (25) n/m
- Euro liquid asset bond portfolio - net interest

and other income 2 117 (98%)
- Other AFS gains 20 17 18%
Operating expenses (205) (206) -
Operating profit before impairment charges
on financial assets 601 608 (1%)
Impairment charges on loans and advances to customers (48) (75) (36%)
Impairment charges on available for sale financial assets - 2) 100%
Underlying profit before tax 553 531 4%
Loans and advances to customers (net) (€bn)
At 31 December 13.3 131
Average in year 13.2 12.6
Customer deposits (€bn)
At 31 December 10.3 1.3
Average in year 10.5 1.4
Euro liquid asset bond portfolio (€bn)
At 31 December 1.3 10.8
Average in year 1.4 10.6
Staff numbers at period end 628 648

Corporate and Treasury incorporates the
Group's corporate banking, wholesale
financial markets, specialised acquisition
finance and large transaction property
lending business, across the Republic of
Ireland, UK and internationally, with offices
in the United Kingdom, the United States,
Germany and France.

Customer lending portfolio
composition

=== Non-property SME and corporate
= Acquisition finance
Property and construction

Within the Republic of Ireland, Corporate
and Treasury enjoys market leading
positions in its chosen sectors, including
corporate banking, commercial property,
foreign direct investment and treasury,
while its acquisition finance business is
well recognised by sponsors in its
targeted segments within the European
and US markets.

Corporate Banking

e Continuing strong new business.

e Retained position as Ireland’s number
one corporate bank and continued to
win in excess of 65% of banking
relationships arising from new foreign
direct investment in Ireland.

e Supporting the ongoing recovery in
the Irish economy while selectively
growing our UK corporate business
through a focused sector strategy.

e Acquisition finance business delivered
strong fee income and important
earnings diversification.

e Corporate Banking won four awards in
the Finance Dublin Deals of the year
awards in May 2017 (‘M&A Deal of the
year’, ‘Loans and Financing — Public
Bodies’, ‘Loans and Financing - Large
Corporate’, and ‘Debt Capital Markets
- Refinancing’).

Global Markets

e Supporting customers and the Bank
of Ireland Group in evaluating and
managing FX, interest rate hedging
and other treasury needs, against the
backdrop of uncertain market
conditions.

e Continued investment in enhancing
customers’ experience and improving
communications. There has also been
increased customer adoption and
usage of Bank of Ireland FXPay, our
online FX payments platform.

e Global Markets saw strong customer
activity across treasury product lines
in 2017. This was underpinned by
growth in the underlying Irish and UK
economies and in international trade.

Corporate and Treasury manages the
Group’s euro liquid asset bond portfolio?®.
In relation to this portfolio, from 1 January
2017:

* Income, which was previously
recognised in Corporate and Treasury,
is allocated, through the funds transfer
pricing process, across the Group.

e Gains on disposal of euro liquid asset
bond portfolio are included in Group
Centre income statement.

e Corporate and Treasury receives a fee
for the management of this portfolio,
which is included in ‘Business - net
interest and other income’ above.

Financial performance

In 2017, underlying profit before tax for the
division of €553 million was €22 million or
4% higher than 2016.

Business - net interest and other

income of €745 million was €40 million

higher than 2016 primarily due to:

e lower funding costs; and

e the impact of the change in treatment
of the euro liquid asset bond portfolio.

Business income includes equity
distributions received.

T ‘Net interest income’ and ‘net other income’ are impacted by IFRS income classifications as set out on pages 16 and 17. The impact on Corporate and Treasury was to reduce
‘net interest income’ in 2017 by €22 million to €575 million (2016: by €49 million to €576 million) with fully offsetting changes to ‘net other income’ in both years.

2 From 1 January 2017, income from the euro liquid asset bond portfolio, which was previously recognised in Corporate and Treasury, is allocated across the Group through the
funds transfer pricing process. The impact of this change is that Corporate and Treasury net interest income is €24 million lower (€49 million lower in ‘euro liquid asset bond
portfolio - net interest and other income’ and €25 million higher in ‘Business - net interest and other income’) compared to 2016. The impact of these changes if applied to the
prior year would be to decrease 2016 net interest income by €30 million (€54 million lower in ‘euro liquid asset bond portfolio - net interest and other income’ and €24 million

higher in ‘Business - net interest and other income’).
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Corporate and Treasury (continued)

Financial instruments valuation
adjustments of €39 million were €64
million higher than 2016 primarily due to
negative fair value movements in the prior
year on derivatives which economically
hedged the Group (which largely
eliminated on consolidation).

Operating expenses of €205 million for
2017 were €1 million lower than 2016.

Impairment charges on financial assets
(including AFS financial assets) of €48
million were €29 million or 36% lower than
2016. Impairment charges on AFS
financial assets are €nil for 2017 (2016: €2
million). Further analysis and commentary

on changes in the loan portfolios asset
quality and impairment is set out in the
asset quality and impairment section on
pages 56 to 68, note 28 and the
supplementary asset quality and
forbearance disclosures section on pages
242 1o 277.

Loans and advances to customers
(after impairment provisions) of €13.3
billion in 2017 were €0.2 billion higher than
2016, €0.5 billion on a constant currency
basis.

Customer deposits of €10.3 billion in
2017 were €1.0 billion lower than 2016
due to translation effect of a weaker dollar

Operating and financial review

€0.4 billion and planned optimisation of
deposit pricing. The deposit book
primarily comprises a mixture of
corporate, State, SME and retail customer
accounts.

The euro liquid asset bond portfolio of
€11.3 billion in 2017 was €0.5 billion
higher than 2016 due to increased
holdings of sovereign bonds €0.9 billion,
partially offset by repayments of NAMA
senior bonds.
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Operating and financial review

Group Centre

2017 2016 Change
Income statement €m €m %
ELG fees - (20) 100%
Other income 45 19 n/m
Net operating income / (expense) 45 (1) n/m
Operating expenses (before core banking platforms
investment and levies and regulatory charges) (245) (215) (14%)
Core Banking Platforms Investment charge (111) (41) n/m
Levies and regulatory charges (94) (104) 10%
Underlying loss before tax (405) (361) (12%)
Staff numbers at period end 3,707 3,703
Group Centre comprises Group Scheme (DGS) fund.

Manufacturing, Group Finance, Group
Risk, Group Governance and Regulatory
and Group Human Resources. The
Group’s central functions, through Group
Centre, establish and oversee policies,
and provide and manage certain
processes and delivery platforms for the
divisions.

Group Centre’s income and costs
comprises income from capital and other
management activities, unallocated Group
support costs and the costs associated
with the Irish bank levy, the UK Financial
Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS)
and, historically, the ELG Scheme, along
with contributions to the Single Resolution
Fund (SRF) and Deposit Guarantee

Financial performance

Group Centre reported an underlying loss
before tax of €405 million in 2017 (2016:
€361 million).

Net operating income was a gain of €45
million for 2017 (2016: €1 million loss). The
increase of €46 million in the year is driven
primarily by a decrease in ELG fees of €20
million and gains on sales from the liquid
asset portfolio of €41 million' in 2017
(2016: €nil).

Operating expenses (before Core
Banking Platforms Investment and levies
and regulatory charges) of €245 million in
2017 were €30 million higher than in 2016.

The increase is reflective of an average
salary increase of ¢.2.5% awarded to staff
in 2017, investment in strategic initiatives,
including higher amortisation charges
arising from technology and infrastructure,
along with costs associated with
compliance and meeting regulatory
expectations.

Core Banking Platforms Investment
charge

Our Core Banking Platforms programme is
making progress and we invested a further
€195 million in this programme in 2017, of
which €91 million was capitalised on the
balance sheet (2016: €64 million) and
€104 million was charged directly to the
income statement. The total income
statement charge of €111 million (2016:
€41 million) also includes €4 million of an
amortisation charge relating to assets
capitalised previously.

Levies and regulatory charges

Group Centre has incurred levies and
regulatory charges of €94 million in 2017
(2016: €104 million). The reduction in the
year is due to lower Irish bank levy and
FSCS costs. The charge for 2017 primarily
reflects the Group’s contribution to the
SRF and the DGS fund, along with
charges for the FSCS and the Irish bank
levy.

T From 1 January 2017, the gains on sales from the euro liquid asset portfolio, which were previously recognised in Corporate and Treasury, are recognised within Group Centre. See

note 3 on page 162 for further information.
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Risk Management Report

Index Page
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3.9 Pension risk 85
3.10 Reputation risk 86
4 Capital management 87

The information below in sections or paragraphs denoted as
audited in sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4 and 4 and all the tables
(except those denoted unaudited) in the Risk Management
Report form an integral part of the audited financial statements
as described in the Basis of preparation on page 147.

All other information, including charts and graphs, in the Risk
Management Report is additional disclosure and does not
form an integral part of the audited financial statements.
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Risk Management Report

1 Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Key risks identified by the annual risk considerations include those outlined
identification process, together with other below.

significant and emerging risks facing the
Group and key mitigating considerations
are set out below. For many of the risks,
the allocation of capital against potential
loss is a key mitigant; other mitigating

mitigants would apply to fully eliminate or
reduce the corresponding key risks.
Additionally, other factors not yet
identified, or not currently material, may
adversely affect the Group.
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This summary should not be regarded as
a complete and comprehensive statement
of all potential risks, uncertainties or
mitigants; nor can it confirm that the

Key risks

Credit risk (see page 56)

Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from a counterparty being unable
to meet its contractual obligations to the Group in respect of loans or
other financial transactions. This risk includes, but is not limited to,
default risk, concentration risk, country risk, migration risk and
collateral risk.

Credit risk arises from loans and advances to customers. It also arises
from the financial transactions the Group enters into with financial
institutions, sovereigns and state institutions.

Key mitigating considerations

Board approved Group Credit Policy and Risk Appetite limits,
including credit category limits together with a framework cascading
to businesses and portfolios.

Exposure limits for credit concentration risk.

Defined credit processes and controls, including credit policies,
independent credit risk assessment and defined authority levels for
sanctioning lending.

Processes to monitor compliance with policies and limits.

Dedicated workout structures focused on the management and
reduction of non-performing exposures.

Funding and liquidity risk (see page 71)

Funding and liquidity risk may arise from a sudden and significant
withdrawal of customer deposits, disruption to the access of funding
from wholesale markets, or a deterioration in either the Group’s or the
Irish sovereign credit ratings which could adversely impact the Group’s
funding and liquidity position.

Liquidity risk arises from differences in timing between cash inflows
and outflows. Cash inflows are driven by, amongst other things, the
maturity structure of loans and investments held by the Group, while
cash outflows are driven by items such as the term maturity of debt
issued by the Group and outflows from customer deposit accounts.

Board approved Risk Appetite limits.

Group funding and liquidity policies, systems and controls.
Comprehensive liquidity monitoring framework.

Annual forward looking Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment
Process (ILAAP).

Strategic plan articulating and quantifying deposit projections,
wholesale funding and lending capacity for all divisions.
Contingency Funding Plan and Recovery Plan.

Maintenance of liquid assets and contingent liquidity available for
use with market counterparties and / or in liquidity operations
offered by Monetary Authorities.

Market risk (see page 76)
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from movements in interest rates,
FX rates or other market prices.

Market risk arises from the structure of the balance sheet, the Group’s
business mix and discretionary risk-taking. Market risk arises through
the conduct of customer business, particularly in fixed-rate lending and
the execution of derivatives and FX business.

Within limits and policy, the Group seeks to generate income from
leaving some customer-originated or intra-Group originated risk
unhedged or through assuming risk proactively in the market.

Structural market risk arises from the presence of non-interest bearing
liabilities (equity and current accounts) on the balance sheet, the
multi-currency nature of the Group’s balance sheet and changes in the
floating interest rates to which the Group’s assets and liabilities are
linked (basis risk).

Board approved Risk Appetite limits.

Group Market Risk Policy.

Comprehensive framework for monitoring compliance with the
Board’s market risk appetite limits, more granular market risk limits
and other controls.

The Group substantially reduces its market risk through hedging in
external markets.

Value at Risk (VaR) and extensive stress testing of market risks.
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Risk Management Report

1 Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Life insurance risk (see page 80)

Life insurance risk is the result of unexpected variation in the amount
and timing of claims associated with insurance benefits. This variation,
arising from changing customer mortality, life expectancy, health or
behavioural characteristics, may be short or long term in nature.

Life insurance risk arises from the Group’s life insurance subsidiary
(NIAC) selling life assurance products in the Irish market.

Key mitigating considerations

e Board approved Risk Appetite limits.

e Underwriting standards and limits are in place and apply throughout
the policy lifecycle from risk acceptance to claim settlement.

e Reinsurance is used to manage the volatility from both individual
claims and aggregate risk exposures. Coverage is placed with a
diversified list of approved counterparties.

* The sensitivity of the Group’s exposure to life insurance risk is
assessed regularly and appropriate levels of capital are held to meet
ongoing capital adequacy requirements.

e Management undertakes a rigorous analysis of claims and
persistency experience on a regular basis and monitors these
against the assumptions in its valuation and pricing bases so that
these can be adjusted to reflect experience. Management
undertakes pro-active operational initiatives in order to manage
persistency risk.

Conduct risk (see page 81)

Conduct risk is the risk that the Group and / or its staff conduct
business in an inappropriate or negligent manner that leads to adverse
customer outcomes. Examples of conduct risk include the risk of staff
misconduct whether through corruption or negligence and risk of
customer detriment due to improper / inappropriate advice.

Conduct risk arises from day-to-day execution of business processes,
provision of sales and services, management of key stakeholder
expectations and the various activities performed by staff, contractors
and third party suppliers.

e Board approved Risk Appetite limits.

e A robust, structured and methodical approach for the management
of conduct risk is in place across the Group including clearly defined
expected standards of behaviour.

e Guidance and training to assist the implementation and
understanding of the Conduct Risk Management Framework
(CRMF).

e Customer-centered initiatives.

Regulatory risk (see page 82)

Regulatory risk is the risk of failure by the Group to meet new or
existing regulatory and / or legislative requirements and deadlines or to
embed regulatory requirements into processes.

The Group is exposed to regulatory risk as a direct and indirect
consequence of its normal business activities. These risks may
materialise from failures to comply with regulatory requirements or
expectations in the day-to-day conduct of its business, as an outcome
of risk events in other key risk categories and / or from changes in
external market expectations or conditions.

e Board approved Risk Appetite limits.

* Policies and policy standards in place for regulatory compliance risk,
regulatory change risk and financial crime risk.

e Specific group-wide processes in place to identify, assess, plan,
develop and implement key compliance requirements.

* Regular status updates and monitoring at key levels in the Group
including reporting to the Board Risk Committee (BRC) and Board.

* Processes in place to identify, assess, manage, monitor and report
financial crime risks as well as controls to mitigate those risks.

* Processes in place to support the reporting, investigation, resolution
and remediation of incidents of non-compliance.

¢ Group-wide education and training in place.
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Key risks

Operational risk (see page 83)

Operational risks are risks which may result in financial loss, disruption
of services to customers, and damage to our reputation and include the
availability, resilience and security of our core IT systems and the
potential for failings in our customer processes.

Operational risk arises as a direct or indirect consequence of the
Group’s normal business activities through the day-to-day execution of
business processes, the functioning of its technologies and in the
various activities performed by its staff, contractors and third party
suppliers. This also includes the failure to deliver on the Group’s
multi-year investment programme to replace the Core Banking
Platforms and associated risks.

Cyber

It also arises from the risk of cybersecurity attacks which target
financial institutions and corporates as well as governments and other
institutions. The risk of these attacks remains material as their
frequency, sophistication and severity continue to develop in an
increasingly digital world.

Risk Management Report

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Key mitigating considerations

The Group RAS incorporates operational risk appetite statements
and limits approved by the Board.

The Group utilises a number of strategies in controlling its exposure
to operational risk, with the primary strategy being the maintenance
of an effective control environment, coupled with appropriate
management actions.

The Risk Management Framework (the ‘Framework’), consisting of
processes and policy standards, aims to embed adequate and
effective risk management practices within business units
throughout the Group.

Processes to identify, assess, manage, monitor and report
operational risks as well as controls to mitigate those risks.
Processes to support the reporting, investigation, resolution and
remediation of incidents.

An integrated long term IT strategy and plan developed and being
implemented.

An integrated Programme Office with Group level risk governance in
place to identify, monitor and report to executive management.
Clear contracts and accountability in place for third party partners
for the ‘Integrated Plan’.

Regular internal and external audits and testing carried out to ensure
adequacy of controls.

Business and strategic risk (see page 84)

Business and strategic risk assesses; (1) the Group’s current business
model on the basis of its ability to generate acceptable returns, given
its quantitative performance, key success drivers and dependencies,
and business environment and; (2) the sustainability of the Group’s
strategy on the basis of its ability to generate acceptable returns,
based on its strategic plans and financial forecasts, and an assessment
of the business environment.

Business and strategic risk arises from changes in the competitive
environment, new market entrants, new products, inflexibility in the
cost base or failure to develop and execute an appropriate strategy or
anticipate or mitigate a related risk.

Digital

Banking models are evolving, for both consumers and businesses in
Ireland and internationally, most notably with the rise of fintech and
neo-banks. Rapidly shifting consumer behaviours and available
technologies are changing how customers consume products and
services.

These developments affect the manner in which customers manage
their day to day financial affairs and supporting products. Money
transmission and data driven integrated services are also forecast to
rapidly evolve in the coming years, underpinned by regulatory
developments including the revised Directive on Payment Services
(PSD2) and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). These
developments could restrict the Group’s ability to realise its market
strategies and financial plans, dilute customer propositions and cause
reputational damage.

Business divisional strategy is developed within the boundaries of
the Group’s strategy as well as the Group’s RAS. These strategies
are developed within the divisions and challenged, endorsed,
supported and monitored by Group functions. The Board receives
regular deep dive presentations on key aspects of the Group’s
strategy.

The Board receives comprehensive reports setting out the current
financial performance against budget, multi-year financial
projections, capital plans, the monitoring of risks, updates on the
economies in which the Group operates, together with
developments in the Group’s franchises, operations, people, and
other business activities.

An independent Court Risk Report is produced quarterly and
reviewed by the Group Risk Policy Committee (GRPC), the BRC and
the Board. The content of the report includes an analysis of, and
commentary on, the key existing and emerging risk types and also
addresses governance, control issues and compliance with risk
appetite.

In the context of the overall business strategy, the Group assesses
and develops its complementary technology strategy to support and
mitigate these risks.

Given the significant developments in digital demands on technology
as well as increased regulatory requirements, an overarching
‘Integrated Plan’, which includes the Core Banking Transformation
Programme, is in place to ensure these demands are managed
within risk, capacity and financial constraints.

The Group’s policies, standards, governance and control models
undergo ongoing review to reference the Group’s digital strategy and
solutions.
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Risk Management Report

1 Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Business and strategic risk (continued) (see page 84)

Brexit

Ongoing uncertainty following the UK vote to exit the EU, relating to the
nature and impact of withdrawal, could impact the markets in which the
Group operates including pricing, partner appetite, customer
confidence and credit demand, collateral values and customers’ ability
to meet their financial obligations and consequently the Group’s
financial performance, balance sheet, capital and dividend capacity.
Other effects may include changes in official interest rate policy in both
the UK and Eurozone, which can impact the Group’s revenues and also
the Group’s IAS 19 DB pension deficit, and FX rate volatility, which can
impact the translation of the Group’s UK net assets and profits.

People risk

Includes the continuing impact of remuneration restrictions on the
Group in a recovering labour market, which may be further exacerbated
post Brexit with increasing competition for skilled resources and / or
restricted mobility between jurisdictions. It also includes people
management, recruitment and retention risks in relation to the Group’s
transformation and digitalisation of banking products and services, as
the Group adapts to the changing needs and preferences of our
customer base.

Key mitigating considerations

Bank of Ireland (UK) plc is a separately regulated, capitalised and
self-funded business.

The Group’s business in the UK is primarily conducted through key
partnerships, which reduces the Group’s investment in infrastructure
and other items of a fixed cost nature.

The Group manages its exposure to interest rate risk, including
sterling risk, through the hedging of its fixed-rate customer and
wholesale portfolios, the investment of its non-interest bearing
liabilities (free funds) and the setting of conservative limits on the
assumption of discretionary interest rate risk.

To minimise the sensitivity of the Group’s capital ratios to changes in
FX rates, the Group maintains reserves in sterling, ensuring that the
currency composition of capital is broadly similar to the currency
composition of risk weighted assets.

The Group has a Board approved human resources strategy
providing it with a range of strategies to enable the Group to retain
appropriate numbers and / or calibre of staff having regard to
remuneration restrictions imposed by government, tax or regulatory
authorities. These include Board Talent Reviews including
succession planning, the Group’s Performance Management
Framework, and the Career and Reward Framework as aligned to
our purpose and values.

Pension risk (see page 85)

The principal Group sponsored DB pension schemes are currently in
deficit under the IAS 19 accounting definition, requiring the Group to
set aside capital to mitigate these risks.

The DB pension schemes are subject to market fluctuations and these
movements impact on the Group’s capital position, particularly the
Group’s CET 1 capital ratio, which amongst other things, could impact
on the Group’s dividend capacity. See note 44 Retirement benefit
obligations on page 195.

Board approved Risk Appetite limits.

To help manage pension risk, DB schemes were closed to new
entrants in 2007 and a new hybrid scheme (which included elements
of DB and defined contribution) was introduced for new entrants to
the Group. The hybrid scheme was subsequently closed to new
entrants in 2014 and a new defined contribution scheme was
introduced for new entrants to the Group from that date.

In addition, the Group implemented two Pension Review
programmes in 2010 and 2013 resulting in significant restructuring of
DB scheme benefits which were accepted by unions and by staff
through individual staff member consent.

In return for the deficit reduction achieved through these
programmes, the Group also agreed to increase its support for the
schemes, above existing arrangements, so as to broadly match the
IAS 19 deficit reduction arising from the benefit changes, and to
facilitate a number of de-risking initiatives.

The Group monitors on an ongoing basis the opportunities at an
appropriate cost to increase the correlation between the assets and
liabilities of the scheme.
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1 Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Key risks

Reputation risk (see page 86)

Reputation risk is the risk to earnings or franchise value arising from an
adverse perception of the Group’s image on the part of customers,
suppliers, counterparties, shareholders, investors, staff, legislators,
regulators or partners.

Reputation risk arises as a direct or indirect consequence of the
Group’s operations and business activities.

Key mitigating considerations

Risk Management Report

o
(o
2}
>]
(0]
()
v
-
(0]
<.
(0]
=

Board approved Group Communications strategy.

Potential impact on reputation is considered in the decision making
process.

All media, government, political and administrative stakeholder
engagement is actively managed by Group Communications.
Print, broadcast and social media coverage is monitored on an
ongoing basis.

Group CSR programme in place.

Group Responsible Business Report published annually.

Strong focus on internal communications to ensure that staff are
kept informed on relevant issues and developments.

Staff are required to comply with the Group Code of Conduct.
Group purpose statement that is supported by four key values and
communicated to all colleagues.

Capital adequacy (see page 87)

Capital adequacy risk is the risk that the Group breaches or may
breach regulatory capital ratios and internal targets. The Group’s
business and financial condition would be negatively affected if the
Group was, or was considered to be, insufficiently capitalised.

While all material risks impact on the Group’s capital adequacy to some
extent, capital adequacy is primarily impacted by significant increases
in credit risk or risk weighted assets, materially worse than expected
financial performance and changes to minimum regulatory
requirements as part of the annual SREP review conducted by the
SSM.

The Group closely monitors capital and leverage ratios to ensure all
regulatory requirements and internal targets are met. In addition,
these metrics are monitored against the Board approved RAS and
suite of Recovery Indicators.

Comprehensive stress tests / forward-looking Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) financial projections are
prepared, reviewed and challenged by the Board to assess the
adequacy of the Group's capital, liquidity and leverage positions.
The Group has a contingency capital plan which sets out the
framework and reporting process for identifying the emergence of
capital concerns including potential options to remediate same.

Other significant and emerging risks

Macroeconomic conditions

The Group’s businesses may be affected by adverse economic
conditions in countries where we have exposures, particularly in Ireland
and the UK, unfavourable exchange rate movements, changes in
interest rates, with a potential increase in global protectionism and
changes in the international tax environment posing additional risks.

Key mitigating considerations

The Group monitors the risks and impact of changing current and
forecast macroeconomic conditions on the likely achievement of the
Group’s strategy and objectives.

The Group manages its exposures in accordance with key risk
policies including maximum single counterparty limits and defined
country limits.

The Group has in place a comprehensive stress and scenario testing
process.

Geopolitical uncertainty

Geopolitical uncertainties could impact economic conditions in
countries where the Group has exposures, market risk pricing and
asset price valuations; potentially reducing returns.

The Group ensures exposures are managed according to approved
risk policies which include maximum single counterparty limits and
country limits.

The Group is diversified in terms of asset class, industry and funding
source.

Litigation and regulatory proceedings

Uncertainty surrounding the outcome of disputes, legal proceedings
and regulatory investigations (e.g. the Tracker Mortgage Examination),
as well as potential adverse judgements in litigation or regulatory
proceedings remains a risk.

The Group has processes in place to seek to ensure the Group’s
compliance with legal and regulatory obligations, together with clear
controls in respect of the management and mitigation of such
disputes, proceedings and investigations as may be instigated
against the Group from time to time.
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significant and emerging risks

Risk in relation to Irish Government Shareholding

The risk that the Irish Government, which has a c.14% discretionary
shareholding in the Group via the Ireland Strategic Investment Fund,
uses its voting rights in a way that might not be in the best interests of
the Group’s private sector shareholders.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Key mitigating considerations

The Minister for Finance and the Bank entered into a Relationship
Framework Agreement dated 30 March 2012, the terms of which
were prepared in the context of EU and Irish competition law and to
accommodate considerations and commitments made in connection
with the EU / IMF Programme for Financial Support for Ireland.

The Framework Agreement provides, inter-alia, that the Minister will
ensure that the investment in the Group is managed on a
commercial basis and will engage with the Group in accordance with
best institutional shareholder practice in a manner proportionate to
the shareholding interest of the State in the Group. In March 2017,
as part of the corporate reorganisation, the Company agreed to be
bound by and comply with certain provisions of the relationship
framework in relation to the Ministerial consent, consultation process
and the Group’s business plan.

Resolution risk

Arising from the implementation of the BRRD and SRM Regulation in
Ireland and the UK, the relevant authorities have wide powers to
impose resolution measures on the Group which could materially
adversely affect the Group, as well as the shareholders and unsecured
creditors of the Group. The SRB has the authority to exercise specific
resolution powers pursuant to the SRM Regulation similar to those of
the competent authorities under the BRRD, including in relation to
resolution planning and the assessment of resolvability.

The SRB advised the Group that its preferred resolution strategy
consisted of a single point of entry bail-in strategy, through a group
holding company. Pursuant to this strategy and following receipt of
shareholder approval, the Group implemented a holding company,
BOIG plc, during 2017, which became the parent company of the
Group. The structure of the Group is otherwise unchanged.

The Group continues to engage constructively with its resolution
authorities, including the SRB, in order to meet regulatory
expectations in respect of resolvability.

Scenario planning and strategic planning tools are used to identify
impacts.

Tax rates, legislation and practice

The Group’s financial position and outlook are exposed to the risks
associated with a change in tax laws, tax rates, regulations or practice
and the risks associated with non-compliance with existing

requirements. The Group is also exposed to the risk that tax authorities

may take a different view to the Group on the treatment of certain

items. Furthermore, failure to demonstrate that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available, or changes in government policy or tax

legislation (e.g. a restriction on the ability to use Irish tax losses carried
forward against 100% of current year taxable profits) may reduce the
recoverable amount of the deferred tax assets currently recognised in
the financial statements.

The Group has clearly defined tax compliance procedures to identify,
assess, manage, monitor and report tax risks and to ensure controls
mitigating those risks are in place and operate effectively.

The Group monitors the expected recovery period for DTAs.

The Group monitors potential changes to tax legislation or
government policy and considers any appropriate remedial actions.

Impact of accounting standards (see page 159)

IFRS 9 is an accounting standard which became effective on 1 January

2018. Its forward-looking expected credit losses (ECL) approach
resulted in higher impairment provisions on transition to IFRS 9 and
may lead to more volatile impairment charges with a consequent
impact on earnings and capital ratios. The 2018 EU wide stress test is

based on a specific methodology and macroeconomic scenarios which

differ from those which will be used by the Group in measuring
impairment loss allowances under IFRS 9. The Group’s projected
capital ratios under the stress test are not yet known and may result in
regulatory requirements under the SREP process.

The estimated initial impact of IFRS 9 on capital has been
incorporated into the Group’s financial planning. The Group retains
sufficient buffers in excess of regulatory capital requirements.

The Group is availing of the transitional arrangements for mitigating
the impact of IFRS 9 on regulatory capital. These arrangements
include relief for a proportion of any increase in stage 1 and 2
impairment loss allowances between transition and the relevant
reporting date, subject to certain adjustments.

Capital ratios under the stress test will be produced both including
and excluding the transitional arrangements.

Further detail, including mitigants to credit risk factors, is set out in
the credit risk section of the Risk Management Report on pages 68
to 70.
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2 Risk Management Framework

Key points:

e Corporate reorganisation on 7 July 2017 resulted in a new company, BOIG plc being introduced as the listed holding company
of the Group. Previous corporate governance requirements for the Bank now apply at BOIG plc level.
* Reorganisation of the risk management framework during 2017 included:
- Creation of a new Group Risk function led by the Group Chief Risk Officer (GCRO) with oversight of all risks and direct
responsibility for credit risk, market risk and operational risk;
- Revised Group Governance & Regulatory function (with responsibility for regulatory risk and conduct risk), led by the Chief
Governance & Regulatory Officer;
- Consolidation of all credit risk teams within the Group Chief Credit Officer’s responsibilities;
- Development of a dedicated Enterprise Risk Management unit within the Group Risk function; and
- Other functions continue to have responsibility for the Group’s other key risk types.

The Group follows an integrated approach  objective of ensuring that risks are developments), as well as any lessons

to risk management to ensure that all managed and reported in a consistent learnt. The Framework is reviewed,
material classes of risk are taken into manner across the Group. The Framework  approved and cascaded by the GCRO
consideration and that the Group’s overall outlines the approach for setting risk annually to all relevant senior management
business strategy and remuneration appetite, risk identification, assessment, in the Group, and is reviewed and
practices are aligned within its risk and measurement, monitoring and reporting. approved by the Board of Directors (the
capital management strategies. The The review of the Framework takes into ‘Board’) at minimum every three years.
Group’s formal governance process to risk  consideration any emerging factors, both The key components of the Framework
management is set out in the risk internal (e.g. enhancements to capital are detailed below:

management framework, which has the allocation) and external (e.g. regulatory

Key components of Group Risk Framework

" . N
Key risk types
Business & Conduct Credit Funding & Life Market Operational Pension Regulatory Reputation
Strategic Risk Risk Liquidity Insurance Risk Risk Risk Risk Risk
Risk Risk Risk
N /

Risk Management Process

Risk Strategy & Appetite

Risk Identification & Materiality Assessment

Risk Analysis & Measurement

Risk Monitoring & Reporting

AN 7N N YN 7Y
N2 N N N N

Risk Governance ] ( Risk Culture
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Risk Management Report

2.1 Risk governance

The identification, assessment and
reporting of risk in the Group is controlled
within the Risk Governance Framework
which incorporates the Board, Risk
Committees appointed by the Board (e.g.
BRC and Group Audit Committee (GAC)),
the Group Risk Policy Committee (GRPC)
and its appointed committees (e.g. Group
Regulatory & Conduct Risk Committee

(GRCRC), Group Credit Committee (GCC),
and Asset & Liability Committee (ALCO)).

The Board is responsible for ensuring that
an appropriate system of internal control
is maintained, and for reviewing its
effectiveness. Each of the Risk
Committees (including the BRC and GAC)
has detailed terms of reference, approved

by the Board or their parent committee,
setting out their respective roles and
responsibilities. Further detail outlining the
key responsibilities of the Group’s
Board-level risk committees can be found
on pages 106 to 111 of the Corporate
Governance statement.

/Board of Directors A
On the top of the risk
pyramid, has the ultimate . Risk
oversight and accountability Board of Directors - Bank of Ireland Group plc Overslaht
for the risk and related FEISIE
control environment (see
page 89).
N A /
. N
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The Group Risk Policy Committee
(GRPC) is the most senior management
Risk Committee and reports to the BRC. It
is chaired by the GCRO and its
membership comprises members of the
Group Executive team and control
function executives. It met 28 times during
2017.

The GRPC is responsible for managing all
risk types across the Group, including

Risk governance (continued)

monitoring and reviewing the Group’s risk
profile and compliance with risk appetite
and other approved policy limits,
approving risk policies and actions within
discretion delegated to it by the BRC. The
GRPC reviews and makes
recommendations on risk matters where
the Board and the BRC has reserved
authority. The BRC oversees the decisions
of the GRPC through a review of the
GRPC minutes and reports from the

Risk Management Report

Committee Chairman. The GRPC
delegates specific responsibility for
oversight of the major classes of risk to
committees that are accountable to it.
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The relevant committees are set out in the
following table.

Committee Delegated responsibility

Oversight of interest rate, market and liquidity risk, capital and funding

Asset & Liability Committee

Group Credit Committee

Approval of all large credit transactions

Group Liquidity / Capital Committee

Management of the liquidity and funding positions of the Group. This committee is invoked during

periods of market disruption

Group Operational Risk Committee

Governance of operational risk

Group Regulatory and Conduct
Risk Committee

Governance of regulatory risk and conduct risk

Group Tax Committee

Approval of tax-based transactions and oversight of tax policy

Impairment Committee

Oversight of the impairment of financial instruments

Portfolio Review Committee

Assessment of the composition of the Group’s loan portfolio including concentration risk,
consideration of credit portfolio limits and risk-adjusted returns

Risk Measurement Committee

Approval and oversight of all aspects of credit risk measurement systems and may also oversee
other risk model classes used for management purposes within the Group

Private Equity Governance Committee

Approval of equity underwriting transactions and private equity investments

US Advisory Risk Committee

Oversight of risk and compliance for the US operations (established in compliance with the

Dodd-Frank Act)

Three lines of defence approach

The Risk Governance Framework is
supported by the Group’s management
body, with risk responsibilities extending
throughout the organisation based on a
three lines of defence approach.

First line of defence: Primary responsibility
and accountability for risk management
lies with line management in individual
businesses and relevant Group functions.
They are responsible for the identification
and management of risk at business unit /
Group function level including the
implementation of appropriate controls
and reporting to the Group in respect of all
major risk events.

Second line of defence: Central risk
management functions are responsible for
maintaining independent risk oversight
and ensuring that a risk control framework
is in place. Nominated ‘Risk Owners’ are
responsible for ensuring:

e formulation of risk strategy;

e that a policy or a process is in place
for the risks assigned to them;

e exposure to the risk is correctly
identified, assessed according to the
Group’s materiality criteria, and
reported;

e identified risk events are appropriately
managed or escalated; and

e independent oversight and analysis
along with centralised risk reporting
are provided.

Third line of defence: Group Internal Audit
(GIA) provides independent, reasonable
assurance to key stakeholders on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control
framework. GIA carries out risk based
assignments covering Group businesses
and functions (including outsourcing
providers - subject to the right to audit),
with ratings assigned as appropriate.
Findings are communicated to senior
management and other key stakeholders,
with remediation plans monitored for
progress against agreed completion
dates. Group Credit Review (GCR), an
independent function within GIA, is
responsible for reviewing the quality and
management of credit risk assets across
the Group. A new Head of GIA was
appointed during 2017.

Management oversight of risk

The Board, GRPC and their appointed
committees are subject to annual
effectiveness reviews which may result in

further enhancement as endorsed by the
Board. Areas of the reviews’ specific focus
include organisational design, governance
structures and risk appetite design,
articulation and implementation.

There are two key functions in the Group
responsible for managing different aspects
of risk - the Group Risk function and
Group Governance & Regulatory function.

1. Group Risk is responsible for the
Group’s overall risk strategy and
integrated risk reporting to the Board,
the BRC and Group Executive team, in
addition to oversight of all risks and
direct responsibility for credit risk,
market risk, and operational risks. The
function is led by the GCRO who is a
member of the Group Executive team
and reports directly to the Group CEO,
and may directly influence business
decisions by:

e emphasising a portfolio approach
to risk management in addition to
a transactional approach;

e leading the discussion on the
setting of risk appetite; and
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e providing appropriate risk
measurements to influence the
assessment of business
performance.

2. The Group Governance & Regulatory
function includes the Group
Compliance & Regulatory Risk unit,
Group Legal Services and the Group
Secretariat. The function, led by the
Chief Governance & Regulatory
Officer (CGRO), has responsibility for
conduct risk and regulatory risk.

The GCRO and CGRO provide
independent advice and constructive

2.2 Risk culture

challenge to the Group Executive in the
support of effective risk-informed
business decisions. This involves acting
as an enabler as well as a challenger of
well-structured business growth
opportunities that can be shown to fit
within the Group’s risk appetite.

In addition, a number of other Group
functions have responsibility for the
Group’s other key risk types, namely
Group Treasury (funding and liquidity risk),
Group Communications & Government
Relations (reputation risk) and Group
Finance (pension risk). Business and
strategic risk is managed by the relevant

Divisional CEOs, with risk ownership
assigned to Group Strategy &
Development and Group Finance. Life
insurance risk is managed within NIAC, an
independent regulated subsidiary with its
own independent board, with risk
ownership assigned to the Chief Financial
Officer, NIAC.

An Enterprise Risk Management unit was
established during 2017 to review and
develop a comprehensive approach to the
management of all key risk types. The unit
is part of Group Risk and reports to the
GCRO.

The Group’s risk culture encompasses the
general awareness, attitude and behaviour
of employees to the taking of appropriate
risk and the management of risk within the
Group. The Board, the BRC, the GRPC,
and senior management promote a strong
risk culture in the Group.

A key principle of risk management in the
Group is the importance placed on
individual responsibility. All relevant staff in
the Group are required to understand the
basic concepts and benefits of effective
risk management and the Group’s
approach to risk strategy and appetite.

All senior management and relevant staff
are required to apply the Group risk
management principles in day-to-day
operations. Risk management is part of all
relevant employees’ goals and
performance reviews. This helps drive
risk-based recognition, incentives and
initiatives. All employees are governed by
the Group Code of Conduct which is an
important expression of the Group’s
expected standards of behaviour. The
Group has established channels and
effectiveness reviews to communicate and
enforce the Group’s risk culture, in
addition to procedures to treat violations
or breaches of the Code of Conduct.
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Risk culture in the Group continues to
evolve and mature over time supported by
key refinements to organisational
structures and governance:

e articulation and communication of
risk strategy and appetite: clear and
consistent communication and
cascade of the RAS and
Board-approved limits. Businesses
understand how these apply to their
portfolios and translate these into
changes in their daily operations and
actions;

e development of structural control
framework: a robust structural control
framework including limits, policies,
restrictions, rules, monitoring, and
controls are integral to risk culture to
ensure risk-taking remains within
Board-approved risk appetite;

® enhance organisational structure and
governance: the Group regularly
reviews and updates, as required, the
formal structures to support risk
management. This includes reporting
lines, committees, role descriptions,
decision rights, delegated authority
and key decision processes;

e policies, processes and training:
policies and procedures are clear,
comprehensive and consistent,
communicated and accessible to

relevant staff, including risk specialists
and customer facing employees.
Processes with clear roles,
responsibilities and timelines are in
place to enable the timely
identification and escalation of issues;
and

e employee development and
retention: a strong risk-aware culture
helps attract, develop and retain
talented staff, reinforcing business
success and risk awareness. Risk
goals and priorities are embedded in
key HR processes such as
recruitment, on-boarding, training,
succession planning, and annual
performance review.

The Group Remuneration Policy, subject
to remuneration restrictions (governmental
and legal constraints), as approved by the
Group Remuneration Committee, aims to
support the Group’s objectives of
long-term sustainability and success,
sound and responsible risk management
and good corporate governance.



2.3

Risk identity

The Group’s risk identity is to be the
leading Irish retail, commercial and
corporate bank focused on having long
term relationships with its customers. The
Group’s core franchise is in Ireland with
income and risk diversification through a
meaningful presence in the UK and
selected international activities where the
Group has proven competencies. The
Group pursues an appropriate return for
the risks taken and on capital deployed
while operating within prudent Board-
approved risk appetite parameters to have
and maintain a robust, standalone
financial position.

The Group’s risk strategy and risk appetite
to pursue this risk identity are set by the
Board.

Risk strategy

The Group’s risk strategy is to ensure that

the Group clearly defines its risk appetite

as reflected in Group strategy and that it

has appropriate risk governance,

processes and controls in place as

articulated in the Group Risk Framework

to:

e address its target markets with
confidence;

e protect its balance sheet; and

e deliver sustainable profitability.

The Group seeks to accomplish its risk

strategy by:

e defining risk identity and risk appetite
as the boundary condition for the
Group’s strategic plan and annual
operating plan / budget;

2.4

Risk strategy and appetite

e defining the risk principles upon which
risks may be accepted;

e ensuring that all material risks are
correctly identified, assessed,
measured, managed and reported;

e ensuring that capital and funding
considerations shape the approach to
risk selection / management in the
Group;

e allocating clear roles and
responsibilities / accountability for the
control of risk within the Group;

e avoiding undue risk concentrations;

e engendering a prudent and balanced
risk management culture;

e ensuring that the basis of
remuneration for key decision makers
is consistent with EBA guidelines, as
appropriate; and

e ensuring that the Group’s risk
management structures remain
appropriate to its risk profile and take
account of lessons learnt and
emerging internal and external factors.

Risk appetite

Risk appetite defines the amount and type
of risk the Group is prepared to accept in
pursuit of its financial objectives. It informs
Group strategy and, as part of the overall
framework for risk governance, forms a
boundary condition to strategy and guides
the Group in its risk-taking and related
business activities.

Risk appetite is defined in qualitative
terms as well as quantitatively through a
series of high level limits and targets
covering areas such as credit risk, market
risk, funding and liquidity risk, and capital

Risk identification and materiality assessment

Risk Management Report

measures. These high level limits and
targets are cascaded where appropriate
into more granular limits and targets
across portfolios and business units. Risk
appetite guides the Group in its risk-taking
and related business activities, having
regard to managing financial volatility,
ensuring solvency and protecting the
Group’s core franchises and growth
platforms.
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Measures, approved by the Group, are
employed to track its profile against the
most significant risks that it assumes.
Each of these measures has a defined
target level or limit, as appropriate, and
actual performance is tracked against
these target levels or limits.

The RAS includes specific credit limits on
sectoral and single name exposures
among other qualitative and quantitative
risk parameters and it also provides for
the implementation of a hierarchy of
sectoral credit limits. The RAS is reviewed
at least annually or in light of changing
business and economic conditions. It is
set and approved by the Board following
consideration and recommendation by the
BRC.

Risks facing the Group are identified and
assessed annually through the Group’s
risk identification process. Arising out of
this process, the identified risks are
aggregated and key risk types are
identified which could have a material
impact on the Group’s earnings, capital
adequacy and / or on its ability to trade in
the future. These key risk types form the
basis on which risk is managed and
reported in the Group.

A risk owner is assigned to each key risk
category and appropriate policies and / or
processes put in place and a formalised
measurement and management process
defined and implemented. Risk appetite
measures for each risk type are set by the
Board.

In addition to, and separate from, the
Group’s risk identification process, a
review of the top five risks facing the

Group is carried out on a semi-annual
basis. This review facilitates a senior
management assessment of any new or
emerging macro threats to the Group,
independent of the risk management and
reporting structures that apply to the key
risk types below.

The ten key risk types are outlined in the
following table:

( Key risk types W
Business & Conduct Credit Funding & Life Market Operational Pension Regulatory Reputation
Strategic Risk Risk Liquidity Insurance Risk Risk Risk Risk Risk
Risk Risk Risk
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2.5 Risk analysis and measurement

The identified key risk types are actively
analysed and measured in line with the
formalised policies and management
processes in place for each risk type.

For credit, funding and liquidity, life
insurance, market, operational and
pension risks, risk models are used to
measure, manage and report on these
respective risk types. Risk limits and
diversification, together with regular
review processes, are in place to manage
potential credit risk and funding and
liquidity risk concentrations which in turn
could lead to increased volatility in the
Group’s expected financial outcomes.
Additionally, the Group’s calculation of
economic capital takes into consideration
the extent to which credit concentration
risk exists in respect of single name,
sector and geography.

At Group level, common measures and
approaches for risk aggregation and
measurement have also been adopted, in
order to inform operational and strategic
plans and to steer the business within the
boundaries of its risk appetite. These
include one-year or multi-year forecasting
/ stress testing and a capital allocation
framework which incorporates economic
capital modelling and risk adjusted return
analysis. The Group uses a suite of risk
measurement models and systems to
support decision-making processes at
transaction and portfolio levels, e.g.
approving a loan facility to a borrower.

Return on Capital

The common measure of return on risk
used by the Group is Risk Adjusted Return
on Capital (RAROC). RAROC is used to
objectively assess the return of individual
loans, portfolios and businesses, and is a
key performance metric for the Group in
the context of allocation of capital.

Loan loss forecasting and solvency
stress testing

Forecasting and stress testing are risk
management tools used by the Group to
alert management to adverse unexpected
outcomes related to a variety of risks and
inform risk appetite and contingent
mitigating action.

The Group conducts:

e Loan loss forecasting which informs
senior management about potential
outcomes related to loan loss
evolution under chosen
macroeconomic scenarios (base or
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stress). This information is regularly
used as an input into the Group’s
budget, strategic plan and ICAAP.
Additionally, it can be used to forecast
future provisioning needs and / or to
understand, and therefore anticipate,
earnings volatility and future capital
utilisation, such as at portfolio /
transaction level. Results of
forecasting are used by the Group to
make decisions around risk appetite
and capital adequacy or to help
prepare mitigating actions. They are
also used to inform the forward
looking point-in-time Probability of
Default (PD) which inform the
calibration and stress testing of the
Group’s Internal Rating Based (IRB)
Models.

Solvency stress tests evaluate the
Group’s financial position under a
‘severe but plausible’ scenario or
shock and provide an indication of
how much capital might be needed to
absorb losses should such a shock
occur. Scenarios for solvency stress
testing are approved by GRPC but
regulators can also request that a
mandated stress scenario be run to
assess capital needs across banks in
a particular jurisdiction. The approved
scenarios are applied to the Group’s
credit portfolios and financials as
appropriate, in order to generate
stressed loan loss forecasts and other
impacts over the scenario period. The
outputs of the solvency stress testing
are reviewed and approved by the
Board, and used by the Group to
inform risk appetite, strategy and
capital planning and are an integral
component of the Group’s ICAAP
process. They are also used by
regulators to assess the Group’s
ability to continue to meet its capital
requirements under severe adverse
conditions.

Reverse stress testing evaluates the
Group’s ability to survive an
unforeseen severe event or
combination of events that would
cause the Group’s business model to
become unviable. Reverse stress
testing complements and builds on
solvency stress testing by exploring
more extreme scenarios / events
beyond the likelihood thresholds
looked at in solvency stress testing.
This is achieved as reverse stress
testing is developed in reverse,
working back from an outcome of
business failure to causal analysis,

while the more typical solvency stress
testing works towards defining a
range of outcomes or probabilities
given defined inputs.

The Group also runs more frequent and /
or ad hoc stress tests for general risk
management purposes. These cover:

Market risk

The following market risks are subject to

stress testing as part of its normal risk

measurement and management process:

e discretionary market risk, consisting of
Trading Book positions and
discretionary Interest Rate Risk in the
Banking Book (IRRBB) risk;

e structural IRRBB consisting of balance
sheet basis risk; and

e structural FX, the sensitivity of Group
capital ratios to exchange rate
movement.

Discretionary risk and basis risk are
stressed using empirically-based scenario
analyses. In the case of discretionary risk,
the stress test results are potential
changes in the economic value of
positions; in the case of basis risk, the
results are potential changes in one
year-ahead net interest income.

Operational risk

Operational risk stresses are modelled
based on a scenario-based approach.
Severe, yet plausible operational risk loss
scenarios are applied on a Group-basis
and are used to inform the assessment of
the Group’s Pillar Il capital requirement.

Life insurance risk

Life assurance regulations require each life
company board to complete an annual
Own Risk Solvency Assessment (ORSA).
The ORSA process is intended to consider
severe but plausible risks to the business,
and the capital or mitigating actions
required to withstand those risks within
the context of its business plans. This
assessment considers a range of
sensitivities and scenario tests, including
deterioration in the insurance risk
experience.

Funding and liquidity risk

The Group stresses its exposure to
liquidity risk through liquidity stress testing
which provides senior management with
the ability to assess the degree to which
the Group is vulnerable to extreme but
plausible adverse liquidity conditions. It is
used to identify the potential impact of a
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range of adverse shocks, including the
impacts of rating downgrades and the
reduction / withdrawal of certain funding
markets such as customer deposits or
wholesale markets on the Group’s ability
to fund its outflows (asset financing and /
or contractual obligations) at the required
time and at a reasonable cost.

2.6

Risk analysis and measurement (continued)

Recovery planning

In line with the BRRD for EU banks, the
Group maintains a recovery plan which set
out options to restore financial stability
and viability in the event of the relevant
circumstances arising. The Group’s
Recovery Plan is approved by the Board
on the recommendation of BRC and
GRPC. Under a separate but

Risk monitoring and reporting

Risk Management Report

complementary process, the SRB in
conjunction with other relevant resolution
authorities, conducts resolution planning
for all financial institutions that fall under
the resolution regime, including the Group.
This involves the resolution authority
developing the set of actions that would
be taken in the event that a firm within
scope of the regime fails.
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The GCRO reports on risk to the GRPC,
the BRC and the Board on a regular basis.
This allows Group management to be
clear and consistent in communication
with internal and external stakeholders,
including markets, rating agencies and
regulators. Additionally, it is a process
which assists in discharging the regulatory
responsibilities of the Group, which
stipulates that management, understand
the major risks facing the Group and the
process in place for managing those risks.

The key risk types identified under the
Group’s risk identification process are
assessed and their status is reported
quarterly by the GCRO in the Court Risk
Report which is reviewed by the GRPC,
the BRC and the Board. The content of
the report includes an analysis of and
commentary on all key risk types as set
out on pages 53 and 54. Updates on risk
dashboards and risk appetite compliance

are provided on a monthly basis. The
Court Risk Report constitutes the highest
point of the routine reporting hierarchy
with more detailed risk information being
considered by divisional level
management.

As part of the Group’s risk monitoring and
review processes and in support of the
Group’s ICAAP, a suite of risk and capital
reports are regularly reviewed by ALCO,
the Portfolio Review Committee (PRC) and
GRPC. In addition, the Group performs
regular ongoing operational reporting and
monitoring of credit quality, grade
migration and other risk trends as well as
the tracking of market risk and operational
risk within the Group risk functions.
Furthermore, the measurement and
reporting process is subject to ongoing
review and is enhanced where
appropriate.

Breaches of the Group Risk Framework or
breaches / exceptions to Board / Board
appointed committee approved policies
or limits are advised to the GRPC by the
relevant risk owner and reported, as
necessary by the chairman of GRPC, to
the BRC and Board.

Material breaches to other GRPC
approved policies are advised to the
GRPC by the relevant risk owner at the
earliest possible opportunity.

The BRC also receives risk information
through its review of the GRPC minutes
and through investigations carried out into
specific risk matters. The GAC separately
receives Internal Audit reports on a range
of matters following completion of its
independent, risk based assignments or
ad hoc reviews.
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3 Management of key Group risks
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Key points:

e The macroeconomic environment and outlook in Ireland and the UK, which are the Group’s key markets, continued to be
favourable in 2017, acknowledging Brexit uncertainty continues, but has had no immediate impact on credit quality.

e Total loans and advances to customers (before impairment provisions) decreased to €78.5 billion in 2017 from €82.4 billion in
2016, with the key drivers being the translation effect of a weaker sterling together with reductions in non-core and
non-performing portfolios. Asset quality trends have continued to improve during 2017.

e Non-performing exposures' have reduced by 31% to €6.5 billion in 2017, from €9.4 billion in 2016, with reductions across all
asset classes.

e Total impairment charges on loans and advances to customers of €15 million have fallen significantly on the prior year (2016:
€176 million). This reflects the strong performance of the Group’s loan portfolios, the ongoing reductions in non-performing
exposures, and a continued positive economic environment during the year in the countries in which the Group’s portfolios are
located. Provision cover on non-performing exposures was 36% in 2017 (2016: 41%).

Definition of credit risk
(audited except where denoted as unaudiited)

Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting
from a counterparty being unable to
meet its contractual obligations to the
Group in respect of loans or other
financial transactions. This risk
includes but is not limited to default
risk, concentration risk, country risk,
migration risk and collateral risk. At
portfolio level, credit risk is assessed
in relation to the degree of name,
sector and geographic concentration
to inform the setting of appropriate risk
mitigation and transfer mechanisms,
and to assess risk capital
requirements. Risk appetite measures
for credit risk are set by the Board.

Credit risk arises from loans and
advances to customers. It also arises
from financial transactions the Group
enters into with financial institutions,
sovereigns and state institutions.

Credit facilities can be largely grouped

into the following categories:

e cash advances (e.g. loans,
overdrafts, revolving credit
facilities (RCFs) and bonds),
including commitments and letters
of offer;

e credit related contingent facilities
(issuing of guarantees /
performance bonds / letters of
credit);

e derivative instruments; and

e settlement lines.

The manner in which the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arises, its
policies and processes for managing it

and the methods used to measure and
monitor it are set out below.

Default risk

Default risk is the risk that financial

institutions, sovereigns, state

institutions, companies or individuals
will be unable to meet the required
payments on their debt obligations.

Default may be as a result of one or a

number of factors including, but not

limited to:

e adeterioration in macroeconomic
or general market conditions;

e acredit event (e.g. a corporate
transaction);

e anatural or manmade disaster;

e regulatory change, or
technological development that
causes an abrupt downgrade in
credit quality;

e amismatch between the currency
of a borrower’s income and their
borrowing / repayments; and

e environmental factors that impact
on the credit quality of the
counterparty.

Credit concentration risk

Credit concentration risk is the risk of
loss due to exposures to a single entity
or group of entities engaged in similar
activities and having similar economic
characteristics that would cause their
ability to meet contractual obligations
to be similarly affected by changes in
economic or other conditions. Undue
concentrations could lead to increased
volatility in the Group’s expected
financial outcomes.

Non-performing exposure' volumes

Impairment charges on customer loans

2016 2017

" As described on page 60, the Group has revised its asset quality reporting methodology to align with EBA guidance on non-performing and forborne classifications. The Group
now reports ‘non-performing exposures’ and ‘impaired’ loans replacing the previous classification of ‘non-performing’ loans which comprised ‘probationary residential

mortgages’ and ‘defaulted’ loans.
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3.1 Credit risk (continued)

Country risk

Country risk is the risk that sovereign or
other counterparties within a country may
be unable, unwilling or precluded from
fulfilling their cross-border obligations due
to changing political, financial or
economic circumstances such that a loss
to the Group may arise.

Credit risk management (audited)

Migration risk

Migration risk is the potential for loss due
to an internal / external ratings downgrade
which signals a change in the credit
quality of the loan exposure.

Risk Management Report
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Collateral risk

Collateral risk is the risk of loss arising
from a change in the value or
enforceability of security held due to errors
in the nature, quantity, pricing, or
characteristics of collateral security held in
respect of a transaction with credit risk.

Credit risk statement

The Group actively seeks opportunities to
provide appropriately remunerated credit
facilities to borrowers who are assessed
as having the capacity to service and
discharge their obligations and to allow
growth in the volume of loan assets in line
with the Group’s risk appetite and to
provide a solid foundation for sustained
growth in earnings and shareholder value.

The Group’s credit strategy is to
underwrite credit risk within a clearly
defined Board-approved risk appetite and
risk governance framework through the
extension of credit to customers and
financial counterparties in a manner that
results in an appropriate return for the
risks taken and on the capital deployed
while operating within prudent
Board-approved risk parameters, and to
maximise recoveries on loans that
become distressed.

Credit risk management

The Group’s approach to the management
of credit risk is focused on a detailed
credit analysis at origination followed by
early intervention and active management
of accounts where creditworthiness has
deteriorated.

The Group Risk function has responsibility
for the independent oversight of credit
risks, and for overall risk reporting to the
GRPC, the BRC and the Board on
developments in these risks and

compliance with specific risk limits. It is
led by the GCRO who reports directly to
the Group Chief Executive. The function
provides independent oversight and
management of the Group’s credit risk
strategy, credit risk management
information and credit risk underwriting as
well as strategic oversight and
management of certain challenged
portfolios.

Credit policy

The core values and principles governing
the provision of credit are contained in
Group Credit Policy which is approved by
the Board. Individual business unit credit
policies (which include specific sectoral /
product credit policies) define in greater
detail the credit approach appropriate to
the units concerned. These policies are
aligned with, and have regard to, the
Group’s RAS and applicable credit limits,
the lessons learned from the Group’s loss
history, the markets in which the business
units operate and the products which they
provide.

Lending authorisation

The Group’s credit risk management
systems operate through a hierarchy of
lending authorities which are related to
internal loan ratings. All exposures above
certain levels require approval by the
Group Credit Committee (GCC). Other
exposures are approved according to a
system of tiered individual authorities
which reflect credit competence, proven

judgement and experience. Material
lending proposals are referred to credit
units for independent assessment /
approval or formulation of a
recommendation for subsequent
adjudication by the applicable approval
authority.

Controls and limits

The Group imposes credit risk control
limits and guide points to mitigate
significant concentration risk. These limits
and guide points are informed by the
Group’s RAS which is approved annually
by the Board.

The Group’s RAS and regulatory
requirements set out maximum exposure
limits to a customer or a group of
connected customers. Long term limits
are defined by the Board for each credit
category. In addition, monetary risk limits
are set by the GRPC or its appointed
committees and, where necessary,
approved by the Board.

The Board approves a framework of
country maximum exposure guide points
which are used as benchmarks for the
setting of country limits. A maximum
exposure limit framework for exposures to
banks is also approved by the GRPC for
each rating category. Limits are set and
monitored for countries, sovereign
obligors and banks in accordance with
these frameworks.
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3.1 Credit risk (continued)

All credit transactions are assessed at
origination for credit quality and the
borrower is assigned a credit grade based
on a predefined credit rating scale. The
risk, and consequently the credit grade, is
reassessed periodically. The use of
internal credit rating models and scoring
tools, which measure the degree of risk
inherent in lending to specific
counterparties, is central to the credit risk
assessment and ongoing management
processes within the Group.

Loan loss provisioning

All credit exposures, either individually or
collectively, are regularly reviewed for
objective evidence of impairment. Through
its ongoing credit review processes, the
Group seeks early identification of
deteriorating loans with a view to taking
corrective action to prevent the loan
becoming impaired. Where such evidence
of impairment exists, the exposure is
measured for an impairment provision.

Credit risk mitigation (audited)

Typically, loans that are at risk of
impairment are managed by dedicated
specialist units / debt collection teams
focused on working-out loans.

The identification of loans for assessment
as impaired is driven by the Group’s credit
risk rating systems. Details of these
internal credit rating models are outlined in
the section on credit risk methodologies
on page 65. It is the Group’s policy to
provide for impairment promptly and
consistently across the loan book. For
those loans that become impaired, the
focus is to minimise the loss that the
Group will incur from such impairment.
This may involve implementing
forbearance solutions, entering into
restructuring arrangements or action to
enforce security.

Whilst provisioning is an ongoing process,
all business units formally review and
confirm the appropriateness of their

provisioning methodologies and the
adequacy of their impairment provisions
on a half yearly basis. Their conclusions
are reviewed by the Group Risk function
and the GRPC.

Under delegated authority from the Board,
the Group’s provisioning methodology is
approved by the GRPC on a half yearly
basis. On an annual basis, the BRC
provides observations on the Group’s
asset quality management and profile to
the GAC as an input into the GAC’s
assessment of year end impairment
provisions. The quantum of the Group’s
impairment charge, non-performing
exposures and impairment provisions are
also reviewed by the GRPC in advance of
providing a recommendation to the GAC.

An analysis of the Group’s impairment
provisions at 31 December 2017 is set out
in note 27.

An assessment of the borrower’s ability to
service and repay the proposed level of
debt (principal repayment source) is
undertaken for credit requests and is a key
element in the Group’s approach to
mitigating risk. In addition, the Group
mitigates credit risk through the adoption
of both proactive preventative measures
(e.g. controls and limits) and the
development and implementation of
strategies to assess and reduce the
impact of particular risks should these
materialise, including hedging,
securitisation and the taking of collateral
(which acts as a secondary repayment
source).

Risk transfer and financing strategies
The objective of risk mitigation / transfer is
to limit the risk impact to acceptable
levels. At portfolio level, credit risk is
assessed in relation to the degree of
name, sector and geographic
concentration. Where possible emergence
of undue risk concentrations are identified,
the risk capital implications are assessed
and, where appropriate, risk transfer and
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mitigation options (e.g. securitisations,
hedging strategies) are explored and
recommended to the PRC.

Collateral

Credit risk mitigation includes the
requirement to obtain collateral,
depending on the nature of the product
and local market practice, as set out in the
Group’s policies and procedures. The
Group takes collateral as a secondary
source, which can be called upon if the
borrower is unable or unwilling to service
and repay debt as originally assessed.
Various types of collateral are accepted,
including property, securities, cash,
guarantees and insurance.

The nature and level of collateral required
depends on a number of factors including,
but not limited to, the amount of the
exposure, the type of facility made
available, the term of the facility, the
amount of the borrower’s own cash input
and an evaluation of the level of risk or
PD.

The Group’s requirements around
completion, valuation and management of
collateral are set out in appropriate Group
or business unit policies and procedures.
The extent to which collateral and other
credit enhancements mitigate credit risk in
respect of the Group’s Residential
mortgage portfolio is set out in the tables
on pages 247 and 260.

Counterparty credit risk arising from
derivatives

The Group has executed standard
internationally recognised documents
such as International Swaps and
Derivative Association (ISDA) agreements
and Credit Support Annexes (CSAs) with
its principal interbank derivative
counterparties. The purpose of a CSA is to
limit the potential cost of replacing
derivative contracts at market prices in the
event of default by the counterparty. A
very high proportion of the Group’s
interbank derivatives book is covered by
CSAs and is hence collateralised, primarily
through cash.
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Credit risk at a Group, divisional and
significant operating unit / product type
level is reported on a monthly basis to
senior management. This monthly
reporting includes information and
detailed commentary on loan book
growth, quality of the loan book (credit
grade and PD profiles and risk weighted
assets) and loan impairment provisions
including individual large impaired
exposures.

The Group allocates significant resources
to ensure ongoing monitoring and
compliance with approved risk limits.
Credit risk, including compliance with key

credit risk limits, is reported monthly in the
Court Risk Report. This report is
presented to and discussed by the GRPC
and the Board. The quarterly Court Risk
Report is also presented to and discussed
by the BRC. A report on exceptions to
credit policy is presented to and reviewed
by the GRPC, BRC and the Board on a
quarterly basis.

The PRC considers and recommends to
the GRPC, on a quarterly basis, credit
concentration reports which track
changes in sectoral and single name
concentrations measured under agreed
parameters.

Management of challenged assets (audited)

The Group has in place a range of

initiatives to manage challenged and

vulnerable credit. These include:

® enhanced collections and recoveries
processes;

e specialist work-out teams to ensure
early intervention in vulnerable cases;

e intensive review cycles for ‘at risk’
exposures and the management of
excess positions; and

e support from central teams in
managing ‘at risk’ portfolios at a
business unit level.

Group forbearance strategies
Forbearance occurs when a borrower is
granted a concession or agreed change to
a loan (‘forbearance measure’) for reasons
relating to the actual or apparent financial
stress or distress of that borrower. If the
concession or agreed change to a loan
granted to a borrower is not related to the
actual or apparent financial stress or
distress of that borrower, forbearance has
not occurred. The range of forbearance
strategies used are set out in the
supplementary asset quality and
forbearance disclosures on pages 242 to
277.

The forbearance strategies adopted by the
Group seek to maximise recoveries and
minimise losses arising from non-

repayment of debt, while providing
suitable and sustainable restructure
options that are supportive of customers
in challenged circumstances. Forbearance
requests are assessed on a case by case
basis, taking due consideration of the
individual circumstances and risk profile of
the borrower.

A request for forbearance will always be a
trigger event for the Group to undertake
an assessment of the customer’s financial
circumstances and ability to repay prior to
any decision to grant a forbearance
treatment. This assessment may result in a
deterioration in the credit grade assigned
to the loan, potentially impacting how
frequently the loan must be formally
reviewed; and, where impairment is
deemed to have occurred will result in a
specific provision.

The Group Credit Policy and Group Credit
Framework outlines the core principles
and parameters underpinning the Group’s
approach to forbearance with individual
business unit policies and procedures
defining in greater detail the forbearance
strategies appropriate to each unit.

Borrower compliance with revised terms
and conditions may not be achieved in all
cases. Non-compliance could for example

In addition other reports are submitted to
senior management and the Board as
required.

GCR, an independent function within GIA,
reviews the quality and management of
credit risk assets across the Group. Using
a risk based approach, GCR carries out
periodic reviews of Group lending
portfolios, lending units and credit units.

arise because the individual
circumstances and risk profile of the
borrower continue to deteriorate, or fail to
show an expected improvement, to the
extent that an agreed reduced level of
repayment can no longer be met. In the
event of non-compliance, a request for
further forbearance may be considered. It
is possible that the Group, by virtue of
having granted forbearance to a borrower,
could suffer a loss that might otherwise
have been avoided had enforcement
action instead been taken - this could for
example arise where the value of security
held in respect of a loan diminishes over
the period of a forbearance arrangement
which ultimately proves unsustainable.

It is the Group’s policy to measure the
effectiveness of forbearance
arrangements over the lifetime of those
arrangements. A forbearance arrangement
is considered to be effective where the
risk profile of the affected borrower
stabilises or improves over the measured
time period, resulting in an improved
outcome for the Group and the borrower.
The measurement of effectiveness takes
account of the nature and intended
outcome of the forbearance arrangement
and the period over which it applies.
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The Group has revised its asset quality
reporting methodology to align with EBA
guidance on non-performing and forborne
classifications’.

The Group now reports ‘non-performing
exposures’ and ‘impaired’ loans replacing
the previous classification of
‘non-performing’ loans which comprised
‘probationary residential mortgages’ and
‘defaulted’ loans.

Previously the Group did not apply a set
time period after which the forborne
classification on a performing loan was
discontinued. Exit criteria are now applied
in line with EBA guidance.

An exposure continues to be classified as
forborne until such time as it satisfies
conditions to exit forbearance in line with
EBA guidance. Loans that have never
been forborne or loans that no longer
require to be reported as ‘forborne’ are
classified as ‘non-forborne loans’.

All exposures that are subject to
forbearance and have a specific provision
are reported as both forborne and
impaired whereas previously in the
non-mortgage portfolios where an
exposure carried a specific provision it
was reported as ‘impaired’ and not
reported as ‘forborne’.

The Group’s definition of impaired loans
has been modified to remove
non-mortgage loans that are greater than
90 days in arrears but where a specific
provision is not required, instead these
loans are now classified as ‘past due
greater than 90 days but not impaired’.

The Group classifies forborne and
non-forborne loans and advances to
customers as ‘neither past due nor
impaired’, ‘past due but not impaired’ and
‘impaired’ in line with the requirements of
IFRS 7.

The Group applies internal ratings to both
forborne and non-forborne loans based on
an assessment of the credit quality of the
customer, as part of its credit risk
management system. A thirteen point
credit grade rating scale is used for more
complex, individually managed loans,
including wholesale, corporate and

business lending. A seven point credit
grade rating scale is used for standard
products (including mortgages, personal
and small business loans).

‘Neither past due nor impaired’ ratings
are summarised as set out below:
Mappings to external rating agencies are
indicative only, as additional factors such
as collateral will be taken into account by
the Group in assigning a credit grade to a
counterparty:

e High quality ratings apply to loans to
customers, strong corporate and
business counterparties and
consumer banking borrowers
(including Residential mortgages) with
whom the Group has an excellent
repayment experience. For both
forborne and non-forborne loans, high
quality ratings are derived from grades
1 to 4 on the thirteen point grade
scale, grades 1 and 2 on the seven
point grade scale. These ratings are
broadly aligned to AAA, AA+, AA, AA-,
A+, A, A-, BBB+ and BBB for the
external major rating agencies.

e Satisfactory quality ratings apply to
good quality loans that are performing
as expected, including loans to small
and medium sized enterprises,
leveraged entities and more recently
established businesses. Satisfactory
quality ratings also include some
element of the Group’s retalil
portfolios. For both forborne and
non-forborne loans, satisfactory
quality ratings are derived from grades
5 to 7 on the thirteen point grade scale
and grade 3 on the seven point grade
scale. These ratings are broadly
equivalent to BBB-, BB+, BB and BB-.
In addition, satisfactory quality ratings
apply to certain mortgage forbearance
arrangements where the customer is
making full interest and capital
repayments.

e Acceptable quality ratings apply to
loans to customers with increased risk
profiles that are subject to closer
monitoring and scrutiny by lenders
with the objective of managing risk
and moving accounts to an improved
rating category. For both forborne and
non-forborne loans, acceptable quality
ratings are derived from grades 8 and
9 on the thirteen point grade scale and
grade 4 within the seven point scale.

These ratings are broadly equivalent
to external ratings of B+. In addition,
acceptable quality ratings apply to
certain mortgage forbearance
arrangements where the customer is
making at least full interest payments.

e Lower quality ratings apply to those
loans that are neither past due nor
impaired where the Group requires a
work-down or work-out of the
relationship unless an early reduction
in risk is achievable. For both forborne
and non-forborne loans, lower quality
ratings are derived from outstandings
within rating grades 10 and 11 on the
thirteen point grade scale, grade 5 on
the seven point grade scale and
external ratings equivalent to B or
below. In addition, lower quality
ratings apply to certain mortgage
forbearance arrangements where the
customer is making less than full
interest payments.

‘Non-performing exposures’ (NPEs)

consist of:

e impaired loans;

e |oans past due greater than 90 days
but not impaired;

e Forborne Collateral Realisation loans
(FCRs); and

e other/ probationary loans that have
yet to satisfy exit criteria in line with
EBA guidance to return to performing.

‘Impaired’ loans are defined as exposures
which carry a specific provision whether
forborne or not. Specific provisions are as
a result of either individual or collective
assessment for impairment.

‘Forborne collateral realisation’ loans
(FCRs) that are not greater than 90 days
past due and / or impaired consist of
loans (primarily residential mortgages)
where forbearance is in place and where
future reliance on the realisation of
collateral is expected, for the repayment in
full of the relevant borrower loan. Such
arrangements include Split Mortgages and
certain ‘Interest Only’ / ‘Interest Only plus’
arrangements.

‘Past due but not impaired’ loans,
whether forborne or not, are defined as
loans where repayment of interest and / or
principal are overdue by at least one day
but which are not impaired.

" In particular the EBA’s ‘Implementing Technical Standards on supervisory reporting on forbearance and non-performing exposures’.
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Quantitative information about credit risk within financial instruments held by the Group can be found in the credit risk exposure note
on page 180 in the consolidated financial statements.

Non-performing exposures

As described on page 60, the Group has revised its asset quality reporting methodology to align with EBA guidance on non-performing
and forborne classifications. The Group now reports ‘non-performing exposures’ and ‘impaired’ loans replacing the previous
classification of ‘non-performing’ loans which comprised ‘probationary residential mortgages’ and ‘defaulted’ loans.

The table below provide an analysis of loans and advances to customers that are non-performing by asset classification.

2017 Non-
property
Residential SME and Property and

Risk profile of loans and advances to customers mortgages corporate construction Consumer Total

- non-performing exposures €m €m €m €m €m

Impaired 1,314 1,339 1,301 89 4,043

Past due greater than 90 days but not impaired 304 94 66 - 464

Neither impaired nor past due greater than 90 days 1,467 244 302 1 2,014

Total 3,085 1,677 1,669 90 6,521

2016 Non-

property
Residential SME and Property and

Risk profile of loans and advances to customers mortgages corporate construction Consumer Total

- non-performing exposures €m €m €m €m €m

Impaired 1,634 1,829 2,669 104 6,236

Past due greater than 90 days but not impaired 385 130 159 - 674

Neither impaired nor past due greater than 90 days 1,633 240 646 1 2,520

Total 3,652 2,199 3,474 105 9,430
Unaudited: Non-performing exposures decreased to  days but not impaired of €0.5 billion (2016:
In addition to the non-performing €6.5 billion in 2017 from €9.4 billion in €0.7 billion), forborne collateral realisation
exposures on loans and advances to 2016, with reductions evident across all of  loans of €1.4 billion (2016: €1.8 billion) and
customers shown above, the Group has the Group’s portfolios. Non-performing other non-performing exposures' of €0.6
total non-performing off-balance sheet exposures in 2017 comprise impaired billion (2016: €0.7 billion).
exposures amounting to €0.1 billion (2016:  loans of €4.0 billion (2016: €6.2 billion),
€0.2 billion). loans that were past due greater than 90

T Other / probationary loans, including forborne loans that have yet to satisfy exit criteria in line with EBA guidance to return to performing.
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Composition and impairment
The table below summarises the composition, impaired loans and specific impairment provisions of the Group’s loans and advances to

customers.
2017 Specific
Impaired provisions
loans Specific as % of
Advances Impaired as % of impairment impaired
Total loans and advances to customers (pre-impairment) loans advances provisions loans
Composition and impairment €m €m €m €m €m
Residential mortgages 46,659 1,314 2.8% 492 37%
- Retail Ireland 24,069 1,125 4.7% 471 42%
- Retail UK 22,590 189 0.8% 21 11%
Non-property SME and corporate 18,763 1,339 71% 764 57%
- Republic of Ireland SME 8,213 982 12.0% 553 56%
- UK SME 1,703 100 5.9% 52 52%
- Corporate 8,847 257 2.9% 159 62%
Property and construction 8,747 1,301 14.9% 681 52%
- Investment 8,277 1,135 13.7% 581 51%
- Land and development 470 166 35.3% 100 60%
Consumer 4,318 89 2.1% 56 63%
Total 78,487 4,043 5.2% 1,993 49%
2016 Specific
Impaired provisions
loans Specific as % of
Advances Impaired as % of impairment impaired
Total loans and advances to customers (pre-impairment) loans’ advances provisions loans
Composition and impairment €m €m €m €m €m
Residential mortgages 48,207 1,634 3.4% 686 42%
- Retail Ireland 24,329 1,458 6.0% 659 45%
- Retail UK 23,878 176 0.7% 27 15%
Non-property SME and corporate 20,000 1,829 9.1% 1,004 55%
- Republic of Ireland SME 8,808 1,381 15.7% 760 55%
- UK SME 1,909 121 6.3% 66 55%
- Corporate 9,283 327 3.5% 178 54%
Property and construction 10,344 2,669 25.8% 1,632 61%
- Investment 9,321 1,965 21.1% 1,118 57%
- Land and development 1,023 704 68.8% 514 73%
Consumer 3,811 104 2.7% 69 66%
Total 82,362 6,236 7.6% 3,391 54%
Unaudiited: Impaired loans of €4.0 billion were €2.2 difficulty along with the positive economic
At 31 December 2017, Loans and billion lower than 2016. The reduction in environment and stable or increasing
advances to customers (pre-impairment)  impaired loans in the year reflects the collateral values. Resolution strategies
of €78.5 billion were €3.9 billion lower than ~ Group’s continued implementation of include the realisation of cash proceeds
2016, with currency translation and resolution strategies that include from property asset sales activity, and,
reductions in impaired loans accounting appropriate and sustainable support to where appropriate, have given rise to the
for substantially all of the reduction. viable customers who are in financial utilisation of provisions.

7 As described on page 60, the Group has modified its definition of impaired loans with a corresponding impact on amounts classified as ‘past due greater than 90 days but not
impaired’. As a result comparative figures have been restated as follows; impaired ‘Non-property SME and corporate’ have reduced by €130 million (from €1,959 million to
€1,829 million) with a corresponding increase in amounts classified as ‘past due but not impaired’ (from €126 million to €256 million) and impaired ‘Property and construction’
loans have reduced by €159 million (from €2,828 million to €2,669 million) with a corresponding increase in amounts classified as ‘past due but not impaired’ (from €213 million
to €372 million).
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At 31 December 2017, the stock of
impairment provisions of €2.4
billion was €1.5 billion lower than
2016. Impairment provisions of €2.4 Rol Mortgages
billion at 31 December 2017 are
after provisions utilised in the year
of €1.6 billion as set out in note 27
on page 180.

€3.2bn

The Group’s provision cover at 31
December 2017 reflects a
combination of the significant
reduction in the Group’s impaired

) ) 2016 2017
loans, impairment charges
recognised during the year and
provisions utilised. The Group’s
UK Mortgages

impaired loans provision coverage
ratio was 49% at 31 December €0.5bn €0.4bn
2017 (2016: 54%). Provision cover
was lower than 2016 given
improvements in observed recovery
values, the implementation of
resolution strategies and, to a
lesser extent, the evolution in the
composition of impaired loans.

Included in the preceding table is
€31.6 billion of UK customer

Non-performing exposures' by portfolio
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Non property SME and corporate

€2.2bn

2016 2017

Property and Construction

€3.5bn

= Non-performing but not impaired | paired
exposure? at 31 December 2017. Of
this, €22.6 billion relates to Retail
UK mortgages, €4.0 billion non-
property SME and corporate, €2.6 Non-property SME and corporate impaired Of the €2.4 billion UK Consumer lending at
billion Property and construction, loans provision coverage ratio was 59% at 31 December 2017, €27 million was
and €2.4 billion Consumer. 31 December 2017. impaired, with an impaired loans provision
coverage ratio of 67%. High provision
Of the €4.0 billion UK Non-property Of the €2.6 billion UK Property and cover reflects the unsecured nature of this
SME and corporate exposure (€1.7 construction exposure at 31 December lending.
billion SME and €2.3 billion 2017, €0.3 billion was impaired. At 31
corporate) at 31 December 2017, December 2017, UK Property and
€0.1 billion was impaired, primarily construction impaired loans provision
related to UK SME. UK coverage ratio was 43%.

" As described on page 60, the Group has revised its asset quality reporting methodology to align with EBA guidance on non-performing and forborne classifications. The Group
now reports ‘non-performing exposures’ and ‘impaired’ loans replacing the previous classification of ‘non-performing’ loans which comprised ‘probationary residential

mortgages’ and ‘defaulted’ loans.
2 The geographical breakdown is primarily based on the location of the customer.
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The table below summarises the composition, non-performing exposures' and impairment provisions of the Group’s loans and
advances to customers.

2017 Non- Impairment
performing provisions
Non- exposures as % of non-
Advances performing as % of Impairment performing
Total loans and advances to customers (pre-impairment) exposures advances provisions exposures
Composition and impairment €m €m €m €m €m
Residential mortgages 46,659 3,085 6.6% 706 23%
- Retail Ireland 24,069 2,650 11.0% 643 24%
- Retail UK 22,590 435 1.9% 63 14%
Non-property SME and corporate 18,763 1,677 8.9% 826 49%
- Republic of Ireland SME 8,213 1,263 15.4% 579 46%
- UK SME 1,703 147 8.6% 62 42%
- Corporate 8,847 267 3.0% 185 69%
Property and construction 8,747 1,669 19.1% 739 44%
- Investment 8,277 1,484 17.9% 637 43%
- Land and development 470 185 39.4% 102 55%
Consumer 4,318 90 2.1% 88 98%
Total 78,487 6,521 8.3% 2,359 36%
2016 Non- Impairment
performing provisions
Non- exposures as % of non-
Advances performing as % of Impairment performing
Total loans and advances to customers (pre-impairment) exposures advances provisions exposures
Composition and impairment €m €m €m €m €m
Residential mortgages 48,207 3,652 7.6% 988 27%
- Retail Ireland 24,329 3,162 13.0% 911 29%
- Retail UK 23,878 490 2.1% 77 16%
Non-property SME and corporate 20,000 2,199 11.0% 1,082 49%
- Republic of Ireland SME 8,808 1,686 19.1% 797 47%
- UK SME 1,909 174 9.17% 78 45%
- Corporate 9,283 339 3.7% 207 61%
Property and construction 10,344 3,474 33.6% 1,717 49%
- Investment 9,321 2,742 29.4% 1,198 44%
- Land and development 1,023 732 71.6% 519 71%
Consumer 3,811 105 2.8% 98 93%
Total 82,362 9,430 11.4% 3,885 41%
Unaudiited:

The movements in non-performing exposures in the year are consistent with the movements in impaired loans as set out on page 62.
At 31 December 2017, the Group’s non-performing exposures provision coverage ratio was 36% (2016: 41%).

For an analysis of the composition of the impairment provision on forborne loans and advances, see page 277 in the supplementary
asset quality and forbearance disclosures.

" As described on page 60, the Group has revised its asset quality reporting methodology to align with EBA guidance on non-performing and forborne classifications. The Group
now reports ‘non-performing exposures’ and ‘impaired’ loans replacing the previous classification of ‘non-performing’ loans which comprised ‘probationary residential
mortgages’ and ‘defaulted’ loans.
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Internal credit rating models

The use of internal credit rating models
and scoring tools, which measure the
degree of risk inherent in lending to
specific counterparties, is central to the
credit risk assessment and ongoing
management processes within the Group.

The primary model measures used are:

e Probability of Default (PD): the
probability of a given counterparty
defaulting on any of its borrowings
from the Group within the next twelve
months;

e Exposure at Default (EAD): the
exposure the Group has to a
defaulting borrower at the time of
default; and

e Loss Given Default (LGD): the loss
incurred (after the realisation of any
collateral) on a specific transaction
should the borrower default,
expressed as a percentage of EAD.

These measures are used to calculate
expected loss and are fully embedded in,
and form an essential component of, the
Group’s operational and strategic credit
risk management and credit pricing
practices.

For the Group’s retail consumer and
smaller business portfolios, which are
characterised by a large volume of
customers with smaller individual
exposures, the credit risk assessment is
grounded on application and behavioural
scoring tools. For larger commercial and
corporate customers, the risk assessment
is underpinned by statistical risk rating
models which incorporate quantitative
information from the customer (e.g.
financial statements) together with a
qualitative assessment of non-financial
risk factors such as management quality
and market / trading outlook. Lending to
financial institutions is assigned an internal
rating supported by external ratings of the
major rating agencies.

PD calculation

The Group produces estimates of PD on

either or both of the following bases:

e Through-the-Cycle (TtC) estimates are
estimates of default over an entire
economic cycle, averaged to a twelve
month basis. These are in effect
averaged expectations of PD for a
borrower over the economic cycle;
and

e (Cyclical estimates are estimates of
default applicable to the next
immediate twelve months. These

cyclical estimates partially capture the
economic cycle in that they typically
rise in an economic downturn and
decline in an economic upturn but not
necessarily to the same degree as
default rates change in the economy.

Non-retail internal rating systems

The Group has adopted the Foundation
IRB approach for certain of its non-retail
exposures. Under this approach, the
Group calculates its own estimates for PD
and uses supervisory estimates of LGD
and credit conversion factors.

Retail internal rating systems

The Group has adopted the Retail IRB
approach for the majority of its retail
exposures. Under this approach, the
Group calculates its own estimates for PD,
LGD and credit conversion factors.
External ratings do not play a role within
the Group’s retail internal rating systems,
however, external credit bureau data does
play a significant role in assessing UK
retail borrowers.

Other uses of internal estimates

The specific uses of internal estimates

differ from portfolio to portfolio, and for

retail and non-retail approaches, but

typically include:

e internal reporting;

e credit management;

e calculation of RAROC;

e credit decisioning / automated credit

decisioning;

borrower credit approval; and

e internal capital allocation between
businesses of the Group.

For other purposes, the cyclical PD
estimates typically are used. Both
estimates feature within internal
management reporting.

Control mechanisms for rating systems
The control mechanisms for rating
systems are set out in the Group’s Credit
IRB Model Risk Policy and Standards. The
Risk Measurement Committee (RMC)
approves all risk rating models, model
developments and all associated policies.
The Group mitigates model risk for rating
models as follows:

e model development standards: the
Group adopts centralised standards
and methodologies over the operation
and development of models. This
ensures a common approach to
documentation, data quality and
management, conservatism and
model testing;

Risk Management Report

e model governance: the Group adopts
a uniform approach to the governance
of all risk rating model related
activities. This ensures the appropriate
involvement of stakeholders;

e model performance monitoring: all risk
rating models are subject to testing on
a quarterly basis. The findings are
reported to RMC; and

e independent validation: all risk rating
models are subject to in-depth
analysis at least annually. This analysis
is carried out by a dedicated unit (the
Independent Control Unit (ICU)) which
is independent of credit origination
and management functions.

When issues are raised on risk rating
models, plans are developed to remediate
or replace such models within an agreed
timeframe.

In addition, GIA regularly reviews the risk
control framework, including policies and
standards, to ensure that these are being
adhered to, meet industry good practices
and are compliant with regulatory
requirements.

Methodology for loan loss provisioning
All credit exposures, either individually or
collectively, are regularly reviewed for
objective evidence of impairment. Where
such evidence of impairment exists, the
exposure is measured for an impairment
provision. The criteria used to determine if
there is objective evidence of impairment
include:

e delinquency in contractual payments
of principal or interest;

e cash flow difficulties;

* breach of loan covenants or
conditions;

e granting a concession to a borrower,
for economic or legal reasons, relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty
that would otherwise not be
considered;

e deterioration of the borrower’s
competitive position;

e deterioration in the value of collateral;

e external rating downgrade below an
acceptable level; or

e initiation of bankruptcy proceedings.

At 31 December 2017, the following
events require the completion of an
impairment assessment to determine
whether a loss event has occurred at the
balance sheet date that may lead to
recognition of impairment losses:
e |oan asset has fallen 90 days past
due;
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3.1 Credit risk (continued)

e aforbearance measure has been
requested by a borrower and formally
assessed; and

e a modification of loan terms resulting
in the non-payment of interest,
including the refinancing and
renegotiation of facilities where there
is evidence of a loss event and / or
borrower financial distress.

Portfolio specific events for Residential

mortgages

e notification of, or intended application
for, bankruptcy proceedings, debt
settlement or personal insolvency
arrangement or similar; or

e offer of voluntary sale at possible
shortfall or voluntary surrender of
property security.

Portfolio specific events for larger SME /

corporate and property loans

® internal credit risk rating, or external
credit rating, has been downgraded
below a certain level;

e financial statements or financial
assessment indicates inability of the
borrower to meet debt service
obligations and / or a negative net
assets position;

e borrower has ceased trading;

e jnitiation of bankruptcy / insolvency
proceedings;

e afallin the assessed current value of
security such that the loan to value
ratio is greater than or equal to 120%
(Property and construction only);

e afallin net rent such that it is
inadequate to cover interest with little
/ no other income to support debt
service capacity (investment property
exposures only); or

e afallin the assessed gross
development value such that sale
proceeds are no longer expected to
fully repay debt (development
exposures only).

Where objective evidence of impairment
exists, as a result of one or more past
events, the Group is required to estimate
the recoverable amount of the exposure or
group of exposures.

For financial reporting purposes, loans on
the balance sheet that become impaired
are written down to their estimated

recoverable amount. The amount of this
write down is taken as an impairment
charge in the income statement. Impaired
loans have a specific provision attaching.

The Group’s impairment provisioning
methodologies are compliant with IFRS.
IAS 39 requires objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’)
and that loss event (or ‘events’) has an
impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or group of
financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Losses expected as a result of
future events, no matter how likely, are
not recognised.

Methodology for individually assessing
impairment

An individual impairment assessment is
performed for any exposure for which
there is objective evidence of impairment
and where the exposure is above an
agreed threshold. For Residential
mortgage, non-property SME and
corporate, and Property and construction
exposures, a de-minimis total customer
exposure level of €1 million applies for the
mandatory completion of a discounted
cash flow (DCF) analysis for the
assessment of impairment. The carrying
amount of the exposure net of the
estimated recoverable amount (and thus
the specific provision required) is
calculated using a DCF analysis. This
calculates the estimated recoverable
amount as the present value of the
estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the exposure’s original effective interest
rate (or the current effective interest rate
for variable rate exposures). The
estimated future cash flows include
forecasted principal and interest
payments (not necessarily contractual
amounts due) including cash flows, if any,
from the realisation of collateral / security
held, less realisation costs.

An analysis of the Group’s impairment
provisions and impairment charge by
nature of impairment provision is set out
in the tables on pages 173 and 180.

Methodology for collectively assessing
impairment

Where exposures fall below the threshold
for individual assessment of impairment,
or exposures do not otherwise require
individual lender assessment, such
exposures are automatically included for
collective impairment provisioning. For
collective impairment provisioning,
exposures with similar credit risk
characteristics (e.g. portfolio of consumer
personal loans) are pooled together and a
provision is calculated by estimating the
future cash flows of a group of exposures.
In pooling exposures based on similar
credit risk characteristics, consideration is
given to features including: asset type;
industry; past due status; collateral type;
and forbearance classification. The
provision estimation considers the
expected contractual cash flows of the
exposures in a portfolio and the historical
loss experience for exposures with credit
risk characteristics similar to those in the
portfolio being assessed. Assumptions
and parameters used in the collective
provisioning models, which are based on
historical experience (i.e. amount and
timing of cash flows / LGD) are regularly
compared against current experience in
the loan book and current market
conditions.

Some of the key parameters at 31
December 2017 used in the Retail Ireland
Residential mortgage collective specific
provisioning model include assumptions in
relation to:

e indexed residential property
valuation®;

e forced sale discount (23% to 55%);

e workout costs (7%);

e weighted average cure rate (33.43%
over three years, with cure
assumptions segmented by:
forbearance classification and region
(for relevant cohorts));

e weighted average repayment rate
(5.91% over three years); and

e time to sale (3.5 years from the
reporting date).

" Indexed value with reference to end September 2017 Central Statistics Office (CSO), Residential Property Price Index (RPPI) for ‘Dublin - all residential properties’ and ‘National
excluding Dublin - all residential properties’ (hereafter ‘Non-Dublin’). At that date, the Dublin index was 24% lower than its peak and the non-Dublin index was 29.8% lower than
its peak. The end September CSO index was published on 8 November 2017 and was used in the updating of the Retail Ireland mortgage collective impairment provisioning
parameters and assumptions, which were approved internally for year ended 31 December 2017.
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3.1 Credit risk (continued)

The provisioning model assumptions and
parameters use historical loan loss
experience adjusted where appropriate for
current conditions and current observable
data. Cure assumptions reflect the
definition of cure per the CBI ‘Impairment
Provisioning and Disclosure Guidelines’
(May 2013) which requires satisfactory
completion of a twelve month probation
period, while being less than 30 days past
due.

The Group’s critical accounting estimates
and judgements which are set out in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements,
include sensitivity analysis disclosure on
some of the key judgemental areas,
including Rol Residential mortgages, in
the estimation of impairment charges.

Where there is objective evidence of
impairment on a collective basis, this is
reported as a specific provision (‘collective
specific’) in line with individually assessed
loans. An analysis of the Group’s
impairment provisions and impairment
charge by nature of impairment provision
is set out in the tables on pages 173 and
180.

Methodology for establishing incurred
but not reported (IBNR) provisions
Impairment provisions are also recognised
for losses not specifically identified but
which, experience and observable data
indicate, are present in the portfolio /
group of exposures at the date of
assessment. These are described as
incurred but not reported provisions.
Statistical models are used to determine
the appropriate level of IBNR provisions
for a portfolio / group of exposures with
similar credit risk characteristics (e.g.
asset type, geographical location,
forbearance classification). These models
estimate latent losses taking into account
three observed and / or estimated
parameters / assumptions:

e |oss emergence rates (based on
historic grade migration experience
and current PD grades, offset by cure
expectations where appropriate);

e the emergence period (historic
experience adjusted to reflect current
conditions); and

e LGD rates (loss and recovery rates
using historical loan loss experience,
adjusted where appropriate to reflect
current observable data).

A key assumption used in the calculation
of the IBNR impairment provisions for past
due greater than 90 days but not impaired
Retail Ireland Residential mortgages is the
value of underlying residential properties
securing the loans. The IBNR provisioning
model parameters and assumptions have
been reviewed during the year informed
by the Group’s most recent observed
experience (including updated residential
property sales data). The resulting
updates, particularly in relation to the
residential property value assumptions,
the forced sale discounts and work-out
costs used in the IBNR provisioning
model, are the same as those outlined
above in respect of the Retail Ireland
Residential mortgage collective specific
provisioning methodology.

The past due greater than 90 days but not
impaired IBNR model cure assumptions
are segmented as appropriate and
updated for recent observed experience.
At 31 December 2017 the cure
assumptions reflect a weighted average
cure rate of 50.84% over a three year
period. At 31 December 2017, the
weighted average repayment rate applied
to the past due greater than 90 days but
not impaired IBNR model is 10.05% over
a three year period.

Emergence period refers to the period of
time between the occurrence and
reporting of a loss event. Emergence
periods are reflective of the characteristics
of the particular portfolio. For example, at
31 December 2017 emergence periods are
in the following ranges: 6 to 20 months for
both forborne and non-forborne Retail
Ireland Residential mortgages and three to
four months for both forborne and
non-forborne larger SME / corporate and
property loans. Emergence periods are
estimated based on historic loan loss
experience supported by back testing
and, as appropriate, individual case
sampling.

The LGD is calculated using historical loan
loss experience and is adjusted where
appropriate to apply management’s credit
expertise to reflect current observable
data (including an assessment of any
changes in the property sector,
discounted collateral values and
repayment prospects).

Risk Management Report

While loss emergence rates have been
assessed in light of the Group’s recent
grade migration experience and current
PD grades, back testing of emergence
periods and LGD factors against current
experience in the loan book has not
resulted in any material changes in these
factors compared to 31 December 2016.

The Group’s critical accounting estimates
and judgements, which are set out in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements,
include sensitivity analysis disclosure on
some of the key judgemental areas in the
estimation of IBNR provisions.

Methodology for loan loss provisioning
and forbearance

A request for forbearance will always be a
trigger event for the Group to undertake
an assessment of the customer’s financial
circumstances and ability to repay prior to
any decision to grant a forbearance
treatment.

This assessment may result in a
deterioration in the credit grade assigned
to the loan, potentially increasing the
frequency of the formal review process;
where impairment is also deemed to have
occurred, this will result in a specific
provision.

Individually assessing impairment and
forbearance

The methodology for individually assessing
impairment, whether an exposure is
forborne or not, is as outlined above (i.e.
on an individual case-by-case basis).

Collectively assessing impairment and
forbearance’

Forborne exposures are pooled together
for collective impairment provisioning,
including IBNR provision calculations.
Assumptions and parameters used to
create the portfolio provision(s) take into
consideration the historical experience on
assets subject to forbearance (e.g.
amount and timing of cash flows, cure
experience, emergence period), adjusted
where appropriate to reflect current
conditions, and require the satisfactory
completion of a twelve month probation
period, while being less than 30 days past
due. Management adjustments are also
applied, as appropriate, where historical
observable data on forborne assets may
be limited. Impairment provisioning

T For collective provisioning purposes, the Group applies a definition of forbearance that is aligned with the Central Bank of Ireland’s ‘Impairment Provisioning & Disclosures

Guidelines’ 2013
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3.1 Credit risk (continued)

methodologies and provisioning model
parameters and assumptions applied to
forborne loan pools are reviewed regularly,
and revised as necessary, to ensure that
they remain reasonable and appropriate
and reflective of the credit characteristics
of the portfolio being assessed and
current conditions. This includes a
comparison of actual experience to
expected outcome.

Provisioning and forbearance

Exposures which are subject to
forbearance and have a specific provision
are reported as both ‘forborne’ and
‘impaired’. The total provision book cover
on forborne loans is reflective of the
additional credit risk inherent in such loans
(given that forbearance is only provided to
borrowers experiencing actual or apparent
financial stress or distress), particularly the
potentially higher risk of default and / or
re-default.

Impaired loans review

Irrespective of the valuation methodology
applied, it is Group policy to review
impaired loans above agreed thresholds
semi-annually, with the review including a
reassessment of the recovery strategy, the
continued appropriateness of the
valuation methodology and the adequacy
of the impairment provision.

Where information is obtained between
reviews that impacts expected cash flows
(e.g. evidence of comparable transactions
emerging, changes in local market
conditions), an immediate review and
assessment of the required impairment
provision is undertaken.

An impaired loan is restored to unimpaired
status when the contractual amount of
principal and interest is deemed to be fully
collectible.

Typically, a loan is deemed to be fully
collectible based on an updated
assessment by the Group of the
borrower’s financial circumstances. The
assessment includes a demonstration of
the customer’s ability to make payments
on the original or revised terms and
conditions as may be agreed with the
Group as part of a sustainable
forbearance arrangement.

Methodologies for valuation of property
collateral

Retail Ireland mortgage loan book
property values are determined by
reference to the original or latest property
valuations held indexed to the CSO RPPI.
Retail UK mortgage loan book property
values are determined by reference to the
original or latest property valuations held
indexed to the Nationwide UK house price
index.

In relation to commercial property
valuations, there is a Board approved
policy which sets out the Group’s
approach to the valuation of commercial
property collateral and the key principles
applying in respect of the type and
frequency of valuation required. This
policy is consistent with the CBI regulatory
guidance. In line with the policy, valuations
may include formal written valuations from
external professionals or internally
assessed valuations.

Internally assessed valuations are
informed by the most appropriate sources
available for the assets in question. This
may include property specific information /
characteristics, local market knowledge,
comparable transactions, professional
advice (e.g. asset management reports) or
a combination thereof, in line with more
detailed guidance and metrics which are
approved at least annually by GRPC.
These guidelines and metrics are informed
by both internal and externally sourced
market data / valuation information,
including input from the Group’s Real
Estate Advisory Unit (REAU).

For internally assessed valuations, the
appropriate valuation methodology
applied is informed by a range of factors,
including the risk profile of the underlying
loan. For challenged assets, the
appropriate methodology applied depends
in part on the options available to
management to maximise recovery which
are driven by the particular circumstances
of the loan and underlying collateral, e.g.
the degree of liquidity and recent
transactional evidence in the relevant
market segment, the type, size and
location of the property asset and its
development potential and marketability.
In all cases where the valuations for
property collateral are used, the initial
recommendation of the realisable value

and the timeline for realisation are arrived
at by specialist work-out units.

These estimated valuations are subject to
review, challenge and, potentially, revision
by experienced independent credit
professionals in underwriting units within
the Group Risk function and are ultimately
approved in line with delegated authority
upon the recommendation of the credit
underwriting unit. At all approval levels,
the impairment provision and the
underlying valuation methodology is
reviewed and challenged for
appropriateness, adequacy and
consistency.

IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ (unaudited)
IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ is effective
for annual periods commencing on or after
1 January 2018. The Group’s IFRS 9
Programme has been in existence since
2015 and extensive information on the
progress of IFRS 9 implementation has
been given in the Group’s Annual and
Interim Reports since then.

Overall implementation

Development work on the IFRS 9
technology infrastructure, operating model
and governance, and the expected credit
losses (ECL) or impairment model suite is
largely completed. Successful completion
of system integration testing and user
acceptance testing of each component of
the end-to-end technical solution in the
last quarter of 2017 supported the Group’s
readiness for compliance with IFRS 9 from
1 January 2018. Further refinement of the
technology infrastructure will continue
during 2018.

Classification and measurement

The Group has completed its assessment
of business models and the contractual
cash flow characteristics of financial
assets. There was no change in
measurement basis for the vast majority of
the Group’s financial assets.

IFRS 9 business models have been

defined based on:

e how groups of financial assets are
managed together;

e how their performance is evaluated
and reported to key management
personnel;

e how risks are managed; and

e intentions about future sales.

" While not used in IFRS 9 itself, ‘staging’ is now generally accepted market terminology
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3.1 Credit risk (continued)

Sales of financial assets close to maturity
or due to an increase in credit risk, or
infrequent sales of significant volumes of
financial assets, are consistent with a
hold-to-collect business model. Based on
recent experience, the volume of sales of
financial assets from the Group’s hold-to-
collect business models has been
insignificant.

Under IFRS 9, the changes in the fair
value of liabilities designated at fair value
through profit and loss (FVTPL) arising
from changes in own credit spread, are no
longer recognised in the income statement
but are instead recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless this would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss.

The Group has decided not to avalil, at
transition, of the option to elect to
measure certain equity investments at fair
value through other comprehensive
income. Likewise, the Group has decided
not to avail of the ‘overlay approach’
available to issuers of insurance contracts
under IFRS 4.

The Group expects to early adopt
amendments to IFRS 9 related to
prepayment features with negative
compensation (awaiting EU endorsement).
This has been assumed in estimating the
quantitative impact on transition to IFRS
9.

Hedge accounting

The Group has made the accounting
policy choice allowed under IFRS 9 to
continue to apply the hedge accounting
requirements of IAS 39 until the amended
standard resulting from an IASB project on
macro hedge accounting becomes
effective. However, new hedge accounting
disclosures will still be required by related
amendments to IFRS 7 ‘Financial
instruments: disclosure’.

Impairment

The Group Impairment Policy applicable
under IFRS 9 was approved by the Board
in October 2017 to support business
readiness by its effective date of 1 January
2018. It outlines the Group’s over-arching
policies in respect of the impairment of
financial instruments under IFRS 9 and is
applicable to all business units within the
Group.

Impairment models and forward looking
information

Development of the Group’s suite of IFRS
9 impairment models has concluded, and
independent validation and testing is also
complete. In the second half of 2017, the
impairment models were approved for use
by the RMC, which is responsible for
approval and oversight of the Group’s risk
measurement systems, enabling the
impairment models to be used in the
measurement of the initial IFRS 9
impairment loss allowance and stage
allocation at 1 January 2018.

Forward looking information (FLI) refers to
probability-weighted future
macroeconomic scenarios used in the
assessment of significant increase in
credit risk and in the measurement of
impairment loss allowances under IFRS 9.
Three FLI scenarios (a central, an upside
and a downside scenario) and associated
probability weightings have been
approved by the GRPC, the Group’s most
senior management risk committee.
These scenarios have been incorporated
into the impairment models to calculate
the initial IFRS 9 impairment loss
allowance and stage allocation at 1
January 2018. The scenarios include
forecasts of variables such as GDP,
unemployment and property prices.

FLI scenarios and associated probability
weightings will be updated and approved
semi-annually by GRPC as part of each
statutory financial reporting cycle.

Staging
The Group’s standard staging criteria
under IFRS 9 apply to the vast bulk of
loans and advances to customers. A
financial asset which is not credit-impaired
and has not experienced a significant
increase in credit risk since initial
recognition is allocated to stage 1 and is
subject to an impairment loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL. The Group’s
standard criteria to determine if there has
been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, leading to stage 2
(unless credit-impaired which is stage 3)
and an impairment loss allowance equal to
lifetime ECL, incorporate quantitative and
qualitative factors. These factors include:
e more than a doubling of remaining
lifetime PD;
e whether a financial instrument is
forborne or is a non-performing
exposure; and

Risk Management Report

e whether a financial instrument is
greater than 30 days past due.

The Group’s standard staging criteria are
automatically applied as part of the
monthly execution of the Group’s
impairment models, with each financial
instrument allocated to a stage. The
Group intends to assess the effectiveness
of its staging criteria semi-annually and
may revise the criteria if appropriate.

The Group applies the low credit risk
expedient to most debt securities in scope
for the impairment requirements of IFRS 9
and similarly to loans and advances to
banks, central banks and investment
firms. ‘Low credit risk’ encompasses PD
grades 1 to 5 on the Group’s internal PD
rating system, which broadly aligns with
ratings of AAA to BBB- for the external
major rating agencies. Such financial
instruments are allocated to stage 1.

From 1 January 2018, the manner in which
the Group identifies financial assets as
credit-impaired (stage 3, with an
impairment loss allowance equal to
lifetime ECL) under IFRS 9 results in the
Group’s population of credit-impaired
financial assets being consistent with its
population of financial assets in regulatory
default. Therefore all financial assets in
regulatory default within the scope of the
impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are
classified as credit-impaired.

In summary, an exposure is considered to
be in default if: (a) the borrower is
considered unlikely to pay in full without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (including ‘forborne
collateral realisation’ loans and loans
which would have been considered
impaired under IAS 39); and / or (b) the
borrower is greater than 90 days past due
and the arrears amount is material.

The population of credit-impaired financial
assets that will be reported under IFRS 9
will be broader than the population of
impaired loans reported under the
definition used by the Group under IAS 39,
which equates to loans with a specific
provision. The population of non-
performing exposures will be broader than
the population of credit-impaired financial
assets reported under IFRS 9, as it will
include other loans meeting non-
performing exposure criteria, in line with
EBA guidance, such as probationary loans
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3.1 Credit risk (continued)

that have yet to satisfy exit criteria to
return to a performing classification. The
quantum of non-performing exposures is
unchanged on transition to IFRS 9.

Operating model and governance

Work has concluded on the IFRS 9
operating model and governance
framework, leveraging existing
arrangements where appropriate and
ensuring consistency with the Group’s
three lines of defence approach to risk
management. The impairment operating
model is more centralised, driven by some
of the key requirements of IFRS 9 such as
generating FLI and stage allocation. A new
Impairment Committee has been
appointed by the GRPC and is responsible
for impairment oversight. New and revised
impairment business processes, including
process controls, have been designed and
put into operation.

Training and education briefings have
been delivered to relevant internal
stakeholders, ensuring business readiness
for IFRS 9. This included the roll-out of
web-based training for the Group
Impairment Policy applicable under IFRS 9.

Practical expedients and policy choices
The Group has applied certain ‘practical
expedients’ as allowed under IFRS 9
including:

e use of the low credit risk practical
expedient (as outlined above);

e approximation of the ‘credit risk at
initial recognition’ for in-scope
financial instruments originated prior
to certain dates in 2017;

e limiting certain information sets on the
basis of undue cost or effort; and

e use of loss rates for certain smaller
and / or lower risk portfolios.

In determining the appropriateness of
practical expedients, the Group has been
mindful of the requirement that ECL under
IFRS 9 should reflect an unbiased amount
and make use of reasonable and
supportable information available without
undue cost or effort.

The Group has decided not to make the
accounting policy choice allowed under
IFRS 9 to always measure the impairment
loss allowance on lease receivables at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL.
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Quantitative impact and regulatory
treatment

Quantitative impact

The estimated quantitative impact on
initial adoption of IFRS 9 is a reduction in
stockholders’ equity of approximately
€120 million after tax, substantially all of
which relates to an increase in impairment
loss allowance on loans and advances to
customers.

The key drivers of the change in
impairment loss allowance include but are
not limited to:

e the concept of ‘stage 2’ under IFRS 9
whereby loans which have
experienced a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition are
subject to an impairment loss
allowance equal to lifetime ECL, which
generally exceeds incurred but not
reported (IBNR) provisions recognised
under IAS 39;

e the incorporation of FLI in impairment
calculations at 1 January 2018; and

e the requirement to recognise
impairment on loan commitments from
1 January 2018.

The most adversely impacted portfolios
are the Non-property SME and Corporate
and Consumer portfolios reflecting
impairment loss allowances equal to
lifetime ECL on stage 2 assets (which
generally exceed IBNR provisions
recognised under IAS 39) and relatively
large undrawn commitments within these
portfolios. This adverse impact is partially
offset by the Rol Mortgages portfolio
where there has been a decrease in
impairment loss allowance for non-
defaulted (stage 1 and 2) loans.

The Group intends to provide the required
detailed disclosures on the actual
quantitative impact on the initial adoption
of IFRS 9 (which may include refinement
to the above estimate) by measurement
category and financial asset class in the
Group interim report for the six month
period ended 30 June 2018. In
accordance with the accounting policy
choice allowed under IFRS 7 as amended
by IFRS 9, comparative figures will not be
restated.

Regulatory treatment

The Group has chosen to avail of the
transitional arrangements for mitigating
the impact of IFRS 9 on regulatory capital
as outlined in the amended CRR. This
allows the Group to add back to its
regulatory CET 1 capital a proportion of
the increase in impairment loss allowance
on transition to IFRS 9 and also a
proportion of any increase in stage 1 and
2 impairment loss allowance between
transition and the relevant reporting date,
subject to certain adjustments. The
proportion to be added back is 95% in
2018 and 85%, 70%, 50% and 25%
respectively in the subsequent 4 years
with the relief ending on 31 December
2022. The estimated quantitative impact
of IFRS 9 on the Group’s capital ratios
incorporating the transitional
arrangements are set out in the capital
section of the Operating and Financial
review on page 27.

The transitional adjustment arising from
the adoption of IFRS 9 is to be spread
over 5 years for the purposes of Irish
Corporation Tax and 10 years for UK
Corporation Tax.

The EBA extended the overall timeline for
the 2018 EU-wide stress test to take into
account the challenges that
implementation of IFRS 9 posed for
availability of starting point data. The
stress test exercise launched in January
2018. The stress test methodology
requires banks to project impairment loss
allowances for each of a single baseline
and single adverse scenario and to apply
a number of assumptions. These
assumptions include:

® banks apply their own definition of
stage 2 but must assume that stage 1
exposures which experience a
threefold increase of lifetime PD
become stage 2;

e for stage 3, banks must use the non-
performing exposures definition for
the projections period; and

e an instrument may be considered ‘low
credit risk’ and allocated to stage 1 if
12 month PD is <0.30%.

Capital ratios under the stress test will be
published on both a transitional and fully

loaded basis with final results scheduled

to be published by November 2018.



Funding and liquidity risk
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Key points:

e Group customer deposits of €76 billion have increased by €0.7 billion since 31 December 2016. The Group’s Loan to Deposit
Ratio (LDR) reduced by 4% to 100% at 31 December 2017. The increase in Group customer deposits of €0.7 billion comprised
of an increase in Retail Ireland division (€3.1 billion) offset by a decrease in Corporate and Treasury division (€1.0 billion) and
Retail UK division (€1.4 billion). On a constant currency basis, Group customer deposits increased by €1.9 billion.

e The Group’s LCR at 31 December 2017 was 136%. The Group’s NSFR at 31 December 2017 was 127%.
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Definition of funding and liquidity risk
(audlited)

Funding and liquidity risk is the risk that
the Group will experience difficulty in
financing its assets and / or meeting its
contractual payment obligations as they
fall due, or will only be able to do so at
substantially above the prevailing market
cost of funds. Liquidity risk arises from
differences in timing between cash inflows
and outflows. Liquidity risk can increase
due to the unexpected lengthening of
maturities or non-repayment of assets, a
sudden withdrawal of deposits or the
inability to refinance maturing debt. These
factors are often associated with times of
distress or adverse events such as a credit
rating downgrade(s) or economic or
financial turmoil.

Liquidity risk statement (audiied)
Funding and liquidity risk arises from a
fundamental part of the Group’s business
model; the maturity transformation of
primarily short term deposits into longer
term loans. The Group’s funding and
liquidity strategy is to maintain a stable
funding base with loan portfolios
substantially funded by retail originated
customer deposit portfolios.

Liquidity risk framework (audited)

The Group has established a liquidity risk
management framework which
encompasses the liquidity policies,
systems and controls in place to ensure
that the Group is positioned to address its
daily liquidity obligations and to withstand
a period of liquidity stress. Principal
components of this framework are the
Group’s RAS and associated limits and
the Group’s Funding and Liquidity Policy,
both of which are approved by the Board
on the recommendation of the GRPC and
the BRC.

The Group Funding and Liquidity Policy
outlines the Group’s governance process
with respect to funding and liquidity risk,
and sets out the core principles that
govern the manner in which the risk is

mitigated, monitored and managed. The
operation of this policy is delegated to the
Group’s ALCO.

These principal components are
supported by further liquidity policies,
systems and controls which the Group
has to manage funding and liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk management (unaudited)
Liquidity risk management within the
Group focuses on the control, within
prudent limits, of risk arising from the
mismatch in contracted maturities of
assets and liabilities and the risks arising
from undrawn commitments and other
contingent liabilities.

The Group’s treasury function provides
top-down centralised control of the
Group’s funding and liquidity position
including overall responsibility for the
management of the Group’s liquidity
position.

Liquidity risk management consists of two

main activities:

e structural liquidity management
focuses on the balance sheet
structure, the funding mix, the
expected maturity profile of assets
and liabilities and the Group’s debt
issuance strategy; and

e tactical liquidity management focuses
on monitoring current and expected
daily cash flows to ensure that the
Group’s liquidity needs can be met.

The Group is required to comply with the
regulatory liquidity requirements of the
SSM and the requirements of local
regulators in those jurisdictions where
such requirements apply to the Group.
SSM requirements include compliance
with CRR / CRD IV and associated
Delegated Acts.

The Group has remained in full
compliance with the regulatory liquidity
requirements throughout 2017, and as at
31 December 2017 maintained a buffer

significantly in excess of regulatory
liquidity requirements.

Bank of Ireland (UK) plc is authorised by
the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA)
and is subject to the regulatory liquidity
regime of the PRA. Bank of Ireland (UK)
plc has remained in full compliance with
the regulatory liquidity regime in the UK
throughout 2017, and as at 31 December
2017 maintained a buffer significantly in
excess of regulatory liquidity
requirements.

The annual Internal Liquidity Adequacy
Assessment Process (ILAAP) enables the
Board to assess the adequacy of the
Group’s funding and liquidity risk
management framework, to assess the
key liquidity and funding risks to which it
is exposed; and details the Group’s
approach to determining the level of liquid
assets and contingent liquidity that is
required to be maintained under both BAU
and severe stress scenarios.

A key part of this assessment is cash flow
forecasting that includes assumptions on
the likely behavioural cash flows on
certain customer products. Estimating
these behavioural cash flows allows the
Group assess the stability of its funding
sources and potential liquidity
requirements in both business as usual
and stressed scenarios. The stressed
scenarios incorporate Group specific and
systemic risks and are run at different
levels of possible, even if unlikely, severity.
Actions and strategies available to
mitigate the impacts of the stress
scenarios are evaluated as to their
appropriateness. Stress test results are
reported to ALCO, the GRPC, the BRC
and the Board.

The Group also monitors a suite of
Recovery Indicators and Early Warning
Signals in order to identify the potential
emergence of a liquidity stress. As part of
its contingency and recovery planning the
Group has identified a suite of potential
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3.2  Funding and liquidity risk (continued)

funding and liquidity options which could
be exercised to help the Group to restore
its liquidity position on the occurrence of a
major stress event.

Liquidity risk reporting (unaudited)
The Group’s liquidity risk appetite is
defined by the Board to ensure that
funding and liquidity are managed in a
prudent manner. The Board monitors
adherence to the liquidity risk appetite
through the monthly Court Risk Report.

Management informs the Board in the
monthly Court Risk Report of any
significant changes in the Group’s funding
or liquidity position. The Court Risk Report
includes the results of the Group’s liquidity
stress testing. This estimates the potential
impact of a range of stress scenarios on
the Group’s liquidity position including its
available liquid assets and contingent
liquidity.

Management reviews daily, weekly and
monthly funding and liquidity reports and
stress testing results which are monitored
against the Group’s RAS. It is the

responsibility of ALCO to ensure that the
measuring, monitoring and reporting of
funding and liquidity is adequately
performed and complies with the
governance framework.

Liquidity risk measurement (audiied)
The Group’s cash flow and liquidity
reporting processes provide management
with daily liquidity risk information by
designated cash flow categories. These
processes capture the cash flows from
both on-balance sheet and off-balance
sheet transactions.

The tables below and on the following
page summarise the maturity profile of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities,
excluding those arising from insurance
and participating investment contracts at
31 December 2017 and 31 December

2016. These maturity profiles are based on

the remaining contractual maturity period
at the balance sheet date (discounted).
The Group measures liquidity risk by
adjusting the contractual cash flows on
deposit books to reflect their behavioural
stability.

Unit linked investment liabilities and unit
linked insurance liabilities with a carrying
value of €5,766 million and €10,878 million
respectively (2016: €5,647 million and
€10,458 million respectively) are excluded
from this analysis as their repayment is
linked directly to the financial assets
backing these contracts.

Customer accounts include a number of
term accounts that contain access
features. These allow the customer to
access a portion or all of their deposits
notwithstanding that this withdrawal could
result in a financial penalty being paid by
the customer. For such accounts, the
portion subject to the potential early
access has been classified in the
‘demand’ category in the following table.

2017 Upto3 3-12 1-5 Over 5

Demand months months years years Total
Maturities of financial assets and liabilities €m €m €m €m €m €m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 7,379 - - - - 7,379
Trading securities - - - 38 30 68
Derivative financial instruments 155 271 283 823 816 2,348
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss' 1,087 30 32 178 3,014 4,341
Loans and advances to banks 555 2,267 239 - - 3,061
Available for sale financial assets' - 682 1,511 6,281 4,732 13,206
Held to maturity financial assets = = = = = =
NAMA senior bonds? - - - - - -
Loans and advances to customers (before impairment provisions) 1,663 5,099 7,122 27,400 37,203 78,487

10,839 8,349 9,187 34,720 45,795 108,890

Liabilities
Deposits from banks 87 699 - - - 786
Drawings from Monetary Authorities (gross) - 169 1,726 3,113 - 5,008
Customer accounts 60,993 7,586 4,871 2,379 40 75,869
Derivative financial instruments 160 45 54 578 1,150 1,987
Debt securities in issue - 730 19 4,800 1,386 6,935
Subordinated liabilities - - - 488 1,619 2,107
Short positions in trading securities = = = = = =
Total 61,240 9,229 6,670 11,358 4,195 92,692

" Excluding equity shares which have no contractual maturity.
2 The maturity date of the NAMA senior bonds is based on their assessed behavioural maturity.
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3.2  Funding and liquidity risk (continued) %
.......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... o)
Restated 2
2016 Upto 3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 E
Demand months months years years Total
Maturities of financial assets and liabilities €m €m €m €m €m €m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 5,192 - - - - 5,192
Trading securities - - - 18 - 18
Derivative financial instruments 205 305 605 1,299 1,295 3,709
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss! 1,130 24 30 152 3,286 4,622
Loans and advances to banks 469 2,639 240 - 1 3,349
Available for sale financial assets’ - 723 1,381 5,161 3,505 10,770
Held to maturity financial assets - - - - 1,872 1,872
NAMA senior bonds? - - - 451 - 451
Loans and advances to customers (before impairment provisions) 2,347 5,347 7,454 26,745 40,469 82,362
9,343 9,038 9,710 33,826 50,428 112,345
Liabilities
Deposits from banks 74 1,615 - - - 1,689
Drawings from Monetary Authorities (gross) - 181 292 2,947 - 3,420
Customer accounts 55,492 9,359 6,849 3,198 269 75,167
Derivative financial instruments 207 76 114 762 1,714 2,873
Debt securities in issue® - 398 1,751 4,288 2,813 9,250
Subordinated liabilities - - 1 248 1,176 1,425
Short positions in trading securities 47 - - - - 47
Total 55,820 11,629 9,007 11,443 5,972 93,871

Funding strategy (unaudited)

The Group seeks to maintain a stable
funding base with loan portfolios
substantially funded by customer deposits
and term wholesale funding.

Customer deposits (Unaudited)

The Group’s customer deposit strategy is

to:

e maintain and optimise its stable retail
customer deposit base in Ireland and
the UK, in line with balance sheet
requirements;

e prudently manage deposit pricing
and margins; and

e optimise stable funding levels in line
with regulatory liquidity requirements.

Group customer deposits of €75.9 billion
were €0.7 billion higher than 2016. This
comprises an increase in Retail Ireland
division of €3.1 billion, offset by a
decrease in Corporate and Treasury
division of €1.0 billion (of which €0.4
billion relates to the translation effect of a
weaker dollar) and Retail UK division of
€1.4 billion (of which €0.8 billion relates to
the impact of a weaker sterling). On a
constant currency basis, Group customer
deposits increased by €1.9 billion.

In the Retail Ireland Division, customer
deposits of €44.2 billion have increased
by €3.1 billion since 31 December 2016
due to growth in current account credit
balances, reflecting strong economic
activity.

In the Retail UK Division, customer
deposits of £19.0 billion have decreased
by £0.5 billion since 31 December 2016,
primarily due to the utilisation of BoE’s
cost efficient TFS.

In the Corporate and Treasury Division,
customer deposits of €10.3 billion have

decreased by €1.0 billion since 31
December 2016, due to the translation
effect of a weaker dollar, €0.4 billion and
pricing optimisation, including charging
negative interest rates where appropriate.

At 31 December 2017, customer deposits
of €75.9 billion (2016: €75.2 billion) do not
include €0.8 billion (2016: €1.4 billion) of
savings and investment products sold by
Bank of Ireland Life. These products have
fixed terms (typically five to seven years)
and consequently are an additional
source of stable funding for the Group.

2017 2016
Customer deposits €bn €bn
Retail Ireland 44 41
- Deposits 22 22
- Current account credit balances 22 19
Retail UK 22 23
Retail UK (Stg£bn equivalent) 19 20
- UK Post Office 14 15
- Other Retail UK 5 5
Corporate and Treasury 10 1
Total customer deposits 76 75
Loan to deposit ratio 100% 104%

" Excluding equity shares which have no contractual maturity.

2 The maturity date of the NAMA senior bonds is based on their assessed behavioural maturity.

3 Comparative figures have been adjusted to reflect a change in assessment of the maturity dates for certain debt securities in issue. Debt securities in issue repayable: 1-5 years
has been restated by €1.5 billion from €2.7 billion to €4.2 billion and over 5 years has been restated by €1.5 billion from €4.3 billion to €2.8 billion with no change to overall debt

securities in issue.
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Wholesale Funding Sources

€14bn €13bn

€1bn €1b
€1bn "

2016 2017

===  Bank Deposits = Senior Debt
= Securitisations = ECB Monetary Authority
BoE Monetary Authority = Covered Bonds

Wholesale funding (unaudited)

The Group in the normal course aims to
maintain funding diversification, minimise
concentrations across funding sources
and minimise refinancing maturity
concentrations.

Following the establishment in July 2017
of the Group’s holding company, BOIG
plc, future issuance of MREL (Minimum
Requirement for Own Funds and Eligible
Liabilities) eligible senior debt will be
issued by BOIG plc and down-streamed
to the Bank subject to finalisation of
down-streaming rules by the ECB.

Wholesale Market Funding - Maturity Profile

€11bn

—— > year — < year

Foreign exchange funding mismatch
(unaudiited)

The Group's operations in the UK are
conducted primarily through Bank of
Ireland (UK) plc. The Group’s strategy is to
originate all new retail lending in the UK
through BOI (UK) plc which is match
funded via sterling deposits.

In addition, the Bank also provides
banking services in the UK through its UK
branch comprised of corporate and
business banking activities and the
management of residential mortgage
contacts which have not been transferred
to BOI (UK) plc.

Monetary Authority Funding - Maturity Profile

€5bn

2016 2017

— > year — < year

Within the Bank, there exists a structural
mismatch between sterling denominated
assets and liabilities which is funded
primarily through cross currency
derivatives.

At 31 December 2017, the Group's
mismatch in sterling of £7.0 billion was
£0.1 billion lower than 2016, primarily
driven by amortisation of UK mortgage
assets.

2017 2016
Liquidity metrics (unaudited) % %
Liquidity Coverage Ratio’ 136% 113%
Net Stable Funding Ratio? 127% 122%
Loan to deposit ratio 100% 104%
2017 2016
Secured Secured Secured Secured
funding from funding Total funding from  funding Total
Unsecured Monetary private wholesale Unsecured Monetary  private wholesale
Wholesale funding maturity analysis® funding Authorities  sources funding funding Authorities  sources funding
(unaudited) €bn €bn €bn €bn €bn €bn €bn €bn
Less than three months 1 - 1 2 2 - - 2
Three months to one year = 2 5 2 1 = 1 2
One to five years 1 3 4 8 1 3 4 8
More than five years = a 1 1 o = 2 2
Wholesale funding 2 5 6 13 4 3 7 14

The Group’s Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) is calculated based on the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/61 which came into force on 1 October 2015.
2 The Group’s Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) is calculated based on the Group’s interpretation of the BCBS October 2014 document.
3 The maturity analysis has been prepared using the expected maturity of the liabilities.
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Standard & Poor's
Moody’s
Fitch

BBB- (Positive)
Baa3 (Positive)
BBB (Stable)

The Governor and Company
of the Bank of Ireland
- Senior debt (unaudited)

2017
€m

2016
€m

Standard & Poor's

BBB (Positive

BBB- (Positive)

BOIG plc’s senior debt investment grade

2017 2016 . .
Ireland - Senior debt (unaudited) €m €m credit rat!ngs of Baa3, BBB- and BBB
were assigned by Moody’s, Standard &
Standard & Poor's A+ (Stable) A+ (Stable) | Poor's and Fitch during 2017. Fitch
Moody’s A2 (Stable) A3 (Positive) upgraded the BOIG plc senior debt credit
Fitch A+ (Stable) A (Stable) rating from BBB- to BBB in November
DBRS A (High) (Stable trend) A (High) (Stable trend) | 2017 Moody’s and S&P have assigned a
Positive outlook to the BOIG plc senior
debt credit ratings.
2017
BOIG plc - Senior debt (unaudited) €m Balance sheet encumbrance (unaudited)

It is Group policy to ensure that the level
of encumbrance of the balance sheet is
consistent and supportive of the Group’s
unsecured funding issuance plans.

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s overall
encumbrance level was 18% (2016: 20%)
with ¢.€19 billion of the Group’s assets
encumbered (2016: €22 billion). The
decrease in encumbered assets is due to
a reduction in the volume of assets in the

oY)
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D
®
o
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=
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=

)
N!oodys Baa1l (Positive) Baa2 (Pos!t!ve) Group’s collateral programmes.
Fitch BBB (Stable) BBB- (Positive)
DBRS A (Low) (Stable trend) BBB (High) (Positive trend)

Funding and liquidity position
(unaudiited)
During 2017, the Bank’s senior debt credit

Baa1, BBB, BBB and A (low) respectively.
Fitch and DBRS revised the outlook on the
Bank’s senior debt credit ratings to Stable

ratings were upgraded by Moody’s,
Standard & Poor’s, Fitch and DBRS to

from Positive.
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3.3 Market risk

Key points:

conventions.

e The VaR arising from discretionary risk-taking remained at relatively low levels during 2017, this partly reflected the
comparatively low levels of market volatility. The Group continues to take moderate interest rate positions in both Trading and
Banking books in addition to positions in FX and traded credit markets.

e With the exception of basis risks, the Group manages its structural interest rate and FX positions according to passive

Definition and background (audited)
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from
movements in interest rates, FX rates or
other market prices. Market risk arises
from the structure of the balance sheet,
the Group’s business mix and
discretionary risk-taking. The Group
recognises that the effective management
of market risk is essential to the
maintenance of stable earnings, the
preservation of shareholder value and the
achievement of the Group's corporate
objectives.

Risk management, measurement and
reporting (audited)

The management of market risk in the
Group is governed by the Group’s RAS
and by the Group Policy on Market Risk,
both of which are approved by the Board.
The Group has an established governance
structure for market risk that involves the
Board, the BRC, the GRPC and the ALCO,
which has primary responsibility for the
oversight of market risk in the Group. The
relevant limits and other controls are set
by ALCO.

The Board monitors adherence to market
risk appetite through the monthly Court
Risk Report.

The Group Market Risk function is
responsible for ensuring that the Group
identifies, understands, measures and
controls the market risks to which it is
exposed.

It is Group policy to minimise exposure to
market risk, subject to defined limits for
discretionary risk. Nonetheless, certain
structural market risks remain and, in
some cases, are difficult to eliminate fully.
In addition, the Group bears economic
exposure to changes in the value of
securities held as liquid assets, or held as
matching assets in NIAC as a result of
credit spread movements. This is the
predominant economic exposure arising
on the NIAC fixed interest portfolio.

Market risks that arise are centralised by
way of internal hedging transactions with
Bank of Ireland Global Markets (BolGM),
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which is the treasury execution arm of the
Group. These market risks are hedged by
BolGM as a matter of course with
external markets or, in the case of a small
quantum of the risks concerned, are run
as short-term discretionary risk positions
subject to policy and limits. Discretionary
risk-taking is confined to interest rate, FX
and traded credit risk.

Similarly, market risks in the Group’s life
assurance business, NIAC, are managed
within defined tolerances. However,
certain residual risks are inherent in this
business, notably exposure to credit
spreads on assets held to match
policyholder liabilities, and indirect
exposure to equity markets through
changes in the discounted value of fees
applied to equity assets held by
policyholders in insurance contracts. This
is outlined in greater detail below.

Classification of market risk (unaudited)
In accordance with Group policy and
aligned with regulatory requirements and
guidance the Group classifies market risk
as follows:

¢ Interest Rate Risk in the Banking
Book (IRRBB): This is risk that arises
naturally through the conduct of retail
and wholesale banking business. This
is broken down into mismatch risk,
yield curve risk, basis risk and
optionality risk. To this can be added,
earnings risk arising from non-interest,
floored or perpetually fixed assets and
liabilities.

¢ Trading Book Risk: This consists of
risk positions that are pro-actively
assumed which are booked in the
Trading Book in compliance with the
CRR.

e Other market-related risks to
earnings and / or capital: Risks to
earnings and / or capital that do not
fall naturally within the
regulatory-defined categories of
Trading Book and IRRBB fall under
this heading. For the most part, these
risks reflect the application of
mark-to-market accounting to
particular portfolios or the impact of
FX rate movements on what is de

facto a dual-currency balance sheet.
The most material risks arise from the
fair valuation of credit risk in securities
portfolios and derivative books.

Balance sheet linkage

The accompanying table (see page 77)
classifies the balance sheet in terms of
Banking Book, Trading Book (as defined
above) and Insurance assets and
liabilities. The principal risk factors which
drive changes in earnings or value in
relation to each line item are also set out.
Trading Book assets and liabilities were a
small proportion of the balance sheet at
31 December 2017 and this is
representative of the position throughout
the year. Interest rates are the most
significant risk factor.

Classification by equivalent risks

Similar or equivalent risks arise in the
three-way classification set out above and
accordingly, for presentational purposes in
the sections to follow, the risks will be
collected into discretionary and structural
risk.

Discretionary market risk (unaudited)
Discretionary risk is a risk that is carried in
the expectation of gain from near-term
movements in liquid financial markets
realised through the closing-out of the
positions concerned. BolGM is the sole
Group business unit permitted to run
discretionary market risk.

Discretionary risk can be taken by leaving
naturally arising retail or wholesale-
generated risks unhedged for a period
(discretionary IRRBB) or by taking
proprietary positions in the market
(Trading Book risk). In conformity with the
CRR, customer derivatives are booked in
the Trading Book and can be a source of
trading risk if not fully closed out.

Discretionary market risk is subject to
strict controls which set out the markets
and instruments in which risk can be
assumed, the types of positions which can
be taken and the limits which must be
complied with. BolGM’s discretionary
market risk is confined to interest rate risk,
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Market risk (continued) 4
.......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... o)
Market risk linkage to the Non- g
balance sheet (unaudited) Total Trading trading Insurance
31 December 2017 €m €m €m €m Primary Risk Sensitivity
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 7,379 - 7,379 - Interest Rate
Derivative financial instruments 2,348 708 1,640 - Interest Rate, FX, Credit Spread
Trading and other financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss 14,489 68 15 14,406 Interest Rate, FX, Credit Spread
Loans and receivables: Interest Rate
- Loans and advances to banks 3,061 - 2,552 509 Interest Rate
- Loans and advances to customers 76,128 - 76,128 - Interest Rate
Available for sale financial assets 13,223 - 18,223 - Interest Rate, FX, Credit Spread
Value of in Force business 565 - - 565 Equity
Other assets 5,361 - 3,532 1,829 Interest Rate
Total assets 122,554 776 104,469 17,309
Liabilities
Deposits from banks 4,339 - 4,339 - Interest Rate
Customer deposits 75,869 - 75,869 - Interest Rate
Derivative financial instruments 1,987 680 1,307 - Interest Rate, FX, Credit Spread
Debt securities in issue 8,390 - 8,390 - Interest Rate
Liabilities arising from insurance
and investment contracts 16,644 - - 16,644 Interest Rate, FX, Credit Spread, Equity
Other liabilities 3,551 - 3,031 520 Credit Spread
Subordinated liabilities 2,107 - 2,107 - Interest Rate
Total liabilities 112,887 680 95,043 17,164

FX risk and credit spread exposure to
sovereigns, banks and credit default swap
(CDS) indices. A limit on discretionary risk
and a high-level stop loss are set in the
RAS approved by the Board and GRPC. A
hierarchy of other limits and controls,
based on VaR (see below), scenario stress
tests and sensitivities are set by ALCO.
The Group does not seek to generate a
material proportion of its earnings through
discretionary risk-taking and it has a low
tolerance for earnings volatility arising
from this activity which is reflected in
policy, limits and other controls applied.

The Group employs a VaR approach to
measure, and set limits on, discretionary
market risk. This applies to risk taken in
the Banking Book (naturally arising risk
that is left unhedged) or risk that is
pro-actively assumed in the Trading Book.
The Group measures VaR for a one-day
horizon at the 99% (two-tailed) level of
statistical confidence. The volatilities and
correlations which are used to generate
VaR numbers are estimated using the

exponentially weighted moving average
(EWMA) approach which gives more
weight to recent data and responds
quickly to changes in market volatility.
VaR is backtested on a daily basis with all
exceptions subject to review and
explanation.

The Group uses VaR to allocate capital to
discretionary risk in its ICAAP but uses the
standardised approach for Pillar | Trading
Book capital.

The Group recognises that VaR is subject
to certain inherent limitations and
therefore VaR limits are supplemented by
scenario-based stress tests. These are
particularly important in periods of low
market volatility when VaR numbers can

understate the risks of loss from large
adverse market moves. Position limits and
‘stop losses’ are also a central element of
the control environment.

The table below shows total VaR at 31
December 2017 was €0.8 million (€1.8
million in 2016). Total VaR is the sum of
overall interest rate, foreign exchange and
traded credit VaR. Overall Interest Rate
VaR is a correlated measure of trading
book interest rate and discretionary
IRRBB.

The Group’s peak, average and
end-period VaR numbers for the Trading
Book by risk class and discretionary
IRRBB are shown in the ‘Value at Risk’
table (see page 78) for 31 December 2017

and 2016.
2017 2016
Total Value at Risk (audited) €m €m
Total 0.8 1.8
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Structural and other risks (audited)
Notwithstanding the overriding objective
of running minimal levels of market risk,
certain structural market risks remain and
are managed centrally as part of the
Group’s asset and liability management
process.

Structural interest rate risk (Lnaudited)
Structural interest rate risk is the exposure
of Group earnings to the interest rate
cycle arising from the existence of
non-interest bearing or behaviourally
fixed-rate assets and liabilities on the
balance sheet. The principal non-interest
bearing liabilities are equity and
non-interest bearing current accounts. It is
Group policy to invest its net non-interest
bearing liabilities (or free funds) in a
portfolio of swaps with an average life of
3.5 years and a maximum life of seven
years. This has the effect of mitigating the
impact of the interest rate changes on net
interest margin.

Other structural risks arise from impaired
loans and floored (or negative-rate) loans
and deposits.

Net interest income sensitivity analysis
(unaudiited)

The Group uses net interest income
sensitivity analysis to measure the
responsiveness of earnings to scenarios
for short and long-term rates.

The table below shows the estimated
sensitivity of the Group’s income (before
tax) to an instantaneous and sustained
1% parallel movement in interest rates.
The estimates are based on management
assumptions primarily related to the
repricing of customer transactions; the
relationship between key official interest
rates set by Monetary Authorities and
market determined interest rates; and the
assumption of a static balance sheet by
size and composition. In addition,
changes in market interest rates could
impact a range of other items including
the valuation of the Group’s IAS 19 DB
pension schemes.

Basis risk (unaudited)

Basis risk is the exposure of the Group’s
earnings to sustained changes in the
differentials between the floating rates to
which the Group’s assets, liabilities and

Estimated sensitivity of Group income
(1 year horizon) (unaudited)

2017 2016
€m €m

100bps higher
100bps lower

c.170 c.140
(c.200)  (c.170)
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% 3.3  Market risk (continued)

T

() derivative hedges are linked. In the

c:n’ Value at Risk (unaudited) 20;: 20;: Group’s case, the principal rates used for

product and derivative repricing are one,
Discretionary IRRBB three and six month Euribor and sterling
Peak 0.7 0.7 Libor, the ECB refinancing rate and the
Average 0.2 03 BoE.base rate. In addition, the .
End period 0.1 0.2 requirement to.fund the Group’s sterling
Trading book interest rate VaR balance sheet in part from euro creates a
Pl 24 18 strucTuraI exposure to the cost of this
Average 0.9 0.7 hedging.
End period 0.5 0.8 . X Lo
Foreign exchange VaR The Group applles notllonalillmlts .and
Peak 10 16 stress scenario analysis to its basis
Average 0.4 05 positions.
E:atzzrfidit risk 02 06 Credit spread risk (unaudited)
Peak 0.8 19 Securities purchased as liquid assets and
Average 0.4 04 classified as AFS are held at fair value on
End period 0.2 04 the balance sheet. Movements in fair
value of these holdings as a consequence

of changes in the spread to Euribor or
Libor are recognised in reserves. At 31
December 2017, the Group held €13.2
billion in securities classified as AFS
financial assets (2016: €10.8 billion). A 1%
point increase in the average spread to
Euribor or Libor of the book in 2017 would
have reduced its value by €516 million
(2016: €401 million).

An analogous economic risk exists in
relation to securities held by NIAC to
match policyholder liabilities and to invest
its capital. At 31 December 2017, NIAC’s
bond portfolio had a market value of €1.4
billion (2016: €1.4 billion). At 31 December
2017, a 1% point widening of all credit
spreads (measured as bond yields minus
the corresponding swap rate) would have
had an impact on earnings of €140 million
negative, while a 1% point tightening
would have had a positive impact of €161
million (2016": €145 million negative and
€168 million positive respectively).

The Group also models the spread risk for
both the AFS and NIAC portfolios over a
1-year horizon using a combination of
stress testing and portfolio risk methods.

Interest rate risk in NIAC (unaudited)

In managing the interest rate risk in its
business, NIAC has regard to the
sensitivity of its capital position, as well as
its IFRS earnings, to market movements.
NIAC follows a policy of asset / liability
matching to ensure that the exposure of

" As outlined on page 4, comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations. The
previously reported 2016 figures were €46 million negative and €24 million positive respectively.
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3.3  Market risk (continued)

its capital position to interest rate
movements remains within tolerances,
while also managing the impact on IFRS
profits. At 31 December 2017, a 1% point
fall in swap and yield rates would have
reduced its excess own funds (own funds
less solvency capital requirement) by €63
million and increased its IFRS profit by
€20 million (2016: €65 million and €9
million respectively).

Equity risk (unaudited)

NIAC’s earnings are also indirectly
exposed to changes in equity markets.
This arises because a management fee is
charged on the value of €5 billion of
equities held for policyholders in insurance
contracts in its unit linked book. As equity
markets move up and down, this gives
rise to a change in current and discounted
future streams of equity-related fees which
is reflected in NIAC’s earnings. Every 1%
fall in equity markets applied to positions
at 31 December 2017 would have reduced
NIAC’s earnings by €2 million (2016: €2
million reduction). Every 1% increase in
equity markets would have had a broadly
equal and opposite impact.

Structural FX (unaudited)
The Group defines structural FX risk as the
exposure of its key capital ratios to

changes in exchange rates. Changes in
exchange rates can increase or decrease
the overall euro-equivalent level of RWAs.
It is Group policy to manage structural FX
risk by ensuring that the currency
composition of its RWAs and its structural
net asset position by currency are broadly
similar. This is designed to minimise the
impact of exchange rate movements on
the principal capital ratios.

At 31 December 2017, the estimated
sensitivity of the Group’s fully loaded CET
1 ratio to a 10% depreciation of sterling
and dollar combined against the euro was
6 basis points.

Use of derivatives in the management
of market risk (unaudited)

The activities set out above involve, in
many instances, transactions in a range of

Risk Management Report

derivative instruments. The Group makes
extensive use of derivatives to hedge its
balance sheet, service its customer needs
and, to a much lesser extent, assume
discretionary risk. The Group’s
participation in derivatives markets is
subject to policy approved by the BRC.
The Group makes a clear distinction
between derivatives which must be
transacted on a perfectly hedged basis
and those whose risks can be managed
within broader interest rate or FX books.
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Discretionary market risk can only be
assumed in clearly defined categories of
derivatives which are traded in
well-established liquid markets, supported
by industry standard conventions and
documentation and valued in accordance
with generally accepted methods.

The structural FX positions at 31 December 2017 and the preceding year end were as follows:
2017 2016
Structural FX position €m €m
Sterling - net asset position 2,396 2,170
US dollar - net asset position 547 641
Total structural FX position 2,943 2,811
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3.4 Life insurance risk

Key points:

result.

e NIAC continues to concentrate on the Irish insurance market, selling a core suite of products across a range of distribution
channels, including the Bank of Ireland customer base. The risk profile in respect of life insurance risk is largely stable. The
process of appropriate underwriting at both the new business and claims stages, as well as reinsuring a proportion of the life
insurance risk written, remain key risk management tools.

e NIAC regularly monitors its own experience of trends in life insurance risks and reflects this, where appropriate, in its pricing
and reserving assumptions. Experience has been stable and positive in recent years relative to assumptions.

e The Solvency Il regulatory framework for insurance undertakings, having been introduced in 2016, is now embedded within
NIAC’s processes. NIAC’s first Solvency and Financial Condition Report, a public disclosure document detailing the approach
taken to capital and risk management and governance, as well as other areas of information, was published in May 2017.

e As arelatively new regulatory framework, Solvency Il is kept under review by the European Insurance and Occupational
Pensions Authority (EIOPA). NIAC has assessed the suitability of the Solvency Il regulatory framework to determine its risk
capital and found it to be appropriate. NIAC doesn’t expect the outcome of the current EIOPA review to materially change this

e NIAC’s second formal ORSA process was completed with a presentation of the conclusions and recommendations to the NIAC
board. This process considers both quantitative and qualitative risk assessments on a forward looking basis, and in the
context of strategic objectives, to determine if any weaknesses exist within the risk management framework. While a number
of recommendations were made to strengthen this framework, no significant weaknesses were identified. The process
confirmed the robustness of NIAC’s financial position in the face of extreme but plausible adverse scenarios.

e The compliance environment for the sale of life insurance business is evolving at pace and NIAC is planning for the
introduction of several new pieces of regulation and legislation in 2018.

Definition (audited)

Life insurance risk is the result of
unexpected variation in the amount and
timing of claims associated with insurance
benefits. This variation, arising from
changing customer mortality, life
expectancy, health or behaviour
characteristics, may be short or long term
in nature. Mortality risk is the risk of
deviations in timing and amounts of cash
flows due to the incidence of death being
higher than expected. Longevity risk is the
risk of deviations in timing and amount of
cash flows due to life expectancy being
longer than expected. Morbidity risk is the
risk of deviations in timing and amount of
cash flows due to the incidence of
disability and sickness being higher than
expected. Persistency or lapse risk is the
risk to profitability if policies surrender
early as the company will lose the future
income streams on these contracts.
Expense risk is the risk to profitability if
expenses differ to expectation.

Risk management (audited)

Life insurance risk is controlled by the
Group Risk Appetite and is underwritten
and managed by NIAC, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group. The management
of insurance risk is the responsibility of the
board of NIAC as delegated through
internal governance structures.
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Reinsurance risk is managed within the
NIAC risk management framework with
responsibilities delegated through the
Reinsurance Risk Policy as approved by
the NIAC board. The responsibilities
include completing a review of reinsurance
arrangements at least annually. This
includes a review of the panel of reinsurers
that may be used and the structure of
reinsurance arrangements. Senior
members of the management team with
actuarial and underwriting expertise
contribute to the effective oversight of this
risk.

Risk measurement (audited)

Risk experience is monitored regularly
with actual claims experience being
compared to the underlying risk
assumptions. The results of this analysis
are used to inform management of the
appropriateness of those assumptions for
use in pricing, capital management and
new product design.

Exposure to life insurance risk is
measured by means of sensitivity and
scenario testing. Risk capital is calculated
for each individual risk type by stressing
the best estimate assumptions of future
experience by extreme, but plausible,
factors. The stress factors are pre-defined
by regulation and are set at a level with an

expected frequency of occurrence of one
year in every 200. NIAC also carries out an
ORSA annually which is overseen by the
NIAC board. Within the ORSA, NIAC’s risk
profile is considered, both quantitatively
and qualitatively, in a holistic manner with
potential areas of risk identified along with
conclusions in respect of how those risks
will be mitigated. Further details can be
found in note 37 on page 191.

Risk mitigation (audited)

NIAC mitigates the potential impact of
insurance risk through a number of
measures. Capital is held against
exposure to life insurance risk. Exposure
to risk is also managed and controlled by
the use of medical and financial
underwriting, risk mitigating contract
design features and reinsurance, as
detailed in risk management policies.

Risk reporting (audited)

An update on the status of life insurance
risk is included in the Court Risk Report
which is presented to the GRPC, the BRC,
and the Board on a quarterly basis. NIAC’s
ORSA report in respect of the NIAC annual
assessment is also presented to the
GRPC on an annual basis.



3.5 Conduct risk

Risk Management Report

Key points:

conduct risk control environment.

manner.

established.

e During 2017, the Group significantly enhanced the Conduct Risk Management Framework. The CRMF, which was approved by
the BRC in July 2017, sets out the approach used by the Group in managing conduct risk to achieve a robust and effective

e Throughout 2017, the Group also developed and implemented a number of Group-wide conduct risk policy standards, in
addition to reviewing and revising existing policy standards to ensure that key conduct risks are managed in a consistent

e During 2017, the Tracker Mortgage Examination programme continued to progress with a large number of the impacted
customers receiving compensation payments by the end of December.
e Following a change in Group structure in April 2017, a dedicated Group Regulatory and Conduct Risk Committee was

Definition

Conduct risk is defined as the risk that the
Group and / or its staff conduct business
in an inappropriate or negligent manner
that leads to adverse customer outcomes.

The key conduct risk exposure areas
managed by the Group include the
following:

Customer-focused strategy: The delivery
of fair outcomes for customers forms the
principal consideration of the Group’s
customer-focused strategy. The Group
has no appetite for systemic, unfair and
adverse outcomes for customers.
However, it is acknowledged that there
may be a certain level of risk arising from
the nature of the Group’s operations e.g.
staff and systems dependency, and that
unintended, unfair or adverse outcomes
may occur.

Product & Service Lifecycle Management:
The risk that the design and development
of products and services do not address
customer needs over their lifetime, or fail
to respond to changing customer needs is
addressed via the Group’s Product &
Service Lifecycle Management. It is
acknowledged that there may be a certain
level of risk arising from the nature and
complexity of the product and service
lifecycle.

Governance, culture and people: The risk
that staff do not meet set standards of
behaviour which has a material negative
outcome for stakeholders including
customers, colleagues, shareholders,
suppliers, the Government and regulators
is addressed via the Group’s Governance,
Culture and People component. It is
acknowledged that there may be a certain
level of risk arising from people-
dependent-processes within the Group
e.g. where there is unintentional human
error.

Risk management and measurement
The Group manages conduct risk under
the Group CRMF.

The CRMF specifies the component parts
of the approach used by the Group to
manage its conduct risk exposure. The
CRMF is consistent with the overarching
Group Risk Framework. It sets out the risk
management activities and underlying
enablers (tools, structures and roles)
established by the Group to ensure an
effective, prudent and proportionate
response to its principal Conduct risks.
The risk management activities and
enablers together form a framework for
identifying, measuring, mitigating,
controlling and reporting on the
performance and status of conduct risk
within the Group. A key priority of the
CRMF is the avoidance of systemic unfair
customer outcomes.

The CRMF comprises the following risk

management activities, namely:

e conduct risk management approach;

e conduct risk governance;

e key metrics and risk indicators;

e conduct risk policy development and
policy compliance; and

e guidance and training.

While the structure of the CRMF is
intended to remain relatively constant over
time, specific initiatives are pursued in
respect of risk management activities and
the underlying enablers to ensure the
CRMF:

e remains fit for purpose;

e s aligned with business and strategic
objectives, and the Board’s approved
appetite; and

® isresponsive to regulatory
developments and relevant external
events and changes.

In particular, the Group seeks to ensure
that its conduct risk management
practices comply with any specific
conduct risk related obligations arising
within the jurisdictions in which it
operates. On an annual basis, the Board
approves the Group RAS, which
incorporates statements for all material
risks, including conduct risk.

Risk mitigation

The primary risk mitigants for conduct risk
are the clearly defined expected standards
of behaviour, including accountabilities
and management processes. These are
detailed in the Group Code of Conduct to
which all management and staff must
adhere to and affirm annually. A Speak Up
Policy is also in place and this sets out the
steps staff can take to raise any concerns
they might have of wrongdoing, risk or
malpractice in the Group. The Group has
put in place a training programme across
the Group to support staff and
management in this regard.

Risk reporting

The current status of conduct risk is
reported to senior executives and Board
members through the Court Risk Report
on a monthly basis. The Group Head of
Compliance and Regulatory Risk reports
to the GRCRC on the status of conduct
risk in the Group, including the progress of
associated risk mitigation initiatives,
issues and breaches, and significant
regulatory interactions on a quarterly
basis.
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Risk Management Report

Key points:

for derivatives.

established.

e During 2017, supervisory bodies focused on the key areas of business model and profitability risk, credit risk, impairment
provisioning (IFRS 9), credit risk modelling, capital adequacy, business continuity management and operational risk. In
addition, new legislation came into effect including the Market Abuse Regulation, the Lending to SME Regulation, the Access
to Payments Accounts Directive and, under the European Market Infrastructure Regulation, a new central clearing obligation

e Programmes continued / were established in the Group during the year to continue preparations for the significant regulatory
change agenda over coming years, including the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive / Markets in Financial Instruments
Regulation, the Regulation on the Collection of Granular Credit and Credit Risk Data (AnaCredit), the GDPR and the PSD2.

e The heavy regulatory and compliance agenda is expected to continue in 2018. The Group will maintain its focus on continuing
compliance with the existing regulatory requirements of the jurisdictions in which it operates.

e Regulators conduct investigations and examinations on an industry wide basis from time to time.

e Engagement with the Group’s regulators in 2017 included matters such as Targeted Review of Internal Models (TRIM), Tracker
Mortgage Examination and Anti Money Laundering (AML).

e Following a change in Group structure in April 2017, a dedicated Group Regulatory and Conduct Risk Committee was

Definition

Regulatory risk is the risk of failure to meet
new or existing regulatory and / or
legislative requirements and deadlines or
to embed requirements into processes.
Underpinned by strong engagement with
regulatory stakeholders, regulatory risk
comprises regulatory compliance risk,
corporate governance risk, regulatory
change risk and financial crime risk.

Regulatory change risk is the risk that
changes to existing or new laws /
regulations / codes / guidance applicable
to the Group are not effectively addressed
and the risk that the Group fails to take
timely and remedial actions.

Regulatory compliance risk is the current
or prospective risk to earnings and capital
arising from violations or non-compliance
with laws, rules, regulations, agreements,
prescribed practices or ethical standards
which can lead to fines, damages and / or
the violating of contracts and can diminish
an institution’s reputation.

Corporate governance risk is the risk of
loss arising from inappropriate corporate
governance structures, authorities or
activities leading to incorrect or improper
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business decisions, or regulatory / legal
sanctions.

Financial crime risk is the risk that the
measures adopted by the Group to
prevent and detect money laundering,
terrorist financing or sanctions evasion are
not effective and / or do not meet
regulatory expectations.

Risk management and measurement
The Group manages regulatory risk under
the Group Risk Framework. The
framework identifies the Group’s formal
governance process around risk, including
its framework for setting risk appetite and
its approach to risk identification,
assessment, measurement, management
and reporting. This is implemented by
accountable executives and monitored by
the GRCRC, the GRPC, the BRC and
Board in line with the overall Group risk
governance structure outlined on pages
50 to 52. The effective management of
regulatory risk is primarily the
responsibility of business management
and is supported by the Group
Compliance and Regulatory Risk (GCRR)
function.

As detailed in the Group’s RAS, the Group
has no appetite to knowingly breach any
of its regulatory obligations. However, it
acknowledges that instances may occur
as a consequence of being in business.
The Group has therefore established an
approach to ensure the identification,
assessment, monitoring, management and
reporting of these instances. The Group
also undertakes risk based regulatory and
compliance monitoring.

Risk mitigation

Risk mitigants include the early
identification, appropriate assessment and
measurement and reporting of risks. The
primary risk mitigants for regulatory risk
are the existence of appropriate controls
in place throughout the business.

Risk reporting

The current status of regulatory risk is
reported to senior executives and Board
members through the Court Risk Report
on a monthly basis. The Group Head of
Compliance and Regulatory Risk reports
to the GRCRC on the status of regulatory
risk in the Group, including the status of
the top regulatory risks, the progress of
risk mitigation plans, issues and breaches,
and significant regulatory interactions.



3.7  Operational risk

Risk Management Report

Key points:

e The cost of remediation arising from the Central Bank of Ireland Tracker Mortgage Examination impacted the operational risk
losses of the Group resulting in these being significantly above the historical average.

e Throughout 2017, the Group focused on overseeing the development and embedding of operational risk standards and
practices and maintained constructive engagements with supervisors. It continued to ensure it is in a position to meet its
regulatory obligations including fulfilling specified risk mitigation requirements within expected timeframes.

e [n 2018, the Group will continue to make substantial investment in its IT systems and given the risk attendant to any large
transformation programme, there is continued focus to ensure the sustainability and integrity of the Group’s operations.

e Following a change in Group structure in April 2017, a dedicated Group Operational Risk Committee (GORC) was established.

Definition

Operational risk is defined as the risk of
loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems,
or from external events. This includes
business continuity, information security,
unauthorised trading, fraud, sourcing,
cyber-crime, payments, and information
technology risk.

Risk management

The Group faces operational risks in the
normal pursuit of its business objectives.
The primary goals of operational risk
management and assurance are ensuring
the sustainability and integrity of the
Group’s operations and the protection of
its reputation by controlling, mitigating or
transferring the impact of operational risk.

Operational risk cannot be fully eliminated.

The Group has established a formal
approach to the management of
operational risk in the form of an
‘Operational Risk Management
Framework’ which defines the Group’s
approach to identifying, assessing,
managing, monitoring and reporting the
operational risks which may impact the
achievement of the Group’s business
objectives.

This framework outlines, inter alia the

following:

e formulation and dissemination of a
Group Operational Risk Policy
specifying the risk management
obligations of management and staff
within the Group;

e establishment of organisational
structures for the oversight,
monitoring and management of
operational risk throughout the Group;
and

e embedding formal operational risk
management processes and
standards within business and support
units throughout the Group.

Operational risk policy

The Group’s exposure to operational risk
is governed by policy formulated by the
GORC in accordance with the Board’s risk
appetite and is approved by the BRC
within the overall Group risk governance
structure outlined on pages 50 to 52.

Risk assessment

A systematic identification and
assessment of the operational risks faced
by the Group is a core component of the
Group’s overall operational risk
framework. This is known as the Risk and
Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) and is a
framework for capturing, measuring and
managing operational risk as well as
providing a mechanism for the consistent
identification, monitoring, reviewing,
updating and reporting of risks throughout
the Group. A key element of this process
is the categorisation of risks by taxonomy.

Risk mitigation and transfer

In addition to business unit risk mitigation
initiatives, the Group implements specific
policies and risk mitigation measures for
key operational risks including, but not

limited to, fraud, outsourcing, technology
and business disruption risks. This
strategy is further supported by risk
transfer mechanisms such as the Group’s
insurance programme, whereby selected
risks are reinsured externally.

The Group’s total capital requirement
arising from operational risk is covered by
the Pillar | regulatory capital, calculated
using the Standardised Approach (TSA),
and the Pillar Il capital add-on, calculated
using an internal model based on the
outputs of the scenario analysis
programme as part of the ICAAP process.

Risk reporting

The current status of operational risk is
reported to senior executives and the
Board through the Court Risk Report on a
monthly basis.

At least four times a year, the Head of
Group Operational Risk reports to the
GORC on the status of operational risk in
the Group, including the status of the top
operational risks, the progress of risk
mitigation initiatives and programmes,
significant loss events, and the nature,
scale and frequency of overall losses.
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Risk Management Report

Key points:

e On an annual basis, the Board reviews the Group’s strategic objectives and key underlying assumptions to confirm that the
strategic shape and focus of the Group remains appropriate.

e The Group continues to effectively manage a range of programmes including the Core Banking Transformation Programme and
other ongoing investment in its infrastructure, complying with the evolving regulatory environment whilst continuing to invest in
improving resilience, efficiencies and customer experience across channels.

e Ongoing impact of quantitative easing on bond yields, official interest rates and discount rates, together with the slow
conversion of Irish economic activity into credit formation, causes challenges and risk.

e Economic growth in core markets of Ireland and UK remain positive, notwithstanding ongoing uncertainties related to Brexit.

Definition

Business and strategic risk assesses;

() the Group’s current business model
on the basis of its ability to generate
acceptable returns, given its
quantitative performance, key success
drivers and dependencies, and
business environment; and

(i) the sustainability of the Group’s
strategy on the basis of its ability to
generate acceptable returns based on
its strategic plans and financial
forecasts, and an assessment of the
business environment.

It includes the risk that the Group fails to
develop or to execute successful
strategies to deliver acceptable returns in
the context of the economic, competitive,
regulatory / legal and interest rate
environments that arise.

Risk management, measurement and
reporting

Divisions and business units are
responsible for delivery of their business
plans and management of such factors as
pricing, sales and loan volumes, operating
expenses and other factors that may
introduce earnings volatility. Business,
divisional and portfolio strategy is
developed within the boundaries of the
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Group’s strategy as well as the Group’s
RAS. These strategies are approved by
business divisional CEOs and presented
to the Board on an annual basis.

Monitoring of business and strategic risk
is performed on a divisional basis, and
measured quarterly, with a scorecard
addressing movements in key indicators
around income diversification, margin
trends, customer advocacy, direct and
indirect costs, and staff turnover. In
addition to this, business and strategic
risk is evaluated through quarterly updates
in the Court Risk Report which is reviewed
by the GRPC, the BRC and the Board. The
key dimensions evaluated within business
and strategic risk are;
e the strength of the Group's returns;
e appropriate strategic plan and
financial projections;
e strength of the Group’s competitive
position; and
e management capability, technology
capability and resource availability.

The Group also reviews business and
strategic risk as part of the annual risk
identification process. In addition there is
an annual review of business and strategic
risk to ensure that the Board is
comfortable with the processes in place to

manage business and strategic risk and
that residual risk is within the Group’s risk
appetite.

Risk mitigation

The Group mitigates business risk through
business planning methods, such as the
diversification of revenue streams, cost
base management and oversight of
business plans, which are informed by
expectations of the external environment
and the Group’s strategic priorities.

At an operational level, the Group’s annual
budget process sets expectation at a
business unit level for lending volumes,
margins and costs. The tracking of actual
and regularly forecasted volumes, margins
and costs against budgeted levels is a key
financial management process in the
mitigation of business risk.

In the case of strategic risk, this risk is
mitigated through regular updates to the
Board on industry developments, the
macroeconomic environment and
associated trends which may impact the
Group’s activities, review of the
competitive environment and strategies at
a divisional and business unit level.




3.9 Pension risk

Risk Management Report

Key points:

e Defined benefit pension funds are subject to market fluctuations, and interest rate and inflation risks, thus a level of volatility is
associated with DB pension funding.

e In order to further address this volatility, a review of the Group sponsored DB pension schemes was initiated and completed in
2013. The resulting proposals arising from the review were accepted by employee members of the main DB scheme, the Bank
of Ireland Staff Pensions Fund (BSPF).

e These proposals have now been implemented for the BSPF. Similar proposals were implemented for two other Group DB
schemes during 2014 and a third scheme in 2015.

e Further liability and risk management exercises have continued in 2017 and will be considered on an ongoing basis in 2018.
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Definition

Pension risk is the risk in the Group DB
pension schemes that the assets are
inadequate or fail to generate returns that
are sufficient to meet the schemes’
liabilities. This risk crystallises for the
sponsor when a deficit emerges of a size
which implies a material probability that
the liabilities will not be met.

Risk management, measurement and
reporting

The Group sponsors a number of DB
pension schemes for past and current
employees. At 31 December 2017, the
Group’s net IAS 19 pension deficit was
€0.5 billion (2016: €0.4 billion) (see note
44). The investment policy pursued to
meet the schemes’ estimated future
liabilities is a matter for the Trustees and
the schemes’ Investment Committees.
The Group, as sponsor, has an
opportunity to communicate its views on
investment strategy to the Trustees and
receives regular updates including
scenario analysis of pension risk.

The Board receives monthly updates on
movements in assets, liabilities and the
size of the deficit and also more detailed
quarterly updates through the Court Risk
Report. In addition, there is an annual
review of pension risk to ensure that the
Board is satisfied with the processes in
place to manage the risk and that residual
risk is within the Group’s risk appetite.

Risk mitigation

In order to mitigate pension risk, a new
hybrid scheme was introduced in 2007 for
all new entrants (see note 44) and the DB
schemes were closed to new entrants. A
defined contribution scheme was
introduced during 2014 for all new
employees and the hybrid scheme was
closed to new entrants.

In 2010, the Group carried out an
extensive pensions review in order to
address the pension deficit by a
combination of benefit restructuring and
additional employer contributions over a
period of time to 2017.

In 2013, a further review, which also
incorporated benefit restructuring, was
carried out which reduced the pension
deficit and is expected to further reduce
the deficit through additional employer
financial support in the period from 2016
to 2020. This additional financial support
will broadly match the deficit reduction as
a result of the benefit restructuring.

Volatility and interest rate exposure was
further reduced in 2014 when the Group
agreed with the Trustees to transfer 20%
of the listed equity portfolio to bonds.
Further liability and risk management
exercises continued in 2017 and are
considered on an ongoing basis.
Nevertheless, a deficit still exists and as
the pension funds are subject to market
fluctuations, interest rate and inflation
risks, a level of volatility associated with
IAS 19 pension deficits (see note 44) and
their impact on the Group’s capital ratios
remains.
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Risk Management Report

3.10 Reputation risk

Key points:

influence reputation.

Group’s reputation, include:

and entrepreneurs; and

as appropriate.

- continuing to be the largest lender to the Irish economy in 2017;
- the Group’s Enterprise & Innovation programme which supports enterprise development including support for start-ups

- publication of the Group’s Responsible Business Report.
e Some events in 2017 had a negative impact on the Group’s reputation including the Central Bank of Ireland’s Tracker Mortgage
Examination, changes to services within the Bank’s retail branch network, and a settlement agreement between the Central
Bank of Ireland and Bank of Ireland in relation to AML contraventions. Reputational issues were carefully and intensively
managed through the identification of potential risks and the deployment of communication strategies to mitigate these risks,

e The Group’s reputation continues to be influenced and shaped by a range of factors; macroeconomic and political
environment, media and public commentary and general sector developments. More specifically, the Group’s decisions and
actions in pursuit of its strategic and tactical business objectives and their interaction with the external environment will

e Within this context, actions and achievements of the Group over the past 12 months that have impacted positively on the

Definition

Reputation risk is defined as the risk to
earnings or franchise value arising from
adverse perception of the Group’s image
on the part of customers, suppliers,
counterparties, shareholders, investors,
staff, legislators, regulators or partners.

This risk typically materialises through a
loss of business in the areas affected.
Reputation is not a standalone risk but
overlaps with other risk areas and may
often arise as a consequence of external
events or operational risk related issues.

Risk management, measurement and
reporting

Group Communications is the primary
function responsible for managing
reputation risk in the Group. With the
exception of certain specific
communications to, for example, investors
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and regulators, Group Communications
manages all external and internal
communications, stakeholder and
government relations, and CSR, helping to
reinforce the Group’s reputation with its
employees, customers, government,
general public and the wider community.
Reputation risk indicators are tracked on
an ongoing basis.

These indicators are:

e media monitoring;

e market trends and events;

e stakeholder engagement; and

® monitoring risk events which may
have the potential to impact Group
reputation.

The Group reviews reputation risk as part
of the annual risk identification process
and has a Group Reputation Risk Policy in
place.

Quarterly updates are reported to the
GRPC, the BRC and the Board as part of
the Court Risk Report. In addition, there is
an annual review of reputation risk to
ensure that the BRC is comfortable with
the processes in place to manage
reputation risk and that residual risk is
within the Group’s risk appetite.

Risk mitigation

A wide range of processes and structures
are used to identify, assess and mitigate
the potential risk to the Group’s
reputation. Managing the Group in a
manner that ensures that the potential
impact on the Group’s reputation is taken
into account in decision making is
paramount in mitigating against reputation
risk.




Risk Management Report

w

(o

@,

=3

®

: 7]

4 Capital management e
.......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... =z
=

Key points: g

e CET 1 ratio is 15.8% under regulatory rules at 31 December 2017.

e Following the 2017 SREP, the Group will be required to maintain a minimum CET 1 ratio of 8.625% on a regulatory basis from 1
January 2018.
- Includes a Pillar | requirement of 4.5%, a Pillar Il requirement (P2R) of 2.25% and a capital conservation buffer for 2018 of

1.875%

- Pillar Il guidance (P2G) is not disclosed in accordance with regulatory preference

e The Group expects to maintain a CET 1 ratio in excess of 13% on a regulatory basis and on a fully loaded basis at the end of
the O-SlI phase-in period. This includes meeting applicable regulatory capital requirements plus an appropriate management

buffer.

e Total capital ratio is 20.2% under regulatory rules at 31 December 2017.
e On a fully loaded basis, the CET 1 ratio is 13.8% at 31 December 2017.
e Leverage ratio is 7.0% on a regulatory basis and 6.2% on a fully loaded basis as at 31 December 2017.

Capital management objectives and
policies (audited)

The objectives of the Group’s capital
management policy are to ensure that the
Group has sufficient capital to cover the
risks of its business and support its
strategy and at all times to comply with
regulatory capital requirements. It seeks to
minimise refinancing risk by managing the
maturity profile of non-equity capital whilst

the currency mix of capital is managed to
ensure that the sensitivity of capital ratios
to currency movements is minimised. The
capital adequacy requirements set by the
SSM / ECB and economic capital based
on internal models are used by the Group
as the basis for its capital management.
The Group seeks to maintain sufficient
capital to ensure that these requirements
are met.

Capital resources

The following table sets out the Group’s capital resources.

Restated’
2017 2016

Group capital resources €m €m
Shareholders’ equity 8,859 8,678
Other equity instruments - 740
Non-controlling interests - equity 808 1
Total equity 9,667 9,419
Undated subordinated loan capital 122 159
Dated subordinated loan capital 1,985 1,266
Total capital resources 11,774 10,844

The current status of capital adequacy,
including risk dashboards and risk
appetite compliance, is reported to senior
executives and the Board through the
Court Risk Report on a monthly basis.

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s total
capital resources of €11.8 billion were €1.0
billion higher than 2016 primarily due to:

e the issuance of Stg£300 million and
US$500 million Tier 2 capital with a
maturity of ten years; and

e attributable profit generated during the
year and movements in other
comprehensive income.

Further details of the Group’s capital position and the management thereof can be found in the capital section of the Operating and

financial review.

T Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the voluntary change in the Group’s accounting policy for Life assurance operations which has resulted in an
increase in the 2016 shareholders’ equity of €17 million. See note 62 on page 229 for further detail.
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Board of Directors

Archie G Kane (65)
Chairman

Appointed:
June 2012 (5.5 years)

Independent:
On Appointment

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Archie retired from Lloyds Banking Group plc in May 2011, where he was Group Executive Director -
Insurance and Scotland. Prior to that, he held a number of senior and general management positions with
Lloyds Banking Group plc and TSB Bank plc. He was Chair of the Association of British Insurers and
Chair of the Association of Payments and Clearing Services. He is a former member of the UK Takeover
Panel, the Financial Services Global Competitiveness Group, the Insurance Industry Working Group, HM
Treasury Financial Services Committee, the Financial Services Advisory Board - Government of Scotland
and TheCityUK Advisory Council. Archie has extensive experience of the financial services industry,
having spent more than twenty five years in various senior commercial, strategic and operational roles in
Lloyds Banking Group plc and TSB Bank plc. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
Scotland (ICAS).

Committee Membership:
Chair of the Nomination and Governance Committee and member of the Remuneration Committee since
June 2012 (5.5 years).

External Appointments:

Non-executive Director of Melrose Industries plc, where he is a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nominations Committee. Trustee of the Stratford-Upon-Avon Literary
Festival.

Kent Atkinson (72)
Non-executive Director

Appointed:
January 2012 (6 years)

Independent:
Yes

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Kent was Group Finance Director of Lloyds TSB Group between 1994 and 2002. Prior to that, he held a
number of senior executive appointments in Retail Banking with Lloyds, including Regional Executive
Director for their South East region, and worked for twenty two years in South America and the Middle
East with the Group. In addition to his extensive commercial and financial executive experience in the
financial services industry, Kent has significant experience as a Non-executive Director across a range of
international companies. Previous board appointments include Coca-Cola HBC AG, Cookson Group plc,
Gemalto N.V., Standard Life plc, Telent plc (formerly Marconi plc), UK Asset Resolution Limited and
Millicom International Cellular S.A. Kent has significant experience in governance, risk management and
financial oversight, including in the capacity of Senior Independent Director, Chair of the Audit Committee
of a number of entities, and as a member of Risk, Strategy and Mergers and Acquisitions (M&A),
Remuneration and Nomination Committees.

Committee Membership:

Member of the Audit Committee since January 2012 (6 years) and Chair since April 2012 (6 years).
Member of the Risk Committee since January 2012 (6 years). Member of the Remuneration Committee
since July 2016 (1.5 years).

External Appointments:
None.

Pat Butler (57)
Non-executive Director

Appointed:
December 2011 (6 years)
(Resigned: December 2017)

Independent:
Yes

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Pat is a partner of The Resolution Group, a financial services investment firm specialising in large scale
restructuring. Prior to this he spent twenty five years with McKinsey & Co., where he was a senior Director and
led the firm’s UK Financial Services Practice and its EMEA Retail Banking Practice. At McKinsey & Co., he
advised banks, insurance companies and asset managers in the UK, US, Australia, South Africa, Middle East
and several European countries, as well as a range of companies outside financial services on issues of
strategy, operations, performance improvement and organisation. He is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants
Ireland. Pat has considerable strategic experience in a broad range of industries with an international profile,
and an in-depth strategic and operational knowledge of the European and International Banking sector in
particular. He was a Director of Bank of Ireland (UK) plc until his retirement.

Committee Membership:

Member of the Nomination and Governance Committee and of the Risk Committee from December 2011
to December 2017 (6 years). Member of the Remuneration Committee from October 2013 to December
2017 (4.5 years).

External Appointments:

Non-executive Director of Hikma Pharmaceuticals plc, where he is Chair of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination and Compliance, Responsibility and Ethics Committees. Director of Ardonagh
Group and Chair of the Risk Committee. Director and Chair of Aldermore bank. Governor of the British
Film Institute. Non-executive Director of The Resolution Foundation and Res Media Limited.
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The Board of Directors (continued)

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Tom is a former Secretary General of the Department of Finance and a former member of the Advisory
Committee of the National Treasury Management Agency. He was also formerly a board member of the
Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland and a former member of the Council of the
Economic & Social Research Institute. Tom was nominated as a Director of the Bank by the Minister for
Finance under the terms of the Credit Institutions (Financial Support) Act, 2008 and was not required to
stand for election or regular re-election by shareholders. Tom has extensive experience in the public
service, including at the most senior level in the Department of Finance and representing Ireland at
European Union level. He is a former President of the Institute of Public Administration. He has
experience in finance at a strategic level, financial regulation, fiscal policy and risk management. As a
Tom Considine (73) former Secretary General of the Department of Finance and board member of the Central Bank and
Financial Services Authority, he has broad experience of the wider macroeconomic environment and
related policy issues. He is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Non-executive Director
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Appointed:
January 2009 (9 years)
(Resigned: December 2017)

Committee Membership:
Member of the Risk Committee from July 2009 to December 2017 (8.5 years) and Chair until July 2016 (7
years). Member of the Audit Committee from January 2009 to December 2017 (9 years).

Independent: i
No External Appointments:

None.

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Richard held the role of Group Chief Risk Officer and Director at Standard Chartered Bank, where he was
a member of the Group Executive Committee, prior to which he held the role of Chief Operating Officer,
Wholesale Banking Division. Before joining Standard Chartered in 2002, he held senior executive
positions with Old Mutual Financial Services in the U.S., UBS Warburg / SBC Warburg, London and
Switzerland, Astra Holding plc, Bankers Trust Company and the Midland Bank Group, London. Richard
has extensive risk management and executive experience in a number of banks with an international
profile, and brings a strong understanding of banking and banking risks, with a deep knowledge of
operational risk. He is a qualified Chartered Accountant (South Africa), having previously obtained a
Bachelor of Commerce degree and a postgraduate degree in finance from the University of Natal, South

Richard Goulding (58) Africa.
Non-executive Director

Committee Membership:

Appointed: Member of the Risk Committee and Remuneration Committee since July 2017 (0.5 years).

July 2017 (0.5 years) i
External Appointments:

Non-executive Director of Citigroup Global Markets Limited, where he is Chair of the Risk Committee and
a member of the Audit and Remuneration & Nomination Committees. Non-executive Director of Zopa
Group Limited, where he is Chair of the Risk Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

Independent:
Yes

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Patrick is a former CEO of the Viridian Group, having joined Northern Ireland Electricity (NIE) in 1992 as
Chief Executive. He previously worked with the ESB, including as Director - New Business Investment
and also served as a board member of Invest Northern Ireland for a number of years. Patrick is an
experienced CEO who has gained extensive strategic, corporate development and transactional
experience, having led the privatisation of NIE by IPO and grown the business under the new holding
company Viridian through to 2007, positioning the company as the market leader in independent
electricity generation and supply in competitive markets in Ireland, North and South. He is a past director
of Bank of Ireland (UK) plc where he also served as Chair of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee. He was awarded a knighthood in 2008 for services to the electricity
Patrick Haren (67) industry in Northern Ireland. He is a member of the Institute of Directors (UK).

Senior Independent Director;

Non-executive Director Committee Membership:

Member of the Remuneration Committee since January 2012 (6 years) and Chair since May 2015 (2.5
years). Member of the Audit Committee since January 2012 (6 years) and member of the Nomination and

Appointed: . -
Governance Committee since November 2015 (2 years).

January 2012 (6 years)

External Appointments:

Independent: - .
Advisory role to Green Sword Environmental Ltd.

Yes
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The Board of Directors (continued)

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Andrew joined the Group in 2004, prior to which he held a number of senior finance roles with Ulster
Bank, having qualified as a Chartered Accountant with Arthur Andersen. Prior to his appointment as
Group Chief Financial Officer, Andrew held the role of Director of Group Finance. Andrew is an
experienced financial services professional who has held a number of senior finance roles in Bank of
Ireland and Ulster Bank. He has in-depth knowledge of financial reporting and related regulatory and
governance requirements. He is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants Ireland.

&
Committee Membership: <
None. Q
™]
Andrew Keating (47) i . Q
Group Chief Financial External Appom.tments. ) ) 8
Officer: Executive Director Non-executive Director of Irish Management Institute CLG. o}
Appointed:
February 2012 (6 years)
Independent:
No

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Patrick was Chief Executive of Paddy Power plc from 2006 to 2014. He served as an Executive Director
of Paddy Power plc since 2005 and a Non-executive Director since 2004, during which time he served as
Chair of the Audit Committee. He was a member of the Risk Committee of Paddy Power plc from 2006 to
2014. Prior to joining Paddy Power plc, Patrick worked at Greencore Group plc for seven years where he
was Chief Financial Officer and also held a number of senior strategic and corporate development roles.
Patrick also worked with KPMG Corporate Finance in Ireland and the Netherlands and as a strategy
consultant with McKinsey & Co. in London, Dublin and Amsterdam. He was previously a Non-executive
Director of Elan Corporation plc. Patrick has in-depth knowledge of international business, management,
finance, corporate transactions, strategic development and risk management through his involvement in
Patrick Kennedy (48) Paddy Power plc, Elan Corporation plc, Greencore Group plc and McKinsey & Co. He is a Fellow of
Chartered Accountants Ireland.

Deputy Chairman;

Non-executive Director i i
Committee Membership:

Appointed: Member of the Risk Committee since January 2011 (7 years) and Chair since July 2016 (1.5 years).
Member of the Nomination and Governance Committee since September 2014 (3.5 years). Member of the
July 2010 (7.5 years) . . .
Audit Committee since July 2016 (1.5 years).

Independent:

Yes External Appointments:

Chair of Cartrawler, where he is a member of the Audit, Risk, Remuneration and Nomination Committees.

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Davida is a Non-executive Director of Liberbank S.A. and is a former Director of a number of companies,
including CIT Bank Limited, ACE European Group Limited, Europe Arab Bank plc and Mears Group plc,
where she was Chair of the Audit Committee. She was a member of the UK senior management team of
Citigroup’s UK Corporate Bank (1990-2003), which included a period as Regional Head UK and Ireland
for the Banks and Securities business, and a senior manager at Bank of Montreal (1981-1990). Davida
has considerable financial services experience, both as an Executive and Non-executive Director and as
Chair of Audit and Risk Committees in financial services companies. She has extensive non-executive
experience with banking, life assurance and non-financial services companies. She is a Fellow of the
Institute of Directors.

Davida Marston (64)

Non-executive Director Committee Membership:

Member of the Audit Committee since April 2013 (5 years). Member of the Risk Committee from April

Appointed: 2013 to May 2017.

April 2013 (5 years
P Gy ) External Appointments:

Non-executive Director of Liberbank S.A., where she is Chair of the Nomination Committee and a

Independent: h !
member of the Remuneration Committee.

Yes
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The Board of Directors (continued)

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Francesca was appointed Group CEO in October 2017. She joined the Group from HSBC Group, where she
held a number of senior management roles over a twenty year period including Group General Manager and
Regional Head of Retail Banking and Wealth Management, UK and Europe, Regional Head of Retail Banking
and Wealth Management, Middle East and North Africa, and Head of Personal Financial Services, Hong
Kong. Francesca is a very experienced global retail banker, with an exceptional track record, both in terms of
financial performance and her leadership of transformation to drive future results in a range of increasingly
senior banking roles, and in a range of countries and operating structures. She brings to the Board a
leadership style characterised by strong commercial results orientation and a clear strategic vision, with
significant customer empathy. Francesca is a member of the PRA Practitioner Panel. She has previously
served on the Board of the British Bankers’ Association (BBA), where she was Deputy Chair, and on the
Board of the National Centre for Universities and Business in the UK. Francesca has a Bachelor of Arts
Degree in Politics, Philosophy and Economics from Oxford University.

Francesca McDonagh (42)
Group Chief Executive
Officer; Executive Director
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Appointed: Committee Membership:
October 2017 (0.5 years) ~ None.

Independent: External Appointments:
No None.

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Fiona is Group Chief Executive of FBD Holdings plc and FBD Insurance plc, one of Ireland's largest
property and casualty insurers. Prior to this, Fiona served from 2011 to 2014 with the Central Bank of
Ireland including as Director, Credit Institutions and Insurance Supervision. She also spent 17 years of her
career with XL Group in Dublin, London and Bermuda, where she worked in various senior financial
management positions including general insurance responsibilities, corporate treasury and strategic
activities including capital management, rating agency engagement and corporate development. Fiona
has significant experience in governance, regulatory compliance and financial oversight and is an
experienced financial services professional. She has significant previous experience within a financial
institution with an international focus. Fiona has a Bachelor of Arts Degree from University College Dublin
Fiona Muldoon (50) and is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants Ireland.

Non-executive Director i i
Committee Membership:

Appointed: Member of the Risk Committee since November 2015 (2.5 years).

June 2015 (2.5 years) .
External Appointments:

Group Chief Executive of FBD Holdings plc and Chief Executive of FBD Insurance plc. Director of

Independent: -
Insurance Ireland (Member Association) CLG.

Yes

Relevant skills, experience and expertise:

Patrick spent much of his career at Goldman Sachs, retiring in 2006 as Global Head of Operations
covering all aspects of Capital Markets Operations, Asset Management Operations and Payment
Operations. He previously held the roles of Co-Controller, Co-Head of Global Controller’s Department,
covering financial / management reporting, regulatory reporting, product accounting and payment
services. He was also a member of the firm’s Risk, Finance and Credit Policy Committees. Patrick has
over twenty years’ experience of international financial services and has held a number of senior
management roles based in London and New York with Goldman Sachs. As a result, he has an in-depth
knowledge of financial and management reporting, regulatory compliance, operational, risk and credit
matters within a significant financial institution with an international focus. Patrick is a Fellow of Chartered
Patrick Mulvihill (55) Accountants Ireland and Associate of the Institute of Directors.

Non-executive Director i i
Committee Membership:

Member of the Audit Committee since December 2011 (6 years). Member of the Risk Committee from

Appointed:
December 2011 to May 2017 and from January 2018 to date.

December 2011 (6 years)

External Appointments:
Non-executive Director of International Fund Services (Ireland) Limited. Director of Beachvista Limited.
Director and Chair of Virtu Financial Transaction Services Limited.
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Board and other committees

Senior Independent Director
Patrick Haren

Group Audit Committee (GAC)

Kent Atkinson (Chairman)

Tom Considine (resigned December 2017)
Patrick Haren

Patrick Kennedy

Davida Marston

Patrick Mulvihill

Group Remuneration Committee (GRC)
Patrick Haren (Chairman)

Kent Atkinson

Pat Butler (resigned December 2017)

Archie G Kane

Richard Goulding

Group Nomination and Governance Committee (N&G)

Archie G Kane (Chairman)

Pat Butler (resigned December 2017)
Patrick Haren

Patrick Kennedy

Board Risk Committee (BRC)
Patrick Kennedy (Chairman)

Kent Atkinson

Pat Butler (resigned December 2017)

Tom Considine (resigned December 2017)
Fiona Muldoon

Richard Goulding

Patrick Mulvihill
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Directors who are Trustees of the
Bank of Ireland Staff Pensions Fund (BSPF)

Patrick Kennedy
Patrick Mulvihill

Group Risk Policy Committee (GRPC)
Vincent Mulvey (Chairman)

Sean Crowe
Des Crowley
Tom Fee
Andrew Keating
Lewis Love

Francesca McDonagh

Liam McLoughlin (resigned January 2018)

Peter Morris
Declan Murray
Helen Nolan
Gabrielle Ryan
Michael Torpey

Group Executive

Francesca McDonagh
Donal Collins

Sean Crowe

Des Crowley

Andrew Keating
Lewis Love

Liam McLoughlin (resigned January 2018)
Peter Morris

Vincent Mulvey

Amy Burke

Michael Torpey
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Chief Executive, Corporate and Treasury Division

Bank of Ireland &

9JUBUIBA0K)




(V)
()
=
©
=
A
()
>
@)
Q)

Corporate Governance Statement

Chairman’s introduction

Archie G Kane, Chairman

Dear Shareholder,

| am pleased to present our Corporate
Governance Report for 2017. This report
explains how the Group applies the
principles of good governance.

Establishment of Bank of Ireland Group
plc

The Group was reorganised in 2017,
following notification to the Group by the
Single Resolution Board that a single point
of entry bail-in at group holding company
level was the preferred resolution strategy
for Bank of Ireland Group.

Pursuant to a Scheme of Arrangement,
which was approved by shareholders in
April 2017, BOIG plc, which was
incorporated on 28 November 2016,
became the holding company of the Bank
on 7 July 2017. BOIG plc replaced the
Bank as the main listed entity of the Group
on 10 July 2017.

As part of these changes, the structure of
governance which was in place for the
Bank was replicated at BOIG plc level as
follows:

BOIG plc:

e adopted a Board Governance Policy
similar to that in place for the Bank;

e putin place a delegation of authority
to management, with appropriate
reservations of authority;

e delegated authority to the Group CEO
as CEO of BOIG plc; and

e established committees mirroring
those in place for the Bank.

The existing governance and committee
structure of the Bank has remained in

place throughout 2017, subject to such
amendments as were required by the
establishment of BOIG plc.

The Directors of the Bank, with the
exception of Brad Martin, were appointed
to the board of BOIG plc on 23 March
2017.

As a matter of policy, the Board and main
Committees of BOIG plc and the Court of
the Bank comprise the same Directors,
with Board and Committee meetings for
these companies being held concurrently.
Agendas are split between the boards and
committees of BOIG plc and the Bank,
allowing decisions to be taken and
scrutinised by the appropriate entity.

Unless a distinction is indicated, this
Report describes the activities and
governance practices of the parent entity
of the Group for the financial year ended
31 December 2017 (i.e. the Bank from 1
January to 7 July 2017 and the Company
from that date until 31 December 2017).
Thus, references to attendance at, and
matters considered by, board and
committees reflect the activities at parent
level for the entire financial year of 2017.
For ease of reference, the term ‘Board’
includes ‘Court’, references to Group-level
committees include the equivalent entity
for the Bank, ‘Chairman’ includes
‘Governor’ and so forth.

The Board is accountable to shareholders
for the overall direction and control of the
Group. It is committed to high standards
of governance designed to protect the
long term interests of shareholders and all
other stakeholders while promoting the
highest standards of integrity,
transparency and accountability.

A key objective of the Group’s governance
framework is to ensure compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory
requirements.

Central Bank of Ireland Corporate
Governance Requirements for Credit
Institutions 2015 (the ‘Irish Code’)

The Irish Code imposes statutory
minimum core standards upon all credit
institutions licenced or authorised by the
Central Bank of Ireland (CBI). The

Company’s primary banking subsidiary,
the Bank, was subject to the Irish Code,
(which is available on www.centralbank.ie)
throughout 2017. The Bank is also subject
to the additional requirements of Appendix
1 and Appendix 2 of the Irish Code for
High Impact Designated Institutions, and
Credit Institutions which are deemed
‘Significant’ Institutions (for the purposes
of the CRD V), respectively.

UK Corporate Governance Code

The Company is subject to the UK
Corporate Governance Code 2016
published by the Financial Reporting
Council in the UK (the ‘UK Code’ which is
available on www.frc.org.uk) and the Irish
Corporate Governance Annex to the
Listing Rules of the Irish Stock Exchange
(the ‘Irish Annex’ which is available on
www.ise.ie). The UK Code and the Irish
Annex applied to the Bank until 7 July
2017. Thereafter the Irish Annex and
certain provisions of the UK Code ceased
to apply to the Bank. The Bank has
voluntarily applied the Irish Annex and
those provisions of the UK Code which
ceased to apply to the Bank.

Thank you

| would like to thank each of the Directors
for their commitment and support during
2017. |1 would also like to express the
Board’s sincere appreciation to Richie
Boucher for his contribution towards the
success of the Group as CEO and to Tom
Considine, Pat Butler and Brad Martin for
their contributions to the Group as
Non-executive Directors over the years. |
wish them well in all their future ventures. |
would also like to take this opportunity in
wishing Francesca McDonagh well in
leading the Group into the next phase of
its development.

Looking ahead

| have also informed the Board of my
intention to step down as Chairman during
2018 and, as this my last report to you in
this role, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank you for your support
over the years. The Senior Independent
Director, Mr Patrick Haren is leading the
process to identify my successor.

Archie G Kane
Chairman
23 February 2018
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The Directors believe that the Bank
complied with the provisions of the Irish
Code throughout 2017. The Directors also
believe that the Bank and the Company
complied with the provisions of the UK
Code and the Irish Annex, during the
respective periods in 2017 in which the
UK Code applied to the Bank and the
Company (the ‘relevant periods’), other
than in the following respects:

e As Tom Considine was nominated by
the Minister for Finance under the
terms of the Credit Institutions
(Financial Support) Scheme, 2008 and
was not required to stand for election
or regular re-election by shareholders,
he was not classified as an
independent Non-executive Director.
In accordance with the Bye-Laws of
the Bank and the Constitution of the
Company, Directors nominated by the
Minister for Finance may not serve as
a Director of the Bank or the Company
for a period of longer than nine years
after his or her date of appointment.

Tom Considine was a member of both
the Group Audit Committee and BRC,
which benefited from his judgement
and the quality of his contributions
during 2017. Both Committees
comprise a minimum of three
independent Non-executive Directors
as per provision C.3.1 of the UK Code.

e Provision B.7.1 of the UK Code
recommends annual election of
directors by shareholders. In
accordance with the Bye-Laws of the
Bank and the Constitution of the
Company, Government nominated
Directors are not required to put
themselves up for re-election on an
annual basis and accordingly Tom
Considine was not submitted for
re-election at the Annual General
Court (AGC) held in 2017. Government
nominated Directors are subject to an
annual review of their fitness and
probity.

e Provision D.1.2 of the UK Code states
that where a company releases an
executive director to serve as a
non-executive director elsewhere, the
remuneration report should include a
statement as to whether or not the
director will retain earnings from that
position and if so, what that
remuneration is. For part of the period
during which he was Executive

Director and Group CEO (10 January
2017 to 1 October 2017), Richie
Boucher held the position of
Non-executive Director of Eurobank
Ergasias S.A. (‘Eurobank’) and
retained fees in respect of this position
in accordance with the remuneration
policy of Eurobank. In accordance
with the applicable law governing
Eurobank’s remuneration disclosures,
remuneration of all staff and directors
is publically disclosed on an
aggregate basis only and so the
individual remuneration of directors is
not disclosed.

Details of how the Bank and the Company
applied the main and supporting
principles of the UK Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2017 for the
relevant periods are set out in this
Corporate Governance Report and in the
Remuneration Report. These reports also
cover the disclosure requirements set out
in the Irish Annex, which supplement the
requirements of the UK Code with
additional corporate governance
provisions.

The Group believes it has robust
governance arrangements, which include
a clear organisational structure with well
defined, transparent and consistent lines
of responsibility, effective processes to
identify, manage, monitor and report the
risks to which it is or might be exposed
and appropriate internal control
mechanisms, including sound
administrative and accounting procedures,
IT systems and controls. The system of
governance is subject to regular internal
review.

Directors of the Bank are aware that,
should they have any material concern
about the overall corporate governance of
the Group, it should be reported without
delay to the Court and, should their
concerns not be satisfactorily addressed
within five business days, the Directors
should report the concern to the Central
Bank of Ireland.

The Board’s oversight of risk and control is
supported through delegation of certain
responsibilities to Committees of the
Board, the principal Committees being the
Group Audit Committee, the BRC, the
Group Nomination and Governance
Committee and the Group Remuneration
Committee. Details of these Committees
are set out on pages 93 and 103 to 111.

Corporate Governance Statement

The Chairman of each Committee formally
reports on key aspects of Committee
proceedings to the subsequent scheduled
meeting of the Board and minutes of
principal Committees are tabled at the
Board as soon as possible for noting and /
or discussion as necessary. The terms of
reference of the Committees are reviewed
annually by the relevant Committees and
by the Board and are available on the
Group’s website (www.bankofireland.com)
or by request to the Group Secretary. The
Group’s position on audit tendering is set
out on page 109.

The Board of Directors

Role of the Board

The Board’s role is to provide leadership
of the Group within the boundaries of Risk
Appetite and a framework of prudent and
effective controls which enable risk to be
identified, assessed, measured and
controlled. The Board sets the Group’s
strategic aims and risk appetite to support
the strategy, ensuring that the necessary
financial and human resources are in place
for the Group to meet its objectives. The
Board also reviews management
performance. The Board has a schedule of
matters specifically reserved for its
decision which is reviewed and updated
regularly. Matters requiring Board approval
include:

1. Strategy and risk appetite
e Determination of risk appetite and
approval of the Group’s Risk
Appetite Statement.
e Determination of the Group’s
strategy.

2. Corporate and capital structure

e Approval of CET 1 capital
investments of greater than €20
million in a regulated subsidiary
and €40 million in any other
subsidiary.

e Approval of share issuances by
any Group member to an entity
outside of the Group.

e Approval of equity underwriting of
sums greater than €20 million.

e Approval and payment of
dividends, notwithstanding the
existing legal requirement for
same.

3. Management
e Approval of the Group’s business
plans and budgets.
e Overseeing management of the
business.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

4. Financial and regulatory reporting, e Approval of the Group ICAAP, 5. Transactions
internal controls, risk and capital ILAAP and Recovery Plan. e Approval of acquisitions or
management e Overseeing the internal control divestments of the business or
e Approval of half year report and and risk management systems of assets of any Group member
Annual Report and Accounts. the Group. involving a third party, except for
e Approval of the Group Risk credit management purposes.
Framework. e Approval of guarantees, including
) those in respect of subsidiary
O Matters considered and action taken by the Board in 2017 companies, entered into by a
% - member of the Group, other than
E ‘ Area of focus Role of the Board ‘ in the normal course of business.
[0} e Approval of capital expenditure in
8 Business e Reviewed economic, investor and stakeholder perspectives. excess of €40 million.
o environment e Reviewed Group communications and the external environment. * Approval of Class 1 or Class 2

transactions (each as defined by
the Listing Rules).

e Approval of related party
transactions (as defined by the
Listing Rules) giving rise to an
obligation to issue a shareholder
circular.

* Reviewed the macroeconomic and regulatory environment, including
the implications of Brexit, and the changing international corporate tax
environment.

Group strategy e Approved the Group Risk Appetite and Framework.

and risk appetite e Approved capital strategy, capital optimisation and capital allocation,
and funding and liquidity strategy and policy. Approved a credit risk
transfer programme.

¢ Reviewed divisional and business unit strategies, product strategies
and customer propositions.

e Approved Integrated Plan and Core Banking System updates.

¢ Reviewed and approved Group culture programme.

* Reviewed leadership development and engagement including employee
engagement and succession planning including the approval of the
appointment of a new CEO.

e Considered and approved the Group Resolution Strategy, incorporating
the establishment of a group holding company and reviewed
operational continuity in resolution.

* Approved non-performing exposures strategy.

¢ Approved M&A transactions including the merger of the private banking
business into the main bank, the divestment of IBI Corporate Finance,
the acquisition of loan portfolios and the acquisition of a motor
finance business in the UK.

6. Corporate governance, Board and

other appointments

e Promoting the appropriate culture,
values and ethics of the Group.

e Overseeing corporate governance
and succession planning.

e Approving specified senior
management appointments.

7. Pension scheme
e Approval of all changes to the
funding of pension schemes in the
Group and / or benefits of same.

The Board is responsible for endorsing the
appointment of individuals who may have
a material impact on the risk profile of the
Group and monitoring on an ongoing
basis their appropriateness for the role.
The removal from office of the head of a
‘control function’, as defined in the Irish
Code, is also subject to Board approval.

Business e Reviewed the performance of the Group’s business divisions, its major

performance subsidiaries and business units.

¢ Reviewed and approved Group financial performance updates,
forecasts, budgets, dividend policy, capital position, capital allocation
and RAROC performance.

Risk management | ¢ Approved the Group Risk Framework and the Group Contingency
Funding and Contingency Capital Plan.

* Approved key group risk policies, risk mitigation plans and the Group
Recovery Plan.

The Board is responsible for determining
high-level policy and strategic direction in
relation to the nature and scale of risk that
the Group is prepared to assume to
achieve its strategic objectives.

Governance and ¢ Reviewed the Group tracker mortgage redress and compensation

regulatory programme.

e Approved the annual Board effectiveness reviews and Board
succession proposals.

* Approved governance documentation for the group holding company.

e Assessed the fitness and probity and approved the appointment of
pre-approval controlled functions (PCF) role holders. Approved the
annual PCF reconfirmation.

e Approved the appointment of KPMG as external auditors from 2018
following tender process.

* Approved corporate governance matters including group policies and
board / committee terms of reference.

The Board approves the Group Risk
Framework on an annual basis and
receives regular updates on the Group’s
risk environment and exposure to the
Group’s material risk types through a
Court Risk Report reviewed monthly for all
risks. Further information on risk
management and the Board’s role in the
risk governance of the Group is set out in
the Risk Management Report on pages 49
to 55.
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The work of the Board follows an agreed
schedule of topics which evolves based
on business need and is formally reviewed
annually by the Board. The Board
monitors and reviews the performance of
the Group through a series of reports,
receives updates from the Group’s
principal businesses on the execution of
their business strategy and considers
reports from each of the principal Board
Committees. The strategy of the Group
and performance against strategic goals
continued to receive considerable focus
throughout 2017. In addition the matters
considered, and action taken by the Board
during the year are set out in the table on
page 96.

Board size and composition

At close of business on 31 December
2017, the Board comprised ten Directors:
the Chairman, who was independent on
appointment, two Executive Directors and
seven Non-executive Directors, all of
whom have been determined by the Board
to be independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the
requirements of the UK Code and Irish
Code. Brad Martin resigned from the
Board on 28 April 2017, Richie Boucher
resigned from the Board on 1 October
2017, and Pat Butler and Tom Considine
resigned on 31 December 2017. Richard
Goulding was appointed as Non-executive
Director to the Board on 20 July 2017 and
Francesca McDonagh was appointed as
CEO and Executive Director on 2 October
2017. Biographical details, including each
Director’s background, experience and
independence classification, are set out
on pages 89 to 92.

The composition of the Board and its
Committees is reviewed by the Group
Nomination and Governance Committee
and the Board, on an annual basis, to
ensure that there is an appropriate mix of
skills and experience. This includes a
review of tenure, an assessment of the
skills profile of the Board and
consideration of succession for key roles
to ensure the Board and Committees
comprise Directors having a
comprehensive understanding of the
Group’s activities and the risks associated
with them. In addition, where any
appointment or resignation will alter the
overall size of the Board, a review is
undertaken to ensure that the composition
remains appropriate. The Board regards
its current size and composition as
appropriate to provide the broad range of
skills and experience necessary to govern

the business effectively, while enabling full
and constructive participation by all
Directors.

In 2017 the Group completed a review of
the ongoing fitness and probity of persons
in PCFs whereby Directors were asked to
confirm any changes in circumstances in
respect of their compliance with the
Fitness and Probity Standards issued by
the Central Bank of Ireland (the
‘Standards’). Directors of the Bank are
subject to the Standards. All changes in
circumstances disclosed were assessed
and their materiality determined. Time
commitments of Directors were
considered as part of this review process
and Directors confirmed that they
continue to have sufficient time to perform
their roles. The Board concluded that each
of the Directors of the Board has the
requisite standard of fitness, probity and
financial soundness to perform their
functions with reference to the Standards
and provided the required confirmation to
that effect to the Central Bank of Ireland.

Board meetings

The Board held seventeen meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2017,
eleven of which were scheduled meetings.
As part of its oversight of major
subsidiaries, the Board visited the UK
business including holding one board
meeting in the UK. The Chairman and
Members of the Board, together with their
attendance at Court / Board meetings are
shown below.

Board attendance in 2017:

Eligible
Board meetings to attend  Attended
Archie G Kane* 17 17
Kent Atkinson 17 14
Richie Boucher 13 10
Pat Butler 17 16
Tom Considine 17 17
Richard Goulding 7 6
Patrick Haren** 17 17
Andrew Keating 17 17
Patrick Kennedy*** 17 17
Davida Marston 17 16
Francesca McDonagh 4 4
Bradley Martin 7 5
Fiona Muldoon 17 17
Patrick Mulvihill 17 17

*Chairman
**Senior Independent Director
***Deputy Chairman

Corporate Governance Statement

Further details on the number of meetings
of the Board, its Committees and
attendance by individual Directors are set
out on page 112.

Agendas and papers are circulated prior
to each meeting to provide the Directors
with relevant information to enable them
to discharge fully their duties.

The Group Secretary provides dedicated
support for Directors on any matter
relevant to the business on which they
require advice separately from or
additional to that available in the normal
Board process. The Company has in place
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
in respect of legal actions against its
Directors.
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Term of appointment and re-election of
Directors

Non-executive Directors are normally
appointed for an initial three year term,
with an expectation of a further term of
three years, assuming satisfactory
performance and subject to the needs of
the business, shareholder re-election and
continuing fitness and probity. On
recommendation by the Nomination and
Governance Committee, in order to
maintain continuity and succession on the
Board and its committees, the Board
approved the proposal that Patrick
Kennedy serve for a third term of three
years, starting from the AGC held in April
2017, and that Patrick Haren and Patrick
Mulvihill would be requested to serve for a
third term of three years, starting from the
AGM to be held in April 2018. A rigorous
review of their skills, experience,
independence and knowledge was carried
out and the Board concluded that they
continue to be effective and make a
valuable contribution to the deliberations
of the Board.

A Non-executive Director’s term of office
will not extend beyond nine years in total
unless the Board, on the recommendation
of the Nomination and Governance
Committee, concludes that such
extension is necessary due to exceptional
circumstances. In respect of executive
Directors, no service contract exists
between the Company and any Director
which provides for a notice period from
the Group of greater than one year. None
of the Non-executive Directors has a
contract of service with the Group.
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It is Group practice that, following
evaluation, all Board Directors are subject
to annual re-election by shareholders. All
Directors retired at the AGC held on 28
April 2017, with the exception of Tom
Considine, who was nominated as a
Director by the Minister for Finance. The
requirement to stand for election and
regular re-election was dispensed with for
a Government nominated Director.

The following Directors, being eligible,
offered themselves for re-election and
were re-elected at the AGC in 2017: Kent
Atkinson, Richie Boucher, Pat Butler,
Patrick Haren, Archie G Kane, Andrew
Keating, Patrick Kennedy, Davida
Marston, Fiona Muldoon and Patrick
Mulvihill. Richard Goulding was co-opted
to the Board on 20 July 2017 and
Francesca McDonagh was co-opted to
the Board on 2 October 2017, and will
offer themselves for election at the
forthcoming AGM.

The names of Directors submitted for
election or re-election are accompanied
by sufficient biographical details and any
other relevant information in the AGM
documentation to enable shareholders to
take an informed decision on their
election.

Conflicts of interest

The Board has an approved Conflicts of
Interest Policy which sets out how actual,
potential or perceived conflicts of interest
are to be identified, reported and
managed to ensure that Directors act at all
times in the best interests of the
Company. This policy is reviewed on an
annual basis.

The Group Code of Conduct, which
applies to all employees and Directors of
the Group, clarifies the duty on all
employees to avoid conflicts of interests.
The Code of Conduct is reviewed on an
annual basis and communicated
throughout the Group.

Time commitment

The Group ensures that individual Board
Directors have sufficient time to dedicate
to their duties, having regard to applicable
regulatory limits on the number of
directorships which may be held by any
individual Director. The Company and the
Bank have each been classified as
‘significant institutions’ under the
European Union (Capital Requirements)
Regulations 2014 (the ‘Regulations’).
During the year ended 31 December 2017,
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all Directors were within the directorship
limits set out for significant institutions
under the Regulations.

Chairman, Deputy Chairman, Senior
Independent Director and Group Chief
Executive Officer

The respective roles of the Chairman and
the Group CEO, which are separate, are
set out in writing and have been agreed by
the Board. The Chairman oversees the
operation and effectiveness of the Board,
including ensuring that agendas cover the
key strategic items confronting the Group
and encouraging all Directors to
participate fully in the discussions and
activities of the Board. He also ensures
that there is effective communication with
shareholders and promotes compliance
with corporate governance standards. The
Chairman commits a substantial amount
of time to the Group and his role has
priority over any other business
commitment. The Chairman was
appointed as a Non-Executive Director to
Melrose Industries plc during the year
ended 31 December 2017. During the
year, the Chairman and Non-executive
Directors met without the executive
Directors present, to discuss a range of
business matters.

The Deputy Chairman deputises for the
Chairman as required and is a Trustee of
the BSPF.

The ‘Senior Independent Director’ (SID)
provides Board members, the Group
Secretary, shareholders and customers
with an additional channel, other than the
Chairman or the Group CEO, through
which to convey, should the need so arise,
concerns affecting the Chairmanship or
the Board, or any other issue.

The Group CEO is responsible for
execution of approved strategy, holds
delegated authority from the Board for the
day to day management of the business
and has ultimate executive responsibility
for the Group’s operations, compliance
and performance. Procedures are in place
to review the Group Chief Executive’s
contract at least every five years.

Balance and independence

The independence status of each Director
on appointment is considered by the
Board. In addition, the independence
status of each Director is reviewed on an
annual basis to ensure that the
determination regarding independence
status remains appropriate. In 2017, the

Board considered the principles relating to
independence contained in the Irish Code
and the UK Code and concluded that the
previously determined independence
status of each Director was appropriate.
Specifically, the Board concluded that the
Chairman was independent on
appointment (as Governor of the Bank),
and that each current Non-executive
Director, is independent within the
meaning of the Irish Code and the UK
Code.

Each of the Chairman, Deputy Chairman
and all of the Non-executive Directors
bring independent challenge and
judgement to the deliberations of the
Board through their character, objectivity
and integrity.

Appointments to the Board

The Board is committed to identifying the
people best qualified and available to
serve on the Board and is responsible for
the appointment of Directors. The Board
plans for its own renewal with the
assistance of the Nomination and
Governance Committee which regularly
reviews Board composition tenure and
succession planning. In accordance with
the Director Assessment Policy and Board
Diversity Policy, all appointments are
made on merit against objective criteria
(including the skills and experience the
Board as a whole requires to be effective)
with due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Prior to the appointment of a Director, the
Nomination and Governance Committee
approves a job specification, assesses the
time commitment involved and identifies
the skills and experience required for the
role, having regard to the formal
assessment of the skills profile of the
Board and succession planning. The
recruitment process for Non-executive
Directors is supported by an experienced
third party professional search firm which
develops an appropriate pool of
candidates and provides independent
assessments of the candidates. The
Group then works with that firm to
shortlist candidates, conduct interviews /
meetings (including meetings with
members of the Nomination and
Governance Committee and the Board)
and complete comprehensive due
diligence. In accordance with the Director
Assessment Policy of the Board, the
assessment process and the due diligence
completed is extensive and includes
self-certification confirmations of probity
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and financial soundness and external
checks involving a review of various
publicly available sources. The Nomination
and Governance Committee makes a
recommendation to the Board, with the
Board satisfying itself as to the
candidate’s ability to devote sufficient time
to the role, independence, fitness and
probity, and assessing and documenting
its consideration of possible conflicts of
interests. Appointments will not proceed
where conflicts emerge which are
significant to the overall work of the
Board.

The processes described above were
followed in the selection and appointment
of Richard Goulding and Francesca
McDonagh to the Board in 2017. Russell
Reynolds and Egon Zehnder, two external
search consultancy firms, which also
assist with executive searches for the
Group, were engaged, to assist with the
appointments of Richard Goulding and
Francesca McDonagh respectively.

Archie G Kane has signalled his intention
to retire from the Board in 2018. The
Board is also considering the appointment
of two additional Non-executive Directors
in 2018.

All newly-appointed Directors are provided
with a comprehensive letter of
appointment detailing their responsibilities
as Directors, the terms of their
appointment and the expected time
commitment for the role. A copy of the
standard terms and conditions of
appointment of Non-executive Directors
can be inspected during normal business
hours by contacting the Group Secretary.
Directors are required to devote adequate
time to the business of the Group, which
includes attendance at regular meetings
and briefings, preparation time for
meetings and visits to business units. In
addition, Non-executive Directors are
normally required to sit on at least one
Board Committee, which involves the
commitment of additional time. Certain
Non-executive Directors, such as the
Deputy Chairman, Senior Independent
Director and Committee Chairmen, are
required to allocate additional time in
fulfilling those roles.

Induction and professional
development

On appointment, all new Directors receive
a comprehensive induction programme
designed to familiarise them with the
Group’s operations, management and

governance structures, including the
functioning of the Board and the role of
the key committees. In addition, new
Directors undertake significant induction in
relation to risk and business matters,
including visits to or presentations by
Group businesses and briefings with
senior management. Further meetings are
arranged as required based on the
particular circumstances of each Director.

On an ongoing basis, briefings appropriate
to the business of the Group are provided
to all Non-executive Directors. In order to
ensure that the Directors continue to
further their understanding of the issues
facing the Group, Directors are provided
with professional development sessions
and briefings on a range of technical
matters, tailored to their particular
requirements. During the year ended 31
December 2017, the modules attended by
Directors included ‘deep dives’ on specific
business areas; International Corporate
Tax Environment; Brexit; Business
Reviews on Youth markets and People;
Group Communications; IFRS 9;
Cybercrime; the Operational Risk
Management System; Retail Banking UK;
Wealth Management; Global Markets
Strategy and Markets: Group Culture; and
Rol Mortgages. Directors are also offered
the option of attending suitable external
educational courses, events or
conferences designed to provide an
overview of current issues of relevance to
Directors.

The Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Group Secretary, who
is responsible for advising the Board on all
governance issues and for ensuring that
the Directors are provided with relevant
information on a timely basis to enable
them to consider issues for decision and
to discharge their oversight
responsibilities. The Directors also have
access to the advice of the Group Legal
Adviser and to independent professional
advice, at the Group’s expense, if and
when required. Committees of the Board
have similar access and are provided with
sufficient resources to undertake their
duties.

Performance evaluation

There is a formal process in place for
annual evaluation of the Board’s own
performance, and that of its principal
Committees and of individual Directors
(including the Chairman). An evaluation of
the performance of the Board and its
Committees is conducted every year, with
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an externally facilitated review conducted
at least every third year. The objective of
these evaluations is to review past
performance with the aim of identifying
any opportunities for improvement,
determining whether the Board /
Committee as a whole is effective in
discharging its responsibilities and, in the
case of individual Directors, to determine
whether each Director continues to
contribute effectively and to demonstrate
commitment to the role.

Board evaluation

Following an external evaluation in 2016

by Independent Audit Ltd, internal

evaluations were conducted for 2017. This

comprehensive self-evaluation process,

which was led by the Chairman and

supported by the Group Secretary,

considered overall performance relative to

the role of the Board and consisted of:

e completion of written evaluations by
each Director;

e one to one discussions between the
Chairman and each Director; and

e discussion by the Board of the
assessment and recommendations for
change or improvement.

The outcome of the Board evaluation was
considered by the Nomination and
Governance Committee and collectively
discussed by the Board. The Board
concluded that it continues to be effective.

Committee evaluations

The Chairman of each principal Board
Committee led the self-evaluation process
in respect of Committee performance. The
process was supported by the completion
of questionnaires tailored to each specific
Committee. The results of this process
were considered by each individual
Committee with conclusions and any
relevant recommendations reported to the
Board. The Board concluded that each of
its principal Committees continues to be
effective.

Director evaluations

The annual individual Director

performance evaluation was led by the

Chairman and involved:

e the circulation of tailored
questionnaires to Directors;

e one to one discussions between the
Chairman and each Director;

e consideration of the findings by the
Nomination and Governance
Committee; and

e presentation of the overall findings to
the Board for consideration.
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The Board concluded that each individual
Director continues to make a valuable
contribution to the deliberations of the
Board, continues to be effective and
demonstrates continuing commitment to
the role.

Chairman evaluation

The SID leads the process of evaluation of
the Chairman’s performance, based on
written submissions and one to one
discussions with each Director. The SID
presents the results of these assessments
to the Group Nomination and Governance
Committee and the Board for discussion,
without the Chairman being present. The
SID then meets the Chairman to present
him with the Board’s conclusions on his
effectiveness. The SID also meets
individual Directors on such other
occasions as are deemed appropriate.

The Board concluded that the Chairman
continues to lead the Board effectively,
continues to make a valued contribution
and demonstrates continuing commitment
to the role.

Directors’ loans

The Companies Act, IAS 24 ‘Related party
disclosures’ and a condition imposed on
the Bank’s licence by the Central Bank of
Ireland in August 2009 require the
disclosure in the Annual Report of
information on transactions between the
Bank and its Directors and their
connected persons. The amount of
outstanding loans to Directors (and
relevant loans to connected persons) is
set out on pages 207 to 211.

A condition imposed on the Bank’s licence
by the Central Bank of Ireland in May 2010
requires the Bank to maintain a register of
loans to Directors and relevant loans to
their connected persons, which is updated
quarterly and is available for inspection by
shareholders on request for a period of
one week following quarterly updates. The
Group’s process for ensuring compliance
with the Central Bank of Ireland’s Code of
Practice on Lending to Related Parties as
amended (‘Related Party Lending Code’)
has been in place since 1 January 2011
and is subject to regular review. A Related
Party Lending Committee of the Court is
in place which is authorised to review and
approve lending to Related Parties as
more particularly defined in the Related
Party Lending Code.
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Accountability and audit

The Report of the Directors, including a
going concern statement and a viability
statement, is set out on page 114. This
Corporate Governance Statement forms
part of the Report of the Directors.

Internal controls

The Directors acknowledge their overall
responsibility for the Group’s systems of
internal control and for reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed
to ensure that there are thorough and
regular evaluations of the nature and
extent of risks and the ability of the Group
to react accordingly. Such systems are
designed to control, rather than eliminate,
the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss. Such
losses could arise because of the nature
of the Group’s business in undertaking a
wide range of financial services that
inherently involves varying degrees of risk.

The Group’s overall control systems

include:

e aclearly defined organisation structure
with defined authority limits and
reporting mechanisms to higher levels
of management and to the Board,
which support the maintenance of a
strong control environment;

e athree lines of defence approach to
the management of risk across the
Group: line management in individual
businesses and relevant Group
functions; central risk management
functions; and Group Internal Audit;

e Board and Management Committees
with responsibility for core policy
areas;

e aset of policies and processes
relating to key risks; business and
strategic risk, conduct risk, credit risk,
funding and liquidity risk, life
insurance risk, market risk, operational
risk, pension risk, regulatory risk and
reputation risk (further details are
given in the Risk Management Report
on pages 42 to 87);

e monthly reporting by business units
which enables progress against
business objectives to be monitored,
trends to be evaluated and variances
to be acted upon by the Board and
relevant subsidiary Boards;

e regular meetings of the senior
management teams, where the
executive Directors and other senior

executives responsible for running the
Group’s businesses, amongst other
matters, review performance and
explore strategic and operational
issues;

e reconciliation of data consolidated
into the Group’s financial statements
to the underlying financial systems. A
review of the consolidated data is
undertaken by management to ensure
that the financial position and results
of the Group are appropriately
reflected, through compliance with
approved accounting policies and the
appropriate accounting for non-routine
transactions; and

e a Code of Conduct setting out the
standards expected of all Directors,
officers and employees in driving an
appropriate, transparent risk culture.
This covers arrangements, should the
need arise, for the independent
investigation and follow up of any
concerns raised by staff regarding
matters of financial and non-financial
reporting.

The Group operates a comprehensive
internal control framework over financial
reporting with documented procedures
and guidelines to support the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements.
The main features are as follows:

e acomprehensive set of accounting
policies relating to the preparation of
the annual and interim financial
statements in line with International
Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union;

e a Group Internal Audit function with
responsibility for providing
independent, reasonable assurance to
key internal (Board, Group &
Subsidiary Audit and Risk committees
and Senior Management) and external
(Regulators and External Auditors)
stakeholders on the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and
internal control framework;

e acompliance framework incorporating
the design and testing of specific
controls over key financial processes
to confirm that the Group’s key
controls are appropriate to mitigate
the financial reporting risks;

e arobust control process is followed as
part of interim and annual financial
statements preparation, involving the
appropriate level of management
review and attestation of the
significant account line items, and
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where judgements and estimates are
made, they are independently
reviewed to ensure that they are
reasonable and appropriate. This
ensures that the consolidated financial
information required for the interim
and annual financial statements is
presented fairly and disclosed
appropriately;

e the Annual Report and Interim Report
are also subject to detailed review and
approval through a structured
governance process involving senior
and executive finance personnel;

e summary and detailed papers are
prepared for review and approval by
the Group Audit Committee covering
all significant judgemental and
technical accounting issues, together
with any significant presentation and
disclosure matters; and

e user access to the financial reporting
system is restricted to those
individuals that require it for their
assigned roles and responsibilities.

The Directors confirm that the Board,
through its Committees, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s systems of
internal control for the year ended 31
December 2017. This review involved
consideration of the reports of the internal
audit and the risk management functions,
(including regulatory compliance) and
establishing that appropriate action is
being taken by management to address
issues highlighted. In addition, any reports
of the external auditors which contain
details of any material control issues
identified arising from their work are
reviewed by the Group Audit Committee, if
they arise.

Following the year ended 31 December
2017, the Board reviewed the Group Audit
Committee’s conclusions in relation to the
Group’s systems of internal control and
the appropriateness of the structures in
place to manage and monitor them. This
process involved a confirmation that a
system of internal control in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Council
Guidance on Risk Management, Internal
Control and Related Financial and
Business Reporting (2014) was in place
throughout the year and up to the date of
the signing of these financial statements.
It also involved an assessment of the
ongoing process for the identification,
evaluation and management of individual
risks and of the roles of the various
Committees and Group risk management
functions and the extent to which various

significant challenges facing the Group are
understood and are being addressed.
Further details of the risk management
framework are included in the Risk
Management Report on pages 49 to 55.

Group Code of Conduct and Speak Up
Policy

The Group has a Code of Conduct in
place which is applicable to all employees
and Directors of the Group and which is
reviewed annually. The Code of Conduct
sets out the standards that are expected
from all those who work for the Group and
gives guidance on how these standards
should be applied. Training on the Code of
Conduct is mandatory across the Group.

The Group has a Speak Up policy in place
for all staff, including Directors, which is in
accordance with international practice.
This policy is reviewed on an annual basis
in line with the Group Code of Conduct.
During 2017, the Group focused on
increasing awareness efforts to improving
the speak up culture, which included, the
annual Policy Review, a module of
mandatory web based training included in
the Code of Conduct training, increased
guidance notes to cover specific scenario
events and a formal call to action to all
employees on their Speak Up obligations.
The Group will continue with a number of
initiatives to further increase awareness in
2018. The Speak Up policy gives an
assurance that it is safe and acceptable to
raise a concern about malpractice, risk or
potential wrongdoing and outlines how to
speak up and raise a concern. The Board
and Group Chief Executive are committed
to this policy, which encourages staff to
raise concerns openly and locally. Where
this is not possible or the problem has not
been resolved effectively at that level,
there are clear alternative senior contacts
within the Group to whom the concern
may be addressed. In the case of
concerns regarding fraudulent financial
reporting, fraudulent accounting or
irregularities in audit work, these can be
raised directly with the Chairman of the
Group Audit Committee. With reference to
the Protected Disclosures Act 2014, a
review of the Group Speak Up policy was
conducted to ensure that the standards
set out in this Act are being met.

Relations with shareholders
Communication with shareholders is given
high priority. One of the responsibilities of
the Chairman is to ensure effective
communication with shareholders and to
ensure that Directors develop an
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understanding of the views of major
investors. The Group seeks to provide
through its Annual Report a fair, balanced
and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance and prospects. The
Group uses its website
(www.bankofireland.com) to provide
shareholders and potential investors with
recent and relevant financial information,
including annual and interim reports.
Copies of presentations to analysts and
investors are also made available on the
Group website, so that information is
available to all shareholders. Annual and
interim results presentations are webcast
live so that all shareholders can receive
the same information at the same time.

The Investor Relations section on the
Group’s website is updated with
presentations and all stock exchange
releases as they are made. It also contains
investor relations contact details. The
Group has an active and well developed
Investor Relations programme, which
involves regular meetings by Executive
Directors, selected senior executives and
the Director of Group Investor Relations
and other authorised speakers with the
Group’s principal institutional
shareholders, other investors, financial
analysts and brokers. All meetings with
shareholders are conducted in such a way
as to ensure that price sensitive
information is not divulged. A dedicated
Debt Investor section of the Group
website provides access to relevant
information, including presentations,
publications and bond tables.

Directors receive an investor relations
update from management at all scheduled
Board meetings. The content of this
update is varied, based on recent investor
activities, but typically includes market
updates, details of recent equity and debt
investor interactions, share price and
valuation analysis, analyst updates, and
share register analysis. All Directors are
encouraged and facilitated to hear the
views of investors and analysts at first
hand. The Chairman met with a number of
major shareholders to discuss governance
and remuneration matters in 2017 and the
Board was updated on the outcome of
these discussions. The Chairman and / or
the Senior Independent Director are
available to all shareholders if they have
concerns that cannot be resolved through
the normal channels.
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Annual General Meeting

The aim of the Board is to make
constructive use of the AGM and all
shareholders are encouraged to
participate in the proceedings. Questions
are invited from shareholders in advance
of the AGM, and a dedicated email
address is provided for this purpose. A
substantial part of the agenda of the AGM
is dedicated to responding to shareholder
questions. A ‘Help Desk’ facility is
provided by the Group’s registrar to assist
shareholders to resolve any specific
queries that they may have in relation to
their shareholding. The AGC of the Bank
was held on 28 April 2017 in the Aviva
Stadium, Lansdowne Road, Dublin 4
(2017 AGC).
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In line with the Group’s policy to issue
notice of the AGC at least 20 working
days before the meeting, notice of the
2017 AGC was circulated to stockholders
on 15 March 2017. The Governor of the
Bank (who is also Chairman of the
Nomination and Governance Committee)
and the Chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Risk Committee and Remuneration
Committee were in attendance to hear the
views of shareholders and answer
questions. It is usual for all Directors of the
Court / Board at the time of the AGC /
AGM to attend and all members of the
Court attended the 2017 AGC, with the
exception of Brad Martin.

At the 2017 AGC, separate resolutions
were proposed on each substantially
separate issue and voting was conducted
by way of poll. The results of every general
meeting of the Company, including details
of votes cast for, against and withheld on
each resolution, are posted on the Group’s
website and released to the Irish and
London Stock Exchanges.

The AGM of the Company in 2018 is
scheduled to be held on Friday 20 April
2018. Shareholders who will be unable to
attend on this date are encouraged to
submit queries and vote in advance to
ensure continued participation.
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Report of the Group Nomination and Governance Committee

Archie G Kane, Chairman
Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Group Nomination and
Governance Committee (‘N&G
Committee’), | am pleased to present our
report on the N&G Committee’s activity
during the financial year ended 31
December 2017.

Membership and meetings

At close of business on 31 December
2017, the N&G Committee comprised
three Non-executive Directors and its
composition is fully compliant with the
Irish Code, the UK Code and CRD IV. Pat
Butler resigned from the N&G Committee
on 31 December 2017. | chair the
Committee, as Board Chairman, other
than when the N&G Committee is dealing
with the appointment of a successor to
the role of Board Chairman. Biographical
details, including each member’s
background and experience, are set out
on pages 89 to 92.

The N&G Committee met eight times in
2017, six of which were scheduled
meetings. The Chairman and Members of
the N&G Committee, together with their

attendance at meetings, are shown below.

The Group Chief Executive is invited to
attend meetings. The N&G Committee
meets annually with no management
present.

Matters considered by the N&G °

Committee

In addition the matters considered, and
action taken by the N&G Committee

overseeing the process for
appointments and renewals of the
Boards of substantial regulated
subsidiaries;

during the year are set out below. e with the support of the Group

Role and responsibilities
The key responsibilities of the N&G
Committee are set out in its terms of

reference and include:

e leading the process for appointments
and renewals for the Board and Board

Committees;

Secretary, keeping Board governance

arrangements under review and

to the Board to ensure corporate
governance practices are consistent
with good practice corporate
governance standards;

Matters considered and action taken by the N&G Committee in 2017

Area of focus

Role of the N&G Committee

making appropriate recommendations

Member attendance in 2017:

N&G committee Eligible

meetings to attend Attended
Archie G Kane 8 8

Pat Butler 8 7
Patrick Haren 8 8
Patrick Kennedy 8 8

Board and o

committee size
and composition
including

succession o

planning

Reviewed Board and Board Committee composition, skills and
succession plans including approving the appointment of the new CEO
and succession planning for key roles on the Board, taking into account
the skills profile of the Board.

Reviewed the annual effectiveness evaluation of the Board and its
Committees including individual directors and approved follow-up
actions from the externally conducted review in 2016 by Independent
Audit Limited. Reviewed the annual effectiveness evaluation of the N&G
Committee.

Assessed the fitness and probity and approved the appointment of PCF
role holders. Approved the annual PCF reconfirmation.

Governance o

Reviewed and recommended the Group Culture Programme.

Approved and recommended to the Board for approval updated
corporate governance documents, including the Group Corporate
Governance Statement and Annual Compliance Statement.

Reviewed and approved key governance policies including: the Code of
Conduct, the Speak Up Policy, Board Conflicts of Interest Policies and
reviewed the Subsidiary Governance Policy.

Reviewed developments in corporate governance, including the revised
EBA Guidelines on Internal Governance.

Recommended appointments to the Group’s Pension Schemes.

Executive ©
succession o

planning and

Reviewed the performance of senior executives.
Approved the Group Executive Committee Terms of Reference.

performance
review
Subsidiary * Reviewed board composition and succession planning for substantial
governance regulated subsidiaries and reviewed key subsidiary board
appointments.
* Reviewed the effectiveness evaluations of the boards of substantial
regulated subsidiaries.
* Reviewed subsidiary nomination committee minutes.
* Provided oversight on the Individual Accountability Regime.
Corporate ¢ Reviewed the Corporate Responsibility Programme and Responsible

responsibility

Business Report.
Reviewed the Group Modern Slavery Statement.

reorganisation

Corporate ‘ .

Reviewed key governance documentation for the new Group holding
company, BOIG plc.
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Report of the Group Nomination and Governance Committee (continued)

e overseeing subsidiary governance to
ensure that appropriate and
proportionate governance
arrangements are in place for Group
subsidiaries; and

e overseeing the Group’s Corporate
Responsibility Programme.

Board composition and diversity

The Board benefits from the diverse range

of skills, knowledge and experience

acquired by the Non-executive Directors
as directors of other companies, both
national and international, or as leaders in
the public and private sectors. The
effectiveness of the Board depends on
ensuring the right balance of Directors
with banking or financial services
experience and broader commercial
experience. Following review in 2017, the

N&G Committee approved a Board skills

matrix and determined that the skills

profile of the Board was appropriate to the
business of the Group including:

e Major Business Lines (including retail,
corporate & treasury and insurance).

e Geographies (including Ireland, UK,
Europe and the US).

e Significant Subsidiaries.

e Products (including retail banking,
corporate banking, Insurance and
treasury services).

e Group wide risks (including business
and strategic, conduct, credit, life
insurance, funding and liquidity,

market, operational, pension,
regulatory and reputational risks);

e Governance.

e Risk management, compliance and
audit (including strategy, capital,
funding & liquidity, regulation,
whistleblowing transformation and
change, customer engagement,
business environment and
engagement with investors / capital
markets).

e Management strategy and
decision-making (including strategy,
culture, management oversight, ethics
and values, business sustainability,
stakeholders and corporate
governance).

Directors bring their individual knowledge,
skills and experience to bear in
discussions on the major challenges
facing the Group.

The Group recognises the benefits of
having a diverse board and workforce. In
reviewing Board composition and
identifying suitable candidates, the N&G
Committee considers the benefits of all
aspects of diversity including the skills
identified as relevant to the business of
the Group, regional and industry
experience, background, nationality,
gender, age and other relevant qualities in
order to maintain an appropriate range
and balance of skills, experience and

background on the Board. All Board
appointments are made on merit, in the
context of the skills, experience,
independence and knowledge which the
Board as a whole requires to be effective.

During 2017 the N&G Committee reviewed
the Board Diversity Policy (the latest
version of which is available on the
Group’s website) and the measurable
objectives set out thereunder. The Board
has set a target of achieving a minimum of
33% female representation on the Board
for the year ending 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2017 there was 30%
female representation on the Board. The
Group is also addressing diversity in the
Group’s workforce through an Inclusion
and Diversity Programme, which
recognises that developing and utilising
the skills and perspectives of all of our
employees is critical to the Group’s
ongoing business success.

As Chairman of the N&G Committee, |
reported to the Board after each meeting
to ensure all Directors were fully informed
of the N&G Commiittee’s activities. | would
like to thank the N&G Committee
members and attendees for their
contribution and support in steering the
work of the N&G Committee throughout
2017.

Archie G Kane

Chairman of the Group Nomination & Governance Committee

23 February 2018
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Report of the Group Remuneration Committee

Patrick Haren, Chairman

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Group Remuneration
Committee (GRC), | am pleased to present
our report on the GRC’s activities during the
financial year ended 31 December 2017.

Membership and meetings

At close of business on 31 December
2017, the GRC comprised four
independent Non-executive Directors from
diverse backgrounds to provide a
balanced and independent view on
remuneration matters. The GRC is chaired
by the Senior Independent Director and its
composition is compliant with the
requirements of the Irish Code and CRD
IV, and with the recommendations of the
UK Code.

Richard Goulding was appointed to the
GRC on 20 July 2017 and Pat Butler
resigned from the GRC on 31 December
2017. In order to ensure that remuneration
policies and procedures are consistent
with effective risk management, there is
common membership between the GRC
and the BRC. Kent Atkinson, Pat Butler
and Richard Goulding have been
members of both committees in 2017.
Biographical details, including each
member’s background and experience,
are set out on pages 89 to 92.

The GRC met six times in 2017, five of
which were scheduled meetings. The
Chairman and Members of the GRC,
together with their attendance at
meetings, are shown above. The Group
CEO, Head of Group HR and the Head of
Group Performance and Reward are
invited to attend meetings as appropriate.

Role and responsibilities

The GRC holds delegated responsibility
from the Board for the oversight of
Group-wide remuneration policy with
specific reference to the Chairman,
Directors and senior management across

Member attendance in 2017:

GRC Eligible

meetings to attend  Attended
Patrick Haren 6 6
Kent Atkinson 6 5

Pat Butler 6 6
Richard Goulding 2 1
Archie G Kane 6 6

the Group, and those employees whose
activities have a material impact on the
Group's risk profile.

The GRC is responsible for overseeing the
annual review of the Group Remuneration
policy with input from the Court
Remuneration Committee, relevant risk
management functions and the BRC.

The remuneration of Non-executive
Directors is determined and approved by
the Board. Neither the Chairman nor any
Director participates in decisions relating
to their own personal remuneration.

The Group is currently operating under a
number of remuneration restrictions which
cover all Directors, senior management,
employees and certain service providers

Corporate Governance Statement

across the Group. For further information,
please see page 118 of the Remuneration
Report.

Deloitte are the current advisors to the

Group Remuneration Committee. In

addition to the provision of remuneration

services to the Remuneration Committee

of Bank of Ireland UK plc, Deloitte

provided the following services to the

Group in 2017:

e Programme Management and support
for Change Projects.

e Programme Management for

Regulatory projects.

Digital Capability.

Data Analytics.

Support for Insurance Broker tender.

Risk Advisory Support.

Matters considered by the GRC

The matters considered, and action taken
by the GRC during the year are set out in
the table below.

As Chairman of the GRC, | reported to the
Board after each meeting to ensure all
Directors were fully informed of the GRC’s
activities. | would like to thank the GRC
members and attendees for their
contributions and support in steering the
work of the GRC throughout 2017.

Matters considered and action taken by the GRC in 2017

‘ Area of focus Role of the GRC

Remuneration
Review

the GEC.

and procedures.

Annual e Considered the external Remuneration Policy review with input from the
relevant risk management functions and the BRC and adopted the
Group Remuneration Policy. Approved changes to the Group
Remuneration Policy as a result of the implementation of MiFID II.

e Approved the performance and remuneration of the Group CEO, and

¢ Reviewed the remuneration of the Chairman of the Board.

* Approved the remuneration terms for senior management appointments.
e Approved the performance and remuneration for senior management .
¢ Reviewed and approved the Group’s Code Role policy, process

Risk and conduct | ¢ Reviewed the Group Risk profile and its relationship to Remuneration.
e Approved the Group Code Role Holder List.

Disclosures and ¢ Recommended the draft Remuneration Reports in the Annual Report.

governance e Recommended the remuneration element of the Pillar Ill disclosures.

e Approved governance documentation in respect of remuneration
matters for BOIG plc and approved appropriate changes to
Non-executive Directors and Executive contracts.

e Reviewed the evaluation of the GRC’s effectiveness and approved the
process for the internal evaluation of the GRC’s performance.

¢ Reviewed and approved the GRC’s Annual Schedule of Topics and
reviewed its Terms of Reference.

Patrick Haren

Chairman of the Group Remuneration Committee

23 February 2018

Annual Report - year ended 31 December 2017 Bankoflreland&® 105

Q)
o
<
®
o
S
o
S
Q
®




[0}
O
(=
©
=
S
[}
>
¢}

Q)

Corporate Governance Statement

Report of the Group Audit Committee

Kent Atkinson, Chairman

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Group Audit Committee
(GAC), | am pleased to present our report
on the GAC’s activity during the financial
year ended 31 December 2017.

Membership and meetings

At close of business on 31 December
2017, the GAC comprised five
Non-executive Directors. Tom Considine
resigned from the GAC on 31 December
2017. The Board believes that | am
considered independent and | may be
regarded as an Audit Committee financial
expert and that the GAC as a whole has
an appropriate mix of skills, experience,
professional qualifications, knowledge and
relevant financial / banking experience.
Patrick Kennedy is the Chairman of the
BRC and | am also a member of the BRC.
Patrick Mulvihill and Davida Marston were
also members of the BRC during 2017.
Patrick Haren is Chairman of the GRC and
| am also a member of the GRC. This
common membership helps facilitate
effective governance across all finance
and risk issues, and ensures that agendas
are aligned and overlap of responsibilities
is avoided where possible. Biographical
details, including each member’s
background and experience, are set out
on pages 89 to 92.

The Chairman and members of the GAC,
together with their attendance at meetings
are shown below.

The GAC’s performance during 2017 was
assessed as part of Board / Committee
performance evaluation process and is set
out on page 99 of this report.

Matters considered by the GAC
The GAC met 13 times in 2017, ten of
which were scheduled and matters
considered / action taken by the GAC

Role and responsibilities

The key responsibilities of the GAC are set
out in its terms of reference, which are
available on the Group’s website
(www.bankofireland.com) and are
reviewed annually and approved by the
Board.

during the year are set out below.

Matters considered and action taken by the GAC in 2017

‘ Area of focus

Role of the GAC

Member attendance in 2017:

Eligible
GAC meetings to attend  Attended
Kent Atkinson 13 13
Tom Considine 13 13
Patrick Haren 13 13
Patrick Kennedy 13 13
Davida Marston 13 10
Patrick Mulvihill 13 13

Internal
controls and
risk management

¢ Reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, including
financial reporting controls review, IT@BOI review, reports from Group
Internal Audit, Group Compliance and Regulatory Risk and the Group
Anti-Money Laundering Officer.

¢ Reviewed the Group’s fraud protection and prevention programme.

* Reviewed the Group’s BCBS 239 Programme.

¢ Reviewed reports from the Group Investment Committee - post
implementation reviews for individual capital expenditure of over €20
million.

e Recommended the Group’s ICAAP and ILAAP processes.

* Reviewed the internal governance arrangements with respect to
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) Regulatory Reporting.

External
reporting

* Reviewed and recommended annual and interim reporting including the
significant accounting and judgemental matters.

¢ Recommended the Group Impairment Policy and impairment
provisions.

* Approved the Going Concern assessment and the Group’s Viability
Statement.

e Approved the Group’s existing accounting policies, and new and
significant changes in existing policies, prior to implementation.

¢ Reviewed the Group’s preparations for IFRS 9 and GDPR.

e Approved the Group’s Pillar Il Disclosure Policy; disclosures and
non-disclosures (due to immateriality) and Country by Country
Reporting disclosures.

Internal auditors

e Approved the Internal Audit plan.

¢ Reviewed Group Internal Audit (GIA) findings and management’s
response to GIA audits.

e Approved annual review of GIA’s Charter.

External auditors

e Reviewed the external auditors plan, report, external audit findings and
the external auditor’s engagement letter.

¢ Reviewed the Group’s audit tender plans, provided oversight for a
competitive tender process and reviewed the audit transition process.

e Considered the effectiveness of the External Auditor.

¢ Approved the Non-audit Services Policy and non-audit fees for the
External Auditor.

Governance and
talent

¢ Recommended the governance documentation including the
prospectus and processes for the establishment of BOIG plc.

* Reviewed and recommended the 2017 Annual Compliance Statement.

* Recommended the GAC’s Terms of Reference and approved the GAC’s
Annual Schedule of Topics.

¢ Reviewed the evaluation of GAC effectiveness.

¢ Reviewed talent development and succession planning for the finance
function in the Group.
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Report of the Group Audit Committee (continued)

One of the key responsibilities of the GAC
is to assist the Board in monitoring the
integrity of the financial statements and to
recommend to the Board that it believes
that the Annual Report taken as a whole is
fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group’s
position and performance, business model
and strategy. To achieve this for the
current reporting period, the GAC
reviewed the Annual Report and
considered whether the financial
statements were consistent with the
operating and financial reviews elsewhere
in the Annual Report. The GAC also
reviewed the governance and approval
processes in place in the Group relating to
the financial statements and the GAC
Report within the Corporate Governance
Statement. These governance and
approval processes include the
completion by management of disclosure
checklists to ensure all required
disclosures from applicable company law,
listing requirements and accounting
standards are included and review of the
draft Annual Report by the Disclosure
Committee. In considering whether the
Annual Report was fair, balanced and
understandable, the GAC also considered
the treatment and disclosure of key events
as presented in the financial statements.

Significant issues

The GAC considered, inter alia, the
following significant issues in its review of
the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017. In addressing these
issues, the GAC considered the
appropriateness of management’s
judgements and estimates and, where
apposite, discussed those judgements
and estimates with the External Auditor.

Loan impairment

The GRPC approves the Group’s
provisioning methodology on a half yearly
basis. The BRC, on an annual basis,
provides observations on the Group’s
asset quality management and profile to
the GAC as an input into the GAC’s
assessment of year end impairment
provisions.

The GAC considered the methodology for
loan loss provisioning, including the
specific trigger events which are
considered as an indicator of impairment,
as set out on pages 65 to 68 and an asset
quality report from the BRC. The GAC also
discussed and challenged management’s
assumptions used in determining the
overall level of impairments recognised in

the financial year and the total impairment
allowance at the year end with
management noting the requirements of
IAS 39 in respect of the timing of
recognition of impairments (the incurred
loss methodology) and the requirements
of the relevant regulatory authorities.

The GAC reviewed management papers
and was satisfied that the level of loans
classified as impaired and non-performing
at year end was consistent with the Group’s
methodology, and that the calculation and
resulting provision recognised and
disclosures were appropriate, based on the
relevant accounting and disclosure
standards including, among others, IAS 39
and IFRS 7.

Deferred tax assets

The GAC considered the extent of DTAs to
be recognised in respect of unutilised tax
losses, and in particular the projections for
future taxable profits against which those
losses may be utilised. In order for the
Group to recognise these assets, it must
be probable that sufficient future taxable
profits will be available against which the
losses can be utilised.

The Group has prepared financial
projections which are being used to
support the Group’s Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP).
The projections for future taxable profits
incorporate economic factors (e.g.
economic activity including projected
growth levels, unemployment levels,
interest rates, etc.) and projected
operating performance for each division
within the Group (e.g. projected new
business, margins, costs, loan losses,
etc.). As part of this process, the Group
prepares impairment projections, involving
a review of projection models for loan loss
provisions and challenge of key
assumptions and scenarios.

The financial projections are prepared for
the purpose of the Group’s assessment of
its capital adequacy. They are subjected
to considerable internal governance at a
divisional and Group level and are
reviewed and approved by executive
management and the Board.
Management’s assessment of the
projections determined that it was
probable that there would be sufficient
taxable profits in the future to recover the
DTA arising from unused tax losses.

The GAC discussed with management its
assessment of the recoverability of the
DTA and the related disclosures. The GAC

Corporate Governance Statement

and the Board concluded that it was
probable that there would be sufficient
taxable profits in the future to recover the
DTA arising from unused tax losses, and
that the related disclosures were as
required under IAS 12.

Retirement benefit obligations

The GAC considered management’s key
assumptions and judgements used in
determining the actuarial values of the
liabilities of each of the Group’s sponsored
DB pension schemes under IAS 19.
Management considered advice from
independent actuaries, Willis Towers
Watson, for the determination of
significant actuarial assumptions including
discount rates and inflation. The key
assumptions proposed by management
and considered by the GAC were
assumptions relating to inflation rates,
demographic assumptions and discount
rates in Ireland and the UK which are used
in determining liabilities at the balance
sheet date.
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During 2017, the Group refined its
approach to the determination of the
discount rate used to value sterling
denominated liabilities under IAS 19 by
adopting an alternative model produced
by the independent actuary and available
to all its clients. The GAC considered this
refinement and its appropriateness for the
determination of the discount rate applied
to the Group’s sterling schemes.

The GAC was satisfied that the inflation
rates, discount rates and other significant
assumptions were appropriate and that
the accounting for the Group’s sponsored
DB pension schemes and related
disclosures was in accordance with IAS
19.

Further detail on the inflation rates,
discount rates and other significant
assumptions related to retirement benefit
obligations are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Tracker Mortgage Examination

The GAC considered management’s
assessment of the impact of the Central
Bank of Ireland’s Tracker Mortgage
Examination, including the level of
provisioning and the presentation of the
charge as a non-core item, excluded from
underlying profit before tax. The GAC was
satisfied that the level of provisioning,
related disclosures and presentation were
appropriate.
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Report of the Group Audit Committee (continued)

Life assurance operations

During 2017, the Group changed its
accounting policy for the valuation of
insurance contract liabilities and ViF
business, as set out on page 148. The
GAC considered management’s rationale
for the change, and was satisfied that the
revised policy was more relevant and no
less reliable than the previous policy, and
was consistent with current market
practice and requirements.

The GAC considered management’s key
assumptions and judgements used in
determining the ViF business and
insurance contract liabilities. The key
assumptions in projecting future surpluses
and other net cash flows attributable to
the shareholder arising from business
written were the interest rate and unit
growth rate, lapse rates, mortality,
morbidity and expenses.

The GAC was satisfied that the significant
assumptions are appropriately applied and
that the accounting for the Group’s ViF
business and insurance contract liabilities
is appropriate.

IFRS 9 transition

The GAC considered the estimated impact
on shareholders’ equity of transition to
IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018. The GAC
reviewed management papers and
discussed and challenged management
judgements used in determining the
correct classification and measurement of
financial assets and the opening stock of
impairment loss allowance based on IFRS
9 requirements. The GAC considered the
associated disclosures and concluded
that they were appropriate based on the
relevant accounting and disclosure
standards, principally IAS 8.

Further information on the impact of this
new accounting standard is set out on
page 159 in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BOIG plc’s investment in the Bank

In relation to the financial statements of
the Company, the GAC considered
management’s assessment of the
recoverability of the Company’s
investment in the Bank, which arose from
the corporate reorganisation of 7 July
2017.

The GAC considered management’s
assessment of both the fair value of the
investment, based on the share price of
the Company with appropriate
adjustments, and its value in use, based
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on the financial projections set out in the
Group’s business plan. The GAC was
satisfied that the higher of fair value and
value in use was in excess of the carrying
value of the investment, and that no
impairment charge was required.

For further information see note a on page
135 in the Company financial statements.

Going concern

The GAC considered management’s
assessment of the appropriateness of
preparing the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December
2017 on a going concern basis. In making
this assessment, matters considered
include the performance of the Group’s
business, profitability projections, funding
and capital plans, under both base and
plausible stress scenarios. The
considerations assessed by the GAC are
set out on page 148 in the Going Concern
disclosure within the Accounting Policies
in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

On the basis of the review performed and
the discussions with management, the
GAC was satisfied that there were no
material uncertainties related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern over the period of
assessment. This assessment together
with the Going Concern disclosure (as set
out on page 148) was subsequently
approved by the Board.

IT operational risk

The GAC considered and discussed
management’s assessment of IT risks and
the ongoing risk management programme
to identify, rate, mitigate and report on IT
risks, including GIA’s review of the internal
control considerations related to the
Group’s IT investment programme. On the
basis of the review performed, discussions
with management, and the continued
operation of the comprehensive internal
control framework over financial reporting,
the GAC was satisfied that these risks do
not impact financial reporting.

Further information on these significant
items is set out in the Critical Accounting
Estimates and Judgements on pages 160
to 162.

Other responsibilities

The GAC is responsible for the
appropriateness and completeness of the
system of internal control. In close liaison
with the BRC, it reviews the manner and

framework in which management ensures
and monitors the adequacy of the nature,
extent and effectiveness of internal control
systems, including accounting control
systems, and thereby maintains an
effective system of internal control.

In addition, the GAC has responsibility for:

e assisting the Board in meeting
obligations under relevant Stock
Exchange listing rules and other
applicable laws and regulations;

e monitoring and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s Internal
Audit function and its operations; and

e discharging the statutory responsibility
of the Company under relevant
statutes or regulations.

The GAC is also responsible for
overseeing all matters relating to the
relationship between the Group and its
External Auditors, including the external
audit plan, terms of engagement, audit
and non-audit fee arrangements, interim
findings and audit finding reports. The
GAC also meets annually with the External
Auditors without management present.
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) have
acted as sole auditors to the Group since
1990. The External Auditors are required
to rotate the Group audit engagement
partner every five years and this process
occurred in 2015. Kevin Egan of PwC has
been the Group’s senior audit partner with
effect from the audit for the 2015 financial
year.

The Group is committed to ensuring the
independence and objectivity of the
External Auditor and on an annual basis
the GAC formally reviews the
effectiveness, independence and
performance of the External Auditor. This
process is supported by tailored
questionnaires completed by GAC
members and relevant senior
management personnel. The responses
received in 2017 were collated and
presented to the GAC for discussion.
Based on the results and assessment of
the review process and the GAC’s own
interactions with the External Auditors, the
GAC concluded that they were satisfied
with the performance of PwC as External
Auditor.

As an additional check on independence,
the GAC has developed and implemented
a Group Policy on the Provision of
Non-Audit Services by the Group’s
Statutory Auditor. The Group policy
ensures, among other things, that auditor
objectivity and independence are not



Report of the Group Audit Committee (continued)

compromised. Under this policy, a key
procedural control requires that any
engagement of the external auditors to
provide non-audit services must be
approved in advance by the GAC. It is the
Group’s policy to engage the Statutory
Auditor to provide non-audit services only
where they are required by legislation,
regulation or where this is required by an
underwriter in a capital markets
transaction. The GAC monitors
compliance with the Group policy on the
provision of non-audit services and
receives reports on the performance of
such services.

The fees paid to PwC for the year ended
31 December 2017 amounted to €6.0
million (2016: €4.9 million), of which €2.4
million (2016: €1.3 million) was payable in
respect of non-audit services. Non-audit
services represented 66% of the statutory
audit fee (2016: 36%). Further information
on fees paid in respect of audit and

non-audit services, along with details of
non-audit services provided during the
year are set out in note 14 on page 172 of
the consolidated financial statements
‘Auditors’ remuneration’.

Having considered the impact of the
updated EU regulatory framework on
statutory audits and the relevant
recommendation of the UK Code, and to
ensure the continuing quality and
effectiveness of the external audit service,
the Group had previously announced its
intention to conduct an external audit
tender in 2017. Following a transparent
and competitive tender process, including
presentations from all candidate firms and
discussions with management, the GAC
recommended to the Board that KPMG be
appointed to replace PwC as the external
auditor of the Group commencing with the
2018 financial year. This appointment will
be the subject of advisory resolution at the
Company’s 2018 AGM.

Corporate Governance Statement

The GAC was provided with a technical
training session on relevant accounting
matters during the year. The GAC also
meets annually with the Group Chief
Internal Auditor and with the PwC Group
Audit Partner without any other
management present and with senior
management.

As Chairman of the GAC, | reported to the
Board after each meeting to ensure all
Directors were fully informed of the GAC’s
activities. | wish to thank the GAC
members and attendees for their
contributions and support in steering the
work of the GAC throughout 2017.

| would also like to take this opportunity to
thank PwC for their significant contribution
as the Group External Auditor since their
appointment as sole auditors to the Group
in 1990.

Kent Atkinson
Chairman of the Group Audit Committee
23 February 2018
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Report of the Board Risk Committee

Patrick Kennedy, Chairman

Dear Shareholder,

On behalf of the Board Risk Committee
(BRC), | am pleased to present our report
on the BRC’s activity during the financial
year ended 31 December 2017.

The BRC is established to monitor risk
governance and to assist the Board in
discharging its responsibilities in ensuring
that risks are properly identified, reported,
and assessed; that risks are properly
controlled; and that strategy is informed
by and aligned with the Group’s risk
appetite.

Membership and meetings

At close of business on 31 December
2017, the BRC comprised four
Non-executive Directors. Patrick Mulvihill
and Davida Marston resigned as members
of the BRC on 19 May 2017, and Tom
Considine and Pat Butler resigned as
members of the BRC on 31 December
2017. Richard Goulding was appointed to
the BRC on 20 July 2017. Patrick Mulvihill
was re-appointed to the BRC on 1
January 2018. Kent Atkinson and Richard
Goulding are members of the GRC and
Pat Butler was a member of both
committees during 2017. Kent Atkinson is
Chairman of the GAC and | am also a
member of the GAC.

This common membership helps facilitate
effective governance across all finance
and risk issues, including remuneration
decisions, ensures that agendas are
aligned and overlap of responsibilities is
avoided where possible.

Biographical details, including each
member’s background and experience,
are set out on pages 89 to 92.

The BRC met eleven times in 2017. The
Chairman and Members of the BRC,
together with their attendance at
meetings, are shown below.

Matters considered and action taken by the BRC in 2017

‘ Area of focus Role of the BRC

Member attendance in 2017:

Eligible
BRC meetings to attend  Attended
Patrick Kennedy 11 11
Kent Atkinson 11 10
Pat Butler 1 9
Tom Considine 11 11
Richard Goulding 5 5
Davida Marston 5 4
Fiona Muldoon 1 11
Patrick Mulvihill 5 5

Risk Strategy
and management

¢ Recommended the RAS and approved the Group Risk Framework and
Policy, and the Group Risk Identification Process.

¢ Reviewed the top five risks facing the Group and considered the
impact of rising bond yields on the Group and the impact of Brexit.

e Reviewed quarterly risk reports, the Group Recovery Plan and the
quality of risk disclosures by the Group.

Operational risk ¢ Approved the operational risk framework, including the RADAR system.

¢ Reviewed IT risk and cybercrime and model risk.

e Considered on an ongoing basis business continuity, technology,
information security, cyber security and payments risk profiles.

Programme.

Credit risk ¢ Reviewed the Group’s asset quality. The observations of this asset
quality review were brought to the attention of the GAC in the context of
its assessment of impairment provisions.

* Recommended the non-performing loans strategy and operating plan.

e Recommended the Group Credit Policy.

¢ Reviewed the Group Country Risk Policy and limits including the UK
limit post Brexit and the Group’s Brexit Credit Risk Monitoring

¢ Reviewed credit risk transfer transaction.

Market risk ¢ Recommended the Group Market Risk Policy and reviewed controls on
discretionary risk and stress testing and approved the Group Policy on
Derivatives.

Liquidity Risk * Recommended the Group Funding and Liquidity Policy and

management strategy including the Contingency Funding Plan and the
Group Liquidity Stress Testing Position.

position.

Other risk e Approved the regulatory risk framework including ongoing monitoring of
the regulatory change programmes.

¢ Approved Group Conduct Risk Framework and Policy, Group Property
Collateral Valuation Policy, Anti-Money Laundering Policy, Group
Sanctions and Countering the Financing of Terrorism Policy, and the
Group Reputation Risk Policy.

¢ Reviewed reports from the Head of Group Governance and Regulatory
Risk and risk updates from significant subsidiaries.

¢ Reviewed the Risk Mitigation Programme, material regulatory
interactions and terms of reference for the Tracker Mortgage
Examination Review.

¢ Reviewed and considered Pension Risk, including the Group pension

Schedule of topics.

subsidiaries.

Governance ¢ Reviewed the BRC effectiveness evaluation and the discharge
of its duties. Approved the BRC Terms of Reference and its Annual

¢ Reviewed the minutes of risk committee meetings of material

e Provided the GRC with risk input into the Group Remuneration Policy.
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Report of the Board Risk Committee (continued)

Matters considered by the BRC

The matters considered, and action taken
by the BRC during the year are set out on
page 110.

Role and responsibilities

The BRC makes recommendations to the
Board on risk issues where the Board has
reserved authority, maintains oversight of
the Group’s risk profile, including
adherence to Group risk principles,
policies and standards, and approves
material risk policies within delegated
discretion. Further information on the
Group risk management framework and
the risk governance of the Group is set out
in the Risk Management Report on pages
49 to 55.

The BRC also provides advice to the GRC
to inform remuneration decisions from a
risk perspective, monitors the risk

elements of any due diligence appraisal of
any acquisition or divestment activity
reserved for Board decision, as required,
and considers the findings of Group
Internal Audit and Group Credit Review in
respect of risk management.

The Boston Consulting Group undertook a
review of the effectiveness of the Court
Risk Committee covering the areas of
agenda, role, attendance and
membership. The overall conclusion was
that Committee was effective with a
number of opportunities to improve
efficiency. An action plan was agreed and
significantly implemented during 2017.

The GRPC is the most senior
management risk committee and reports
to the BRC. During 2017, the BRC
reviewed the terms of reference of the
GRPC.

Corporate Governance Statement

On an ongoing basis, the BRC reviews
decisions of the GRPC through its minutes
as presented to the BRC and receives
reports from the committee chairman.
Further details on the role of the GRPC in
the risk governance of the Group are set
out in the Risk Management Report on
page 51.

As Chairman of the BRC, | reported to the
Board after each meeting to ensure all
Directors were fully informed of the BRC’s
activities. | would like to thank all of the
BRC members and attendees for their
contributions and support in steering the
work of the BRC throughout 2017.

Patrick Kennedy
Chairman of the Board Risk Committee
23 February 2018
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Report of the Directors

Results

In 2017, the Group made a profit before
tax of €852 million and an after tax profit
of €692 million. Profit of €28 million is
attributable to non-controlling interests,
and €664 million of profit is attributable to
ordinary shareholders.

Dividends

A dividend of 11.5 cents per share on
ordinary shares will be paid on 24 May
2018 to those ordinary shareholders who
appear on the Company’s register on 20
April 2018, the record date for the
dividend, subject to ordinary shareholder
approval.

Group activities

The Group provides a range of banking
and other financial services. The
Chairman’s Review, Group Chief
Executive’s Review and the Operating and
Financial Review (pages 6 to 41) contain a
review of the results and operations of the
Group, of most recent events, and of likely
future developments.

In relation to the Group’s business, no
contracts of significance to the Group
within the meaning of LR 6.8.1(10) of the
Irish Stock Exchange (ISE) Listing Rules
existed at any time during the year ended
31 December 2017.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Information concerning the Principal Risks
and Uncertainties facing the Group is set
out on pages 43 to 48 in the Risk
Management Report.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

Information regarding the financial risk
management objectives and policies of
the Group, in relation to the use of
financial instruments, is set out in the Risk
Management Report on pages 56 to 87.

Share capital

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had
1,078,822,872 ordinary shares of €1.00
each in issue, of which 4,203,581 were
treasury shares. Further detail on the
structure of the Group’s capital is set out
in note g of the Company financial
statements.

Takeover Bids Regulations

The disclosures required by the European
Communities (Takeover Bids (Directive
2004/25/EC)) Regulations 2006 are set
out in the Schedule to the Report of the
Directors on pages 115 to 117.

Directors

The names of the members of the Board
of Directors of the Company as at 31
December 2017, together with a short
biographical note on each Director appear
on pages 89 to 92.

The names of the persons who were
Directors or Company Secretary of the
Company at any time during the period
from 28 November 2016 to 31 December
2017 and up to the date of the approval of
the financial statements are set out in note
j in the Company financial statements.

Remuneration
See Remuneration Report on pages 118
to 123.

Directors’ and Secretary’s interests

The interests of the Directors and
Secretary in office as at 31 December
2017 in the shares issued by the Company
as disclosed to the Company are shown in
the Remuneration Report on page 123.

Listing rules disclosures

Information required under UK Listing Rule
LR 9.8.4C can be found on page 121 for
Directors’ Emoluments and above under
‘Group activities’ for Contracts of
Significance.

Substantial shareholdings

There were 102,365 registered holders of
ordinary shares of the Company at 31
December 2017. An analysis of these
holdings is shown on page 279. In
accordance with LR 6.8.3(2) of the ISE
Listing Rules, details of notifications
received by the Company in respect of
substantial interests in its ordinary shares
are provided in Table 1 below as at 31
December 2017 and 16 February 2018.
Other than the Directors’ interests set out
on page 123 there were no other interests
disclosed to the Company in accordance
with the Market Abuse Regulation and
Part 5 of the Transparency Regulations
and the related transparency rules during
the period from 31 December 2017 to 16
February 2018.

For information on acquisition or disposal
of own shares, refer to note 47.

Corporate governance

Statements by the Directors in relation to
the Bank’s compliance with the Central
Bank of Ireland’s Corporate Governance
Requirements for Credit Institutions 2015,
(the ‘Irish Code’) and additional
requirements of Appendix 1 and Appendix
2 of the Irish Code for High Impact
Designated Institutions, and Credit
Institutions which are deemed ‘Significant’
Institutions (for the purposes of the CRD
IV), respectively, are set out on pages 95
to 112. The Company is also subject to
the UK Corporate Governance Code 2016
published by Financial Reporting Council
in the UK (the ‘UK Code’) and the Irish
Corporate Governance Annex to the
Listing Rules of the Irish Stock Exchange.
The Corporate Governance Statement
forms part of the Report of the Directors.
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Directors’ Compliance Statement

As required by section 225 of the
Companies Act 2014 as amended, the
Directors acknowledge that they are
responsible for securing the Company’s
compliance with its ‘relevant obligations’
(as defined in that legislation). The
Directors further confirm that a
compliance policy statement has been
drawn up, and that appropriate
arrangements and structures have been
put in place that are, in the Directors’
opinion, designed to secure material
compliance with the relevant obligations.
A review of those arrangements and
structures has been conducted in the
financial year to which this report relates.

Environment

The Group’s environmental policy is
accessible at www.bankofireland.com and
details of its environmental activities are
outlined in the Group’s ‘Responsible
Business Report’ which is available on the
Group’s website.

Table: 1 31 December 2017 16 February 2018
% %

Ireland Strategic Investment Fund (ISIF)
/ Minister for Finance 13.95 13.95
The Capital Group Companies, Inc. 7.05 7.05
EuroPacific Growth Fund'’ 4.34 4.34
Blackrock, Inc. 4.99 5.03
Baillie Gifford & Co. 4.53 4.53

T EuroPacific Growth Fund has granted proxy voting authority to The Capital Research and Management Company, its investment adviser, and consequently holds no voting rights.
Notifications submitted in respect of the voting rights held by The Capital Group Companies, Inc. include EuroPacific Growth Fund’s holdings.
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Report of the Directors

Report of the Directors (continued)

Political donations

Political donations are required to be
disclosed under the Electoral Acts 1992 to
2012. The Directors, on enquiry, have
satisfied themselves that there were no
political donations made during 2017.

Branches outside the State
The Bank has established branches in the
UK, France, Germany and the US.

Going concern

The Directors have considered the
appropriateness of the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements
for 2017 on page 148 which forms part of
the Report of the Directors and on page
108 in the Corporate Governance
Statement.

Viability statement

In accordance with the requirements of
the UK Code, the Directors have assessed
the viability of the Group, taking account
of the Group’s current position and the
potential impact of the principal risks
facing the Group.

The Directors have selected a three-year
period for this assessment, reflecting the
time horizon that they consider fits with
the various risk and planning frameworks
taken into account in arriving at the
viability statement.

The Directors have assessed the
prospects of the Group through a number
of frameworks, including the ICAAP, the
ILAAP, the monitoring of key risks
identified under the Group’s risk
identification process by the GRPC, the
BRC and the Board (see page 53 of the
Risk Management Report), and the
assessment of Principal Risks and
Uncertainties (see pages 43 to 48). Within
those Principal Risks and Uncertainties,
the Directors consider Credit risk, Funding
and Liquidity risk and Capital adequacy to
be the most relevant to the viability
assessment.

The ICAAP process facilitates the Board
and senior management in adequately
identifying, measuring and monitoring the
Group’s risks and ensures that the Group
holds adequate capital to support its risk
profile. ICAAP is subject to review by the
Group’s prudential regulator, the ECB
SSM. Underpinning the ICAAP process,
the Group prepares detailed financial
projections under both a base case and a
stress case. Base case projections are
prepared using consensus
macroeconomic forecasts together with
Group-specific assumptions, and the
stress case is prepared based on a severe
but plausible stress economic scenario.
The ICAAP process demonstrates that the
Group has sufficient capital under both the
base and stress case scenarios to support
its business and achieve its objectives
having regard to Board approved Risk
Appetite and Strategy, and to meet its
CRD IV regulatory capital, leverage and
liquidity requirements.

The Group’s ILAAP analysis demonstrates
that the volume and capacity of liquidity
resources available to the Group are
adequate to support its business model,
to achieve its strategic objectives under
both business as usual and severe but
plausible stress scenarios and to meet
regulatory requirements including the
Liquidity Coverage and Net Stable
Funding Ratios.

The Directors confirm that their
assessment of the principal risks facing
the Group, through the processes set out
above, was robust. Based upon this
assessment, and their assessment of the
Group’s prospects, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will
be able to continue in operation and meet
its liabilities as they fall due over the
period to 31 December 2020.

Accounting records

The Directors ensure that adequate
accounting records are kept at the
Company’s registered office, through the

appointment of suitably qualified
competent personnel, the implementation
of appropriate computerised systems and
the use of financial and other controls over
the systems and the data.

Auditors

Having considered the impact of the
updated EU regulatory framework on
statutory audits and the relevant
recommendation of the UK Code, and to
ensure the continuing quality and
effectiveness of the external audit service,
the Group had previously announced its
intention to conduct an external audit
tender in 2017. Following a transparent
and competitive tender process, including
presentations from candidate firms and
discussions with management, the GAC
recommended to the Board that KPMG be
appointed to replace PwC as the external
auditor of the Group commencing with the
2018 financial year. On 20 February 2018,
the Board appointed KPMG as statutory
auditor to the Company for financial year
end 2018. This appointment will be the
subject of an advisory shareholder
resolution at the Company’s 2018 AGM.

As resigning auditor, PwC has confirmed
an intention to resign on completion of the
2017 audit.

Relevant audit information

The Directors in office at the date of this
report have each confirmed that as far as
they are aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Group’s auditor is
unaware; and they have taken all the steps
that they ought to have taken as Directors
in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish
that the Group’s auditor is aware of that
information.

Post balance sheet events
These are described in note 63 to the
financial statements.

Archie G Kane
Chairman

Bank of Ireland Group plc
Registered Office

40 Mespil Road,

Dublin 4

23 February 2018
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Schedule to the Report of the Directors

Information required under the
European Communities (Takeover Bids
(Directive 2004/ 25/EC)) Regulations
2006.

As required by these Regulations, the
information contained below represents
the position as at 31 December 2017.

1. Structure of the Company’s capital
The capital of the Company is divided into
ordinary shares and preference shares.

As at 31 December 2017, there were
1,078,822,872 ordinary shares in issue. As
at 31 December 2017, there were no
preference shares in issue.

Further detail on the structure of the
Company'’s capital is set out in note 47 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Rights and Obligations attaching to
the classes of shares

Ordinary shares

Dividend rights

Under Irish law, dividends are payable
on the ordinary shares of the
Company only out of profits available
for distribution. Subject to the
provisions of the Companies Act 2014
(the ‘Companies Act’), holders of the
ordinary shares of the Company are
entitled to receive such dividends as
may be declared by the Company by
ordinary resolution, provided that the
dividend cannot exceed the amount
recommended by the Directors. The
Company may pay shareholders
interim dividends if it appears to the
Directors that they are justified by the
profits of the Company available for
distribution. Any dividend which has
remained unclaimed for twelve years
from the date of its declaration may be
forfeited and cease to remain owing
by the Company.

Voting rights

Voting at any general meeting is by a
show of hands or by poll. On a show
of hands, every shareholder who is
present in person or by proxy has one
vote regardless of the number of
ordinary shares held by him or her. On
a poll, every shareholder who is
present in person or by proxy has one
vote for every ordinary share of €1.00
each.
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A poll may be demanded by:

(i) the Chairman of the meeting;

(i) at least three members of the
Company present in person or by
proxy having the right to vote at
the meeting;

(iliy any member or members present
in person or by proxy representing
not less than one-tenth of the total
voting rights of all the members
having the right to vote at the
meeting; or

(iv) a member or members present in
person or by proxy holding shares
in the Company conferring the
right to vote at the meeting being
shares on which an aggregate
sum has been paid up equal to
not less than one-tenth of the total
sum paid up on all the shares
conferring that right.

The necessary quorum for a general
meeting is ten persons present in
person or by proxy and entitled to
vote. All business is considered to be
special business if it is transacted at
an Extraordinary General Meeting
(EGM) as is all business transacted at
an AGM other than the declaration of
a dividend, the consideration of the
Company’s statutory financial
statements and reports of the
Directors and Auditors on those
statements, the review by the
members of the Company’s affairs, the
election of Directors in the place of
those retiring, the reappointment of
the retiring Auditors (subject to
Sections 380 and 382 to 385 of the
Companies Act), the fixing of the
remuneration of the Auditors and the
consideration of a special resolution
for the purpose of Section 1102(2)(b)
of the Companies Act. Any business
that is required to be dealt with by way
of special resolution must be passed
by not less than 75 per cent of the
votes cast by such members as, being
entitled so to do, vote in person or by
proxy at a general meeting at which
not less than twenty one clear days’
notice specifying the text or substance
of the proposed resolution has been
duly given.

Any business that is required to be
dealt with by way of ordinary
resolution must be passed by a simple
majority of the votes cast by the
members as, being entitled to do so,
vote in person or by proxy at a general

meeting. Where an equal number of
votes have been cast on any
resolution the Chairman of the
meeting is not entitled to a second or
casting vote.

An EGM (other than an EGM called for
the passing of a special resolution)
may be called on at least 14 days’
notice where:

() the Company offers the facility for
members to vote by electronic
means accessible to all members
who hold shares that carry rights
to vote at general meetings; and

(i) a special resolution reducing the
period of notice to fourteen days
has been passed at the
immediately preceding AGM or at
an Extraordinary General Meeting
held since the immediately
preceding AGM.

Liquidation rights

In the event of any surplus arising on
the occasion of the liquidation of the
Company, the ordinary shareholders
would be entitled to a share in that
surplus in proportion to the capital at
the commencement of the liquidation
paid up or credited as paid up on the
ordinary shares held by them
respectively.

Preference shares

As at 31 December 2017, there were
no preference shares in issue. Where
authorised to issue authorised but
unissued shares in the capital of the
Company (including where relevant,
by shareholder approval under Section
1021 of the Companies Act), and
subject to the scope of any such
authority, in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association (the
‘Articles’), the Directors are authorised
to issue all or any of the authorised
but unissued preference shares from
time to time in one or more classes or
series, and to fix for each such class
or series such voting power, full or
limited or no voting power, and such
designations, preferences or special
rights and qualifications, limitations or
restrictions thereof in any resolution
adopted by the Directors providing for
the issuance of such class or series of
preference shares.
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Schedule to the Report of the Directors

Schedule to the Report of the Directors (continued)
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(i) Variation of class rights

Whenever the share capital of the
Company is divided into different
classes of shares, the rights attached
to any class may be varied or
abrogated with the consent in writing
of three-fourths in nominal value of the
issued shares of that class, or with the
sanction of a special resolution
passed at a separate general meeting
of the holders of the shares of that
class, either while the Company is a
going concern or during or in
contemplation of a winding-up.

(iii) Percentage of the Company’s

capital represented by class of
share

The ordinary shares represent 99.9%
of the authorised share capital and
100% of the issued share capital. The
preference shares represent 0.1% of
the authorised share capital and 0%
of the issued share capital.

Restrictions on the transfer of
shares in the Company

There are no restrictions imposed by
the Company on the transfer of
shares, nor are there any requirements
to obtain the approval of the Company
or other shareholders for a transfer of
shares, save in certain limited
circumstances set out in the Articles.
A copy of the Articles may be found
on www.bankofireland.com or may be
obtained on request from the Group
Secretary.

Persons with a significant direct or
indirect holding of stock in the
Company.

Details of significant shareholdings
may be found on page 113.

Special rights with regard to the
control of the Company

There are no special rights with regard
to control of the Company.

Shares relating to an employee
share scheme that carry rights with
regards to the control of the
Company that are not exercisable
directly by employees.

The Bank of Ireland Inland Revenue
Approved UK Stock Incentive Plan
(‘the SIP’) provides that in respect of

resolutions proposed at general
meetings of the Company, voting
rights in respect of shares held in trust
for employees who are participants in
the SIP are to be exercised in
accordance with the employees’
written instructions to the trustees of
the SIP. In the case of ‘any other
business’ at an AGM of the Company,
the SIP trustees are entitled to vote (or
refrain from voting) as they think fit.

Restrictions on voting rights
There are no unusual restrictions on
voting rights.

Agreements between shareholders
that are known to the Company and
may result in restrictions on the
transfer of securities or voting
rights.

There are no arrangements between
shareholders, known to the Company,
which may result in restrictions on the
transfer of securities or voting rights.

Rules of the Company concerning

the:

(a) appointment and replacement of
Directors
With the exception of any
Director(s) nominated by the
Minister for Finance under the
terms of the Credit Institutions
(Financial Support) Act 2008, all
Directors nominated between
AGMs are submitted to
shareholders for election at the
first AGM following their
co-option. In accordance with the
UK Code, all Directors other than
those nominated by the Minister
for Finance, retire by rotation
every year and, if eligible, may
offer themselves for re-election,
subject to satisfactory
performance evaluation. Any
Director(s) nominated by the
Minister for Finance are not
subject to retirement by rotation
but may not serve as a Director of
the Company for a period longer
than nine years after the date of
their appointment. In proposing
the election or re-election of any
individual Director to the AGM, the
reasons why the Board believes
that the individual should be
elected or re-elected are provided

in the Chairman’s Letter to
shareholders.

(b) amendment of the Company’s
Constitution
The Company’s Constitution may
be amended by special resolution
passed at an AGM or EGM. An
AGM and a Meeting called for the
passing of a special resolution
shall be called by at least twenty
one clear days’ notice. Special
resolutions must be approved by
not less than 75 per cent of the
votes cast by such members as,
being entitled so to do, vote in
person or by proxy. No business
may be transacted at any General
Meeting unless a quorum of
members is present at the time
when the Meeting proceeds to
business. Ten persons present in
person or by proxy and entitled to
vote shall constitute a quorum.

9. Powers of the Company’s Directors,

including powers in relation to
issuing or buying back by the
Company of its shares

Under its Articles, the business of the
Company is managed by the
Directors, who exercise all powers of
the Company as are not, by the
Articles, required to be exercised by
the Company in General Meeting. The
Directors may exercise all the
borrowing powers of the Company
and may give security in connection
therewith. These borrowing powers
may be amended or restricted only by
the shareholders in General Meeting.
The members of the Company in
General Meeting may at any time and
from time to time by resolution
increase the share capital of the
Company by such amount as they
think proper. Whenever the share
capital of the Company is so
increased, the Directors may, subject
to various provisions of the Atrticles,
issue shares to such amount not
exceeding the amount of such
enlargement as they think proper. All
ordinary shares so issued shall rank in
equal priority with existing ordinary
shares.

Subject to provisions of the
Companies Act, to any rights
conferred on any class of shares in the
Company and to the Articles, the
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Schedule to the Report of the Directors

Schedule to the Report of the Directors (continued)

10.

Company may purchase any of its
shares of any class and may cancel
any shares so purchased or hold such
shares as treasury shares (the
‘treasury shares’) with liberty to
re-issue any such treasury shares in
accordance with Section 109 of the
Companies Act 2014. The Company
shall not make market purchases of its
own shares unless such purchases
shall have been authorised by a
special resolution of the Company and
by a special resolution passed at a
separate general meeting of the
holders of each class of shares.

Significant agreements to which the
Company is a party that take effect,
alter or terminate upon a change of
control of the Company following a
bid and the effects of any such
agreements.

There are no significant agreements to
which the Company is party that take
effect, alter or terminate upon a
change of control of the Company

11.

following a bid, however, certain
Group agreements may be altered or
terminated upon a change of control
of the Bank following a takeover.
Those that may be deemed to be
significant in terms of their potential
impact on the business of the Group
as a whole are the joint ventures
between the Bank and Post Office
Limited in the UK (in respect of FX and
Post Office branded retail financial
service products) and the agreement
between Bank of Ireland (UK) plc, AA
plc and AA Financial Services Limited
in the UK (in respect of AA branded
financial services products).

Agreements between the Company
and its Directors or employees
providing for compensation for loss
of office or employment that occurs
because of a bid.

There are no agreements between the
Company and its Executive Directors
or employees providing for
compensation for loss of office or
employment (whether through

resignation, purported redundancy or
otherwise) that occur because of a
bid.

The service contracts for
Non-executive Directors do not make
provision for benefits on termination in
the event of a bid.
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Remuneration Report

Remuneration Restrictions

The Group' is currently operating under
significant Remuneration Restrictions
which cover all Directors, senior
management, employees and certain
service providers across the Group.

The Remuneration Restrictions were
contained within the Covered Institutions
Financial Support Scheme 2008 and the
‘Minister’s Letter’ (July 2011), under which
the Group gave a number of commitments
and undertakings to the Minister for
Finance in respect of remuneration
practices. The Minister’s Letter was a
further condition of the Transaction and
Underwriting Agreement entered into with
the Irish Government (July 2011) during
the 2011 Recapitalisation of the Group.

As a result of the Remuneration
Restrictions, the Group is currently unable
to provide a fixed / variable remuneration
mix, which results in risks in terms of
attraction, retention and alignment with
the needs of the business and some
inflexibilities with the cost base. If the
Group fails to recruit and retain skilled and
qualified people, its businesses may be
negatively impacted.

The Group considers itself to be in
compliance with these Remuneration
Restrictions.

In addition, in the absence of
Remuneration Restrictions, the Excess
Bank Remuneration Charge on Rol tax
residents in Covered Institutions?, which
results in @ maximum tax charge of 89%
where variable pay equals or exceeds
€20,000, would also impact the
application of the Group Remuneration
Policy.

Remuneration Report

The Group’s objective of attracting,
retaining and motivating high calibre
people is deemed fundamental to the
delivery of our business strategy. Subject
to the Remuneration Restrictions, we want
to ensure we have the right people in the
right roles and we recognise the
importance that our shareholders place in
the management of our remuneration
strategy, frameworks, policies and
practices. To reflect this, we operate
strong governance across the organisation
on the management of remuneration
frameworks, policies and practices that
support our strategy.

Governance Structures

Subject to the Remuneration Restrictions,
it is the Group Remuneration Committee’s
responsibility to consider, agree and
approve a remuneration strategy that
supports the Group’s objectives of long
term sustainability and success, sound
and effective risk management and good
corporate governance.

During 2017, independent advice was
received by the Group from a number of
external advisers on a range of issues
relating to remuneration including evolving
pay regulations, market pay practices,
international mobility and benefits.

European Banking Authority
Remuneration Guidelines (the
‘EBA Guidelines’)

The objective of these guidelines is to
ensure that an institution’s remuneration
policies and practices are consistent with
and promote sound and effective risk
management. They apply to all institutions
which are currently covered by the CRD
including the Group.

Whereas the Group seeks to ensure it
operates remuneration policies which are
compliant with regulatory guidelines, the
Group is currently operating under
significant governmental and legal
constraints in relation to remuneration.
The Group’s Remuneration Policy,
therefore, can only be implemented to the
extent possible given these Remuneration
Restrictions.

Code Role Holders

In accordance with EBA Guidelines for the
identification of those employees whose
professional activities are deemed to have
a material impact on the Group’s risk
profile, the Group maintains a list of these
employees, known as Code Role Holders.

Disclosure

During 2017, the Group continued to

comply with its annual requirements to

provide disclosures relating to:

e Remuneration at Bank of Ireland;

e Decision-making processes related to
the remuneration policy;

e Code Role Holders assessment and

reporting;

Remuneration Restrictions;

Link between pay and performance;

Group Remuneration Strategy;

Remuneration Expenditure; and

All Staff Reporting.

These disclosures were made as part of
the Group’s 2016 Pillar Ill disclosure in
February 2017. The Group’s 2017 Pillar Il
disclosures were made in February 2018.
Both are available on the Group’s website.

As a significant institution in an Irish
banking context, the Group is required to
submit additional disclosures under the
EBA Remuneration data collection
exercises. The Group continued to comply
with its annual reporting requirements in
2017, submitting the following reports via
the Central Bank of Ireland (the Central
Bank) to the Single Supervisory
Mechanism:
e 2016 European Benchmarking
exercise; and
e 2016 High Earners report.

Alignment of performance and reward
with risk

The Group’s Risk Appetite Statement as
set out on page 53 forms an integral
element of remuneration structures,
practices and frameworks. The Group’s
Risk Appetite Statement has been
cascaded, as appropriate, throughout the
Group.

Involvement of Risk Function

The Chairman of the BRC and the Court
Risk Committee and the Group Chief Risk
Officer attended the Group Remuneration
Committee meeting in November 2017. At
this meeting, the Group Chief Risk Officer,
reported on the Group’s risk profile and its
relationship to remuneration.

Attraction, Motivation and

Retention

The Group’s success depends in part on
the availability of high calibre people and
the continued services of members of its
management team, both at its head office
and at each of its business units.

If the Group fails to attract and
appropriately train, motivate and retain
high calibre people, its businesses may be
negatively impacted. Restrictions,
including the Remuneration Restrictions,
imposed on remuneration by Government,
tax or regulatory authorities or other
factors outside the Group’s control in
relation to the retention and recruitment of
employees may adversely impact on the
Group’s ability to attract and retain such
staff.

" References to ‘Group’ are to The Governor and Company of the Bank of Ireland from 1 January 2017 to 7 July 2017 and to Bank of Ireland Group plc from 7 July 2017 onwards.
2 Covered Institutions are defined as institutions that have executed a guarantee acceptance deed and have been designated in an order by the Minister for Finance under the
Credit Institutions (Financial Support) Scheme 2008. The Group’s covered institutions are The Governor and Company of the Bank of Ireland and Bank of Ireland Mortgage Bank.
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The Remuneration Restrictions place the
Group at an increasing competitive
disadvantage in seeking to retain and
attract staff, particularly those with certain
skill sets and in international locations.

Group Remuneration Policy
Subject to the Remuneration Restrictions,
the Group’s Remuneration Policy, which
aims to support the Group’s objectives of
long term sustainability and success,
sound and effective risk management and
good corporate governance, was
reviewed in 2017.

The application of this policy is consistent
with the Group’s Risk Appetite Statement
and regulations that govern remuneration
in the jurisdictions where the Group
operates.

Subject to the Remuneration Restrictions,
the Group Remuneration Policy seeks to
ensure that:

e the Group’s efforts are aligned with,
and contribute to, the long term
strategy, sustainability, value creation
and success of the Group;

e the Group has the necessary
remuneration philosophy, strategy and
framework to attract, retain and
motivate high calibre employees;

e the Group offers a competitive
remuneration package across all
markets, in a cost effective manner;

e remuneration frameworks, policies
and practices are simple, transparent,
easy to understand and implement;

e sound and effective risk management
is reflected in performance
management and remuneration
frameworks and their alignment to
performance targets and governance
structures;

e remuneration frameworks, policies
and practices are applied in
consideration of, and in alignment
with, the Group’s Risk Appetite
Statement and overall risk governance
framework;

e risk adjusted financial performance is
an important measure when evaluating
performance;

e business and individual performance
measures and targets are aligned with
business objectives at either a Group
or local business level, ensuring
alignment with business strategy, risk
measures and priorities and is based
on a balanced scorecard approach,
and designed and implemented to
avoid conflicts of interest from
adversely affecting the interests of
customers;

e all remuneration policies are subject to
appropriate governance;

e the Group is compliant with all
applicable regulatory remuneration
requirements as they relate to the
Group; and

e remuneration frameworks, policies,
processes, procedures, systems and
controls support and encourage
responsible business conduct, the fair
treatment of customers and mitigate
the potential for conflict between
commercial, customer and public
interests, thus avoiding any conflict
with staff’s duty to act in the best
interests of customers (or clients).

Subject to the Remuneration Restrictions,
the Group will continue to seek to ensure
that its remuneration strategy enables it to
be competitive and comprehensively
adhere to regulatory principles and
guidelines set out by relevant regulatory
authorities, including the EBA. These
design features support all remuneration
frameworks, policies and processes
across the Group, being applied
proportionately depending on the nature,
scale and complexity of the particular
business area.

Performance Management

A robust performance management
system and process, incorporating
performance planning and review, remains
critical and is a key pillar of the Group’s
compliance with remuneration guidelines.

The performance management framework
enables the Group to align individual,
business unit and divisional performance
to the Group’s strategic objectives through
an ongoing dialogue between managers
and their direct team members ensuring a
strong alignment to risk. Managers have
mandatory risk goals which reflect the
nature of their role and their seniority
within the Group and have an appropriate
weighting attached to them.

However, the Remuneration Restrictions
impact the effectiveness of the Group’s
performance management system as it
prevents a strong link between
performance and reward. In addition, the
lack of variable pay impacts the Group’s
ability to incentivise and reinforce cultural
change and the Group’s values of:

e Customer Centricity;

e One Group, One Team;

e Accountability; and

e Agility.

Remuneration Report

The Balanced Scorecard and Key
Result Areas

The Balanced Scorecard approach
incorporated within the Group’s
Performance Planning and Review
Process is consistent with the EBA
Guidelines.

It ensures that:

e organisational performance is
continually enhanced by measuring
staff against the four Key Result Areas
in the balanced scorecard;

e all key deliverables and
accountabilities of a role are taken into
account when performance is
assessed. For example, financial
results, risk management, impact on
customers, leadership and
development of people, regulatory and
compliance requirements; and

e acomprehensive view of an
individual’s performance is taken,
rather than focusing on one or two key
areas to the detriment of others.
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Each of the Key Result Areas that apply to

all employees in the Group has a minimum

weighting of 10%, dependent on the type

of role the individual is performing. All

weightings must add up to 100%. The Key

Result Areas are:

e Customer;

e |eadership, People and Personal
Development;

e Financial / Revenue / Cost / Efficiency;
and

e Risk (covers all areas of Risk including
Credit, Regulatory, Operational Risk
and Conduct Risk).

Goals set within these Key Result Areas
are linked to overall Divisional and Group
Strategy, support the achievement of
business unit objectives and are aligned to
the Group’s Risk Appetite Statement.

Key deliverables are agreed for each
employee with his / her line manager at
the beginning of the performance cycle.
Regular informal reviews take place at
times during the performance cycle. A
formal end of year review occurs at the
end of the performance cycle.

Remuneration packages for
Executive Directors

Ms Francesca McDonagh was appointed
as Group CEO with effect from 2 October
2017 and her remuneration was approved
by the Department of Finance.

For the year ended 31 December 2017,
the remuneration packages for Executive
Directors were governed by the
Remuneration Restrictions.
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Remuneration Report

The key elements of the remuneration
package in respect of the year ended 31
December 2017 were as follows (further
detail is available in table 1 on page 121):

Salary

Executive Director Salaries are paid
monthly and reviewed annually by the
Group Remuneration Committee; and

Retirement Benefits (Executive Directors)
e Mr Richie Boucher, CEO until 1
October 2017, has pension rights as

120 BankofIreland & Annual Report - year ended 31 December 2017

a member of the BSPF which is a
contributory DB scheme.

Mr Andrew Keating, CFO, is a
member of the BSPF which is a
contributory DB scheme and also a
member of the supplementary
section of the contributory RetireWell
defined contribution (DC)
arrangement.

Ms Francesca McDonagh, appointed
CEO on 2 October 2017, does not
participate in a Bank of Ireland
employee pension scheme.

Another potential element of the
remuneration package for Executive
Directors is:

Performance-related bonus scheme
Bonuses for Executive Directors are not
permitted under the Remuneration
Restrictions and none have been paid to
an Executive Director since 2008.



Remuneration Report

Directors’ remuneration

The information below forms an integral part of the audited financial statements as described in the Basis of preparation on page 147.

Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2017 (all figures in €000s)

Pension

Gross Performance Other funding Total
Table: 1 salary'? Fees® bonus* remuneration® contributions® 20177
Governor
A Kane 394 59 - 37 - 490
Deputy Governor
P Kennedy 126 - - - - 126
Executive Directors
F McDonagh 238 - - 8 - 246
(appointed 2 October 2017)
R Boucher 690 - - 34 240 964
(resigned 1 October 2017)
A Keating 468 - - 31 53 552
Non-executive Directors
K Atkinson - 110 - - - 110
P Butler - 154 - - - 154
(resigned 31 December 2017)
T Considine - 87 - - - 87
(resigned 31 December 2017)
R Goulding - 35 - - - 35
(appointed 20 July 2017)
P Haren - 117 - - - 117
D Marston - 74 - - - 74
B Martin® - 21 - - - 21
(resigned 28 April 2017)
F Muldoon - 71 - - - 71
P Mulvihill - 74 - - - 74
Totals 1,916 802 - 110 293 3,121
Ex-gratia payments paid to former Directors / dependents of The Governor and Company of the Bank of Ireland 178

Directors’ remuneration post corporate reorganisation

The Group has implemented a corporate reorganisation which resulted in Bank of Ireland Group plc (‘BOIG plc’) being introduced as
the listed holding company of the Group on 7 July 2017, see note 46 on page 203 for further details. Since 29 April 2017, the Board
and main Committees of BOIG plc and the Court of the Bank comprise the same Directors and the Directors have not received any
additional remuneration as a result of their appointment to the Board of BOIG plc. Since 7 July 2017, the aggregate amount of
emoluments paid to or receivable by Directors for the current financial period was €2,080,622; this includes salaries, any amount of
expenses (insofar as chargeable to tax) that were paid to or receivable by Directors, cash equivalent of annual leave that was due but
not taken by the Directors at the year-end date, together with any other benefits.

! The Governor and Deputy Governor, as Non-executive Officers of the Company, are remunerated by way of non-pensionable salary. A Kane receives an annual non-pensionable
salary of €394,000 for his role as Governor. In addition he has a consultancy arrangement with Bank of Ireland (UK) plc in respect of which he receives an annual fee of €59,000.
He also receives an accommodation, utilities and car allowance of €37,000 per annum.

2 The Group Chief Financial Officer, A Keating, receives an annual salary of €468,000. His annual salary for pension purposes is €240,000 and the balance of his salary (€228,000)
is excluded for pension purposes.

3 Fees are paid to Non-executive Directors and a basic fee of €63,000 per annum applies. Additional fees are paid to the Senior Independent Director, Committee Chairmen and
for Committee membership. On 1 February 2009, all Non-executive Directors agreed to reduce their fees by 25%. These reductions applied throughout 2017. The basic fee of
€63,000 is the reduced fee. In addition to the above, P Butler was appointed as Non-executive Director and committee member of Bank of Ireland (UK) plc with effect from 10
January 2017 and received separate fees for these roles (Stg£58,750, equivalent €67,140 for the year ended 31 December 2017).

4 No bonuses were awarded in respect of 2017.

5 The figures include car allowances and, where applicable, benefits in kind.

6 The amounts shown for R Boucher and A Keating relate to the Group’s pension funding contribution in respect of the pension benefit they accrued in line with their contractual
entitlement during 2017. There were no changes to Executive Directors’ contractual pension benefit entitlements in the year. The pension funding cost to the Group, in relation to
the Group’s sponsored DB schemes, is updated following triennial pension scheme valuations to reflect changing market conditions and actuarial assumptions. The pension
funding cost also reflects the increased actuarial cost of each year’s accrual as each Executive Director’s term to normal retirement age reduces. All pension amounts have been
determined by Willis Towers Watson, the Group’s actuarial advisors, and are approved by the Group Remuneration Committee.

7 In addition to the amounts shown, the Group bears the total costs of Directors’ travel and subsistence to and from Board and Committee meetings or while on the business of
the Group.

8 The amounts shown for B Martin relate to his role as Non-executive Director of The Governor and Company of the Bank of Ireland until 28 April 2017, his date of resignation.
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Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2016 (all figures in €000s)

Pension
Gross Performance Other funding Total
salary'? Fees® bonus* remuneration® contributions® 20167

Governor
A Kane 394 59 - 37 - 490

()

Q D

(€ eputy Governor

© P Kennedy 126 - - - - 126

(=

P -

() Executive Directors

8 R Boucher 690 - - 34 234 958

(O] A Keating 468 - - 31 53 552
Non-executive Directors
K Atkinson - 106 - - - 106
P Butler - 87 - - - 87
T Considine - 93 - - - 93
P Haren - 165 - - - 165
D Marston - 79 - - - 79
B Martin - 65 - - - 65
F Muldoon - 71 - - - 71
P Mulvihill - 79 - - - 79
Totals 1,678 804 - 102 287 2,871
Ex-gratia payments paid to former Directors / dependents 199

Executive share options held by Directors and Secretary

No share options were granted or exercised during 2017 and there were no options to subscribe for ordinary shares outstanding in
favour of the Executive Directors or Secretary as at 31 December 2017.

External appointments held by Executive Directors

For part of the period during which he was Executive Director and Group CEO (10 January 2017 to 1 October 2017), R Boucher held
the position of non-executive director of Eurobank Ergasias S.A. (‘Eurobank’), for which he received fees in accordance with the
remuneration policy of Eurobank. See page 95 for further details.

' The Governor and Deputy Governor, as Non-executive Officers of the Bank, are remunerated by way of non-pensionable salary. A Kane receives an annual non-pensionable
salary of €394,000 for his role as Governor. In addition he has a consultancy arrangement with Bank of Ireland (UK) plc in respect of which he receives an annual fee of €59,000.
He also receives an accommodation, utilities and car allowance of €37,000 per annum.

2 The Group Chief Financial Officer, A Keating, receives an annual salary of €468,000. His annual salary for pension purposes is €240,000 and the balance of his salary (€228,000)
is excluded for pension purposes.

3 Fees are paid to Non-executive Directors and a basic fee of €63,000 per annum applies. Additional fees are paid to the Senior Independent Director, Committee Chairmen and
for Committee membership. On 1 February 2009, all Non-executive Directors agreed to reduce their fees by 25%. These reductions applied throughout 2016. The basic fee of
€63,000 is the reduced fee. In addition to the above, P Haren served as Non-executive Director and committee member of Bank of Ireland (UK) plc until 15 September 2016 and
received separate fees for these roles (Stg£38,958, equivalent €48,831 for the year ended 31 December 2016).

4 No bonuses were awarded in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016.

5 The figures include car allowances and, where applicable, benefits in kind.

6 The amounts shown for R Boucher and A Keating relate to the Group’s pension funding contribution in respect of the pension benefit they accrued in line with their contractual
entitlement during 2016. There were no changes to Executive Directors’ contractual pension benefit entitlements in the year. The pension funding cost to the Group, in relation to
the Group’s sponsored DB schemes, is updated following triennial pension scheme valuations to reflect changing market conditions and actuarial assumptions. The pension
funding cost also reflects the increased actuarial cost of each year’s accrual as each Executive Director’s term to normal retirement age reduces. All pension amounts have been
determined by Willis Towers Watson, the Group’s actuarial advisors, and are approved by the Group Remuneration Committee.

7 In addition to the amounts shown, the Group bears the total costs of Directors’ travel and subsistence to and from Court and committee meetings or while on the business of the
Group.
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Directors’ pension benefits

Remuneration Report

Set out below are details of the change in accrued pension benefits for the Directors during 2017.

(a) Additional

inflation-adjusted (c) Accrued

accrued (b) Increase in DB pension
DB pension DB transfer benefits at (d) Group
in the year value 31 December 2017 DC contributions
Table: 2 € € € €

Executive Directors

R Boucher 11,949 287,924 369,549 -
A Keating 3,211 30,281 44,104 8,000

Column (a) represents the
inflation-adjusted increase in each
individual's accrued DB pension during
the year. Increases are shown after the
opening position has been adjusted for
known statutory revaluation, and comprise
allowance for additional pensionable
service, any increases in pensionable
earnings and any agreed adjustment in the
individual's pension accrual. This is in line
with the requirements of the Listing Rules
and the related actuarial professional
guidance.

Column (b) is the additional capital value,
less each Director's contributions, of
Column (a) which could arise if the DB
pension were to be transferred to another
pension plan on the Director leaving the
Group and is calculated using factors
supplied by the actuary in accordance
with actuarial guidance notes ASP PEN-2,
and is based on leaving service pension
benefits becoming payable at normal
retirement date, age 60.

Directors’ and Secretary’s interests in shares

Column (c) is the aggregate DB pension
benefit payable at normal retirement age
based on each Director's pensionable
service with the Group at 31 December
2017.

Column (d) is the Group's contributions to
the supplementary section of its RetireWell
defined contribution (DC) arrangement.

The beneficial interests of the Directors and Secretary in shares issued by the Group as disclosed to the Group are detailed below in

accordance with Irish Listing Rule LR 6.8.3(1).

Number of €1.00 Units of
Number of €1.00 ordinary shares €0.05 ordinary Units of €0.05
ordinary shares in BOIG plc at stock in the ordinary stock
in BOIG plc at 7 July 2017 or at Bank at in the Bank at
Table: 3 31 December 2017 date of appointment 7 July 2017 1 January 2017
Directors
K Atkinson 67 67 2,000 2,000
P Butler 3,084 3,084 92,519 92,519
T Considine 1,917 1,917 57,500 57,500
R Goulding 2,000 - - -
P Haren 1,334 1,334 40,000 40,000
A G Kane 7,036 7,036 211,074 211,074
A Keating 10,961 10,961 328,805 328,805
P Kennedy 75,156 75,156 2,254,642 2,254,642
D Marston 3,333 3,333 100,000 100,000
F McDonagh 2,000 = S S
F Muldoon 2,866 2,866 85,979 85,979
P Mulvihill 167 167 5,000 5,000
Secretary
H Nolan 2,669 2,669 80,043 80,043

Apart from the interests set out above, the Directors and Secretary had no other interests in the shares / securities of the Company or
its Group undertakings at 31 December 2017. There has been no change in the interests of each Director disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of article 19 of the Market Abuse Regulation occurring between the end of the period under review and 16

February 2018.

! As part of the corporate reorganisation described in note 46, on 7 July 2017 holders of ordinary stock in the Bank were issued with BOIG plc shares on the basis of the exchange
ratio of one BOIG plc share for each individual holding of 30 units of ordinary stock in the Bank.
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Financial Statements
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The following statement, which should be
read in conjunction with the Independent
Auditors’ Report set out on pages 125 to
136, is made with a view to distinguishing
for shareholders the respective
responsibilities of the Directors and of the
Auditors in relation to the financial
statements.

The Directors are responsible for
preparing the Annual Report and the
consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by
the European Union (EU) and with those
parts of the Companies Act 2014
applicable to companies reporting under
IFRS, the European Union (Credit
Institutions: Financial Statements)
Regulations, 2015 and, in respect of the
consolidated financial statements, Article
4 of the IAS Regulation.

The Directors are responsible for
preparing the Company financial
statements in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland
(accounting standards issued by the
Financial Reporting Council of the UK,
including Financial Reporting Standard
101 ‘Reduced disclosure framework’, and
promulgated by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Ireland and Irish law).

Under Irish law the Directors shall not
approve the Group's and Company's
financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the Group's and the Company's assets,
liabilities and financial position as at the
end of the financial period and of the profit
or loss of the Group for the financial year.

In preparing these financial statements,

the Directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and
then apply them consistently;

e make judgements and estimates that
are reasonable and prudent;

Signed on behalf of the Board by
23 February 2018

e state whether the consolidated
financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS
adopted by the EU, and the Company
financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with FRS 101,
and ensure that they contain the
additional information required by the
Companies Act 2014; and

e prepare the financial statements on
the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the
Group and Company will continue in
business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to:

e correctly record and explain the
transactions of the Company;

e enable, at any time, the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit
or loss of the Company to be
determined with reasonable accuracy;
and

e enable the Directors to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2014, and as regards
the Group financial statements, Article
4 of the IAS Regulation and enable the
financial statements to be audited.

The Directors are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and
the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and the
requirements of the Listing Rules issued
by the Irish and London Stock Exchanges,
the Directors are also responsible for
preparing a Directors’ Report and reports
relating to Directors’ remuneration and
corporate governance. The Directors are
also required by the Transparency
(Directive 2004/109/EC) Regulations 2007
and the Transparency Rules to include a
management report containing a fair

review of the business and a description
of the Principal Risks and Uncertainties
facing the Group.

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and financial information included on the
Company’s website.

Legislation in Ireland governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of

each Director’s knowledge and belief:

e they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial
statements;

e the consolidated financial statements,
prepared in accordance with IFRS as
adopted by the European Union, give
a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities and financial position of the
Group and of the profit of the Group;

e the Company financial statements,
prepared in accordance with FRS 101,
give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities and financial position of the
Company;

e the management report contained in
the Business Review includes a fair
review of the development and
performance of the business and the
position of the Group and the
Company, together with a description
of the Principal Risks and
Uncertainties that they face; and

e the Annual Report and the financial
statements, taken as a whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group’s
position and performance, business
model and strategy.

Archie G Kane
Chairman
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Patrick Kennedy
Deputy Chairman

Francesca McDonagh
Group Chief Executive



Independent Auditors’ Report

to the members of Bank of Ireland Group plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

e Bank of Ireland Group plc’s Consolidated financial statements and Company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) give a
true and fair view of the Group’s and the Company’s assets, liabilities and financial position as at 31 December 2017 and of the
Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

e the Consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union;

e the Company financial statements for the period from 28 November 2016, date of incorporation, to 31 December 2017 (the
‘period’) have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland (accounting
standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure
Framework’ and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland and Irish law); and

e the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014 and, as
regards the Consolidated financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise:

the Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017;

the Company balance sheet as at 31 December 2017;

the Consolidated income statement and Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the Consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;

the Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the Company statement of changes in equity for the period then ended; and

the notes to the Consolidated and Company financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting
policies.

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial statements.
These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Group Audit Committee.
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (‘ISAs (Ireland)’) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (Ireland) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Bank of Ireland Group (the ‘Group’) in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Ireland, which includes the Irish Auditing and Accounting Standards Authority’s (‘IAASA’) Ethical
Standard as applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by IAASA’s Ethical Standard were not provided
to the Group or the Company.

Other than those disclosed in note 14, to the Consolidated financial statements and note i to the Company financial statements, we

have provided no non-audit services to the Group in the year ended 31 December 2017 and in respect of the Company in the period
from 28 November 2016 to 31 December 2017.

Annual Report - year ended 31 December 2017 Bankoflreland&® 125



Independent Auditors’ Report

Our audit approach

Overview

Materiality

e Overall Group materiality: €45 million which represents 5% of the weighted average of the
Group’s profit before tax for the years ended 31 December 2017, 31 December 2016 and
31 December 2015. (2016: €50 million).

e Overall Company materiality: €80 million which represents 1% of net assets.

Materiality

Audit scope

e Our audit work addressed each of the Group’s five operating segments which are Audit scope
headquartered in Ireland and the UK: Retail Ireland, Bank of Ireland Life, Retail UK,
Corporate and Treasury and Group Centre.

e We performed full scope audits of the complete financial information of the Bank of Ireland
Life and Retail UK operating segments and of the two individually financially significant
business units within the Retail Ireland and Corporate and Treasury operating segments.

e Audits of or specified audit procedures on selected account balances, classes of
transactions or disclosures were performed at other business units within the Retalil
Ireland, Corporate and Treasury and Group Centre operating segments.

Key audit
matters

N e Audit coverage for individual line items within the Consolidated income statement and
c Consolidated balance sheet falls in the range 60% to 100%; most line items have audit
) coverage above 90%.
GEJ e See pages 132 and 133 for further details.
—
-9 Key audit matters
(2 e Impairment provision on loans and advances to customers including IFRS 9 transition.
@© e Recoverability of deferred tax assets.
) e Retirement benefit obligation - determination of the pension liability.
(= .. L
© e Provision for Tracker Mortgage Examination.
£ e Valuation of the insurance contract liabilities and the Value of In Force business (ViF) asset.
L o ITrisk.
e Recoverability of the carrying value of the investment by Bank of Ireland Group plc in The Governor and Company of the Bank of
Ireland.

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements.
In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we also addressed
the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)
identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures

thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.
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Our audit approach (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment provision on loans and advances to customers including
IFRS 9 transition

Refer to page 107 (Corporate Governance Statement), pages 153, 154
and 159 (Group accounting policies), pages 160 and 161 (Critical
accounting estimates and judgements), page 56 to 70 (credit risk
section of the Risk Management Report), pages 172 and 173 (note 15 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements), pages 180 to 184
(notes 27 and 28 of the Consolidated financial statements) and pages
243 to 277 (Supplementary asset quality and forbearance disclosures).

The determination of impairment provisions requires a significant
amount of management judgement and the calculations are reliant
upon available reliable data, particularly the impairment provisions for
certain secured lending portfolios.

We focused in particular on the assumptions underlying the calculation
of modelled provisions relating to Residential mortgages (Ireland & UK)
and the discounted cash flow assessments in the secured lending
portfolios of the Business Banking Ireland, Business Banking UK and
Corporate Banking business units as these assumptions are often
complex. Given the scale of these portfolios, these assumptions create
a risk of material misstatement in the financial statements.

IAS 8 requires the Group to disclose the impact of the adoption of IFRS
9 (which is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018). We consider this to be a key audit matter because new
models have been developed to calculate IFRS 9 impairment losses
(see pages 68 to 70) and judgement is required in a number of
significant areas especially in relation to the calculation of Expected
Credit Loss.

Independent Auditors’ Report

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Provisions for Residential mortgages (Ireland & UK) are determined
using internally generated models. Historical experience and
management judgement are incorporated into the model assumptions.
We assessed and tested the design and operating effectiveness of the
controls over source data and calculations. This included controls over
the identification of loans and advances classified as impaired and the
calculation of the resulting impairment provision. We also tested the
completeness and accuracy of underlying data from the Group’s source
systems. Where changes were made to the model parameters and
assumptions, we understood the rationale and considered the
appropriateness of such changes. We used specialists from our Data
Services team and Actuarial practice in the evaluation of the operation
of the models. We also challenged key assumptions by comparison to
externally available information.

Provisions for loans identified as impaired in the secured lending
portfolios are determined by means of discounted cash flows. We
assessed and tested the design and operating effectiveness of the
controls over lending, including those relating to the appropriateness of
loan grading and the robustness of internal reviews of loan grading. Our
testing incorporated the selection of samples of individual loans. We
critically assessed, by reference to the underlying documentation and
through discussion with management, whether the trigger for an
impairment had occurred. We challenged the reasonableness of
management's judgement in this regard. For impaired loans, we
examined the forecasts of future cash flows prepared by management
to support the calculation of the impairment provision. We challenged
the assumptions and compared estimates to external support where
available. Where appropriate, this work involved considering third party
valuations of collateral, internal valuation guidelines derived from
benchmark data and / or externally prepared reports to determine
whether appropriate valuation methodologies were employed.

We critically assessed the Group’s rationalisation of the overall
provision levels to consider in particular whether all relevant risks are
reflected in the provisions. We also assessed the reasonableness of the
total provisions having regard to available external data.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained, we

concluded that:

e we could place reliance for the purposes of our audit on the key
controls over the Group’s processes for determining impairment
provisions; and that

* management’s assumptions, models and methodologies produced
impairment provisions which fall within a range of reasonable best
estimates.

In respect of the disclosure of the impact of IFRS 9, we obtained an
understanding of and evaluated management’s process for the
calculation of the transition adjustment including governance over the
determination of key judgements. These included probability weighted
macroeconomic scenarios, staging criteria and forward looking
information. We read key technical papers prepared by management
during the transition project as part of our assessment of the
effectiveness of the implementation.

We tested the controls developed by management for the purpose of
generating the transition adjustment for both Impairment and
Classification & Measurement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Our audit approach (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment provision on loans and advances to customers including
IFRS 9 transition (continued)

With the assistance of PwC actuarial and risk specialists, we tested key
IFRS 9 models developed by management where these were relevant
to the calculation of the transition adjustment. We challenged the
reasonableness and appropriateness of key assumptions and
judgements made by management, We also considered the output of
management’s Classification & Measurement workstream for
consistency with our understanding of the Group’s business models.

Finally, we considered management’s rationalisation of the overall
calculated impact of IFRS 9 on the Balance Sheet position at 1 January
2018.

We concluded that the Group’s process for estimating the transition
adjustment including the selection of assumptions and evaluation of
model outputs was reasonable. We consider that the disclosures reflect
the circumstances of the Group and the requirements of IAS 8.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

Refer to page 107 (Corporate Governance Statement), page 156
(Group accounting policies), page 161 (Critical accounting estimates
and judgements) and pages 189 and 190 (note 35 to the Consolidated
financial statements).

The Group has deferred tax assets (net of offsettable deferred tax
liabilities) of €1,184 million as at 31 December 2017. Tax losses carried
forward from prior years account for the major part of the gross
deferred tax asset. The Group has been profitable for a number of
years.

As set out in note 2 to the Consolidated financial statements ‘Critical
accounting estimates and judgements’, a deferred tax asset is
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences and
unutilised tax losses can be utilised.

The recognition of a deferred tax asset relies on management’s
judgements surrounding the probability, timing and sufficiency of future
taxable profits, which in turn is based on assumptions concerning
future economic conditions and business performance and legislation
governing the use of historical trading losses carried forward.

Under UK and Irish tax legislation, there is no time limit on the
utilisation of the Group’s tax losses. However, in the UK the amount of
a bank’s annual profits that can be sheltered with trading losses carried
forward is restricted to 25%.

We regard this area as a key audit matter because of the judgements
required as to the probability of the availability of taxable profits for
many years into the future.
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As set out on page 107 of the Corporate Governance Statement,
detailed projections of future taxable profits for a five year period are
prepared by the Group. The projections for the final year are then
extrapolated at estimated annual long term growth rates for the Irish
and UK economies for the purposes of projecting future taxable profits
beyond five years.

We evaluated and tested key controls over the determination and
approval of the forecast taxable profits used to support the recognition
of the deferred tax assets. We also assessed management’s basis for
allocating forecast profits between legal entities by testing the
allocation methodology, challenging significant assumptions and using
our experience of the Group’s activities.

We considered whether the combination of the Group’s current
profitability and the Directors’ projections provide appropriate evidence
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to utilise unused tax
losses. As part of our audit work, we evaluated the relevant
macroeconomic assumptions and growth assumptions underlying the
projections in the context of economic consensus forecasts.

We assessed the basis for management’s conclusion that the recovery
period for trading losses carried forward in the Bank’s UK branch
should be restricted to ten years being the period over which the
Directors can conclude that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available in the UK branch.

On the basis of the work performed, we concluded that the Group’s net
deferred tax asset met the criteria for recognition under IAS 12 and that
its carrying value was therefore reasonable.



Our audit approach (continued)

Key audit matter

Retirement benefit obligation - determination of the pension liability
Refer to page 107 (Corporate Governance Statement), pages 155 and
156 (Group accounting policies), pages 161 and 162 (Critical
accounting estimates and judgements), and pages 195 to 201 (note 44
to the Consolidated financial statements).

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension schemes and
has an aggregate IAS 19 defined benefit pension deficit of €477 million.

As disclosed on page 196, during 2017, the Group, with the support of
its external actuarial advisers, refined its approach to the determination
of the discount rate used to value Sterling denominated liabilities on an
IAS 19 basis. The effect of the refinement was to reduce the Group’s
IAS 19 pension deficit by €110 million.

We regard the determination of the Group’s defined benefit pension
liability as a key audit matter because its valuation is complex and
requires judgement in choosing appropriate actuarial assumptions.
These assumptions can have a material impact on the calculation of the
liability.

Provision for Tracker Mortgage Examination

Refer to page 107 (Corporate Governance Statement), page 155
(Group accounting policies), page 162 (Critical accounting estimates
and judgements) and pages 194 and 195 (note 43 to the Consolidated
financial statements).

In December 2015, the Central Bank of Ireland requested that the
Group conduct an examination of its Irish mortgage loan book to
assess compliance with both the Group’s legal obligations and the
applicable regulatory frameworks. Prior years’ financial statements
included provisions and contingent liabilities arising from the output of
the examination at the time.

In November 2017 and following intervention by the Central Bank and
internal review, the Group announced that it had decided to include
5,400 additional accounts within the scope of its examination.

The financial statements reflect an incremental charge of €170 million
which includes the impact of the additional accounts and other
matters.

We consider this to be a key audit matter because of its materiality to
the financial statements and the significant uncertainties and
judgements inherent in its estimation.

Independent Auditors’ Report

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We considered the reasonableness of the key actuarial assumptions
(principally the discount rates, inflation rates and demographic
assumptions) used to determine the pension liability.

We used PwC actuarial experts to assist the audit team to challenge
management in relation to the assumptions and methodology applied
including benchmarking to external data as appropriate.

With the assistance of our actuarial experts, we considered the
changes which the Group made to its approach to the determination of
the discount rate for its Sterling schemes and we assessed their
reasonableness in the circumstances of those Sterling pension
schemes and their consistency with the requirements of IAS 19.
Because the changes relied to a significant extent on the advice of the
Group’s external actuarial experts, we considered their independence,
read reports prepared by them for management and subsequently, met
with them to discuss and challenge their work.

We concluded that the assumptions and methodologies adopted by
management to calculate the Group’s defined benefit pension liabilities
were reasonable. We read and assessed the disclosures made by
management in the financial statements including those explaining and
quantifying the effect of the changes made to the determination of the
discount rate for the Sterling schemes and found them to be
appropriate and consistent with the requirements of IFRS.

We understood and tested the key controls and management’s
processes for the calculation and review of the Tracker Mortgage
Examination charge and provision including governance processes and
approvals of model assumptions and outputs.

We found that the key controls were implemented and operated
effectively and therefore, we determined that we could place reliance
on these key controls for the purposes of our audit.

In addition:

e We read the 2017 correspondence between the Central Bank of
Ireland and the Group in relation to the Tracker Mortgage
Examination and discussed the principal matters arising with
senior management and, where necessary, with those charged
with governance.

e We read the minutes of key governance meetings including those
of the Board, and of various management committees, as well as
attending Group and subsidiary Audit Committee meetings.

e We updated our understanding and challenged the provisioning
methodologies and underlying assumptions used by management.
For example, we challenged the basis that management used for
forecasting the number of appeals that will be received in the
future. We also independently performed sensitivity analysis on the
key assumptions.

In discussions with management, we challenged the judgements made
in the calculation of the charge and provision for other matters.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Our audit approach (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Provision for Tracker Mortgage Examination (continued)

Valuation of the insurance contract liabilities and the Value of in
Force business (ViF) asset

Refer to page 108 (Corporate Governance Statement), pages 148 and
157 (Group accounting policies), page 162 (Critical accounting
estimates and judgements), and pages 191, 193 and 194 (notes 37 and
41 to the Consolidated financial statements).

As described on page 148, the Group voluntarily changed its
accounting policy for the valuation of its life assurance operations
during the year to align it to the new basis for determining the valuation
of liabilities on a regulatory (Solvency Il) basis and ViF on a market
consistent basis. The change in accounting policy has been accounted
for retrospectively as required by IAS 8 and comparative periods have
been restated to reflect this change. Further information of the impact
of the restatement is provided at page 230.

We consider the calculation of insurance contract liabilities and the ViF
asset to be a key audit matter because the estimation of the insurance
contracts liabilities and the valuation of the ViF asset (being the
discounted future margins on insurance contracts are complex
calculations and involve the use of detailed methodologies, multiple
assumptions and significant judgements. The voluntary change in
accounting policy has resulted in some changes in methodologies and
assumptions.

Given the inherent uncertainty in the calculation, we considered the
residual risks and uncertainties relating to the determination of
management’s estimate of the total ultimate cost of the examination
and the adequacy of disclosures within the financial statements.

We concluded that:

e the estimate of the additional charge recognised in the 2017
financial statements was reasonable given the information
currently available.

e the related disclosures in the financial statements including the
description of the residual risks and uncertainties were reasonable.

We considered the appropriateness of the change in methodology as a
change in accounting policy (rather than a change in estimate) and the
appropriateness of the change of policy as being more relevant and no
less reliable than the previous policy as required by IFRS. In addition,
we assessed the appropriateness of the related disclosure in the
financial statements. No matters arose from our audit procedures.

We evaluated, with the assistance of our actuarial specialists, the
processes and controls surrounding the selection and determination of
the methodologies applied, assumptions used and judgements
reached.

We assessed and challenged the bases used to set the underlying
assumptions (the key assumptions being the discount rate, unit growth
rate, persistency, mortality, morbidity and expenses) by reference to
guidance issued by the European Insurance and Occupational
Pensions Authority, Group experience, published mortality tables and
wider market practice.

We assessed the design and operating effectiveness of controls
operated by management to ensure that authorised changes to the
actuarial models used to value insurance contract liabilities and the ViF
asset (to reflect in particular the voluntary change in accounting policy)
had been properly applied to them and that other than these changes,
the models were consistent with those used in prior years.

We assessed the calculations underpinning the insurance contract
liabilities and ViF asset which are performed on management’s actuarial
models by:

e checking that the data and the assumptions input into the actuarial
model were in agreement with those that we had evaluated;

e assessing management’s controls over the output of the
calculations including comparison and understanding of how that
output compares to management’s detailed estimations of the
sources of profit within the principal classes of insurance and
investment products; and

e reading the report of the Group’s external actuarial experts
retained to undertake an independent examination of
management’s methodologies, judgements and assumptions.

We concluded that the insurance contract liabilities and the ViF asset
were appropriately calculated. No matters arose from our assessment
and testing of the underlying processes, controls and models.
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Our audit approach (continued)

Key audit matter

IT risk
Refer to page 108 (Corporate Governance Statement).

The Group has a complex IT environment and operates a large number
of IT applications to support its business activities. A significant
number of these applications (whether developed by management or
purchased from third party vendors) have been in place for many years.
There is a mix of automated and manual interfaces between
applications. The Group’s IT control framework over financial reporting
includes standardised IT general controls most of which relate to a
number of applications, designed to prevent or detect material
misstatements in the Group’s recording, processing and reporting of
financial information.

The Group is executing a multi-year investment programme to replace
its core banking IT platform and to upgrade its payments applications.
This programme operates alongside existing initiatives to maintain the
operating effectiveness of the Group’s IT systems as well as managing
other matters including increased expectations from regulators and
customers. Each of these elements has been brought together in an
Integrated IT Plan which, inter alia, establishes priorities and identifies
resource needs.

Group Internal Audit (GIA) examines and reports on IT internal control
and operational risk matters.

Management has an ongoing risk management programme in place to
identify, rate, mitigate and report on risk including IT and Operational
risk considerations.

We regard this area as a key audit matter because the Group’s
business is highly IT dependent, the IT environment is complex and the
design and operating effectiveness of IT controls and of IT risk
mitigants supports the financial reporting process.

Independent Auditors’ Report

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Using IT audit specialists, we updated our understanding of the
Group’s IT environment and identified changes made to it during 2017.
In particular, we considered the progress of management’s Integrated
IT Plan, the outputs from management’s IT risk management process
and the findings of internal audit examinations conducted by GIA. We
assessed the impact of these matters on the assessed risks of material
misstatement to the financial statements in determining our audit
approach.

We considered those IT risks and significant GIA IT audit findings that
management and we assessed as relevant to financial reporting and
tested and challenged management’s documented assessment of the
mitigation of these risks relevant to financial reporting.

We also considered management’s documentation and testing of the
design and operating effectiveness of the IT controls within the Group’s
Internal Control Framework over financial reporting and tested the
design and operating effectiveness of those controls upon which we
wished to rely. Where relevant, we considered whether compensating
controls acted as effective mitigants of design or operating deficiencies
identified by management or us. In the absence of sufficient
compensating controls, we examined, tested and challenged
management’s documented assessments of the risk which control
deficiencies posed to the financial reporting process

We concluded following completion of our audit procedures that
management’s assessments of the impact of IT risk matters on the
financial reporting process were reasonable and that we could place
reliance on the operation of in-scope IT systems and reports generated
from them.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Our audit approach (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recoverability of the carrying value of the investment by Bank of
Ireland Group plc in The Governor and Company of the Bank of
Ireland

Refer to page 108 (Corporate Governance Statement), page 235
(Company accounting policies and Critical accounting estimates and
judgements) and page 236 (note c to the Company financial
statements) - Company financial statements only.

The Group completed a corporate reorganisation during 2017 which
included the creation of a new Group holding company, Bank of Ireland
Group plc (the ‘Company’). Its balance sheet at 31 December 2017
includes an investment in The Governor and Company of the Bank of
Ireland (GovCo) with a carrying value of €7 billion.

On 26 October 2017, GovCo declared and approved a €1 billion
dividend payment to the Company. This dividend payment was
approved by the European Central Bank on 11 December 2017 and
recognised by the Company in its income statement for the period from
28 November 2016 to 31 December 2017. The dividend is a potential
impairment indicator because the Group’s market capitalisation in the
period since the corporate reorganisation has not been significantly in
excess of its tangible net asset value. As a result, the Company is
required to estimate the recoverable amount of its investment in GovCo
at 31 December 2017.

In accordance with IAS 36 the recoverable amount of the investment is
defined as the higher of (i) its fair value less costs of disposal and (ji) its
value in use.

We consider this a key audit matter given the materiality of the
investment and the judgement associated with the assessment of its
recoverability.

How we tailored the audit scope

We evaluated management’s assessment of the fair value less costs of
disposal of the investment in GovCo which they based on the Group’s
market capitalisation both before and after the accounting year end and
on external broker reports.

As set out on page 107 of the Corporate Governance Statement,
detailed projections of future profits for a five year period are prepared
by the Group. The projections for the final year are then extrapolated at
estimated annual long term growth rates for the Irish and UK
economies for the purposes of projecting future taxable profits beyond
five years. The projections are used to support management’s value in
use calculation.

We evaluated and tested key controls over the production and approval
of the projections of future profits.

We assessed and challenged the assumptions underlying the
projections and considered other potential scenarios.

Where available, we relied on external benchmarks to validate the
Board’s assumptions.

We tested and challenged management’s identification of the Group’s
key cash generating units and process for selecting discount rates.

We concluded that management’s assertion that the carrying value of
the Company’s investment in GovCo is not impaired, is reasonable and
that disclosure of management’s consideration of the matter in the
financial statements is appropriate in the context of the requirements of
IFRS.

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements
as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group

operates.

The Group is structured along five operating segments being Retail Ireland, Bank of Ireland Life, Retail UK, Corporate and Treasury and
Group Centre. Each operating segment comprises a number of business units. The Group financial statements are a consolidation of

the business units.

In establishing the overall approach to the Group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed at each operating
segment and business unit by us, as the Group engagement team, or by component PwC auditors operating under our instructions
(‘component auditors’). Where the work was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement we needed to
have in their audit work to be able to conclude whether sufficient audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the

Consolidated financial statements as a whole.

We performed a full scope audit of the complete financial information of the Bank of Ireland Life and Retail UK operating segments due
to their size, location and risk characteristics. We also performed full scope audits of the complete financial information of the two
individually financially significant business units within the Retail Ireland and Corporate and Treasury operating segments.

In order to achieve the desired level o